AD NUMBER

AD384856

CLASSIFICATION CHANGES

TO:

unclassified

FROM: confidential

LIMITATION CHANGES

TO:

Approved for public release, distribution unlimited

FROM:

No foreign distribution

AUTHORITY

AFRPL ltr., 15 Mar 1971; AFRPL ltr., 5 Feb 1986

THIS PAGE IS UNCLASSIFIED

AFRPL-T R-67-246-Vol II (Unclassified Title) 56 FINAL REPORT, ADVANCED AERODYNAMIC SPIKE CONFIGURATIONS Volume II 3848Hot-Firing Investigations: 1. Basic Performance vs Altitude and Secondary Flow; 2. Performance in Slipstream; 3. Liquid (N_2O_4) Side Injection TVC Rocketdyne Advanced Projects, Large Engines Roc cetdyne 12 A Division of North American Aviation, Inc., UFRPL 1tr TECHNICAL REPORT AFRPL-TR-67-246-Vol II いべ Ś September 1967 Grour 4 D Downgraded at 3- Year Intervals Declassified After 12 Years THIS MATERIAL CONTAINS INFORMATION AFFECTING THE NATIONAL DEFENSE OF THE UNITED STATES WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE ESPIONAGE LAWS, TITLE 18 U.S.C., SECTIONS 793 AND 794, ITS TRANS-MISSION OR THE REVELATION OF ITS CONTENTS IN ANY MANNER TO AN UNAUTHORIZED PERSON IS PROHIBITED BY LAW. In addition to security requirements which must be met, this document n L is subject to special export controls and each transmittal to foreign [01-342. governments or foreign nationals may be made only with prior approval of AFRPL(RPPR-STINFO), Edwards, California 93523. Air Force Rocket Propulsion Laboratory Rept. no. AFRPL TR-6 Research and Technology Division 04(611 Calif Edwards, California 93523 Air Force Systems Command United States Air Force Canoga Park Å NOV **Rocketdyne** AD-384 856 Contract 67 Sep

.



OMCLASSIFIED

APB-L-TR-67-246-VOL II

(Unclassified Title)

FINAL REWRT, ADVANCED AFRODYNAMIC SPIKE CONFIGURATIONS

Volume II Ect-Firing Investigations: 1. Basic Performance vs Altitude and Secondary Flow; 2. Performance in Slipstream; 3. Liquid (N₂O₄) Side Injection TVC

Rockstdyns Advanced Projects, Large Engines

Group 4 Downgraded at 3-Year Intervals Declassified After 12 Years

THIS MATERIAL CONTAINS INFORMATION AFFEITING THE NATIONAL DUICHSE OF THE UNITED STATES WITHIN THE PROVIDER OF THE ESTIMATES ANDS, TITLE 14 U.S. C. SLITTONS 7.23 ADD TO A. TS TAMPONISION OF THE REVENTION OF ITS CONTENING DI ANY MANNER TO AN UNAUTHORIZED PERSON IS PROHIBITED BY LAW.

In addition to security requirements which must be met, this document is subject to special export controls and each transmittal to foreign governments or fereign nationals may be made only with prior approval of AFRPL(RPFR-STNFO), Edwards, California 93523.







ì



(U)

()

ABSTRACT (VOLUME I)

Investigations of the aerodynamic spike nozzle concept are discussed in this report. These investigations include experimental cold-flow testing of high-area ratio aerospikes, aerospike nozzles with various combustor configurations and various size segments of aerospike nozzles and parametric analytical application studies for the nozzle concept. One cold-flow test series investigated the performance of very high erea ratio ($\epsilon = 150$) short length aerospike nozzles using helium as the test fluid. A ten percent length contoured rozzle and a six percent length conical nozzle were tested. Theoretical and experimental performance results are presented. The second cold-flow test series determined the performance of a series of aerospike nozzles having various combustor configurations. The effect of nozzle base bleed and intermodule bleed on rerformance was investigated. Combustor configurations consisted of shrouded and unshrouded continuous annular (toroidal) combustors and multichamber configurations with eight and sixteen discrete conventional combustors clustered around a common spike. Spacing between chambers. spike length, and engine shrouding were varied for the zultichamber configurations. All nozzles had an area ratio of 50. Theoretical and experimental performance results are presented. A third cold-flow test series investigated the relative nozzle wall and base pressures for 45, 90, and 180 degree segments of an aerospike nozzle compared to a full annular aerospike. Experimental results are presented. Analytical and design studies were made to determine effective methods of utilizing toroi al and multichamber constructions for Lerodynamic spike configurations over a wide range of thrust level, chamber pressure, and nozzle area ratio. Design layouts at several thrust levels of interest are presented. Heat transfer studies establishing cooling feasibility and parametric weight studies are described. Combustor effects on nozzle performance are discussed.

(UNCLASSIFIED ABSTRACT)



1

Ć

あるのないたのと

おおき 副部である いちゃちゃきまし

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. 11. 111.

Introduction	L
Summary	}
Performance Evaluation of a Hot-Firing Aerospike Nozzle . 19)
Introduction and Summary 19)
Hardware Description)
Water Cooled Thrust Chamber Assembly 20	;
Injector	•
Combustion Chamber Assembly	;
Throat Assembly	i
Gas Generator	,
Base Configurations)
Uncooled Thrust Chamber Assembly	ļ
Fluic Systems	ļ
Test Installation	J
Instrumentation	
Force Measurement	
Pressure Measurements, Altitude and Sea Level	
Testing	ł
Flowrate Measurements	
Temperature Kezsurements, Altitude and Sea	
Level Testing	
Miscellaneous	
Procedures	
Sea Level Testing	
Altitude Testing	
Data Reduction	

UNCLASSIFIED

IV.

٧.

Testing Summary
Gas Generator Tests
Uncooled Thrust Chamber Tests 68
Cooled Thrust Chember Tests at Sea Level 71
Water Cooled Hardware Tests at Altitude 78
Data Analysis
Performance Parameters
Theoretical Considerations in Reducing Data 93
Performance Calculation Procedure
Base Heat Transfer Data Reduction 118
Water Cooled Hardware Test Results
Determination of Nozzle Throat Area 130
Nozzle Performance
Conclusions and Recommendations
External Flow Effects on Aerospike Performance 183
Introduction
Summary
Slipstream Test Program
Preliminary Analysis and Design Studies 185
Test Program
Test Results
Application of Test Results
Mission Analysis
Methods of Reducing Slipstream Effects 255
Conclusions and Recommendations
Aerospike Liquid Injection Thrust 'ector Control
Investigation
Introduction
Summary

UNCLASSIFIED

•

٧Ĺ

þ

ctor Control Study Program	268
inary Analysis and Design Studies	268
rogram	301
eaulta	321
ation of LITVC Test Results	358
ns and Recommendations	372
Twelve Percent Length Aerospike Data	
Summary	379
Data Reduction Procedure Used in the	
External Flow Investigation	436
Slipstream Test Data	445
Data Reduction and Analysis Procedure for	
TVC Program	451
	<pre>ctor Control Study Program</pre>

UNCLASSIFIED

vii

ILLUSTRATIONS

	P	ego
1.	Hot-Firing Program Test Schedule	4
2.	Uncooled Aerospike Thrust Chamber	6
3.	Water Cooled 12 Percent Length Aerospike	7
4.	Aerospike Engine With Side Injection TVC Capability	11
5.	Slipsvream Model	16
6.	Water Cocled Aerospike Thrust Chambe.	21
7.	Engine Assembly-Advanced Aerodynamic Spike	22
8.	Water Cooled Thrust Chamber Installation at Eacketdyne	2 3
9.	Injector Configuration	25
10.	Ring Set Number 1	27
11.	Injector Number 2	30
12.	Ring Set Number 2	31
13.	Ges Generator Assembly	35
14.	Base Configurations Installed on the 12 Fercent Length Aerospike	37
15.	Assembly, Uncooled Combustion Chamber	39
16.	Hot-Firing Aerospike Engine Flows	41
17.	Uncooled Thrust Chamber Installation and Firing on Sugar Stand	43
15.	Schematic Flow Diagram of Sugar Test Stand in the Propulsion	
	Research Area	45
19.	Propulsion Engine Test Coll (J-2), Pictorial View	47
20.	Propulsion English Test Cell (J-2), Elevation View	48
24.	Test Cell Installation	50
22.	Fropellant and Water Supply System Schematics, J-2 Cell	51
23.	Thrust Chamber Ac./mbly Instrumentation	54
24.	Outer Mozzle Instrumentation	55
25.	Ease Plate Instrumentation	56
26.	Gas Generator Instrumentation	57

UNCLASSIFIED

影な

Strate of any of

(_)

ĺ

		Page
27.	Thotocon Locations on the Uncooled Aerospike Throat Chamber	63
28.	Aerospike Engine Operating Sequence	66
29.	Sot-Firing West Schedule - 12 Percent Length Acrospike	69
30.	Condition of Uncooled Hardware After the Initial Five Firings	72
31.	Comparison of Photocon Records for Typical Tests with Injectors	ļ
	Number 1 and Number 2	73
32.	Condition of Inner Throat and Mozzle After Five Second Test at	
	400 FSIA Chamber Pressure	. 77
33.	Water Cooled perospike Test Sequencing Summary	79
34.	Typical Altitude Transient and Test Duration	83
35.	TCA Chamber Pressure Traces	87
36.	Fingine Condition; Post-Fire AD Series	89
37.	Injector Damage; Post-Fire AD Series	90
36.	Propellant Performance Printout	96
39.	Theoretical C* vs Mixture Ratio	98
40.	Vacuum Specific Impulse vs Kixture Ratio	99
41.	Vacuum Specific Impulse vs Mixture Ratio	100
42.	Optimum Specific Impulse vs Pr ssure Ratio	101
43.	Effect of Water on Theoretical Performance	103
44,	Effect of Heat Loss on \mathcal{N}_{CHELL}	105
45.	Effect of neat loss on Vacuum Specific Impulse	206
¥5.	Heat Loss Effects on NC* Wixture Ratio and Chamber	
	Pressure	107
47.	Heat Loss Effects on I vs wixture Ratio and Chamber	
	rrescure	108
8.	Baffle Surface Temperature and Heat Absorbed vs Tile, Pe=	
	300 PSIA	1.79
، ز	LITTle Surface Temperature and meat absorbed vs Time P.ª	
	350 PSIA	110

UNCLASSIFIED

		Page
50.	Caffle Surface Temperature and Heat Absorbed vs Time, $P_{\mathcal{C}}^{=}$	
	400 PSIA	111
51.	Cocling Water Outlet Temperature, Test AB-11	113
52.	Hozzle Heat Transfer Efficiency vs Total Heat Transfered,	
	Regeneratively Cooled Nozzle	115
53.	Integrated Base Pressure	116
54.	Bese Heat Transfer	119
55.	Gas-Side Temperature Ratio vs Time and Heat Transfer Coeffi-	
	cient	122
56.	Jack-Sice Temperature Ratio vs Time and Local Heat Transfer	
	Coefficient	123
57.	Base Plate Temperature vs Time, Test Number RDO3	124
58.	Typical Nozzle Base Plate Temperature	126
59.	Nozzle Thrust Efficiency Trends Using Post Test Throat	
	Area Measurements	133
60.	Nozzle Thrust Efficiency Change With W (Determined from	
	Measured Base Pressure	134
61.	Variation of NC* During Firing, Constant NC* Methca	137
62.	Nozzle Thrust Efficiency Trends Based on Constant NC	138
63.	TCA Injector Flow Resistance	139
64.	Forces Acting On Aerodynamic Spike Nozzle	140
65.	Vacuum vs Mixture Ratio and Area Ratio	141
66.	Twelve Fercent Length Nozzle Wall Preasure Profiles	142
67.	Theoretical Primary Thrust Coefficient Variation with Pres-	
	sure Ratio	143
68.	Nozile Base Pressure Distribution	146
٤9.	Linear Throat Area Variation (Altitude Test Series)	148
70.	Throat Area Change vs Firing Duration, AAOL Through AC14	150
71.	Taroat Area Change ve Firing Duration, AC14 through AC21	151

UNCLASSIFIED

AN PERSONAL CONTRACTOR

ť

72.	Throat Area Change vs Firing Duration, TVC Engine Firings	
	and Sea Level Tests	152
73.	Characterisite Velocity Efficiency vs Time	154
74.	Characteristic Velocity Efficiency vs Time	155
75.	Primary Nozzle Specific Impulse vs Time	156
76.	Frizary Fozzle Specific Insulse vs Time	157
77.	Water Now Test of Number 2 Injector	159
78.	Rozzle Thrust Efficiency vs Pressure Ratio, 💐 =0	160
79.	Specific Impulse vs Pressure Ratio, W = 0	163
80.	Mozzle Thrust Efficiency vs Pressure Ratio, 0 and 1 Fercent	
	Secondary Flow	165
81.	Nozzle Thrust Efficiency, Topping Sycle, vs Pressure Ratio,	
	O and 1 Fercent Secondary Flow	166
82.	Nozzle Thrust Efficiency vs Pressure Ratio, 0 and 2 Percent	
	Secondary Flow	167
83.	Nozzle Thrust Efficiency vs Pressure Natio, 0 and 3 Percent	
	Secondary Flow	168
84.	Nozale Marust Efficiency, Topping Cycle, vs Presure Ratio,	
	O and 2 Percent Secondary Plow	169
85.	Hozzle Thrust Efficiency, Topping Cycle, vs Pressure Ratio	
	0 and 3 Percent Secondary Flow	170
86.	Nozzle Thrust Efficiency vs Pressure Ratio, 0 and 5 Percent	
	Secondary Flow	172
87.	Lozzle Thrust Efficiency, Top ing Cycle, vs Pressure Ratio.	
	O and 5 Percent Secondary Flow	173
88.	Effect of Secondary Mixture Ratio on Nosels Thrust Efficiency	174
89.	Effect of Secondary Mixture Ratio on Nozzle Thrust Efficiency,	
	Topping Cycle	175

UNCLASSIFIED

にいるというないであるという

(

90.	Base Pressure va Pressure Ratio; 0, 1, 2, 3, 5 Percent	
	Secondary Flow	178
91.	Comparison of Mixture Ratio Effect on Base Pressure, \overline{P}_{p}/P_{a} .	179
92.	Test Installation in the Transonic Wind Tunnel	185
93.	Aerospike Flow Field	138
94.	Aerodynamic Spike Flowfield at Various Pressure Ratios P_{c}/P_{co}	190
. 95+	Effect of Reduced Missile Base Pressure	192
96.	Effect of Slipstream and Nozzle Flow Interaction	193
97.	Slipstream Effect on the Nozzle Flowfield	195
98 .	Slipstream Effect on Nozzle Base Pressure and Performance .	196
99 .	Nozzle Efficiency Based on Expansion to Vehicle Base Pressure,	
	Cold-Flow Tests	198
100.	Typical Booster Trajectories	200
101.	Normalized Trajectory Data	201
102.	The Operating Range for Pressure Alt.tude Simulation in the	
	PAT 16-Foot Supersonic and Transonic Tunnels	202
103.	Permissable Operating Conditions For Various Model Selections	203
104.	Theoretical Nozzle Wall Precsure Profiles	205
105.	Estimated Base Pressure Trend with Altitude and Secondary	
	Flowrate	206
106.	Estimated Performance Trend with Secondary Flowrate	207
107.	Estimated Efficiency Trend with Secondary Plowrate	208
108.	Cross Section View of the Rocket Engine • • • • • • • • • • •	210
109.	Test Installation in the Supersonic Wind Tunnel	211
110.	Test Installation in the Supersonic Wind Tunnel	212
111.	Test Installation in the 16T Test Section	213
112.	Instellation of Slipstream Model in the Transonic Wind Tunnel	
	et AEDC	214

UNCLASSIFIED

rii

		Page	
113.	Dimensional Sketch, Slipstream Model	216	
114.	Cross Section View of Slipstream Model	217	
115.	Lydrogen Ferozide Propellant System	219	
116.	Pressure Orifice and Thermocouple Locations	220	
117.	Still Air and External Flow Test Conditions	222	
118.	Still Air Sozzle Efficiency vs Chamber Pressure Ratio	225	
119.	Engine Base Pressure vs Chamber Pressure Ratio in Still Air,		
,	u/w = 0.8 Percent	227	
120.	Comparison Between Experimental and Theoretical Wall Pressure		
	Profiles	228	
121.	Heasured Still Air Efficiency Trend with Secondary Plow	229	
122.	Messured Base Pressure Trend with Secondary Flow	231	
123.	Still Air Nozzle Efficiency Trend with Secondary Flowrate and		
	Chamber Pressure Ratio Computed From the Measured Change in		
	Nozzle Base Pressure	232	
124.	Comparison Between Estimated and Measured Efficiency Using		
	Measured Base Pressure Data	233	
125.	Con arison Detween Estimated and Measured Efficiency Trend		
	with Secondary Flowrate	234	
126.	Comparison Between Estimated and Measured Base Pressure	235	
127.	Comparison Between Mensured and Estimated Base Pressure Trend		
	with Secondary Flowrate	237	
128.	Aerospike Nozzle Efficiency vs Charber Pressure Rutio with		
	External Flow	238	
129.	Aerospike Nozzle Efficiency vs Percer * Design Pressure		
	Ratio	239	
130.	Engine Base to-Chamber Pressure Rat, Chamber Pressure		
	Ratio	241	

(

riii

Page 131. Noszle Wall Pressure Trend in External Flow 242 132. Missile Base-to-Arbient Pressure Ratio vs Chamber Pressure 243 244 134. Effect of Free Stream Mach Number and Chamber Pressure Ratio on Missile Bass-To-Ambient Pressure Ratio 245 135. Effective Thrust Efficiency vs Chamber-To-Misnile Base Pressure 247 136. Engine Base-To-Chamber Pressure Ratio vs Effective Chamber Pressure Ratio 249 137. Trajectory Data Used in Mission Analysis 252 253 138. Normalized Performance Data for Mission Analysis 139. In-Flight Specifice Impulse with and without Secondary Flow 254 140. Boattail Geometry Producing High Missile Base Pressure . . . 256 141. Effect of Afterbody Geometry on Missile Base Pressure at High Subsonic Mach Numbers $(M_{00} = 0.9)$ 257 142. Effect of Bleed on Base Pressures in Two-Dimensional Flow 259 143. Influence of Flow Interaction on Base Pressure 260 144. Qualitative Influence Regions of External Ambient Pressures 262 Aerospike T/C Engine. Rocketdyne Installation and Firing at 145. 266 AEDC 146. Nozzle Inner Contour Design 270 147. Kinetic Efficiency Dependence on Axial Length and Thrust Charber Mixture Ratio 272 148. Theoretical Wall Pressure Distribution for Aerospike Engine 273 149. Estimated Base Pressure Dependence on Secondary Flowrate, Closed Wake 274

xiv

		LTE
150.	Estimated Nozzle Performance Trend with Secondary Flowrate	
	for aerospike Engine	275
151.	Analytical Aspects: Flow Model of Fluid Injection	277
152.	Emperical Spreading Coefficient for Gas Injection into Conical	
	Nozzle from Reference 8	279
153.	Geometric Design Parameters with Secondary Liquid Injection TVC	281
154.	Estimated Influence of Injection Flowrate and Velocity	284
155.	Estimated Influence of Injection Velocity on SITVC Performance	
	and System Pressure Drop	286
156.	Estimated Influence of Injector Flowrate and Location	287
157.	Influence of Number of Injection Ports and Port	
	Spacing	290
158.	Effect of Port Spacing on Conical Yozzle Performance	291
159.	Estimated Influence of the Injectent Flowrate and the Number	
	of Ports (nodd)	292
160.	Estim ted Influence of the Injectant Flowrate and Number of	
	Injecti n Ports (neven)	29 3
161.	Estimated Influence of the Injectant Flowrate and the Axial	
	Fort Inclination	294
162.	Measured Influence of the Axial Fort Inclination for Conical	
	Nozzles	296
163.	Reasured Influence of the Radial Port Inclination with Concial	
	wozzles	297
164.	Measured Effect of Injectant Density	2 99
165.	Estimated Influence of Injectant Properties	300
166.	Test Configurations at $n/l = 0.25$	302
167.	Test Configurations at $\alpha/l = 0.4$ and $\alpha/l = 0.7$	303
168 . ·	Engine Assembly - Advanced Aerodynamic Spike TVC Test Engine -	305
169.	Injector and Chamber Baffles	308

()

.

XV.

	Pe	
170.	Porous Base Plate Configuration	609
171.	TVC Nozzle Ring Configuration Number 1	11
172.	TVC Nossle Ring Configuration Number 2	512
173.	Typical TVC Flow Ring Assembly	<u>13</u>
174.	Eain Engine Chamber Instrumentation	15
175.	Aerospike Engine, Outer Throat Instrumentation	16
176.	Engine Inner Nozzle Instrumentation	17
177.	Gas Generator Instrumentation	18
278.	Six-Component Thrust Stand	19
179.	Test installation at AEDC	20
180.	Test Sequence	22
181.	Facility Propellant and Cooling Water Supply System Instru-	
	mentation	23
182.	TVC Propellant Supply System	24
183.	Hardware Damage Incurred During Test BE32	32
184.	Critical Parameters for a Reference Test (No TVC) with Second-	
	ary Flow	33
185.	Time Variation of Critical SITVC Parameters	36
186.	Side Force Ratio vs Flowrate Ratio for Liquid Injection at	
	. <i>A</i> / <i>L</i> = 0.25	37
187.	Side Force Ratio vs Flowrate Ratio for Liquid Injection at	
	A/L= 0.4, 0.7	38
188.	Off Center Force Ratio vs Flowrate Ratio for Liquid Injection	
	at A/l = 0.25	39
189.	Off Center Force Ratio vs Flowrate Ratio for Liquid Injection	
	at #/L = 0.4, 0.7	40
190.	Relative Change in Axial Thrust vs Flowrate Ratio for Liquid	
	Injection at $A/L = 0.25$	41

rvi

;

らまいのないてき

		rage
191.	Relative Change in Axial Thrust vs Flowrate Ratio for Liquid	
	Injection at $\pi/L = 0.4$, 0.7	342
192.	Variation of Side Force Location with Throat Moment-To-Side	
	Force Ratio	344
193.	Wall Pressure Profile with Liquid N.O. Intection at A/2= 0.25	2.1
	and $\alpha/\beta = 0.7$ for Aerospike Engine $\alpha = 0.0000000000000000000000000000000000$	346
194.	Side Wrist Applification Factor for Liquid N.O. Intection	~~
	at $d/l = 0.25$	717
195.	Side Thrust Amplification Fractor for Identid N.O. Trade-ter	241
- 220	at d/l= 0.4. 0.7	
106		34 9
A70+	The sector infust applification factor for Liquid W 24	
	$injection at \pi/L = 0.25 $	350
19/+	Off Center Inrust Amplification Factor for Liquid N204	
	Injection at $A/L = 0.4$, 0.7	3 52
198.	Total Control Moment Amplification Factor for Liquid N204	
	Injection at $A/L = 0.25$	353
199.	Total Control Moment Amplification Factor for Liquid N.O.	
	Injection at $d/2 = 0.4$. 0.7	35c
200.	Change in Engine Performance During Liquid N-O. Intection.	115
	TVC at #/ L= 0.25	3 57
201.	Change in Engine Parformer on Therefore I double the state	270
	TVC at All = 0.4 and 0. 7	
202.		357
	Side invest supplied cation ractor for Liquid Injection with	
		360
2020	Comparison Between Estimated and Measured SITVC Performance	• ·
•••	Level for Aerospike Engines	361
204.	Emperical Spreading Coefficient for Gas Injection into an	•
	Aerospike Nozzle	363

ivii.

205.	Comparison Between Estimated and Measured SITVC Performance	
	Trends Using the Revised Spreading Coefficient From Pigure 204	364
206.	Comparison Between Liquid and Gaseous Injection Ferformance wit	h
	an Aerospike	365
207.	Typical In-Flight TVC Duty Cycle Requirements	368
208.	In-Flight Performance Loss Associated with Fluid Injection TVC	
•	for a Low Thrust Storable Propellant Booster Engine	369
209.	In-Flight Performance Less Associated With Fluid Injection TVC	
	for a High Thrust 0,/H, Booster Engine	370
SJO*	In-Flight Performance Loss Associated with Fluid Injection TVC	
	for an Upper Stage Engine	371
211.	Improved Bipropellant Injector	375
212.	Integrated Average Pressure Nethod	439
213.	Gas Generator Theoretical Specific Impulse	458
214.	Fain Engine Theoretical Specific Impulse	459 [°]
215.	Main Engine Theoretical Characteristic Velocity	461
216.	Gas Generator Theoretical Characteristic Velocity	462
217.	Unbalanced Forces with Secondary Injection TVC	454
218.	Location of the Induced Force Vector	468

Page

xviii

TABLES

ц,

1.	Primary Bata Acquisition Systems	53					
2.	Gas Generator Test Summary	70					
3.	Summary of Injector Checkout Tests	74					
4.	Water Cooled Chamber, Sea Level Test Summary	75					
5.	Altitude Test Summary	81					
6.	Nozzle Base Plate Temperatures (Altitude Test Results)	127					
7.	Nozzle Throat Area Measurements	131					
8.	TCA Characteristic Velocity Efficiency (Altitude Test						
	Program)	132					
9.	Nozzle Throat Area Calculations	135					
10.	Secondary Flow Parameters	176					
11.	Test Summary	223					
12.	Planned TVC Test Schedule	325					
13.	Reference Performance Data at Pa = 0.7 psia	327					
14.	SITVC Performance Data	329					
15.	Comparison of Sea Level and Altitude Performance,						
	$\dot{w}_{a} = 0$	335					
16.	Heat Loss and Water Content Factors Applied to Measured						
	and Theoretical (Primary Only) Data	382					
17.	Data Measurements	437					
18.	Mission Parameters for Trajectory Analysis	443					
19.	TVC Engine Measured Parameters	453					
20.	Heat Loss Factors Applied to Measured TVC Data	457					

rir

1.

NCHENCLATURE FOR TVC AND THILVE PERCENT LENGTH NOZZLE DISCUSSION

Area, in²

▲__

*

Å

C*

cn

C_T

C,P

C_w

C,

đ

d_

dt P

7_v

7

Poc

C_Ttop

Geometric Throat Area, in²

Nozzle Base Area, in²

- Effective Toroat Area, A* $z (\hat{W}_p / \hat{W}_{p,i,i}) \lambda_i$, in²
- Total Porous Plate Flow Orifice Area, in2
- Characteristic Velocity, f%/sec²

Flow Discharge Coefficient, $C_p = \dot{\Psi}/\dot{\Psi}_{i\dot{e}}$

Nozzle Thrust Efficiency

Topping Cycle Inrust Efficiency

Specific Heat at Constant Freesure, BTJ/1b °F

Specific Heat at Constant Volume, BTU/12 °F

Thrust Coefficient, Cp = F/P A*

Distance from the Nozzle Throat Plane to the Yaw Force Load Cells, in.

Nozzle Exit Dianeter, in.

Nozzle Equivalent Throat Diameter, $d_{\pm} = 2 \sqrt{A_{\pm}/\pi}$, in.

Thrust, Measured Adiabatic Engine Thrust, 1bs.

Reference (no TVC) Vacuum Thrust Uncorrected for Heat Loss, 1bs.

Measured Axial Thrust, 1bs.

Change in Axial Thrust During LITVC, 1bs.

Side Thrust, 1bs.

Off Center Thrust, 1bs.

Induced Thrust per Port, 1bs.

XI

	G	Empirical Spreading Coefficient (Fig. 152)
	8	Gravitational Constant, 1bg.ft/1bg.eec ² ; throat gap width, in.
	Þ	Distance from the Engine Gimbal (Throat) Plane to the Vehicle Center of Gravity, in.; Heat Transfer Coefficient, Btu/in ² , sec, F
	H	Enthalpy (per unit mass), BTU/1b
	Ig	Specific Impulse, I ₃ = F/w, sec
	Jo	Blast Wave Constant (function of ¥)
	I.s	Side Thrust Amplification Factor (Appendix 4)
	ĸ _M	Off Center Thrust Amplification Factor (Appendiz 4)
	ĸ	Control Moment Amplification Factor (Appendix 4)
	k 1	Integral of the First Order Blast Wave Theory Pressure Distribution Function (function of χ)
	k	Summation Index ; Thermal conductivity, Btu/in, sec, of
	L	Arial Length of the Nozzle Measured from the Throat Plane to the End of the Nozzle, in.
	M	Free Stream Mach Number
	1	Mass Flow Rate, 1b / sec
	71	Molecular Weight, 1b mole
	MR	Oxidizer-to-Fuel Mixture Ratio (by weight)
	M	Moment, in.1bs.
	N _T	Homent About the Throat Reference Flame, in.1bs.
• • •	n	Number of Injection Ports
	P	Pressure, paia
	P2	Chamber-to-Ambient Pressure Ratio, Pc/Pa
	٥	Primary Stream Heat Loss. BTU/ the Heat Absorbed by Reffler Bin

おおちゃくという

•

.

•

N4-17-11

ni

•

•

r,	Nozzle Erit Badius, in.
•	Wetted Contour Langth from the Injection Fort to the End of the Noszle, in.
Ŧ	Temperature, ^o F (or ^o R)
t	Flight time; time, sec.
t _b	Flight Time for Stage Burnout, sec.
u co	Free Stream Velocity, ft/sec.
₹.	Injectant Velocity, ft/sec
\$, \$	Weight Plowrate, 1b/sec
I	Leagth; Axial Distance Keasured from Nozzle Ref. Plane (Fig. 218), in.
y	Radial Distance Measured from the Engine Centerline (Fig.218), in.
Greek	
~	Contour Wall Angle, degrees (Fig. 218), Also thermal diffusivity
ß	Injection Angle with Respect to a Normal to the Engine Centerline (Fig. 218), degrees
· 8	Specific Heat Ratio, $\chi = C_p/C_{\psi}$
E	Nozzle Area Ratio, $\epsilon = \frac{1}{2} / A^{*}_{p}$
nc*	Characteristic Velocity Efficiency
NI.	Specific Impulse Efficiency
0	Radial Injection Angle (Fig. 218, $\Theta = 0$ Implies Radial Stream Injection, $\Theta = 11$ Implies Parallel Stream Injection, $\Theta = \Delta$ Implies Convergent Stream Injection), degrees ; also time, sec.
ָא	Arial Injection Angle with Respect to a Tangent to the Nozzle Wall at the Point of Injection (Fig. 213). degrees

٠. .

. ...

rrii

v	Function of Y and Mach Number, $\sqrt{-1} + \frac{Y-1}{N_{00}} = \frac{N_{00}^2}{N_{00}^2}$
٩	Density, 1b/ft ³
φ	Equivalent Gimbal Angle (Appendix 4), degrees
Ψ	Total Radial Arc Included by the TVC Injection Ports (Fig. 218), degrees
Δψ	Radial Arc Between Injection Ports (Fig. 218), degrees
ω	Charge Energy Per Unit Mass of Charge Normalized in Term of the Square of the Free Stream Velocity, u ₀₀

Subscripts

B

D

P

R Z

14 i

1

k

1.5.4

10 - 1 - 10 - 12 - 13 ACALAN

ŧ

L	Refers to subinet conditions					
L .	Denotes an axial force component					
L	Denotes an aft load cell (Fig. 178)					
B	Refers to nozzle base					
3	Refers to chamber; Cold wall conditions					
>	Denotes friction performance loss					
	Refers nozzle exit					
	Refers to total engine f. owrate (primary plus secondary) exclusive of the TVC flow					
r	Denotes a forward load cell (Fig. 178)					
5	Gas, gay side conditions					
2	Hot wal' conditions					
ia _.	Ideal Quantity					
L	Induced Force Component; Initial value at time = 0					
int.	Befers to intrinsic thrust exclusive of ambient prossure drag					
i	Refers to TVC injectant					
2	Denotes kinetics performance loss xxiii					

=	Denotes a measured quantity
X .	Refers to the nozzle
opt	Denotes optimum thrust (one dimensional ideal value corresponding to P_c/P_a)
P	Refers to primary stream
P	Denotes pitch load cells (Fig.178)
R	Denotes roll load cells (Fig. 178)
r	Denotes a jet momentum force component
8	Refers to the secondary stream
5	Denotes a side force component
th	Refers to theoretical value
top	Topping cycle efficiency or specific impulse
TVC	Refers to the TVC system or flowrate
V, VAC	Refers to vacuum conditions
W	Refars to the nozzle
x	Refers to length location
Y	Denotes yaw load cells (Fig. 178)

Superscripts

Average (

Average quantity (cotained through area integration if the quantity is pressure)

rriv

HOMENCLATURE FOR SLIPSTREAM DISCUSSION

	·
A	Area, in ²
A	H ₂ O ₂ Ergine Area (refer to Fig. 108), in ²
- C.,	Thrust Coefficient, $C_p = P/(P_{cA_t})$
C#	Characteristic Velocity, C* = (P _c A _t g)/¥, ft/sec
C _T	Nozzle Thrust Efficiency (refer to Appendix 2)
D	Diameter, in.
r .	Thrust, 1bs,
6	Gravitational Constant, ft.lbg/lbg. sec ²
I	Specific Impulse, sec.
ĸ	Mach Number
2	Pressure, lbs/in ²
P _R	Missile Base Pressure, 1ba/in ²
™ P _R	Nozzle Base Pressure, 1bs/in ²
PR	Chamber to Free-Stream Static Prossure Ratio, P./P.
PR) _{det}	Nozzle Design Pressure Ratio
\$.L	Noszle Axial Length in Percent of the Length of a 15-degre Conical Nozzle with the Some Area Batio and Throat Area
T	Temperature, degrees Rankine (unless otherwise moted)
¥	Weight, 1bs.
ý ·	Weight flow rate, lbs/sec
X .	Arial Contour Coordinate (Fig. 104). inches
7	Radial Contour Goordinate (Fig. 104), inches
2.	Equivalent Throat Radius, $R_{c} = \sqrt{A_{t}/v_{T}}$, inches

TIT

C

Greek $\widehat{\mathbf{N}}$ $\widehat{\mathbf{N}}_{c^*}$ $\widehat{\mathbf{N}}_{c^*}$ Nozzle Characteristic Velocity Efficiency (refer to Appendix 2) $\widehat{\mathbf{C}}$ Nozzle Area Ratio, $\widehat{\mathbf{C}} = A_c / A_t$ $\widehat{\Phi}$ Missile Base Pressure Correlating Parameter (refer to Appendix 2) $\widehat{\Phi}$ Missile Base Pressure Correlating Farameter (refer to Appendix 2) $\widehat{\Phi}$ Specific Heat Batio

Subscripts

ŧ

()

throat ŧ mozzle wall chamber C Vacuur exit ambient free stream 8 nozzle base B 1 ideal optimum expansion through P_/P opt primary flow Þ secondary flow

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	و د ورو در معد م		97 - 1982 - 19	and the submersion of		
•						
	•	•				
					•	
•				•		
		_ _			•	•
				:		
	· .					:
و د با الدينية بالموافق الموافق بي والمراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع الم					<u>ن</u> م	1
			-	•		,
		· ·				

SECTION I

INTROLUCTION

As discussed in Volume I of this report, the aerospike nozzle represents a departure from conventional conical or bell nozzles. There are namy udvantages over conventional nozzles inherent in the sero-pike nozzle concept. The results of contract AF04(611)-9948, presented in Volume I and II of this report, represent effort designed to verify and quantify such advantages.

(IJ)

(U)

The overall approach included theoretical studies, cold-flow experiments, and hot-flow experiments. Specific goals of the study weres

- 1) to evaluate aerospike nozzle performance characteristics at high area ratios,
- 2) to compare methods of applying the concept to advanced vehicle configurations,
- to demonstrate basic nozzle performance by means of hot-firing tests.
- 4) to evaluate the hot-firing thrust vector control characteristics of an asrospike nozzle using laquid side injection,
- 5) to evaluate hot-firing aerospike nozzle performance in a typical flight environment (slipstream)
- 6) to analytically investigate nozzle base bleed configurations, and perform a hot-firing demonstration of a promising configuration, and
- to perform a cold-flow investigation of aerospike nozzle segment performance.

.

(V) .

Volume I of this report presents the results of the cold-flow test programs and the analytical and design studies. This volume, Volume II, presents the results of the hot-firing test programs. (U) The aerodynamic spike nozzle performance characteristics investigated in the hot-firing tasks (i.e., basic still air performance vs altitude and secondary flow parameters, fluid side injection TVC performance, and performance in slipstream had previously been studied in cold-flow programs under this (Volume I) and other contracts, and internal research and development funding. Correlation of hot- and cold-flow test results serve to substantiate theoretical methods and enables the prediction of hot-firing nozzle performance from relatively inexpensive cold-flow test data. Therefore, the hot firing test results from this program are compared to applicable previous cold-flow test results.

()

(U) Although the results of the tests are presented, interpreted and applied to some practical cases in this report, the principal value to be derived from this report will come from the detailed documentation of test results. It is expected that these data shall be referred to frequently in future studies of aerodynamic spike nozzles.

UNGLASSITIE

SECTION II

SUPPLARY

(C) Three hot-firing acrodynamic spike nozzle programs were conducted under Air Force contract AF04(611)-0048. Each program investigated a different area of interest in characterizing aerodynamic spike nozzle performance. A 12-percent length acrospike thrust chamber generating approximately 7400 pounds altitude thrust with $N_2O_1/UIMH-N_2H_2$ (50-50) propellants was tested over a pressure ratio range from approximately 22 to 350. The objective of this program was to obtain a large background of basic aerospike hotfiring performance data. The nozzle portion of the above engine was lengthened to 25 percent and modified to incorporate liquid (N_2O_1) side injection TVC capability. An extensive series of tests was conducted at altitude to determine liquid injection performance trends with variations in injection parameters. A third hot-firing program investigated the effect of external flow (slipstream) on aerospike nozzle performance. A 400-pound thrust serospiks thrust chamber utilizing H_2O_2 propellants was enclosed in a simulated missile body and fired over a range of altitude and Mach number conditions. A schedule showing the time periods during which the actual testing for the three programs was accomplished is shown in Fig. 1.

CONFIDENTIAL

1967 **____** 1966 L. M Note: Numbers in parentheses designate the number of tests accomplished. Figure 1. Hot-Firing Program Test Schodule × ß • 8 SONND 1966 5 -5 × Ð Supersonic Tunnel, 16-S (18) Transonic Tunnel, 16-T (39) San Level Performance (6) Eas Level Parformance (4) DAT. TWELVE PERCENT LENGTH NOZHLE Cooled Chamber, Sea Level Sea Level Checkout (1) Sea Level Checkout (4). Covied Chamber, Altitude AB and AC Series (14) BA and BB Series (11) Injector No. 1-A (1) Injector No. 2 (4) Injector No. 1 (5) AD Series (3) Uncooled Chamber ED Series (11) BE Series (4) AA Series (3) BC Series (7) SLIPSTREAM PROGRAM G.G. Tests (33) TEST DESCRIPTION TVC ENGINE 1

i

.

.

TWELVE PERCENT LENGTE NOZZLE PROGRAM

(U) In July 1964, a program was initiated to demonstrate the aerodynamic spike nozzle concept with a hot-firing model and to obtain an extensive compilation of basic parametric performance data. At that time essentially no hot-firing performance data existed for this new nozzle concept and performance for proposed new aerospike rocket engines was estimated from cold-flow data. The objective of this program was successfully accomplished with the achievement of valid test data from 26 thrust chamber firings of approximately 8 seconds each duration.

Scope

- (U) Two water cooled and one uncooled aerospike thrust chambers were fabricated. The combustion chamber and nozzle geometries were identical for the two thrust chamber types except the water cooled version had a 12 percent length nozzle and the uncooled version had an 8 perceni length nozzle. The same injector was used in both versions. The uncooled chamber was used for injector checkout tests (at Rocketdyne facility) of 0.5 to 0.8 seconds duration (Fig. 2). The water cooled thruat chamber assembly (Fig. 3) was used for relatively long duration (to 8 seconds) data firings at sea level (Rocketdyne) and at altitude (Arnold Engineering Development Center).
- (c) The thrust chambers utilized $N_2O_4/UDMH-N_2H_4$ (50-50) propellants in both the primary chamber and in a gas generator which supplied secondary bleed gas into the nozzle base region. The uncooled chamber was tested at chamber pressures from 300 to 500 psia, and the water cooled chamber was nominally operated at 300 psia (approximately 7400-pound thrust at design altitude), after three initial firings (to 5 seconds duration) at 400 psiz.





a. Installation, Sugar Stand, Propulsion Research Area, Santa Susana Field Laboratory

Figure 2, Uncooled Aerospike Thrust Chamber





.


(U) The 33 gas generator tests successfully characterized the combustion efficiency over a range of mixture ratios from .05 to .185 and flowrates from 0.5 lbs/sec to 2.8 lbs/sec.

(C) Five uncooled thrust chamber firings of 0.5 second duration were made with the first injector configuration at chamber pressures from 300 to 500 psia. All tests showed high frequency (2300 cps) chamber pressure oscillations with a peak to peak amplitude of approximately 50 percent of chamber pressure. This injector was modified slightly by tapering and chortening the injector baffles and by plugging fuel orifices adjacent to the baffles. One test was made with this configuration at 410 psia chamber pressure. A low frequency (530 cps) frequency instability with a peak to peak amplitude approximately 75 percent of chamber pressure was experienced.

UNNERSIFIA

1. Thrust Chamber Assembly (TCA)



ない

1

Sec.

- (C) A redesigned injector configuration was constructed and four uncooled thrust chamber tests were conducted at chamber pressures from 300 to 450 psia. No measurable chamber pressure oscillations were experienced in any of these tests and the injector was found suitable for use in the water cooled hardware.
- (C) Nine sea level tosts and seventeen altitude tests were accouplished with the water cooled thrust chamber to evaluate the effect of secondary flowrate and secondary gas energy level on nozzle performance. A nozzle efficiency, G_T , of 96.0 percent was achieved with no secondary flow at design pressure ratio (~300). The addition of from 1 to 3 percent secondary flow increased nozzle efficiency at design pressure ratio to approximately 96.5 percent. Maximum efficiency gains of about 1.5 percent were achieved at intermediate pressure ratios (~120) with the addition of from 1 to 3 percent secondary flow. Over the low pressure ratio range, from 35 to 22, performance with and without 1 to 3 percent secondary flowrate was about the same.
- (c) No significant difference in performance was found among the different energy level secondary flows. A high degree of altitude compensation was obtained over a pressure ratio range from 300 to 35. Nozzle efficiency decreased from 96.0 to 93.8 over this pressure ratio range.
- (C) Three 8-second duration tests were made with a perforated base plate mounted at the nozzle exit plane. Operational difficulties with the gas generator prevented determination of the secondary flowrate for all three tests. Low frequency (487 cps) combustion instability in the primary thrust chamber was experienced during the second test. Hardware damage was sufficient to preclude further testing to evaluate base configurations.





was 25 and the axial length was 25 percent of an equivalent 15-degree conical mozzle. Injection of the TVC flow was effected through orifices located in uncooled contoured flow rings which comprised the aft section of the nozzle.





(U) Four uncooled flow rings incorporating 29 different injection patterns were fabricated to investigate injection parameters which could influence TVC performance. These configurations enabled the experimental evaluation of (1) constant-velocity injection flowrate variation, (2) axial location of the point of injection, (3) angle of injection with respect to the nossle contour, (4) one, three, and five-port injection patterns, (5) spacing between holes in an injection pattern, (6) angle of impingement of adjacent holes in an injection pattern and (7) injection velocity variation at constant flowrate.

IN SEARS THE

Results

(C) Thirty-three firings of 6 seconds each duration were conducted at altitude to establish engine performance without TVC, and to determine LITVC performance trends with variations in the injection parameters. Five sea level checkout tests of from 1/2 to 5 seconds durations were conducted at Rocketdyne prior to the altitude testing. The thrust efficiency of the engine was 95.1 percent for $\hat{W}_g/\hat{W}_p = 0$ and 95.2 percent for $\hat{W}_g/\hat{W}_p = 0.017$. Combustion efficiency (η_{C*}) was nominally 89 percent throughout the program.

(C) A semi-empirical blast-wave theory was utilized in conjunction with experimental data from various sources to provide a basis for selection of SITVC test configurations. Testing of these configurations established that measured LITVC side-force efficiency trends with an aerospike are similar to those expected on the basis of preliminary analysis: injection near the threat provides higher side-force efficiency than injection near the nozzle exit, multiple-port inclination has no influence on LITVC performance in the range tested near the nozzle exit, and parallel stream injection affords higher performance than radial stream injection at both locations

UNCLASSIFIED IAL

studied. Control moment and nozzle specific impulse efficiency trans were found to be dependent upon the engine-vehicle geometric relationship. These efficiencies followed trends established by the side-force efficiency for boost vehicles ($r_0/h = 0.25$), but in some cases optimized differently for upper-stage configurations ($r_0/h = 1.0$).

- (C) Comparison of the side-thrust efficiency TVC data obtained in this program with that obtained from other noszles revealed that LITVC performance with an aerospike is equal to or less than with other nossles, because of the relatively short length of the aerospike. The level of side thrust efficiency for N₂O₄ injection established through this testing was also found to be lower than that estimated using the blast wave analysis in conjunction with an empirical coefficient obtained for gas injection into flow over a flat plate. It was necessary to revise this coefficient to obtain quantitative agreement between theory and experiment for the configuration tested. Application of the test data to full-scale engine systems showed that liquid injection may be competitive with gas injection under certain conditions. In general, fuel injection provides higher in-flight engine specific impulse efficiency but lower density impulse than exidizer injection if vaporization and reaction do not occur within the nozsle.
- (C) On the basis of these results, it is recommended that the relative merits of liquid injection TVC be investigated through comparative systems analysis using the conservative performance estimates presented herein for full-scale engines. It is also recommended that improved LITVC designs such as a bipropellant injection technique be studied, and that the performance and operating characteristics of attractive systems be evaluated through large-scale environmental hot-flow testing.



SLIPSTREAM PROCRAM

(c) Because of interaction which occurs between external and nozzle flows, vehicle base flow characteristics encountered in missile flight differ from those prevalent in quiescent air nossle performance investigations. These base flow characteristics are of little consequence with conventional mosules since the expansion process is internal in this case; that is, the exhaust gases within the nozzle are shielded from the external flow by the physical expansion surface provided by the nossle. However, with an aerospike nozsle, the external expansion boundary is formed by a gasgas interface, and is influenced by flow interference effects. Since the position of this outer boundary in the flow affects aerospike nozzle performance at low pressure ratios where the base pressure follows changes in ambient pressure ("open wake"), the presence of an external flow can affect acrospike performance under certain conditions. Previous coldflow testing conducted under contract NAS 8-2654 (Ref. 21) established that the effect of external flow is small and is confined to a marrow range of in-flight operating conditions. Experimental study of these effects was continued under contract AF04(611)-9948. The primary objective of this program was to confirm and extend, through hot-flow testing, the results obtained in the cold-flow slipstream study. A secondary objective was to evaluate the effect of base bleed flowrate on nozzle still air performance.

Scope

(c) A bot-flow test program was conducted to determine the influence of external flow on in-flight aerospike nozzle performance. A hot-firing aerospike ongine using hydrogen peroxide propellants was enclosed by an aerodynamic fairing constructed in the shape of a missile body to simulate an actual flight configuration. The engine generated 400 pounds of altitude thrust



at a chamber pressure of 200 psia. An aerospike nozzle with an area ratio of 25 and a length equal to 20 percent of an equivalent 15 degree conical nozzle was utilized to control the expansion of engine exhaust gases. The secondary flowrate was 0.8 percent of the primary flowrate for all tests with external flow. Testing was conducted in the 16-foot transonic and supersonic propulsion wind tunnels at Arnold Engineering Development Center (AEDC). Installation of the model in these facilities is shown in Fig. 5

UNDERSSMEH

Results

Ĺ

- (C) Fifty-two tests of approximately 1 minute each duration were conducted to obtain still air and slipstream performance trends in the transonic and supersonic wind tunnels. Valid data was obtained from only forty of these, however, because of a seal failure and excessive model leakage. In addition, five tests were conducted in the transonic facility to demonstrate engine performance trends with secondary flowrate. Results of these tests confirmed that high quiescent air performance (approximately 98 percent of ideal at design pressure ratio) can be obtained throughout a representative range of pressure ratios with a properly designed aerospike mozzle. The addition of secondary flow proved beneficial at all pressure ratios. It was found that the correct experimental performance level and trend with pressure ratio could be estimated above pressure ratios at which mozzle recompression occurs using previously developed semiempirical base pressure relationships in conjunction with a potential primary flow analysis and viscous drag computations.
- (C) Nozzle performance was found to be unaffected by external flow in the "closed wake" pressure ratio region (pressure ratios at which nozzle base pressure is constant in still air). At low pressure ratios ("open wake") performance of the model tested decreased at a rate which was dependent





1





a. Completed Installation, Transonic Wind Tunnel (16-T), PwT, AEDC





DANALDERWIED

ÿ.

On free stream Mach number and chamber pressure ratio. When strong flow interaction effects occurred, they were found to result in relatively high nossle base pressure, which was also shown by previous cold-flow data. When flow interaction did not influence nozzle base pressure, both hotand cold-flow nozzle performance data correlated with the "effective" chamber pressure ratio, P_0/\bar{P}_{By} . On the basis of this result, it was concluded that: (1) missile base pressure approaching ambient pressure will result in nozzle efficiency in slipstream nearly identical to that obtained in still air, and (2) strong slipstream-primary flow interaction results in relatively high in-flight nozzle performance.

(C) In-flight performance estimates generated under severe assumptions demonstrated that the time-integrated external flow effects over a typical mission result in a change in average specific impulse (\overline{I}_g) of less than 0.2 percent. Boat-failing, mass addition to the missile wake flow, and reduction in missile base area are shown to be effective methods of reducing these effects still further.

17/18

山的影影作性

SECTION III

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION OF A HOT-FIRING AEROSPIKE NOZZLE

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

- (U) In July 1964, work was initiated on the design and fabrication of a hot-firing aerodynamic spike nozzle. At that time, essentially no hot-firing performance data existed for this new nozzle concept. Basic performance for proposed new rocket angines utilizing this new nozzle concept was based upon data obtained from cold-flow tests. This program was initiated to provide a substantial background of parametric hot-firing performance data with an aerodynamic spike nozzle configuration and to correlate these data with cold-flow data. The specific objectives were to determine the performance of an aerodynamic spike nozzle as a function of nozzle pressure ratio, secondary gas flowrate, and secondary gas energy level.
- (C) A 12 percent length truncated ideal spike nozzle thrust chamber with an area ratio of 25 was constructed and tested at Rocketdyne Propulsion Field Laboratory at near sea level conditions and at varying altitude conditions at the Rocket Test Facility (J-2 cell) of Arnold Engineering Development Center. The thrust chamber utilized $N_2O_4/UDME-N_2H_4(50-50)$ propellants and generated approximately 7400 pounds thrust at design pressure ratio. A gas generator utilizing the same propellants supplied secondary flowrates from 0 to 5 percent of the primary flowrate to the nozzle base region.
- (U) Ten sea level firings and 20 altitude firings were accomplished. The basic program objective of supplying a large quintity of aerospike nozzle parametric data was successfully accomplished.

.

HARDWARE DESCRIPTION

Two water cooled thrust chambers and one uncooled thrust chamber were constructed for this test program. The water cooled chambers were used for obtaining aerospike performance data in relatively long (to 8 seconds) duration firings. A geometrically identical (except for a shorter nozzle length) uncooled thrust chamber with a firing duration of approximately 0.8 seconds was used for injector evaluation and establishment of test procedures. Both chamber types are of nonflightweight construction.

CONTREASE

Jater Cooled Thrust Chamber Assembly

The water cooled thrust chamber assembly (TCA) is shown in Figs. 6, 7 and 8. It is equipped with an aerospike nozzic having a geometric area ratio of approximately 25 (defined as the ratio of the area enclosed by d_{θ} in Fig. 6 to the measured throat area). The nozzie length from the throat to the exiv plane is 12 percent of the length of a 15 degree conicel nozzie having the sime area ratio and throat. Passe area (defined by d_{b} in Fig. 6) and design throat area of the nozzie are 167.5 is.² and 14.9 in.², respectively.

The TEA is composed of an annular injector, inner and outer combustion encaber casing sections, inner and outer nozzle throat sections, and a nozzle base plate (Fig. 6) which attaches to the inner throat section to enclose the nozzle base region. A gas gener tor (GC) for introducing secondary gas flow into the base region is attached to the upstream alde of the base plate. Overall length, dismeter, and weight of the TCA (with GG attached) are approximately 17 in., 34 in., and 2500 lb_m, respectively. Thrust of the TCA at the design nozzle pressure ratio (FR₂₃₅) of 300 is 7400 lb_f. Nominal test duration and combustion charting pressure are 7 to 8 seconds and 790 psia, respectively.



(1)

(U)

(IJ)



a static state and second to a static second and







· · · · ·





(C) The TCA utilized the two hypergolic propellants, nitrogen. tetroxide (N_2O_4) and an equal gravimetric mixture of hydrazine (N_2H_4) and unsymmetrical dimethylhydrazine $(N_2H_2 [CH_3]_2)$. Required total propellant flow rate is approximately 27 lb sec at a nominal mixture ratio (O/F) of 1.8. Design total flow rate range of the GG is from 1 to 5 percent of the TCA flow rate. Operating pressure of the GG, using the same propellants as the TCL at a nominal mixture ratio of 0.1, is from 100 to 400 psis, depending on the flowrate.

Injector

STATE A CONTRACTOR

- (U) The TCA injector is constructed from type 347 stainless steel with steinless steel oxidizer and copper fuel ring inserts brazed into slots in the injector face. Three injector configurations were tested before satisfactory combustion stability was achieved.
- (U) Injector No. 1 (Fig. 9a) had an annular three ring self-impinging doublet injection pattern. The outer and inner rings were for fuel injection and each contained 1.9 elements with orifice diameters of 0.025 i. All fuel fans were oriented in a position parallel to the adjacent chamber or baffle walls were thus oriented parallel to a radial line. Each fuel element was offest from the fuel rings centerline radius a distance of ⁺ 0.025 in. in an alternating rlus or minus menner. This prevented fan edge interference of adjacent fuel elements.

(U) The oxidizer ring (center ring) consisted of 210 elements with orifice diameters of 0.031 in. All fans were oriented at a 75 degree angle with a radiul line to prevent fan interference of adjacent oxidizer elements. The spacing between rings was nominally 0.544 in. The injector was divided into seven equal peripheral segments by two-inch thick bafiles trazed to its face. A section of the injector face near a baffle is shown in Fig. 9c. A detailed drawing of the injector is shown in Fig. 10.











- A Caracter A

いた自然民社



.

(U) Injector number 1 was subsequently modified to injector number 1A (Fig. 9b) in an effort to eliminate high frequency combustion instability. The modification consisted of tapering and reducing the length of the baffles from 4 inches to 3 inches. In addition, the fuel elements adjacent to the baffles were brazed shut. This injector exhibited an unsatisfactery low frequency instability.

(U) The injector pattern was redesigned and satisfactory operation was achieved with injector number 2 (Figs.11 and 12). This injector was used for all water cooled hardware tests. Injector number 2 is divided into thirteen equal compartments by uncooled OFHC copper baffles (4 inches in length by 1½ X 2 inches in cross section) brazed to the injector face. The baffles are the only perfort of the engine assembly which run uncooled, and thus are the limiting factor on test duretion. They were designed for 10 seconds duration at 500 psia chamber pressure.

(U) The injector pattern (Fig. 12) consists of 208 pairs of like-on-like doublet elements. There are 16 element pairs in each of the 13 baffle compartments. Oxidizer and fuel orifices are 0.031 and 0.026 in. diameter, respectively. All fuel elements are canted 20 degrees toward the central oxidizer ring. Each fuel ring contains a single row of eight doublet elements per compartment. Oxidizer elements are directed perpendicular to the injector face and there are two rows of eight doublet element in the single ring. The propellant jet impingement point is 0.150 in. from the injector face for all elements. The spacing between fuel and oxidizer fans in an element pair is set at 0.040 in. Injector elements are equally spaced on the inner fuel ring only. However, the pattern is symmetrical about a radial line through the center of the baffled compartment.



b. Injector Number 2 Pattern



- a. Injector Number 2 Assembly
- Figure 11 Injector Number 2







RING SET # 2 AVANESO AERODYNAMIC SPIRE AMOINE INSECTOR 03192 E XEOR 703656-D6

31/32

Z

Ø

COUNCEASSIFIED

Combustion Chamber Assembly

の時にはないないないないです。

(U) The inner and outer throat and casing sections (Fig. 6) are fabricated from OFHC copper. The sections bolt to the injector to form an annular combustion chamber with an inner diameter of 23.2 in., an outer diameter of 27.3 in., and a length of approximately 7.3 in. Leakage of gas from the chamber is prevented by the use of single O-ring seals at each section-to-section or injector-to-section interface. Cooling of the combustion chamber walls is accomplished by flowing water through 5/16 inch diameter axial water passages (88 and 112 passages in the inner and outer sections, respectively) in the gas side walls. Eight isolated internal manifolds are located fore and aft of each casing. Water is supplied to and returned from the casings through sixteen feed holes in the injector body. The combustion chamber axials are gold-plated to prevent erosicn of the copper.

Throat Assembly

- (y) The inner and outer throat sections are so constructed (with OFIC copper) that, when these sections are properly attached to the remainder of the TCA, an annular throat, having a mean diameter and nominal gap of 22.1 and 0.215 in., respectively, is formed (Fig.6). The inner side of the outer throat section has a contour immediately downstream of the throat with sufficient divergency (30 degrees) to ensure flow separation and thereby free expansion of the outer exhoust plume boundary at the nominal operating pressure ratio (FR) range of the nozzle.
- (U) Cooling of the inner and outer throat sections was accomplished by flowing water through a series of continuous circumferential coolant slots (fourteen and seven slots on the inner and outer throats, respectively) located
 0.15 to 0.25 in. from the gas side surface. Water from the casings enters each throat section (inner and outer) through four manifolds. Each



UNITIAS SHIRD

manifold contains a set of drilled holes leading into the circumferential coolant slots. Water flows through the slots in each circumferential direction from the inlet holes over an arc of 45 degrees to the adjacent outlets. The flow returns through four (in each throat section) main throat outlets, the casing, and injector ports. Flow distribution in the throats is accomplished by varying the sizes of holes feeding each slot, directing the majority of the coolant water into the critical areas. The cooling circuit is symmetrical so that the casings and throats may be rotated relative to each other and to the injector without affecting the intended flow distribution. Gas side walls of the inner and outer nozzle throat sections are also gold-plated to minimize hot-gas erosion.

Gas Generator

(C) The gas generator (Fig. 13) was constructed entirely of type 347 stainless steel and consisted of two interchangeable injectors, a single combustion chamber casing, an internal flow mixer and two interchangeable throat orifices. One injec of and a matching orifice (low-flow GG) were used for firings requiring secondary flow from 0 to 3 percent of primary flow; the other injector-orifice combination (high-flow GG) was used for firings requiring 3 to 5 percent secondary flow. The injector orifices were sized for these percentages of a primary flowrate of 41.6 lbs/sec ($P_c = 500$ psia). However, actual primary flowrate was nominally 27 lbs/sec ($P_c = 300$ psia) for the majority of the tests. The correspondingly derated flow conditions for the gas generator did not noticeably affect combustion efficiency of the high flowrate system. However, the ombustion efficiency of the low flowrate gas generator was 10 to 20 percent lower with the reduced flow.

> × LONNTARENTIAL



•

(U) The injector pattern of both injectors provides four fuel streams impinging on one central oxidizer stream. Both injectors contained five pentad elements. To insure good mixing and combustion a high chamber L[#] (L[#] = 150 to 450 inches depending on the flow control orifice used) and an internal flow deflector were used.

(U) The GG sections were bolted to the base plate with the diffuser and orifice downstream side of the plate and the chamber section and injecter on the upstream side (Fig. 6). The GG was pressure fed and required oxidizer and fuel supply systems separate from the TCA systems. Operation of the uncooled GG at relatively low mixture ratios (0/P = 0.1) prevented the metal surfaces from exceeding their design temperature of 1800 degrees P_0

Fase Configurations

(3)

しいどうま

6

(U) Two base configurations were employed for injection of secondary flow. 1 hat shaped diffuser (Fig. 14) constructed of 347 stainless steel was used for all tests except the last three (AD test series at AEDC). Four 3 inch holes diffused the GG flow (secondary flow) radially outward into the base cavity.

Prior to the last test series this diffuser was modified by plugging the $\frac{3}{4}$ inch holes and replacing them with twenty-might $\frac{1}{4}$ inch radial holes. The modified diffuser was installed along with the perforated base plate for the AD test series. A perforated base plate was fabricated and bolted to the nozzle exit face for use in the AD test series. The base plate was constructed of $\frac{1}{4}$ inch 347 stainless steel and contained 578 holes of 3/32 inch diameter. An extensive series of steady state tests at AEDC with the perforated plate and the modified flow diffuser were planned. However, operational difficulties and hardware damage prevented the obtaining of satisfactory data with either of the later base configurations.



Uncooled Thrust Chasher Assembly

A solid wall, uncooled thrust chamber (Fig. 15) was used for evaluation of injector performance and checkout of operational procedures. The uncooled chamber is dimensionally identical to the water cooled configuration with the exception that the nozzle length was eight percent instead of twelve percent and the base diameter was therefore larger (base area of 201 in²). The chamber casings are constructed of 347 stainless steel and the nozzle sections are constructed of OFEC copper. The inner nozzle was plated with a thin dense chrome coating. The thrust chamber is capable of approximately 0.8 second firing durations at 500 psia chamber pressure. A base plate and gas generator were mounted to the inner nozzle in a manner similar to that employed with the water-cooled thrust chamber.

Fluid Systems

(U)

(U) Fluid fittings provided on the thrust chamber assembly consist of four primary fuel inlets, four primary oxidizer inlets, one secondary oridizer inlet, one secondary fuel inlet, eight water inlets (four for the annulus and four for the outer atuulus) and eight water outlets. The fitting locations and the fluid flow paths are illustrated schematically in Fig. 16 .

TEST INSTALLATION

 (U) Trirty-three gas generator tests, ten uncooled thrust chamber tests and ten water cooled thrust chamber tests were conducted at Rocketdyne sea level facilities. Twenty water cooled thrust chamber firings were accomplished at the altitude facility (Rocket Test Facility, J-2 Cell) of Arnold Engineering Development Center (AEDC).



ŀ



•

£ 4

(


Sea Level Test Installation

- (y) Sea level tests with the GG and with the uncooled and water cooled TCA's were conducted on Sugar Stand at the Propulsion Research Area of the Santa Susana Field Laboratory. The horizontal firing thrust structure (Fig. 17) was newly constructed for this test program. The engine assembly attaches to the main support pylon which is attached by axial and yaw flexures to the main support stand. The aft section of the engine is supported by structure having only axial flexures.
- (U) The propellant system (Fig. 18) included a 300-gal primary fuel tank, a 200-gal primary oridizer tank, 43-gal secondary fuel and oxidizer tanks, a gaseous nitrogen pressurization system, and the required values and fittings. Gaseous nitrogen systems were also provided for system purging and secondary propellant and water value actuation. A hydraulic system was utilized for primary propellant value actuation. Coolant water was supplied from a nitrogen pressurized 800-gal tank. Control of both propellant and coolant water flow was obtained by the use of automatic preset pressure regulators in the tank pressurization systems.

Altitude Test Installation (AEDC)

(U) Propulsion Engine Test Cell (J-2) (Fig. 19 and 20 and Ref. 25) is a waterjacketed test cell, 20 ft. in diameter, used for captive horizontal testing of propulsion systems at pressure altitude conditions. J-2 is capable of producing constant pressure altitudes in excess of 100,000 ft. by the use of parallel primary and secondary steam ejector-diffusers operating in series with the RTF facility exhausters. However, for this test program, nozzle pressure ratio transients (hence test cell pressure transients) were obtained by essentially isolating the test cell and











• 1 ÷ 1

..

allowing engine exhaust gases to increase test cell pressure during the firings. Test cell isolation was obtained by valving-off the primary exhaust duct and orificing the inlet to the secondary exhaust duct. Both the range and gradient of the transients were controlled by the use of two remotely interchangeable exhaust inlet orifices and the inbleeding of steam into the test cell during the firings. Desired pre-firing test cell pressures were obtained by setting pumping ratios on the facility exhausters.

行動的ななののないなどのないという

(0)

います。然後、他のないない、あるのないのないないでいた。

(U) Firings requiring constant nozzle pressure ratios (constant test cell pressures) were conducted with the primary exhaust ducting open to the facility exhausters and without steam inbleed. By thus creating a sufficiently large test cell outbleed area, test cell pressure remained essentially at pre-firing levels throughout the firings.

(U) The engine was mounted horizontally in an engine support assembly, which consisted of a thrust abutment, an aft support stand, and an engine pylon (Fig. 21). The TCA was mounted rigidly to the engine pylon which was attached to the aft support stand in both the pitch and yas planes by universal flexures. Axial force was measure by two series-mounted load cells attached to the thrust abutment and the engine pylon by universal flexures which permitted forces to be transmitted only along the longi-tudinal axis of the load cells.

The propellant system (Fig. 22) utilized for this test program included primary (1500 gal) oxidizer and fuel supply tanks, a gaseous nitrogen pressurization system, and the required values and fittings. Gaseous nitrogen systems were also provided for both TCA and GG injector purging and propellant value actuation. Water for TCA cooling was provided by a high-pressure supply system (Fig. 22) utilizing a 1000-gal tank pressurised by gaseous nitrogen.Control of both propellant and cooling water flow to the TCA and GG was obtained by the use of automatic preset pressure regulators in the tank pressurization systems.


b. Closeup View

Pigure 21. Test Cell Installation



INSTRUMENTATION

(IJ)

has the second second

Instrumentation was provided to obtain measurements of axial thrust, TCA and GO combustion chamber and injector pressures, nozzle outer wall and base pressures, test cell pressures, nozzle base plate temperatures, GG combustion temperatures, propellant and cooling water flow rates, and propellant and cooling water system pressures and temperatures. Visual monitoring of the testing was provided by closed-circuit television and motion-picture cameras. Table 1 presents transducer ranges, recording systems used for primary data acquisition, and estimated measurement accuracies for the AEDC test program. For the sea level test program instrumentation ranges and accuracies were similar. However, all performance and base heating parameters (chamber pressures, flow rates, nozzle and base pressures, thrust, and response temperatures were recorded by a Beckman model 210 digital data acquisition system and reduced by computer program. Location of TCA and GG instrumentation is shown in Figs. 23, 24, 25 and 26. Location of water and propellant system instrumentation is shown in Fig. 18 and 22 .

Force Measurement

(U) <u>Altitude Testing.</u> Axial thrust was measured using two dual-output straingage-type load cells mounted in series having ranges from 0 to 10,000 log an i to 20,000 lbg, respectively. Primary data recordings of the load cell outputs were in frequency form on magnetic tape. Calibration of the thrust measuring system was accomplished by a remotely controlled dealweight calibrator. The accuracy of the thrust calibrator was determined by comparison to a National Bureau of Standards certified standard to be within 0.2 percent. Overall thrust measurement accuracy is estimated to be within 1.0 percent.

	1	TABLE	1	
PRIMARY	DATA	ACQUI	SITION	SYSTEMS
_				

	(xepr	octional From Ref. 25)		
Parameter	Trans Jucar Raige	Data Conditioning	Récorder	Estimated Accuracy
Ferce, the Axial	92.000	Analog-10-Frequency Converter	Magnetic Tape	tl. 0 percett
Pressure usia				·
TCA Combustion Chamber-	0-300	Analog-to-Frequency Converter	Magnetic Tape	±0.5 persent
GG Combustion Chamber	0-500	1	1	
Test Call	0-15			
Main Oxidizer Tank.	9-750	l I		
Main Fuel Tank	1 1			
Secondary Oxidiaer Tank		í í		
Secondary Fuel Tank				
Water Tank	0-1500			
TCA Oxidizer Supply Line	0-750	ABALOg-10-Digital Colombialor		
CCA Fuel supply Line				
GG Fuel Supply				
GG 'midizer Interior Inlet	1 1			
GG Fual Insector Inlet	0-500			
CC Oxidizer Injector	1 - 1		i i	i i i
GG Fuel Injector				
TCA Oxidizer Injector	1 1			
TCA Fuel Injector				
Mosale Base	0-25		, ,	
Nozzle Outer Wall		D iana d	Bassadia a Nus 1. Dalaras	49.9
TCA Outditer Purge	0-300	Direct	Detestionates	ITY O Delong
GG Ovidinar Burge			i i	
GG Fuel Purse		1 1		
TCA Water Inlet	0-1500	Analog-to-Digital Commutator	Magnetic Tape	±0.5 percent
TCA Inser Water Outlet	l i î ·			1
TCA Outer Water Outlet	î			i 1 i
Flow Sensor Statis	0-20		1 h.	
Pressure Differential, paid	1	·	·	
TCA Water Inner Orifice	0-300	Analog-to-Frequency Converter	Magnetic Tape	±0,5 percent
TCA Water Outer Orlice				
Flow Sensor Upstream	±3 .	Analog-to-Digital Commutator		
Flow Sensor Downstream	±3	Analog-to-Digital Commutator	•	· ·
Flow Rate, 15m/sec		f · · ·	[1 1
TCA Oxidizer	5-45	Direct	Magnetic Trpe	±1.0 percent
TCA Fuel	3-27	1	I	
GG Oxidiser			Computed from	±3.0 percent
GG Fuel		Dimont	Magardia Tana	42 3
A CAN WALKE			and the second s	
Temperature, *F				
TCA Oxidiser	0-200	Analog-to-Frequency Converter	Magnetic Tape	
TCA Feel	1 [1 1		
GG Fast	1	1 1	1 1	1 1
TCA Water Islat	1 1	8 8	1 1	1 1 1
TCA Inner Water Outlat		1 1	1 1	
TCA Outer Water Outlet	1 1	1 4	4 1	
GG Combustion Gas	0-2000	Analog-to-Digital Commutator]]	1407
Nousle Lass Plate	0-2000	Analog-to-Digital Commutator		\$43*2
Valve Position	1	1	j ·	1 1
TCA Oxidizer	Open-Clowe	Direct	L.ght-Saam	
TCA Fuel	1	ſ }	Oscillograph	
GG Oxidister	1 1	1 1	1 1	
og Puel	1 1	•		
Time, sec			Light-Beam	1 10.002 met
	I		Oscillograph	1

. T.

53

. .

Ŀ

•

ALCONDEDITIES TO LAR 200- - V 1

ł 11 ł

į

Della State

÷.

•

.







,



(U) Sea Level Testing. Thrust was measured using a Baldwin bonded strain gage, load cell rated at 20,000 lb_g. Calibration of the thrust measuring system was accomplished by hydraulically loading the system and comparing measurements with an in-line, strain gage type thrust ring. The thrust ring was calibrated at the NBS and certified to have a precision of "O.1 percent. Overall precision of the thrust measurement and recording system was determined from periodic calibrations during the testing to be _0.7 percent.

Pressure Measurements, Altitude and Sea Level Testing

(U)

(U)

ř

TCA and GG combustion charber pressures were sensed by bonded strain-gagetype transducers having ranges from 0 to 300 and 0 to 500 psis, respectively. Nozzle base (Fig. 23) pressures were sensed by the same type of transducers having ranges from 0 to 25 psis. Test cell pressures were sensed by bonded strain-gage-type transducers with ranges from 0 to 15 and 0 to 20 psis. Propellant and water system pressures were sensed by strain-gagetype transducers having various ranges (Table 1). Sensing of TCA and GG injector pressures was by 0- to 500-psis, strain-gage-type transducers. Primary data recordings of all pressure transducer outputs, with the exception of both TCA and GG purge pressure transducers, were on magnetic tape in either frequency or digital form. Recordings of the purge pressure transducer outputs were on strip charts (recording null-balance potentiometers).

All pressure transducers were calibrated under laboratory conditions by comparison to secondary standards. Preselected precision electrical resistances were used in the transducer circuitry to simulate applied pressures electrically. The pressure values thus simulated were determined by comparing the outputs of the resistance-shunted transducers with outputs obtained during the previous secondary standard calibrations. Prior to an actual firing, these same precision shunt resistances were used to obtain calibrations of each of the pressure data recording systems.

(U) The precision of pressure measurements obtained using electrical resistance calibrations of both the frequency and digital tape recording systems is estimated to be within 0.5 percent.

Flowrate Measurements

「「「「

- (U) <u>Altitude Testing</u>. Propellant flowrates to the thrust chamber assembly were measured by dual-output, turbine-type flownsters. Two such flowmeters were installed in series in both the oxidizer and fuel supply lines to the TCA. Calibrations of the flowneters were obtained under laboratory conditions on a flow-calibration bench using water as the working fluid.
- (U) A flow calibration using water as the working fluid was made to determine the pressure drop-flowrate relationship for each secondary system. The pressure drop-flowrate functions thus determined were used with tank and GG combustion chamber pressure differentials to determine flowrates to the GG during the test firings.
- (U) A single, dual-output, turbine-type flowmeter and two calibrated squareedged orifices were used to determine total cooling water flowrate and flowrates to the inner and outer sections of the TCA, respectively. Calibration of the water flowmeter was obtained in a laboratory flow calibration bench. The two orifices were individually crlibrated in place using the flowmeter as a calibration standard. Pressure differentials across the orifices were sensed b. O- to 300-paid, strain-gage-type pressure transducers. Recording systems and calibration methods used with the orifice transducers were identical to those described previously.

(U) The precision of pressure measurements obtained using electrical resistance calibrations of both the frequency and digital tape recording systems is estimated to be within 0.5 percent.

Flowrate Measurements

A THE ALL AND A SAME AND

- (U) <u>Altitude Testing</u>. P. opellant flowrates to the thrust chamber assembly were measured by dual-output, turbine-type flowmeters. Two such flowmeters were installed in series in both the oridizer and fuel supply lines to the TCA. Calibrations of the flowmeters were obtained under laboratory conditions on a flow-calibration bench using water as the working fluid.
- (U) A flow calibration using water as the working fluid was made to determine the pressure drop-flowrate relationship for each secondary system. The pressure drop-flowrate functions thus determined were used with tank and GG combustion chamber pressure differentials to determine flowrates to the GG during the test firings.
- (U) A single, dual-output, turbine-type flowmeter and two calibrated squareedged orifices were used to determine total cooling water flowrate and flowrates to the inner and outer sections of the TCA, respectively. Calibration of the water flowmeter was obtained in a laboratory flow calibration bench. The two orifices were individually calibrated in place using the flowmeter as a calibration standard. Pressure differentials across the orifices were sensed b. O- to 300-psid, strain-gage-type pressure transducers. Recording systems and calibration methods used with the orifice transducers were identical to those described previously.

Repair and the second of the

「日本のないない」

ł

\$

(U) Primary data recordings of all flowmeter outputs were in frequency form on magnetic tape. The flowmeter data recording systems were calibrated by applying input signals of known frequency. Overall measurement accuracies of the secondary propellant flow data and the orifice water flow data are estimated to be within 5.0 percent.

(U) Sea Level Testing. Primary and secondary propellant and coolant water flowrates were measured with single, Fisher-Porter turbine type flowmeters. Because of the low flowrate in the secondary oxidizer feed system, this meter was calibrated using W_2O_4 . All other flowmeters were calibrated with water. The water calibrations were corrected by the viscosity ratio of water to propellant to make the calibrations applicable for the respective propellant.

(U) The precision of the propellant flowmeters was determined from periodic calibration to be ±0.25 percent. The precision of the water flowmeter is within 2.0 percent (manufacturer's certific time).

Temperature Measurements. Altitude and Sea Lovel Testing

(U) Fuel, oxidizer, and water temperatures were measured by immersion-type resistance temperature transducers (RTT) located as shown in Figs. 18 and 22. Nozzle base plate temperatures were sensed by thermocouples attached to the base plate at locations shown in Fig. 25. GG combustion gas temperatures were measured by thermocouple probes as shown in Fig. 26. Primary recordings of the temperature sensor data were in either frequency or digital form on magnetic tape. Calibration of the RTT recording systems and spanning of the thermocuple recording systems were obtained electrically. Estimated overall measurement accuracies of fluid temperature data are _1F. Nozzle base, plate and GG gas temperature accuracies are _40P.

Miscellaneous

Contraction of the

ł

- (U) <u>Altitude Testing</u>. A pitot-st tic flow sensor was installed near the TCA to determine direction and magnitude of any external flow field that might influence nozzle performance. This flow sensor used a O- to 15-psia, strain-gage-type transducer which measured local static pressure and two similar +3-psid transducers which measured the difference between the static pressure and the total pressure in two directions parallel to the longitudinal axis of the TCA. Data recording and calibrations of the flow sensor instrumentation were identical to those described previously.
- (U) Indications of propellant valve functions required for TCA and CG operation were recorded on light-beam oscillographs. Oscillographs were also used for redundant recording of primary data and for time correlation. Strip charts were used to monitor the firings and to provide immediate access data. Events in the test cell during the firings were monitored by a closed-circuit television system and recorded by five 16-cm. motion picture cameras using color film.

- (U) <u>Sea Lavel Testing</u>. The uncooled thrust chamber was instrumented with three photocome for the first five firings and with five photocome for the last five firings (Fig. 27). Photocom output was recorded on lightbeam oscillographs and high speed tape with a frequency resolution of approximately 15,000 cps.
- (U) Indications of valve functions were recorded on Easterline Angus recorders.
 Oscillographs and strip charts were used to record primary data for immediate access. Three 15-mm motion picture cameras provided visual records of the firings.

PROCEDURES

Sea Level Testing

- (U) Pre-test pre-tures consisted of system and hardware leak checks, calibration of instrumentation, and measurement of nozzle throat area. Negzle throat gap measurements were made at six or more locations around the throat circumference with a ball micrometer.
- (U) The propellant and water supply tank were pressurized. Coolant water flow was initiated manually and the flowrate observed on a strip chart. When adequate water flow was achieved, the automatic firing sequencer was activated. This sequencer controlled primary purges, all propellant valves, and the recording system. Venting of the water tank, closing the water valve, and post-fire purging of the GG were performed manually. Posttest calibrations, inspection of the hardware and measurement of the throat area were then performed.



Ititude Testing

(U) The test program consisted of four test periods with three to nine
 TCL firings conducted at either transient or constant pressure altitude
 conditions during each test period.

(U) Pre-test procedures, including electrical and mechanical checks of all test hardware, measurement of the nozzle throat area and static leakage checks of the propellant and water-supply systems, the thrust chamber assembly, and the gas generator, were conducted prior to each test period. The propellant tanks were loaded, and samples were taken from the primary tanks and analyzed to determine propellant specific gravity variations with temperature and to determine that the propellants met applicable specifications. The test cell hatch was closed, and pre-test instrumentation calibrations were performed at atmospheric pressure. The test cell was then evacuated to a pressure of approximately 0.5 psia by the facility exhausters, and pre-test instrumentation calibrations were repeated. Propellant, water, and steam system bleed-ins were accomplished at pressure altitude conditions.

(U) For each of the firings requiring test cell pressure transients, the primary exhaust duct was valved off, and the proper orifice was positioned at the inlet to the secondary exhaust duct. The steam inbleed system valve controller was positioned so that when the steam inbleed valve was opened at TCA ignition, the required flow rate of steam would enter the test cell. Test cell pressure was set at the required pre-firing level using the facility exhausters. The propellant water, and steam systems were then pressurized.

- (U) The final 60 seconds of the firing countdown was performed automatically by an electrical sequencer which activated all firing systems, started the recording instrumentation, initiated cooling water flow to the TCA, initiated mitrogen purges through both the TCA and GG injectors, and sequenced both TCA and GG propellant valwes to fire the engine for the prescribed firing duration. A typical sequence of major events is shown in Fig. 28 for a nine second firing with the GG shutdown two seconds before the main engine.
- (U) The firings requiring a constant test cell pressure were conducted in the same manner, except that the primary exhaust system was not valved off and steam was not inbled into the test cell.
- (U) At the completion of each test period, instrumentation celibrations were again performed at low test cell pressure. The test cell was vented to atmospheric pressure, and posttest atmospheric pressure calibrations were taken. Posttest procedures including measurement of the nozzle throat area were then performed on the test article.

Data Reduction

when whether the second second

2010

きい ちょうちょう ちょう

いい いちょう ちょう

(U) For the sea level testing all data necessary for determining engine performance (except for propellant temperature and pressure, which were recorded on direct inking graphic recorders) were recorded in digital fort on tape using a Beckman 210 system. These data, with the proper calibration adjustments, were reduced to engineering quantities and units by a computer program. The data was printed out in 0.01-record intervals. Approximately fourteen 0.01-second interval data points were used to obtain 0.5 second average data. Flowrates were printed out ir cps and reduced to lbs/sec by hard.





The and the second states and the second states and the second

For the altitude testing, all data recorded in frequency form on magnetic tape were translated into digital form. The digital-form data thus obtained and the data originally recorded in digital form on magnetic tape were reduced to standard engineering units and tabulated by a

tape were reduced to standard engineering units and tabulated by a digital computer at 0.1-second intervals for each firing. The computer was also programmed to use the measured data to compute average TCA and GG performance parameters over 0.1- and 0.5-second intervals for each firing. The performance parametars computed by this program were not used for the final performance computations, but were used for preliminary interpretation of engine performance and operating characteristics.

 (U) Basic engineering data (propellant flows, ambient pressure, chamber and base pressures, temperatures, throat areas, and thrust) from both sea level and altitude test series were supplied to a computer program which computed, tabulated and plotted pertinent performance parameters averaged over 0.5-second intervals.

TESTING SUMMARY

(U) The basic objective of this test program was to demonstrate the performance of an aerospike nozzle over a range of altitude from sea level to design altitude and to determine the influence of secondary flowrate and properties on performance over this same altitude range. In achieving this objective, testing activity was divided into four main areas: (1) a large number of gas generator tests were accomplished to determine operating characteristics over a range of flowrates and mixture ratios, (2) uncooled thrust chamber testing was conducted to evaluate primary injector performance prior te its use in the water cooled hardware and to establish test procedures;
(3) sea level testing with water cooled hardware was conducted to establish engine operating characteristics, to uncover and correct engine structural deficiencies and to obtain performance data, and (4) tests were conducted over



ł.

×.

(U)

A STATE AND A STATE AND A STATE AND A STATE

CONTRANTIAL

a pressure ratio range from approximately 350 to 40 at AEDC to determine nozzle performance. The chronological sequence of the test activity is shown in Fig. 29. A description of the testing accomplished and operational difficulties is presented.

Gas Generator Tests

- (U) During April and May 1965, 33 gas generator firings (13 low flowrate and 20 high flowrate) were conducted. The objectives of the gas generator testing progrem weres (1) establish propellant valve sequencing and special operating procedures, (2) determine injector and overall pressure losses, (3) determine C* efficiencies and combustion gas temperature over a broad range of mixture ratios and propellant flowrates, and (4) demonstrate the feasibility of 19-second duration gas generator firings at a chamber pressure of 400 psia and a gas temperature of approximately 1800°F.
- (U) All objectives of the test program were met and the hardware was in good condition after 33 tests. Test results are summarized in Table 2.

Uncooled Thrust Chamber Tests

- (U) The objective of the uncooled hardware test program was primarily to conduct short duration (to 0.8 second) sea level tests to obtain a stable injector with reasonable performance for use in obtaining performance data with the longer duration cooled hurdware.
- (C) Five tests were conducted using Injector No. 1 with the uncooled aerodynamic spike engine. The tests covered a range of chamber pressures from 293 to 507 psia and a mixture ratio range of 1.63 to 1.94. These variations were purposely imposed to insure stability over a wide range of potential operating conditions. High-frequency

CONFIDENTIAL



ŕ

INGLASSIFIED

. . . .

Carlo and a state of the state

Ê

The second is the

•

Tast P. Mitture Mitture Comb. Comb. Comb. Mutture 0.0. Presp. 2 Benoutis Type 0.0. 114 4444 0.007 1 <t< th=""><th>Tast P. pata Mitture ICond. *Cond. *Cond. *Cond. Tasp. 2 Buration G. (1, p) pata 111 4.11 0.077 1 <t< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>TABLE 2</th><th>GAS GEN</th><th>ERATOR TEST S</th><th>SUMMARY</th><th>2</th><th>APTDENTAL</th></t<></th></t<>	Tast P. pata Mitture ICond. *Cond. *Cond. *Cond. Tasp. 2 Buration G. (1, p) pata 111 4.11 0.077 1 <t< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>TABLE 2</th><th>GAS GEN</th><th>ERATOR TEST S</th><th>SUMMARY</th><th>2</th><th>APTDENTAL</th></t<>				TABLE 2	GAS GEN	ERATOR TEST S	SUMMARY	2	APTDENTAL
11.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 11.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 11.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 11.1 <	11 4.1 0.077 1 1 1 0.075 0.056 0.05	Test	Po paia	Mixture Ratio	Meas.	*Comb. Temp. 1 deg F	*Comb. Temp. 2 deg F	Duration Seconds	6.0. Type	(1b / sec)
L 1 1 1 0.05 LK 0.07 1 1 0.07 LK 0.07 2 2 1 1 LK 0.08 85.5 1 1 1 1 LK 0.08 85.5 1	11.1 1 0.07 1									
111 444 0.007 0.056 0.0	11.1 444. 0.007 0.566 11.8 7.417 0.062 85.5 2.22 12 0.050 12.8 4.61 0.062 85.5 2.22 12 0.050 20.105 87.5 2.22 12 0.050 20.105 87.5 2.22 12 0.050 20.105 87.5 2.22 12 0.050 20.105 87.5 2.22 12 0.050 20.105 87.5 2.22 12 0.050 20.101 87.5 1650 1750 3.27 12 0.050 20.11 87.5 1650 1750 3.27 12 0.050 21.2 111 87.0 1750 3.27 12 0.050 22.2 1250 1150 1150 1150 3.09 12 0.050 22.2 125 1260 1150 1260 1193 12 0.050 22.2 </td <td>ສ</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>I.F.</td> <td>1</td>	ສ	1	1	1	1	1	1	I.F.	1
111 10000 1000 1000	15 4.89 0.002 2.2 10 119 4.40 0.0109 90.9 2.2 10 129 4.40 0.0084 85.5 2.2 10 129 4.40 0.0084 85.5 2.2 10 221 233 0.0109 89.0 1750 2.2 10 0.050 222 333 0.0103 85.0 1750 3.2 10 0.050 235 3557 0.0103 85.0 1750 3.2 10 0.50 235 1550 1650 1750 170 3.2 10 0.50 235 1550 1105 1105 3.5 3.2 10 0.50 236 4.55 0.007 5.5 110 3.5 110 3.5 12 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.	14	111	0.077	1	1	1	1		0.500
111 1111 111 111	111 4.49 0.0.03 90.9 2.2.2 1 0.068 121 4.47 0.0.03 87.5 2.2.2 1 0.063 221 233 0.0.03 87.5 2.2.2 1 0.063 222 2337 0.0.03 87.5 2.2.2 1 1 0.050 223 3371 0.0103 87.5 2.2.2 1 1 0.050 233 0.0104 89.0 1750 2.2.3 1 1 0.050 233 0.0104 89.0 1750 2.2.3 1 1 0.050 234 0.0111 89.0 1750 2.03 1750 3.2.3 1 1 1 0.050 234 4.45 0.0104 90.5 1 2.03 1 1 1 2.04 1 1 2.04 1 1 2.05 1 1 2.05 <td>52</td> <td>687</td> <td>0.062</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>2,23</td> <td></td> <td>2:20</td>	52	687	0.062	1	1	1	2,23		2:20
10 4.1 0.084 89.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 <td< td=""><td>17 4.1 0.084 89.2 3.27 12 0.085 18 5.14 0.008 85.5 3.27 12 0.05 22 233 0.0105 89.0 1750 3.27 12 0.05 23 337 0.0105 89.0 1750 3.27 12 0.05 23 337 0.0105 89.0 1750 3.26 12 0.05 23 355 0.0073 55.1 3.26 12 0.05 24 555 0.0073 55.1 3.26 12 0.05 25 1550 11550 1.05 1255 3.27 12 0.05 27 4.59 0.003 35.7 125 3.29 12 0.05 28 146 0.003 85.8 1175 125 3.29 12 0.05 29 1265 0.003 89.8 117 125 3.29 1</td><td>5</td><td>6779</td><td>0.109</td><td>6.06</td><td>1</td><td>8</td><td>2.24</td><td>12</td><td></td></td<>	17 4.1 0.084 89.2 3.27 12 0.085 18 5.14 0.008 85.5 3.27 12 0.05 22 233 0.0105 89.0 1750 3.27 12 0.05 23 337 0.0105 89.0 1750 3.27 12 0.05 23 337 0.0105 89.0 1750 3.26 12 0.05 23 355 0.0073 55.1 3.26 12 0.05 24 555 0.0073 55.1 3.26 12 0.05 25 1550 11550 1.05 1255 3.27 12 0.05 27 4.59 0.003 35.7 125 3.29 12 0.05 28 146 0.003 85.8 1175 125 3.29 12 0.05 29 1265 0.003 89.8 117 125 3.29 1	5	6779	0.109	6.06	1	8	2.24	12	
13 53 <td< td=""><td>18 334 0.068 85.5 3.26 14 0.058 22 334 0.0105 87.9 11580 3.26 14 2.01 22 334 0.0105 85.5 3.26 14 2.02 23 357 0.0119 89.0 11780 3.26 14 2.02 23 355 0.0115 86.5 16800 3.37 14 2.02 25 355 0.0115 50.5 3.37 14 2.02 25 355 0.0035 86.5 3.37 14 2.02 25 355 0.0035 80.5 3.37 14 2.02 25 355 0.0035 80.5 3.37 14 2.02 25 155 1560 11530 3.09 14 2.23 26 115 115 115 3.09 14 2.23 27 115 115 115 3.09 14 2.23 28 214 0.055 115 115 3.09 14 29 115 <</td><td>5</td><td>117</td><td>0.034</td><td>89.2</td><td>1</td><td>1</td><td>0.03</td><td>1 1</td><td></td></td<>	18 334 0.068 85.5 3.26 14 0.058 22 334 0.0105 87.9 11580 3.26 14 2.01 22 334 0.0105 85.5 3.26 14 2.02 23 357 0.0119 89.0 11780 3.26 14 2.02 23 355 0.0115 86.5 16800 3.37 14 2.02 25 355 0.0115 50.5 3.37 14 2.02 25 355 0.0035 86.5 3.37 14 2.02 25 355 0.0035 80.5 3.37 14 2.02 25 355 0.0035 80.5 3.37 14 2.02 25 155 1560 11530 3.09 14 2.23 26 115 115 115 3.09 14 2.23 27 115 115 115 3.09 14 2.23 28 214 0.055 115 115 3.09 14 29 115 <	5	117	0.034	89.2	1	1	0.03	1 1	
22 233 44 0.108 85.0 1880 3.27 0.010 22 233 0.010 89.0 1880 3.25 14 23 333 0.010 89.0 1880 3.25 14 23 333 0.006 89.0 1880 3.25 14 24 0.011 89.0 1750 3.25 14 1.14 235 0.005 95.4 3.25 14 1.14 1.14 235 0.005 95.5 1265 3.20 14 2.25 235 0.057 95.5 1265 3.09 119 11.14 235 0.057 95.5 1560 119 3.26 11.15 235 455 0.057 85.4 1560 3.27 14 2.26 235 455 0.057 95.5 1050 1050 3.27 14 2.26 245 0.057 </td <td>22 233 0.108 87.9 </td> <td>18</td> <td>394</td> <td>0.068</td> <td>85.5</td> <td>1</td> <td>•</td> <td>20.00</td> <td></td> <td></td>	22 233 0.108 87.9	18	394	0.068	85.5	1	•	20.00		
283 459 0.119 89.0 11880 3.2.2 3.3.1 0.119 89.0 11750 3.2.3 8.1 1.1.1 2.2.2 8.1 1.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 1.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1 2.1.1	22 233 0.0119 89.0 1380 3.77 0.0119 89.0 1380 3.77 0.0119 89.0 11520 3.73 0.0119 89.0 11520 3.73 0.0119 89.0 11750 3.73 0.0119 89.0 11750 3.73 0.0119 89.0 11750 3.73 111 87.0 3.75 111 87.0 3.75 111 87.0 3.75 111 87.0 3.75 111 87.0 3.75 111 87.0 3.75 111 <td>19</td> <td>461</td> <td>0.106</td> <td>87.9</td> <td>8</td> <td>1</td> <td>2.05</td> <td>4 5</td> <td></td>	19	461	0.106	87.9	8	1	2.05	4 5	
22 23 0.105 89.0 1750 3.37 0.105 89.0 1750 23 3557 0.005 85.5 16200 3.39 87 9.005 28 3557 0.005 85.5 15200 3.39 87 9.005 28 455 0.005 55.1 710 3.09 87 9.23 28 455 0.005 80.5 710 3.09 87 9.23 87 9.23 87 9.23 87 9.23 87 9.23 9.23 87 9.23 9.23 9.23 9.23 9.23 9.23 9.23 9.23 9.23 9.23 9.23 9.24 9.23 9.24 9.23 9.24 9.23 9.24 9.23 9.24	22 33,1 0.105 89,0 1750	ରୁ	450	0.119	89.0	1580	1	22	1 2	
22 334 0.004 86.5 1650 - 3.33 0.011 87.0 1650 - 3.33 16.004 86.5 1650 - 3.33 0.011 87.0 0.076 54.1 - 3.33 0.076 54.1 - 3.33 0.076 54.1 - 3.33 0.076 54.1 - 3.33 0.076 54.1 - 3.33 0.076 54.1 - 3.33 0.076 54.1 - 3.33 0.076 54.1 16.6 16.6 3.33 3.33 8.4 3.33 8.4 3.33 8.4 3.33 8.4 3.33 8.4 3.33 8.4 16.6 16.6 3.33 8.4 16.6 3.33 8.4 16.6 16.6 3.33 8.4 16.6 16.6 3.33 8.4 16.6 16.6 16.6 3.33 8.4 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.6 </td <td>22 314 0.003 54.1 3.23 10.111 69.0 716 3.23 11.11 11.15 3.23 11.11 11.15 3.23 11.11 11.15 3.23 3.23 11.15 3.23</td> <td>ನ</td> <td>253</td> <td>0.105</td> <td>69.0</td> <td>1750</td> <td>1</td> <td>000</td> <td></td> <td></td>	22 314 0.003 54.1 3.23 10.111 69.0 716 3.23 11.11 11.15 3.23 11.11 11.15 3.23 11.11 11.15 3.23 3.23 11.15 3.23	ನ	253	0.105	69.0	1750	1	000		
22 333 0.111 85.0 7760 3.21 1	22 337 0.111 89.0 760 3.31 0.111 89.0 760 3.31 11.1 23 355 0.0073 350.5 710 3.32 11.1 11.1 23 455 0.0073 350.5 710 3.33 11.1	22	314	C.084	86.5	1620	1			7 , 1
22 355 0.076 54.1 5.3 23 455 0.073 50.5 5.3 5.3 23 455 0.073 50.5 126 5.33 5.31 H 23 455 0.063 87.6 126 5.33 H 5.31 H 2.22 H 2.23 H 2.24 2.25 1.26 2.25 2.25 1.26 2.25 2.25 1.26 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.2	22 369 0.0076 54.1 3.1 3.1 3.1 3.1 <	ຊ	357	0.111	89.0	1760	1	3.31		3.
23 335 0.073 50.5 710 3.09 876 2.22 876 2.23 875 2.23 2.09 875 2.23 2.09 875 2.23 2.09 875 2.23 2.09 875 2.23 2.09 875 2.24 2.25	23 335 0.073 50.5 710 3.09 HT 2.25 28 445 0.005 85.5 1255 3.09 HT 2.25 292 0.055 85.6 1255 3.09 HT 2.25 393 445 0.056 85.4 1550 3.09 HT 2.25 393 445 0.057 85.4 1175 1550 3.09 HT 2.25 393 445 0.056 85.4 1175 1107 3.09 HT 2.25 393 446 0.0705 85.4 1175 1070 3.17 HT 2.25 393 446 0.0705 85.4 1175 1070 3.17 HT 2.26 393 446 0.0705 85.4 1175 1070 3.17 HT 2.26 393 446 0.0705 85.4 1175 1070 3.17 HT 2.26 393 441 0.055 80.7 94	24	363	0.076	54.1	1	•	3.31	A	0 2 2
23 5.05 78.6 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2 1265 2.2 1265 2.2 1265 2.2 1265 2.2 1265 2.2 1265 2.2 1107 2.2 1265 1005 2.2 1005 2.2 1107 2.2 1107 1265 1005 3.17 1107 1265 1005 3.17 1107 1265 1005 3.17 1107 2.2 1117 1005 3.17 1107 3.17 1117 1005 3.17 1117 1005 3.17 1117 1005 3.17 1117 1005 3.17 1117 1005 3.17 1117 1117 1117 1117 1117 1117 1117	27 4.55 0.039 78.6 2.22 H 2.23 H 2.24 28 2.28 0.0050 80.5 1265 3.09 H 2.23 H 2.24 29 0.0051 80.5 1265 3.09 H 2.25 3.09 H 2.26 H 2.25 4.0 3.09 4.0	25	355	0.073	50.5	t 5	710	60.6	HZ	2.83
27 4.59 0.005 80.5 1265 3.09 HT 2.31 27 4.59 0.005 80.5 1265 3.09 HT 2.31 27 4.59 0.005 80.5 1560 3.09 HT 2.31 27 4.59 0.0057 89.8 1660 3.09 HT 2.31 27 4.59 0.0057 85.8 1175 1070 3.09 HT 2.30 27 - - - 1660 3.09 HT 2.09 HT 2.25 27 - - - 1175 1070 3.17 HT 2.06 27 - - - 1070 3.17 HT 2.06 HT 2.05 27 294 850 3.17 1175 1070 3.17 HT 2.06 27 294 850 3.17 1175 1070 3.17 117 27 211 0.055 85.4 10	23 459 0.000 80.5 1265 3.03 H 28 218 0.003 35.7 1265 3.03 H 28 445 0.0104 90.5 1650 1195 3.03 H 33 445 0.0104 90.5 1650 1195 3.03 H 33 445 0.005 82.4 990 1195 3.03 H 2.53 33 445 0.005 82.4 990 1195 3.03 H 2.53 33 446 0.005 85.8 1175 1070 3.17 H 2.53 33 446 0.005 85.8 1175 1075 3.17 H 2.51 34 1446 0.005 87.8 1175 1075 3.17 H 2.51 35 241 0.005 87.8 1175 1075 3.17 H 2.51 36 211 950 1530 3.17 H 2.51 2.51 <	% %	465	0.059	78.6	•	1	2.25	HF	07.0
238 218 0.053 35.7 350 3.09 HF 2.216 330 4.65 0.104 90.5 1650 11950 3.09 HF 2.26 333 4.55 0.104 90.5 1650 11950 3.09 HF 2.26 333 4.55 0.104 90.5 1650 11950 3.09 HF 2.26 333 4.55 0.0055 82.4 990 1070 3.09 HF 2.26 334 4.55 0.0055 82.4 990 1070 3.17 HF 2.26 335 4.11 0.0055 82.4 990 1070 3.17 HF 2.26 336 4.11 0.0055 82.6 11755 11075 3.17 HF 2.26 337 4.11 0.0052 89.5 11175 11075 3.17 HF 2.26 338 2.24 0.0052 89.5 11175 11075 3.17 HF 2.26 311 4.12 <	218 0.0033 35.7 350 3.09 HF 2.30 32 4.69 0.0185 94.11 1530 3.09 HF 2.30 32 4.69 0.0187 99.6 1530 3.09 HF 2.30 32 4.69 0.0037 89.8 1530 3.09 HF 2.30 33 4.95 0.070 85.8 1075 1075 3.09 HF 2.30 33 4.45 0.070 85.8 1075 3.07 HF 2.06 36 294 0.070 85.8 1075 3.17 HF 2.06 37 4.41 0.070 85.8 1075 3.17 HF 2.06 37 4.41 0.052 69.1 4.95 530 3.17 HF 2.06 37 2.11 4.95 530 3.17 HF 2.05 0.651 38 2.16 0.052 89.5 11660 3.17 HF 2.18	27	459	0,060	80.5	1	1265	3.09		2.32
33 4.92 0.105 94.1 1640 3.09 18 33 4.45 0.104 90.5 1650 1195 3.09 18 33 4.45 0.104 90.5 1530 3.09 18 2.10 33 4.45 0.104 90.5 1195 3.17 18 2.10 33 4.45 0.0055 85.4 990 1070 3.17 18 2.10 33 4.45 0.0055 85.4 990 1075 3.17 18 2.16 0.661 1.95 33 4.15 0.0055 85.8 1175 1075 3.17 18 2.16 0.661 1.95 33 2.24 0.0052 85.8 1175 1075 3.17 18 1.75 18 0.661 1.75 0.661 1.76 0.661 1.76 0.661 1.76 0.661 1.76 0.661 1.76 0.661 1.76 1.75 1.75 0.661 1.76 1.75 1.75 0.661 1.76 <	33 4/32 0.104 90.5 1640 3.09 HF 2.06 33 4/45 0.104 90.5 1195 3.17 HF 2.06 33 4/45 0.104 90.5 1650 1195 3.17 HF 2.06 33 4/45 0.104 90.5 1195 3.17 HF 2.06 33 4/45 0.055 82.4 990 1070 3.17 HF 2.06 35 3112 0.055 82.4 990 1070 3.17 HF 2.06 36 234 0.055 82.8 1175 1070 3.17 HF 2.06 37 234 0.052 69.1 1455 1175 1075 3.17 HF 2.06 38 241 0.086 89.7 94.0 850 3.17 HF 2.06 37 211 0.052 83.6 1175 3.17 HF 2.16 40 231 0.052 83.6 1530 3.17 HF </td <td>8</td> <td>218</td> <td>0.053</td> <td>35.7</td> <td>+</td> <td>350</td> <td>3.69</td> <td>H7</td> <td>2.51</td>	8	218	0.053	35.7	+	350	3.69	H7	2.51
33 449 0.0057 89.8 1530 3.09 H 33 445 0.104 90.5 1107 3.09 H 2.00 33 459 0.055 82.4 990 1107 3.09 H 33 445 0.0055 82.4 990 1070 3.17 H 2.10 33 446 0.0070 85.8 11175 1075 3.17 H 2.10 33 234 900 1070 3.17 H 1175 0.661 0.61 33 234 0.052 69.1 4.95 3.17 H 1175 0.661 33 246 0.0052 89.1 1660 3.17 H 2.16 0.661 34 241 0.0052 89.5 1175 1075 3.17 H 2.16 0.651 35 241 0.053 3.17 1450 0.055 3.17 14 0.651 0.651 441 0.055 4.160 0.055 3.17<	33 445 0.0037 89.8 1530 3.09 H 33 445 0.104 90.5 1650 1195 3.17 H 33 459 0.055 82.4 990 1070 3.17 H 33 446 0.055 85.8 1175 1070 3.17 H 33 234 446 0.055 85.4 990 1070 3.17 H 35 234 0.055 85.4 990 1070 3.17 H 2.10 36 234 0.055 85.4 940 850 3.17 H 2.10 37 234 0.052 69.1 495 3.17 H 2.10 38 224 0.052 69.1 495 3.17 H 2.10 38 224 0.052 69.1 495 530 3.17 H 2.16 38 224 0.052 69.5 1750 3.17 H 2.16 40 231 0.052 43.6 3.17 H 2.35 41 0.055 43.6 3.17 H 2.35 42 0.0	5	767	0.185	94.1	1	1640	3.09	HF	2.06
22 0.104 90.5 1650 1195 3.17 11 33 4.59 0.055 82.4 990 1175 0.661 33 4.59 0.055 82.4 990 1175 0.651 33 4.59 0.070 85.8 1175 1075 3.17 14 33 4.21 0.055 82.4 990 1076 3.17 14 33 4.21 0.052 69.1 4.95 530 3.17 14 33 4.21 0.052 69.1 4.95 530 3.17 14 46 0.052 69.1 4.95 530 3.17 14 14 0.053 87.8 1660 3.17 14 14 0.651 0.651 44 11660 1530 3.17 14 14 0.651 0.651 520 221 0.055 1719 1660 3.17 14 0.651 44 0.055 4.35 3.17 14 14 0.651 0.	23 445 0.104 90.5 1650 1195 3.17 12 33 459 0.055 82.4 990 1070 3.17 12 33 459 0.070 85.8 1175 1075 3.17 12 33 459 0.070 85.8 1175 1075 3.17 12 33 426 0.070 85.8 1175 1075 3.17 12 33 234 0.052 69.1 495 3.17 12 12 33 234 0.052 69.1 495 3.17 12 12 33 411 0.095 88.2 1650 3.17 12 0.61 33 411 0.095 89.5 1719 1650 3.17 12 44 231 0.095 89.5 1719 1650 3.17 12 45 1166 1650 1530 3.17 12 0.61 46 231 0.095 93.0 1530 3.17 12 41 231 0.055 41.6 0.650 3.17 12 42 116 0.057 93.6 3.17	2	697	0.087	89.8	J t	1530	3.09	HP.	2.10
333 459 0.055 82.4 990 1070 3.17 1 335 234 456 0.070 85.8 1175 1075 3.17 1 335 234 940 85.6 1075 3.17 1 1 336 234 940 85.6 1075 3.17 1 1 341 0.085 85.8 1175 1075 3.17 1 1 356 234 940 1650 1560 3.17 1 1 358 1175 1075 3.17 1	33 4.59 0.055 82.4 990 1070 3.17 11 33 3.12 0.055 82.4 990 1075 3.17 12 33 3.12 0.055 82.4 990 1075 3.17 12 33 2.24 0.052 69.1 4.95 5.30 3.17 12 34 4.11 0.085 87.8 1175 1075 3.17 12 39 4.11 0.085 69.1 4.95 5.30 3.17 12 39 4.11 0.085 87.8 1660 3.17 12 12 39 4.11 0.085 87.8 1500 3.17 12 12 39 4.11 0.095 87.8 1660 3.17 12 40 2.211 0.095 3.17 12 12 0.651 51 11660 1530 3.17 12 12 0.651 52 2.21 0.055 3.17 12 12 1.155 52 2.21 0.055 3.17 12 12 1.155 52 2.21 0.055 3.17 12 1.155 <	22	445	0.104	90.5	1650	1195	3.17	21	0.601
33 459 0.055 82.4 990 1070 3.17 1175 35 23.4 0.055 85.8 1175 1075 3.17 14 35 23.4 940 85.6 3.17 14 1075 3.17 14 36 23.4 940 85.6 3.17 14 17 0.651 37 431 0.052 69.1 495 3.17 14 17 175 38 2245 0.063 88.2 1650 3.17 14 17 1.15 1.15 38 2245 0.093 87.8 1650 3.17 14 1.18 0.651 1.530 3.17 14 1.135 0.641 1.135 0.641 1.135 0.641	31 4.59 0.055 82.4 990 1070 3.17 11 35 312 0.055 85.8 1175 1075 3.17 11 36 294 0.052 69.1 4.95 3.17 11 11 37 4.11 0.052 69.1 4.95 3.17 11 11 38 294 0.052 69.1 4.95 3.17 11 11 38 2245 0.052 69.1 4.95 3.17 11 11 11.15 11 11.15<	R	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
33 446 0.070 85.8 1175 1075 3.17 11 36 234 0.086 80.7 940 850 3.17 11 36 234 0.086 80.7 940 850 3.17 11 37 431 0.086 80.7 940 850 3.17 11 37 431 0.085 87.8 1660 3.17 11 11 38 246 0.085 87.8 1650 3.17 11 11 39 411 0.092 91.0 1530 3.17 11 11 40 0.093 91.0 1650 1530 3.17 11 11.35 41 0.095 43.5 1719 1650 3.17 11 1.135 42 1160 3.95 3.17 11 1.133 1.135 1.14 1.135 42 0.054 92.6 1719 1650 3.17 11 1.135 42 0.054 92.6 1740	X 446 0.070 85.8 1175 1075 3.17 U X6 2.94 0.086 80.7 940 850 3.17 U X6 2.94 0.052 69.1 495 530 3.17 U X6 2.94 0.063 88.2 1660 3.17 U 0.641 X8 2.24 0.085 87.8 1660 3.17 U U 0.641 X8 2.24 0.085 87.8 1660 3.17 U U 0.641 X8 2.245 0.085 87.8 1650 3.17 U U 0.653 X9 211 0.095 91.0 - 1660 3.17 U 0.641 X116 0.095 1719 1650 3.17 U 2.233 0.641 X116 0.095 44.1 0.095 3.95 3.17 U 2.245 X116 0.055 43.6 3.17 U U 2.233 X116 0.055	3	459	0.055	82.4	666	1070	3.17	21	0.691
312 0.086 80.7 940 850 3.17 W 37 234 0.052 69.1 495 530 3.17 W 37 431 0.052 69.1 495 530 3.17 W 37 431 0.052 69.1 495 530 3.17 W 38 246 0.085 87.8 1660 3.17 W 0.530 39 411 0.092 91.0 - 1650 3.17 W 2.337 40 0.092 89.5 1719 1650 3.17 W 2.337 41 0.093 91.0 - 260 3.17 W 2.337 42 231 0.095 43.5 1719 1620 3.17 W 2.24 42 2.11 0.095 43.5 1719 1650 3.17 W 2.24 42 2.21 0.055 43.6 3.17 W 2.24 2.24 42 2.21 0.055 3.55 <td>312 0.086 80.7 940 850 3.17 W 37 431 0.052 69.1 495 530 3.17 W 0.47 37 431 0.052 69.1 495 530 3.17 W 0.47 38 246 0.085 87.8 1660 1550 3.17 W 0.550 39 411 0.091 91.0 1660 3.17 W 0.550 40 211 0.092 89.5 1719 1650 3.17 W 1.135 41 231 0.092 49.6 3.15 W 2.17 11.35 42 211 0.095 49.5 1719 1620 3.17 W 2.21 42 2116 0.095 43.5 1719 1620 3.17 W 2.21 42 2116 0.095 3.15 W 1.123 3.17 W 2.21 42 2116 0.095 3.17 W 2.20 3.17 W</td> <td>*</td> <td>470</td> <td>0.070</td> <td>85.8</td> <td>1175</td> <td>1075</td> <td>3.17</td> <td>ħ</td> <td>0.6/1</td>	312 0.086 80.7 940 850 3.17 W 37 431 0.052 69.1 495 530 3.17 W 0.47 37 431 0.052 69.1 495 530 3.17 W 0.47 38 246 0.085 87.8 1660 1550 3.17 W 0.550 39 411 0.091 91.0 1660 3.17 W 0.550 40 211 0.092 89.5 1719 1650 3.17 W 1.135 41 231 0.092 49.6 3.15 W 2.17 11.35 42 211 0.095 49.5 1719 1620 3.17 W 2.21 42 2116 0.095 43.5 1719 1620 3.17 W 2.21 42 2116 0.095 3.15 W 1.123 3.17 W 2.21 42 2116 0.095 3.17 W 2.20 3.17 W	*	470	0.070	85.8	1175	1075	3.17	ħ	0.6/1
37 234 0.052 69.1 495 530 3.17 H 37 4.21 0.062 69.1 495 530 3.17 H 38 2.46 0.085 87.8 1660 1530 3.17 H 2.33 39 411 0.085 87.8 1650 1530 3.17 H 2.33 40 2246 0.085 87.8 1650 1530 3.17 H 2.33 40 2211 0.092 99.5 1719 1650 3.17 H 1.23 41 0.095 49.5 1719 1620 3.17 H 2.17 42 221 0.095 49.5 1719 1620 3.17 H 2.14 42 221 0.095 93.0 1620 3.17 H 2.14 42 221 94.6 1747 1729 3.15 H 2.14 44 221 0.095 92.0 1630 3.15 H 2.14 4	37 234 0.052 69.1 495 530 3.17 H 38 2.46 0.085 88.2 1660 1660 3.17 H 0.530 39 411 0.085 87.8 1650 1530 3.17 H 2.335 39 411 0.085 87.8 1650 1530 3.17 H 2.355 40 211 0.091 91.0 1690 3.17 H 1.355 41 231 0.052 43.6 3.17 H 2.375 H 1.355 42 216 0.052 43.6 3.17 H 2.317 H 2.355 42 216 0.057 39.2 260 3.17 H 2.356 42 216 0.057 39.2 220 3.17 H 2.356 42 216 0.055 1740 1620 3.15 H 2.456 44 2.016 1630 3.15 H 2.266 3.	33	312	0.086	80.7	076	850	3.17	2	0.477
38 4.21 0.080 68.2 1660 3.17 H 39 4.11 0.085 87.8 1650 1530 3.17 H 1.35 40 2.11 0.091 91.0 1690 3.17 H 1.35 40 2.11 0.095 89.5 1719 1650 3.17 H 1.35 41 2.311 0.052 43.6 375 365 3.17 H 1.13 42 2.11 0.057 43.6 375 365 3.17 H 1.14 42 2.210 0.057 43.6 375 3.50 3.17 H 1.14 42 2.210 0.057 94.8 1840 1620 3.17 H 1.14 42 2.210 0.057 94.8 1840 1630 3.05 H 1.14 1.14 42 2.211 0.055 93.0 1749 1729 3.15 H 1.14 1.14 43 414 0.065 92.6	38 226 0.080 68.2 1660 3.17 H 39 411 0.085 87.8 1650 1530 3.17 H 2.33 40 211 0.091 91.0 1690 3.17 H 2.33 40 211 0.091 91.0 1690 3.17 H 1.38 41 231 0.052 43.6 375 365 3.17 H 2.17 42 116 0.057 43.6 375 365 3.17 H 2.14 42 221 0.057 94.8 1840 1620 3.17 H 2.14 42 221 0.057 39.2 -7 220 3.17 H 2.14 42 216 0.057 39.2 1747 1729 3.15 H 2.14 45 414 0.065 92.6 1749 1729 3.15 H 2.14 45 414 0.085 93.0 3.17 H 2.14	e Ri	294	0.052	69.1	567	530	3.17	-TT	0.530
39 4.11 0.083 87.8 1650 1530 3.17 H 1.35 40 211 0.091 91.0 1690 3.17 H 1.35 40 211 0.095 89.5 1719 1620 3.17 H 1.35 41 231 0.052 43.6 375 365 3.17 H 1.35 42 2116 0.057 43.6 375 365 3.17 H 1.35 42 2116 0.057 39.2 200 3.17 H 1.14 42 2116 0.057 39.2 365 3.17 H 1.14 43 2116 0.057 39.2 220 3.17 H 1.14 44 414 0.065 92.6 1740 1729 3.15 H 1.14 45 414 0.065 93.0 1749 11.79 11.57 2.11	79 441 0.091 91.0 1650 1530 3.17 H 1.35 40 211 0.091 91.0 1690 3.17 H 1.35 40 211 0.092 91.0 1690 3.17 H 1.35 40 211 0.052 43.6 375 3.17 H 1.35 41 231 0.057 39.2 260 3.17 H 1.35 42 216 0.057 39.2 200 3.17 H 1.35 42 216 0.057 39.2 220 3.17 H 1.35 42 210 0.057 39.2 3.17 H 1.14 1.14 43 216 1620 3.15 H 1.14 1.14 44 210 0.055 9.4.8 184.0 1630 3.05 H 1.14 1.14	2	431	0.030	58.2	1660	1660	3.17	EF	2.35
73 441 0.091 91.0 1690 3.17 HF 2.17 40 211 0.096 89.5 1719 1620 3.17 HF 2.17 41 231 0.052 43.6 375 365 3.17 HF 2.17 42 116 0.057 39.2 220 3.17 HF 2.17 42 116 0.057 39.2 220 3.17 HF 2.14 42 221 0.154 94.8 1840 1630 3.08 HF 1.14 44 410 0.085 92.0 1747 1729 3.15 HF 2.12 45 414 0.085 93.0 1749 11.57 8 2.12 45 414 0.085 93.0 1736 11.79 11.57 8 2.12	77 441 0.091 91.0 1690 3.17 HF 2.17 40 211 0.096 89.5 1719 1620 3.17 HF 2.17 41 231 0.052 43.6 375 365 3.17 HF 2.17 42 116 0.057 39.2 220 3.17 HF 2.14 42 116 0.057 39.2 220 3.17 HF 2.14 42 221 0.154 94.8 1840 1630 3.05 HF 1.14 42 414 0.085 92.0 1747 1729 3.15 HF 2.14 45 414 0.085 93.0 1749 1729 3.15 HF 2.14 45 414 0.085 93.0 1736 11.79 11.57 HF 2.14	, 2, 6	2770	0.085	87.8	1650	1530	3.17	ЪF	1.35
40 211 0.096 89.5 1719 1620 3.17 H 1.14 41 231 0.057 39.5 375 365 3.17 H 1.14 42 116 0.057 39.2 320 3.17 H 1.14 42 116 0.057 39.2 320 3.17 H 1.45 42 116 0.057 39.2 320 3.17 H 1.45 42 221 0.154 94.8 1840 1630 3.08 H 1.14 44 410 0.095 92.6 1747 1729 3.15 H 2.12 45 414 0.085 93.0 1736 1749 11.57 H 2.12	40 211 0.096 89.5 1719 1620 3.17 H 1.14 41 231 0.052 43.6 375 365 3.17 H 1.14 42 116 0.057 39.2 220 3.17 H 1.14 42 116 0.057 39.2 220 3.17 H 1.45 42 221 0.154 94.8 1840 1630 3.08 H 1.45 44 410 0.095 92.6 1747 1729 3.15 H 2.11 45 414 0.085 93.0 1749 1729 3.15 H 2.14 45 414 0.085 93.0 1749 1729 3.15 H 2.14	2	1	160.0	0.14	•	1690	3.17	BF	2.17
41 231 0.052 43.6 375 365 3.17 BF 2.60 42 116 0.057 39.2 - 220 3.17 BF 1.45 43 221 0.154 94.8 1840 1630 3.08 BF 1.14 44 410 0.096 92.8 1747 1729 3.15 BF 2.12 45 414 0.085 93.0 1736 1749 11.57 BF 2.12	4.1 2.31 0.052 4.3.6 375 365 3.17 HF 2.60 4.2 116 0.057 39.2 - 220 3.17 HF 1.45 4.1 221 0.154 94.8 1840 1630 3.08 HF 1.145 4.4 4.10 0.095 92.8 1747 1729 3.15 HF 2.11 4.5 4.14 0.085 93.0 1736 1729 3.15 HF 2.12 4.5 4.14 0.085 93.0 1736 1749 11.57 HF 2.12 4.5 4.14 0.085 93.0 1736 1749 11.57 HF 2.12	3	217	0.096	89.5	1719	1620	3.17	E.	7171
4.2 1.10 0.057 39.2 220 3.17 HF 1.45 4.1 221 0.154 94.8 1840 1630 3.08 HF 1.45 4.4 4.10 0.096 92.8 1747 1729 3.15 HF 2.12 4.5 4.14 0.085 93.0 1736 1749 11.57 HF 2.12	4.2 1.10 0.05/ 39.2 220 3.17 HF 1.45 4.1 221 0.154 94.8 1840 1630 3.08 HF 1.45 4.4 4.10 0.096 92.8 1747 1729 3.15 HF 2.12 4.5 4.14 0.085 93.0 1736 1749 11.57 HF 2.12 4.5 4.14 0.085 93.0 1736 1749 11.57 HF 2.12	43	531	0.052	43.6	375	365	3.17	EP	5
4.1 221 0.154 94.8 1840 1630 3.08 Hr 1.11 44 410 0.096 92.8 1747 1729 3.15 Hr 2.12 45 414 0.085 93.0 1736 1749 11.57 Hr 2.12	4.1 221 0.154 94.8 1840 1630 3.08 Hr 1.11 4.4 4.10 0.096 92.8 1747 1729 3.15 Hr 2.11 4.5 4.14 0.085 93.0 1736 1749 11.57 Hr 2.12 ** Low flowrate gas generator - LF 2.14 2.14 2.14	4	OTT	150.0	39.2	ł	220	3.17	H.L.	1.15
44 410 0.096 92.8 1747 1729 3.15 HF 2.12 45 414 0.085 93.0 1736 1749 11.57 HF 2.12	44 4.10 0.096 92.8 1747 1729 3.15 HF 2.12 45 414 0.085 93.0 1736 1749 11.57 HF 2.12 ** Low flowrate gas generator - LF	3:		0.154	8.76	1840	1630	3.8	E C	
42 444 0.003 93.0 1/36 1749 11.57 HF 2.14	42 1 444 1 0.003 93.0 1/36 1749 11.57 HF 2.14	44	017	0.090	92.8	1747	1729	3.15	H	2.2
	es Low flowrate gas generator - 18	Ş	###	U.U85	93.0	1736	1749	11.57	H	2.14

TO CONCLASSIALED

1031 ANDJANTI MATU

Thermocouples 1 and 2 are located approximately 1.25 inches and 0.25 inch from the 3.40 inch ID combustor wall, respectively.

*

UNCLASSIFIER

escillations (predominantly 2300 cps) were experienced during these initial tests. We hardware damage was sustained during any of the tests (Fig. 30). The injector was subsequently modified (designated 1A) and fired in the uncooled thrust chamber at a chamber pressure of 410 pair for 0.75 second. Low frequency (530 cps) pressure escillations were present over the entire rum duration. We hardware damage was sustained from this test.

- (U) Since the injector operating characteristics of Injector No. 1 did net meet the standards desired, a different injector pattern (designated Injector No. 2) was fabricated and tested.
- (C) Four tests were conducted with Injector No. 2 in the uncooled thrust shamber. All four tests with Injector No. 2 exhibited extremely stable operation over a wide range of chamber pressure and mixture ratie with essentially no chamber pressure oscillations (Fig. 31). The hardware was in excellent condition after the tests. A summary of the uncooled test series conducted during June and November of 1965 is shown in Table 3.

Cooled Thrust Chamber Tests at Sea Level

- (U) The objective of the water-cooled thrust champer test series was to demonstrate the durability of the hardware assembly and obtain sea level data. Ten firings were conducted at Bocketdyne and the results are summarized in Table 4.
- (C) The water-cooled thrust chamber was initially designed to operate at a chamber pressure of 500 psis and deliver a sea level thrust of approximately 10,000 pounds. However, during preliminary water blowdowns of the coolant system, it became apparent that the pressure drop required to supply the desired water flowrate was higher than theoretically estimated and above the normal capabilities of both the Rocketdyne and AEDC facilities selected







DICLASSIFIED

÷.,

1

. .

ي و د

		SUCH	Uncooled Thr	IR CHECKOUT IN THAT Chember)	STS	0	ONFIDENTIAL
			Operating C	pudd tions		Stable	litr
Injector bufiguration	Date	Test Number	Chamber Preasure paia	Mixture Ratio	Dure tion Seconde	Frequency ops	Amplitude psi
Xo. 1	6/13/65	\$	293	1.63	0.51	1	1
•	6/22/65	41	201	1.74	0.55	2300	8
	6/22/65	8	406	1.87	0.52	2300	130
-	6/23/65	49	414	1.71	0.40	2300	8
q	6/23/65	ß	507	t .	0.47	5300	\$2
io. 1-6	1/16/65	5	C 4	1.85	0.73	530	380
No. 2	11/10/65	3	208	1.43	0.50	Stable Ope	ration
2	11/10/65	65	3 90	1.58	0.52	Stable Ope	retion
8	11/12/65	3 3	453	1.90	0.58	Stable Ope	ration
N	11/12/65	67	418	1.89	0.74	Stable Ope	retion
~~							-

TABLE

THE PART

ENNERSINGED

COLFIDENT IAL 21.6 21.9 29.2 21.6 21.9 21.9 21.9 23.0 28.4 28.7 28.7 23.5 22.8 22.8 22.5 22.5 ЪB 0.046 0.263 0.032 0.162 0.165 1 g. 1.67 5.1 1.67 1.72 1.72 1.72 6.1 1.82 5.1 1.74 1.64 8.1 1.81 g^a ATER COOLED CHAMBER, SEA LEVEL TEST SUMMARY we∕w Percent 1.63 í.10 5•**3**0 5•**3**0 0 1.96 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Duration Seconds 2.92 5.02 5.02 1.66 5.16 5.16 5.16 8.17 1.51 8.17 7.9 7.2 7.9 7.2 7.9 0.5 **6**5 299 Ř ğ 36 336 ğ 314 8 88 321 398 12/20/65 12/22/85 12/28/65 1/4/66 1/4/66 1/6/66 1/6/66 1/10/66 1/10/66 4/1/66 4/1/66 4/4/66 4/4/66 Date RUGG . % £D68 iun RDO1 RDO2 RDOJ RDOJ **F003** RING R006 RDCB BOUR COUN RDO1

TABLE 4

のないので、ないので、「ない」

The and the paper and the second

URCLASSIFIED

LINNE HEST



to conduct the test program. The static ater pressure within the hardware would also have been higher than desirable with operation at 500 gain chamber pressure. The first series of hot-firing tests (No's. 68, 69, 71, and 01, Table 4), therefore, was planned to evaluate thrust chamber integrity and performance at a chamber pressure of 400 pais.

- (C) The first three firings were conducted with increasing durations up to three seconds. The gas generator was not used for these tests. Inspection of the hardware after the third test showed a slight discoloration above one of the 14 circumferential coolant slots of the inner throat and covering a 45-degree section of the throat. This indicated overheating suggested partial blockage of a 45-degree section of the circumferential coolant slot in the throat region.
- (C) The fourth test in the series (RDO1) was conducted at a chamber pressure of approximately 400 psis for a duration of 5 seconds. Fusttest inspection of the injector and thrust chamber revealed no ha dware damage but a discoloration and alight "abiling" (~ 0.50-inch diameter area) of the inner throat (Fig. 32). This occurred only on the same 45-degree section of the inner throat where a discoloration had been noted during the previous test. Because of this evidence of overheating and the limitation on increased coolant flow, the chamber pressure was decreased to 300 psis, while maintaining the same coclant flowrate, for succeeding tests. The gas generator was used during tost RDO1; however, a very low mixture ratio was obtained and the gas generator "flamed out." The fifth and wirth tests (RDO2 and RDO3) were conducted with increasing duration and the gas generator was employed satisfactorily for these tests. Combustion stability was excellent for all tests.
- (C) Prior to conducting further tests, water leakuge was noted. Upon disassembly and inspection, leakage was noted from braze joints in the inner and outer throat sections and in the outer casing. Prior to further testing, design




A Handa St. C.

2. Barth Barth & St.

State Barris Little Institution in a

modifications and hardware rework were accomplished. Testing was resumed in April 1966, and the final four planned tests were conducted succersfully without incident. These tests were at a chamber pressure of approximately 315 pais, and with secondary flowrates of 0, 3.2, and 5.3 percent of primary flowrate.

(U) Because of the small changes in efficiency expected with secondary flow, it was desirable to operate with and without secondary flow during a single firing. This allows a comparison of the change in efficiency with the addition of secondary flow during a firing without dependence on knowing the absolute level of efficiency. Therefore, during the sea level testing, the sequencing of secondary flow was varied (Fig. 33) to establish the best method of obtaining data with and without secondary flow for a single test. It was determined that when secondary flow was initiated after several seconds of main engine operation, or was cut off several seconds prior to the completion of main engine operation, an accurate representation of performance changes was achieved. Based on the results achieved in the sea level test program, the test sequence selected for the altitude testing was eight to nine seconds duration primary thrust chamber firings with gas generator operation initiating simultaneously with the primary chamber and terminating 2 seconds before primary cutoff.

Water Cooled Hardware Tests at Altitude

にたいとうためというでもとなってい

 (U) The primary objective of the altitude test program was to determine nozzle performance as a function of pressure ratio (PR), secondary gas flowrate, secondary gas mixture ratio, and secondary gas injection method (base configuration). A secondary objective was the determination of nozzle base thermal environment.



.



(C) Twenty thrust chamber firings were achieved (Table 5) in four test

periods (distinguished by the second latter in the test number). The test cell remained closed and evacuated to altitude couditions during a test period, hence, inspection of the hardware and throat area measurements between firings were not accomplished. The first sixteen thrust chamber firings (AAO1 through AC2O) were conducted with a varying embient-to-chamber pressure ratio and the final four firings (AC21 through AL-4) were conducted at a constant pressure ratie of approximately 350.

- (C) Figure 34 illustrates typical engine operation and the transients obtained for two 8 second mainstage duration firings with constant secondary flowrate (ACl3 and 15, $\dot{W}_{p}/\dot{W}_{p} = 3.0$ percent). Typically, two 8 second firings with constant secondary flowrate were used to cover a pressure ratio range from approximately 350 to 40. The GG firing was initiated simultaneously with the primary but was cut 2 seconds prior to primary thrust chamber cutoff.
- (C) The high altitude firing started above design pressure ratio and continued through the pressure ratio at which the nozzle base wake opens (PR = 150 te 180 with 0 to 5 percent W_g, respectively). Due ug the last two seconds, the GG was turned off to obtain zero secondary flow data.
- (C) The low eltitude firing started with the nozzle operating in the open wake and continued through a pressure ratio of approximately 40. The GG was turned off 2 seconds before primary engine cutoff to obtain nozzle performance with no secondary flow. However, because of the slow decay of secondary chamber pressure after GG cutoff, valid performance data could not be obtained during the final 2 seconds of any altitude test with secondary flow.

in the 34.6.0 . -Share parts .

- Arton

IISN

TABLE 5 ALTITUDE TEST SUBMARY

.

			1	Primary C	onbustion	Chamber	GG C	ombustion	Test Coll			
Test Period	Date	Firing	Firing Duration, sec	r _{op} , psia	¥ pt 1b_∕sec	MR ()	P _{cs} ; psia	V. lb_/sec)12 s ()	2 Pa ['] min psia	2 Panao paia	
-	6/30/66	1	2.9	280	25.3	1.70	_	0	_	0.42	1.8	
		2	7.5	304	27.3	1.77	-	0	_	0:51	3.46	
	3			305	27.4	1.77		0	_	2.65	8.74	
AB	8/9/66	4	6	-	0	_	_	_	_		-	
		5		-	0	_	_	_	-	-	_	
		6		_	0	_	_ .	-	-	~	_	
		7		-	0		_	-	-	-		
		8	1.0	-	-	_	-	_	-	0.59	1.85	
		9	8.2	300	26.6	1.73	270	0.703	0.088	0.64	5.10	
		10		295	26.2	1.75	116	0.325	0.109	0.81	5.44	
		n		300	26.6	1.76	246	0.624	0.114	2.00	8.77	
		12		298	26.4	1.71	116	0.320	0.111	1.98	8.67	
AC	8/17/66	13		307	27.1	1.67	147	0.834	0.111	0.46	3.45	
		14		304	26.8	1.79	249	1.34	0,118	0.48	3.35	
		15		307	26.8		151	0.823	0.114	1.96	8.00	
		16		305	26.7	1.71	251	1.33	0.117	2.00	8.25	
		17		306	26.8	1.73	145	0.828	0.096	1,96	8.51	
		18		305	26.6	1.73	144	0.817	0.097	0.57	3.75	
		19		307	26.8	1.75	151	0.792	0.176	0.55	3.36	
		20		306	26.8	1.74	154	0.794	0.174	1,98	7.83	
		21		306	26.7	1.72	153	0.803	0.113	P	.0.88	
AD .	9/19/66	22		306	26.8	1.66	-	-	-	-478	0.83	
		23		318	25.8	1.66	-	-			1.00	
		24	ł	318	26.1	1.74	-	-	-		0.96	
			1. Mai	nstage op	3. D	uring stab	ilized TC.	A and GG	opera			

2. During firing duration

.

A. Shutdown caused by spurious signal safety circuit designed to initiate TCA cooling water outlet pressure



4

1

And the second period of the second of the second second second second second second second second second second

· . . .

,

TEL

Harris Anna Alberta

TABLE 5 ALATITUDE TEST SUPPLART

÷.,

Sec.

-										CONFIDENTIAL
on	Chastor	00 0	ombustion	Chamber	Tet	st Cell		Noza	le	
3)) ()	P _{cs} , psia	v. lb_∕sec	<u>ж</u> (—)	2 Painin peia	2 Panax psia	3 PE min ()	3 PH MAX ()	v/v percent	Remarks
	1.70	-	ο	-	0.42	1.85	150	406	0	TCA Checkout Firing
	1.77	-	0	-	0,51	3.46	68	422	0	
	1.77	-	0	-	2.65	8.74	35	93	0	
	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	GG Checkout Firing
	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
'	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	
	-	-	-	-	0.59	1./35	200	257	2.60	Premature Shutdown
	1.73	270	0,703	0,088	0.64	5.10	65	360	2.64	
	1.75	116	0,325	0.109	0,81	.5•44	60	284	1.23	
	1.76	246	0.624	0.114	2 .00	8.77	39	143	2.34	
	1.71	116	0,320	0.111	1.98	8.37	39	133	1.22	
	1.67	147	0,834	0.111	0.46	3.45	103	532 ·	3.08	
	1.79	249	1.34	0.118	0,48	3.39	100	512	5.01	
	1,68	151	0.823	0.114	1,96	8.00	44	154	3.05	
	1.71	251	1.35	0.117	2,00	8.28	42	146	4.96	
	1.73	145	0.828	0.096	1.96	8.51	41	147	3.08	
	1.73	144	0.817	0.097	0.57	3.75	97	504	3.06	
	1.75	151	0.792	0.176	0.55	. 3.36	102	526	2.94	
	1.74	154	0.794	0.174	1.98	7.83	44	i46	2.90	
	1.72	157	0.803	0.113	P	≡ 0 . 88	TR =	347	3,00	rGG Oxidizer Inlet Orifice
	1.66	-	-	-	-avB	0.83		378	مه ـ	Plugged at Ignition
	1.66	-	-	-		1.00		317	-	GG Drain Plug Lost at Ionition
	1.74	-	-	-		0.96		340 ·	-	GO Drain Plug Off

30

During stabilized TCA and GG operation
Shutdown caused by spurious signal from automatic safety circuit designed to initiate shutdown on low ICA cooling water outlet pressure

81/82



.

.....

UNOLASSIATED

(U) The first firing (AAOL) was a 3-second checkout test with no secondary flow. Tests AAO2 and AAO3 were 7.4-second firings with no secondary flow over pressure ratios from 422 to 88 and 93 to 35, respectively. After these tests the engine was disassembled, inspected and reassembled with new seals and with the outer engine bolts reversed from the position shown in Fig. 7 . With the hex nuts located on the aft end of the engine, checking of the bolt torque and tightening of the outer casing and throat were more easily accomplished. Throat area data from the sea level and altitude firings indicated that the outer throat was not adequately tightened when the nuts were torqued on the injector end of the engine. Relatively large (to 3.5 percent) increases in measured throat area were noted after a single engine firing for tests with the engine assembled in this manner, whereas relatively small decreases in throat area were noted for the assembly configuration used for tests ABOS through AD24. This will be discussed again in the presentation of test results.

(U) The AB test series was to evaluate nozzle performance with 1 and 2 percent secondary flow using the low flowrate GG. Tests AB04 through AB07 were GG checkout firings to establish operating procedures. GG performance data was not obtained because of plugging of a ΔP control orifice in the oxidizer supply system. Fill times required for the oxidizer and fuel systems were approximately 7.5 and 0.4 seconds, respectively. Because of the large capacity of the feed system, the GG chamber pressure did not decay rapidly enough to establish zero secondary flow nozzle performance in the two second period between GG cutoff and primary engine cutoff.



BNGLASSIFIED

(U) Test ABOB was a scheduled 8-second firing with 2.6 percent secondary flow which was prematurely shut down by an erroneous signal to a low coolant water pressure cutoff switch. Tests ABO9 and ABIO were 8-second duration tests covering the high altitude transient with approximately 2.6 and 1.2 percent secondary flow, respectively. Tests ABII and 12 were 8-second tests covering the low altitude transient with 2.35 and 1.2 percent secondary flow.

- (U) The AC series of tests investigated nozzle performance with secondary flowrates of 3 and 5 percent. The high flowrate GG injector and orifice were installed for this series. Tests AC13 through AC16 were 8-second transient altitude tests with 3 and 5 percent secondary flow and a GG mixture ratio of .11. These tests completed the series designed to evaluate the effect of secondary flowrate (0 to 5 percent) at constant mixture ratio (≈ 0.1) on nozzle performance.
- (U) Tests AC17 through AC20 were transient altitude tests to investigate the effect of GG mixture ratio on performance at a constant secondary flowrate of 3 percent. GG mixture ratios of 0.096 and 0.175 were tested. The low mixture ratio obtained was (0.096) somewhat higher than intended (.08) because of difficulties in precisely controlling the small oxidizer flow.
- (U) The last test in the series, AC21, was conducted at a constant pressure ratio of approximately 350. This test was with 3 percent secondary flow and a GG mixture ratio of 0.1, identical to AC13 except for the constant altitude condition. Because the critical closed wake data was obtained over a very short (= 2 seconds) portion of meinstage operation, this test at constant altitude was conducted to provide more high altitude performance data. As will be shown later, excellent agreement was obtained between results for this test and the comparable transient altitude tests. The AC test series completed the planned program to evaluate secondary flow effects on performance.



dinclassified

A Contract of the second

and the second sec

- (U) Eighteen constant altitude tests subsequent to the AC series were planned. The tests were to evaluate the effect of Lase configuration on nozzle ; rformance and to provide additional high altitude data with various secondary flowrates. The first four tests were to evaluate a performed base configuration (Fig. 14b) with secondary flowrates of 1, 2, and 3 percent. The remaining 14 tests were to be conducted with the open base and the modified (24 hole) flow diffuser (Fig. 14a) at constant pressure ratios of 300, 120 and 70 and secondary flowrates of 0, 1, 2, and 3 percent. However, operational difficulties were encountered during all three tests in the AD series and bardware demage was sustained precluding further testing.
- (U) Test AD22 was a constant altitude test (PR = 378) with approximately 1 percent secondary flow. Main tarust chamber operation was satisfactory; however, the GG oxidizer inlet orifice plugged at start causing c reduced and unknown oxidizer flowrate(GG flowrates determined from system pressure drop) and poor combustion ($\mathcal{M}_{CH} \approx 30$ percent).
- (C) Combustion instability occurred in the primary combustion chamber during firing AD25. Propellant flowrate and mixture ratio for this firing were nominal, and ignition was normal; however, approximately 0.5 seconds after ignition, TCA combustion became unstable (Fig. 35). Measured fundamental frequency and peak-to-peak amplitude of combustion instability pressure fluctuations were 487 cps and 60 psi (Fig. 35b).





UNCLASSIFIED

the the set of same should be set

(U) A cap on the G3 drain fitting blew off during G3 ignition in Test AD23, thereby venting an unknown portion of secondary flow upstream of the mounting plate. Test AD24 was condured without knowledge of these operational difficulties and, although stable TCA combustion was obtained, the results are of questionable value.

and the second second

.

ころのころうろう

Land Contraction

Į

(U) Inspection of the test hardware after firing 24 revealed extensive melting of the combustion chamber baffles, heavy deposits of melted coppor from the baffles in the nozzle convergent section, several radial cracks in the injector outer fuel ring and excessive water leakage from a yielded braze joint in the outer throat. The damage, apparently caused by the severe thermal environment within the combustion chamber associated with the instability, was sufficient to preclude further testing (Figs. 36 and 37).







A STATE AND A STAT

. :

と言語

Same and

9

.:

З, ⁵

b. Ring Cracking



a. Baffle Erosion



90

.

DATA ANALYSIS

div'h

(U) Several studies were conducted to analyze the performance and determine the influence of operating conditions upon the performance of the cooled thrust chamber. The major studies were determination of the effect of heat loss to the model and cooling water, the effect of propellant impurities, and theoretical determination of nozzle performance. Using the results of these studies, a precedure to calculate performance from hot-firing fata was developed and programmed for automatic computation. All measured data were averaged over a 0.5-second interval for input te the program. A discussion of these studies and the computational procedure is presented in the following sub-section.

 (U) In addition, base heating information can be determined through analysis of temperature measurements by probes located in the base plate. A method of analysis is presented for determining the adiabatic wall temperature and heat transfer coefficient of the gases adjacent to the nuzzle base plate.

Performance Parameters

(U) The basic parameters which were used to appraive the performance of the hot-firing model are the characteristic exhaust velocity efficiency of the primary combustion chamber, specific impulse efficiency of the thrust chamber and thrust efficiency of the nozzle. In addition, the base pressure is of prime concern since the base pressure acting over the base area contributes a significant portion of the thrust. Measured changes in base pressure with secondary flow can also be used to compute changes in nozzle performance independent of an accurate knowledge of engine thrust and flow changes and hence provide a check on these measurements. Base pressure and thrust efficiency are the parameters which are used to correlate scrodynamic spike hot-firing and cold-flow data.

(0) Characteristic velocity (0^*) efficiency of the primary flow is defined by

and a series of a set of the set o

$$\int C^{*}_{p} = \frac{P_{a} \Delta^{*}_{p} \delta_{0}}{C^{*}_{th} \dot{v}_{p}}$$

1 M . .

(U)

100

Section 1

a general production and and

Specific impulse efficiency of the serodynamic spike thrust chamber is defined as the total nozzle thrust compared to the sum of the theoretical thrusts of the primary and secondary flows when optimally expanded to local ambient pressure.

$$I_{s} = \frac{P}{P_{opt,p} + P_{opt,s}}$$

Fopt,p = Is,opt,p p where

(U) Theoretical optimum specific impulses are based on the respective properties of the primary and secondary flows, however, the reference pressure ratio is the primary chamber pressure ratio for both flows.

(U) An alternate definition of specific impulse efficiency in common use and computed for this engine is

$$\mathcal{N}_{\mathbf{x}_{s}, \mathrm{top}} = \frac{\mathbf{F}}{\mathbf{I}_{s, \mathrm{opt}, \mathbf{p}}} \left(\dot{\mathbf{w}}_{\mathbf{p}} + \dot{\mathbf{w}}_{s} \right)$$

This definition references the measured thrust to the total theoretical thrust delivered if both the primary and secondary flows are considered to have a theoretical optimum I based on the prir my flow properties. This is commonly referred to as a topping cycle officiency.



(U) Nozzle thrust efficiency, $C_{\mu\nu}$ is a measure of the nozzle expansion process including the base region and does not include combustion chamber effects or inefficiencies. It is defined in a similar manner to specific impulse efficiency with the exception that the reference thrusts are based upon actual characteristic velocities.

$$C_{T} = \frac{F}{F_{opt,p} \mathcal{N}_{C^{*}_{p}} + F_{opt,s} \mathcal{N}_{C^{*}_{g}}}$$

(U) When a theoretical primary reference only is used, a topping cycle nozzle thrust efficiency is defined by

$$C_{T, top} = \frac{P}{\frac{N_{C^{*}p} I_{s,opt,p} (P_{p} + P_{s})}{\frac{P}{\sqrt{C^{*}p} S_{opt,p} (1 + P_{s}/P_{p})}}}$$

with no secondary flow, either definition reduces to

$$c_{T} = \frac{\mathcal{N}_{I_{s}}}{\mathcal{N}_{C^{*}}}$$

Theoretical Considerations in Reducing Data

(ប) In determining the above parameters from the test data, all of the potential fact we which may influence performance were considered. The areas which were considered included nozzle stagnation pressure, aeredynamic throat ares, theoretical performance, propellant impurity, heat less effects, and base pressure. In reducing data, factors whose effect was beauved to be less than 0.1 percent were neglected.



INCLICTIN

- (U) <u>Notable Standation Pressure</u>. Two chamber pressure taps (PC-1 and PC-2) are located near the injector, and one tap (PC-3) is located downstream of the injector near the contraction zone (Fig. 23, page 54). The chamber taps are located at a contraction ratio of approximately 10 where P_{static}/P_{total} = 0.9978 from one-dimensional ideal flow, and therefore, the pressure
 - reading is corrected by 0.22 percent for static to total pressure.
- (U) Combustion effects on the nozzle stagnation pressure were considered because there is a loss in total pressure for heat addition to a gas flowing in a constant area dust. Because a pressure tap (PC-3) is located 4 inches downstream of the injector just prior to the contraction zone, the combustion process can be considered to be completed and the combustion effect on P_c downstream of this tap is negligible. A drag (friction) analysis was conducted for this model, and the effect of drag between the pressure tap and throat was negligible. Nozzle total pressure was therefore computed from $P_c = PC-3/.9978$.
- (U) <u>Aerodynamic Throat Area</u>. To accurately distinguish between nozzle efficiency and characteristic velocity efficiency a transonic potential flow analysis and boundary layer analysis of the throat region was conducted. Fotential flow and frictional flow discharge coefficients were determined to be .9954 and .9939, respectively, with a resulting actual flow discharge coefficient, G_n equal to 0.9893.
- (C) From geometry, the geometric throat area A_p is based upon the average throat gap (g) as determined by pretest and posttest measurements.

$$\mathbf{x}_{p} = \Pi(\mathbf{R}_{1} + \mathbf{R}_{2}) \mathbf{g}$$

vitero

日本の時代の時代になった。

ł

 $R_1 = 11.064$ in. (outer throat radius at the throat) $R_2 = 11.048$ in. (inner throat radius at the throat) $A_n = 65.53$ g

and a state of the state of the

(C) Applying the discharge coefficients C_D the aerodynamic threat area A^{\pm}_{p} is $A^{\pm}_{p} = 69.53 C_D g = 68.79 g$

- (U) During the sea level test program the throat gap was measured in six locations around the throat circumference. During the altitude test program, the throat gap was measured in sixteen locations and two sets of sixteen readings each were taken. A ball micrometer was used to obtain the measurements.
- (U) A stress analysis was performed to determine the deformation of the throat region caused by thermal and pressure stress under hot firing conditions. There was an uncertainty as to the manner and direction of the throat deformations. However, the maximum deflection that could reasonably be expected would give a throat area change of 1 percent. The major effect on throat deflections was found to be a cyclic thermal buckling of the throat coolant slot walls.
- (U) Because of the uncertainty as to the manner and exact magnitude of the throat deflection, an analytical stress correction to the throat area was not used in the data analysis. The determination of the throat srea during a firing was made by considering both the measured pre- and posttest throat areas and a throat change established by the change in primary thrust during the firing. This method is discussed in detail in the results section.
- (U) <u>Theoretical Performance</u>. Theoretical propellant performance was calculated for MTO/UDER-N₂H₄(50-50) based upon one-dimensional expansion in chemical equilibrium (shifting performance) for mixture ratios of 1.4, 1.6, 1.8 and 2.2 at chamber pressures of 300, 400, and 500 psia. Figure 38 is a sample page of the IEM printout (from Rocketdyne's theoretical propellant performance program) at a mixture ratio of 1.8 and chamber pressure of 300.

95 UNCLASSIFIED

								•				日間	N	Ň	F	;V		tine.	 -				-4-		~
•		DENSITY	1.4330	C.8064	1-02J 6-SEC/L8	0.	120.0	218.6	264.6	271.2	2 0 2 8 C	297.2	300.7	303.6	306.0	309.9	311.4	314.1			324.7	326.4	.327.9	329.2	*
		ELATIVE	0.9770	L. 1282	сғ-о <u>ет</u> 1	0	0.6730	1.2263	1.4841	1.5212	1002-1	1.6674	1.6870	1.7030	1.7165	1.7352	1.7472	1.7623	1.7044		1.8214	1.8312	1.6396	1.8468	
NOTITS				6	8	0.	0.59	61°1	2.97	3.57	0 7 0 •	8.91	10.40	11.88	13.37	16.34	17.83	20.80	23.71	420 F	41.59	47.54	53,48	59.42	1
DAMOD	• .	MASS FRACTION	0.5833	0.4167	I-VAC U-SEC/LB	0,	221.0	260.6	291.0	295 ¢	206.0	314.4	317.0	319.1	320.9 322.4	323.7	324.9	122.0	958.0 5 1 5 5	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	334.9	336.3	337.4	338.4	
HIFTING .		IVE HT	00	00	CF-VAC L	0.	1.2400	1.4677	1.6323	1,6583	1.7216	1.7637	1.1781	1.7900	1.8000 1.8086	1.8162	L.82.29	1-8342	1.05435 1 0505	1.8698	1.6789	1.8864	Le8928.	1.8984	anna Butat
\$ ** **	PSIA	KELAT WEIG	1.46	1.00	NO LI SU	0.	1.00	2.00	5.00	6 .0 0		15.00	17.50	20.00	22.50	27-50	50°00	00.55		60°00	70.00	80.00	00.06	100.00	I ant Party
CONULTIONS	P = 300	HEAT UF FORMATION	-4.680	29.373	GAMNA.	1.178	1.192	1.236 1.256	1.255	1.257	1-261	1.262	1.262	1.262	1.262 1.761	1.261	1.261	1921	1.201	1.262	1.253	1.262	1.258	1.250	Print
11 - EXJT		;			DEG. K -	3014.5	2777.2	2118•2 1744.8	1613.1	1530.0	1321-0	1177.3	1127.3	1005.4	1050.8 1020.5		970.2	929.9	4000 500	d02.3	769.2	741.8	714.9	699 ° 6	Prem
TAUÈ	11/24/65	LLANT		·	PSIA	300.000	170.087	32•345 14-696	8-891	6.050 ·	745.6	1.925	1.502	1.304	1.113 D.966	0.850	0.757	0.010	010.0	0.302	0.247	0.207	0-172	0.155	
	TAPE 35	PRUPE	194K		PC/PE	1.00	1.76	· 8.49	33.74	- 43.76	64-38	155.83	192.05	230.07	264.60 310.54	352.61	396.27	+50.54	740.40	992.59	1215.91	1449.01	1650.49	1438.79	
	CATA		N2U4. 2	1.0010			RUAT	ſ	; 	1		4 . A	Π	5	M		D			96	1			•	

ţ

.

۲

ſ

A summary of theoretical primary performance is presented in Figs. 39 to (IJ) 42. A surgery of the gas generator combustion gas properties is shown in Appendix, 4 , Figs. 213 to 216. Theoretical performance, as shown in the fighres was used in a data reduction program to determine nozzle reference performance reported in Ref. 25. Although theoretical primary C* were properly accounted for as a function of mixture ratio, primary theoretical I sopt was programmed as a function of pressure ratio at a constant mixture ratio. Unfortunately this tends to prejudice the results towards those tests at high mixture ratio. As an example, one high altitude test with no secondary flow (AAOI) was conducted at a primary mixture ratio of 1.77 whereas one high altitude test with 3 percent secondary flow was conducted at a primary mixture ratio of 1.67. (AC13). At a mixture ratio ef 1.67 and a pressure ratio PR of 300, $I_{s,opt} = 311.0$ whereas at the same FR and a mixture ratio of 1.77, I s.opt = 312.5. From the expression

$$\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{T}} = \frac{\mathbf{F}}{\mathcal{N}_{\mathbf{C}}^{*}\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{s}}, \text{opt, } \mathbf{p}} \mathbf{F}}$$

and with correct value of MC+

(v)

b

A difference of 0.1 unit in mixture ratio results in a difference of 0.48 percent in both the relative C_{pp} and \mathcal{N} I for two tests performing equally but at this difference in mixture ratio. For the altitude test program (see Table 5) the no secondary flow tests were "automatically" higher performing









by from 0.2 to 0.5 percent than the tests with secondary flew as reported in Hef. 25 because they were accomplished at a higher mixture ratio. Since these performance differences are in the order of magnitude of the gains expected with secondary flow it is necessary to include the effect of mixture ratio es theoretical reference performance.

- (U) A computer program using tabulated theoretical performance data and interpolating mixture ratio, PR, and P_c effects was written at Rocketdyne and used to obtain the final performance data presented in this report. The measured quantities of thrusts, flows, pressures and temperatures obtained from the test sources were used for input.
- (U) <u>Propellant Impurity</u>. Because water content in the fuel and oridizer will change the theoretical performance, theoretical propellant performance was determined for NTO/50-50 with various concentrations of water. In general, water in the propellants increases C_g and decreases C^* with a net decrease in I. The changes in C* and I. at a chamber pressure of 400 psia are presented in Fig. 43. These changes are valid for a chamber pressure range of 300 to 500 psia since the change in performance is only slightly dependent upon chamber pressure.
- (0) Values of $\mathcal{N}_{C^{*}_{H_{2}O}(=1-\Delta \mathcal{N}_{C^{*}_{H_{2}O}})}$ and $\Delta I_{S_{H_{2}O}}$ were hand computed for each test and are t-bulated in Appendix 1. Maximum values were $\Delta I_{S_{H_{2}O}} = -.30$ seconds and $\mathcal{N}_{C^{*}_{H_{2}O}} = .9987.$
- (v) East Loss Effects. The effect of heat loss to the cooling water was determined using a computer program. This program calculates one-dimensional theoretical nozzle performance with heat removal or addition at the injector and heat removal in the nozzle. Heat removal in the nozzle is performed in increments by a constant pressure process. The program maintains the propellant in chemical equilibrium through the expansion with heat removal. The magnitude and schedule of the theoretical heat loss per pound of primary propellant, Q_{in} for input to the program was determined from a theoretical heat transfer analysis of the actual thrist chember. At chember pressures of 300, 400, and 500 psia and a mixture ratio of 1.8, Q_{th} was computed to be 193.1, 184.9, and 177.9 Btu/lb.



(U) The decrease of C* efficiency caused by heat removal from the combustion chamber is shown in Fig.44 for P_o of 300 and 400 and HR = 1.8. The ratio of the sotukl total heat loss per pound of propellant, Q_s to the theoretical less per pound of propellents, Q_{th}, is used as a normalizing parameter. Because the hot-firing tests performed on this nozzle were at various altitudes and because N_{H.L.} (N_{H.L.} = I_{s,vac,H.L.}/I_{s,vac}, adiabatic)

where

Ģ

1000 - 100 -

I = theoretical vacuum specific impulse for a given heat removal rate and schedule

I s,vac,adiabatic = theoretical vacuum specific impulse with no heat removal can only be directly applied to vacuum specific impulse, a curve of $\Delta I_{g,H_0L_0}$ (defined as (I s,vac,H.L. s,vac,adiabatic)) we heat removed was computed (Fig. 45). The $\Delta I_{g,H_0L_0}$ was directly applied to the site specific impulse to obtain an adiabatic specific impulse.

- (U) The effects of variations in heat loss, chamber pressure and mixture ratio were determined by perturbating each of these parameters over a range of 50 to 200 percent of the heat 1 5.3, chamber pressures from 300 to 500 psia and mixture ratios from 1.4 to 2.2. In Fig. 46, and 47 are shown the performance variation of MC* and AI_{s.H.L.} for variations in mixture ratio; and chamber pressure.
- (U) Total heat transfer to the model includes the heat transfer to the cooling water rlus the heat absorbed by the injector baffles in the combustion chamber. For a given test, the actual heat transfer to the cooling water is determined by measuring the bulk temperature rise and water flowrate. The heat absorbed by injector baffles is estimated from a heat transfer analysis rather than test data since the actual heat absorption or baffle temperature at a given point is difficult to measure.
- (U)Maximum baffle surface temperatures are shown in Fig. 4B to 50 for chamber pressures of 300, 350, and 400 psia and for C* efficiencies of 100 and 90 percent. Also shown are total heat absorption for the baffles as a function of test duration. These results are based upon the assumption that heating occurs along the surface exposed directly to the gas and to the blunt trailing edge but not to the surfaces immediately adjacent to the chamber walls. These



• •



14-11-1



.





NUT NO

, C

*

2

ŝ

20.1.2







đ

assumptions are considered to be the most realistic. The rate of absorption is not constant but decreases with increasing duration. Results indicate that the baffle heat absorption rates are approximately one-sixth the coolant absorption rates.

- (J) Heat loss effects were hand computed from measured water flowrate and temperature rise data. A typical outlet water temperature profile is shown in Fig. 51. Since there is a lag in water temperature rise the maximum temperature achieved was used in the heat loss computation. A constant beffle heating rate of 445 BTU/sec was used. The heating rate: for all tests were compared at the same firing duration by comparing water temperature rise curves and adjusting for the temperature rise over the difference in mainstage duration. This currection was approximately 19/sec or less.
- (U) The ratio of the "measured" heat loss per pound of propellant,Q, to the theoretical heat; loss, Q_{th}, was computed from

$$Q/Q_{\frac{1}{10}} = \frac{C_{pH_{2}O}\left[\left(\int \dot{\Psi}_{H_{2}O} \Delta T_{H_{2}O}\right)_{inner} + \left(\int \dot{\Psi}_{H_{2}O} \Delta T_{H_{2}O}\right)_{outer}\right]}{193.1\int \dot{\Psi}_{p}} + \frac{445}{193.1} \frac{445}{\dot{\Psi}_{p}}$$

for the cltitude tests and from

「「「「「「「「「「」」」」」」」

$$Q/Q_{\rm th} = \frac{c_{\rm p} \, \check{\Psi}_{\rm H_2O} \, \Delta T_{\rm H_2O}}{193.1 \, \check{\Psi}_{\rm p}} + \frac{445}{193.1 \, \check{\Psi}_{\rm p}}$$

for the sea level tests.

(U) For the initial tests at approximately 400 psia chamber pressure, a reference constant of 184.9 was used in place of 195.1.


- (U) It should be noted that the heat loss effects are corrected to that of an adiabatic engine. This is slightly conservative when considering the engine in a regeneratively cooled application. The effect of the heat being removed and added to the inlet propellants was investigated for this engine operating at 400 psia chamber pressure using the same computer program. The effect of the overall heat removal and addition cycle as shown in Fig. 52 was to slightly improve engine performance over an adiabatic engine.
- (U) <u>Base Pressure</u>. Six pressure taps are located in the nozzle base cavity and exit lip to measure the base pressures as shown in Fig. 53. The resulting average base pressure is determined by taking a weighted average of the six readings by area. Each of the two lines of taps is weighted by one-half the base cavity area, and the lip tap is weighted by the lip area. Based on the geometry of the base region, Fig. 53 presents the areas used to weight the pressure readings.
- (U) Change in engine performance with secondary flow relative to performance without secondary flow can be computed from the equations

$$\begin{aligned} \gamma_{\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{S},\dot{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{S}}} &= \gamma_{\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{S},\dot{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{S}}=\mathbf{O}}} \\ \frac{1 + \left(\frac{\Delta \tilde{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathbf{B}}}{P_{\mathbf{C}}}\right) \left(\frac{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{C}}}{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{p}}}\right) \left(\frac{\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{B}}}{\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{S},\dot{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{S}}=\mathbf{O}}}\right)}{1 + \left(\frac{\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{S},\mathrm{opt},\mathbf{S}}}{\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{S},\mathrm{opt},\mathbf{p}}}\right) \left(\frac{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{S}}}{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{p}}}\right)}{1 + \left(\frac{\Delta \tilde{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathbf{B}}}{P_{\mathbf{C}}}\right) \left(\frac{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{C}}}{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{p}}}\right) \left(\frac{\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{B}}}{\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{S},\dot{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{S}}=\mathbf{O}}}\right)}{1 + \left(\frac{\Delta \tilde{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathbf{B}}}{P_{\mathbf{C}}}\right) \left(\frac{\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{B}}}{\tilde{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{p}}}\right) \left(\frac{\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{B}}}{\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{S},\dot{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{S}}=\mathbf{O}}\right)}{\frac{\gamma_{\mathbf{C}^{*}\mathbf{S}}}{1 + \frac{\gamma_{\mathbf{C}^{*}\mathbf{S}}}{P_{\mathbf{C}}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{S},\mathrm{opt},\mathbf{S}}}{\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{S},\mathrm{opt},\mathbf{p}}\right) \left(\frac{\dot{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{S}}}{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}_{\mathbf{p}}}\right)}} \end{aligned}$$



Total Heat Rezoved and Added





Performance Calculation Procedure

ういてもいい

(U) The equations used to determine engine performance are described below. The equations with an asterisk were used in the Rocketdyne data reduction program. Other computed quantities were hand computed or supplied by theRocketdyne Research and AEDC RTF test organizations.

(U) Measured thrusts, flows (except H₂O), and pressures are 0.5 second averages except for two tests (RDC2 and RDC3) which were 0.5 second Beckman data alices.

1. P. = PC-3/.9978 (See Fig. 23, page 54 for location of PC-3)

- 2. $?C_{H.L.} = f(Q, MR_p, P_c)$ Figs. 44 and 46 3. $\Delta I_{B,H-L} = f(Q, P_p, P_c)$ Figs.45 and 47 4. $\sqrt[7]{C^*}_{H_2O} = f (percent H_2O, MR_p)$ Fig. 43 5. $\Delta I_{s,H_{2}0} = f (percent H_20, MR_p)$ Fig. 43 6. $\overline{P}_{B} = .12 (PB-1 + PB-3 + PB-5) + .179 (PB-2 + PB-4) + .282 PB-6$ $\bullet 7. \quad \overline{P}_{B}/P_{c} = \overline{P}_{B}/P_{c}$ *8. $C_{p}^{*} = g_{0} P_{c} A_{p}^{*} / H_{p}^{*} / C_{H.L.}^{*}$ $g_0 = 32.174 \ lb_f - ft/lb_m - sec^2$ *9. $C_{\mathbf{S}}^* = g_0 P_{\mathbf{C},\mathbf{S}} C_{\mathbf{D},\mathbf{S}} \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{S}} / \mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{S}}$ CD,s = 0.85 (secondary orifice discharge coefficient) *10. $C_{th,p} = f(P_{c}, M_{p})$ (tabulated values programmed) *11. $C_{th,s} = f(P_{c,s} H_{s})$ (tabulated values programmeri) *12. $I_{s,opt,p} = f(F_c, MR_p, PR_p)$ (tabulated values programmed) *13. $I_{s,opt,s} = f(P_c, MR_s, PR_s)$ (teoulated values programmed) *14. $\gamma_{C*_p} = C*_p / C*_{th,p} \gamma_{C*H_2O}$ 7c+s = C+s/C+th,s +15. 16. $\dot{w}_{p} = \dot{w}_{0,p} + \dot{w}_{f,p}$ 17. Ws = Wo,s + Wf,s $1^{\alpha} \quad \hat{\mathbf{W}}_{T} = \hat{\mathbf{W}}_{p} + \hat{\mathbf{W}}_{s}$ 19. MRp = 40,p/4f,p 20. IR. = Wo.s/Wf.s *21. $P = P_A + \Delta I_{s,H.L.} \dot{\Psi}_p$ (F_A is measured axial thrust) $A_{n}^{*} = 68.79 \text{ g} (\text{g is average measured throat gap, in.})$ 22. $A_s = \pi D_s^2/4$ (D is average measured orifics diameter, in.) 23.
 - 117

*24. $P_{opt,p} = (I_{e,opt,p} + \Delta I_{sH_2O}) \dot{w}_p$ *25. $P_{opt,s} = I_{s,opt,p}$ *26. $\gamma I_e = P/(P_{opt,p} + P_{opt,s})$ *27. $\gamma I_{e,opt} = P/[P_{opt,p} (1 + \dot{w}_s/\dot{w}_p)]$ *28. $C_f = F/(\gamma_{C^*p} + \gamma_{C^*p} + \gamma_{C^*p})$ *29. $C_{T,opt} = P/[\gamma_{C^*p} + \gamma_{C^*p}]$ *30. $I_s = P/\dot{w}_T$ *31. $(\dot{w}_p/\dot{w}_s)_{eff} = (\dot{w}_p/\dot{w}_s)(C^*_p/C^*_p)$ *32. $C^* = A_e/A^*_p$ (A = 371.5 in², nozzle exit area) *33. PR = P_o/P_a

Base Heat Transfer Data Beduction

S. C. C. BRID MARK

- (U) Surface temperature measurements were recorded on the base plate of the aerospike model to gain information on the local heat transfer coefficients and the recirculating gas temperatures. These results will indicate the existance of certain problem areas, such as base cooling requirements. Also, the calculated recirculating gas temperature may indicate the amount of mixing between the secondary and primary flow. The method of analysis and experimental results are presented in the following pages.
- (U) <u>Analysis</u>. The experimental method consists of thermoccuples embedded on the gas-side and the insulated surface. A circular slot is formed around the thermoccuples to isolate and to obtain one-dimensional flow as shown in Fig. 54. The actual measurements that are recorded are both surface temperatures vs time. Based on an analytical model, the local heat transfer coefficients and recirculating gas temperatures can be computed.



<mark>ب</mark> ب (U) The experimental model can be readily analyzed by assuming one-dimensional heat flow, with one side exposed to the hot gas flow and the other insulated. Consider z slab as shown in Tig. 54. To express the temperature distribution in the slab in terms of nor-dimensional module, the distribution is written as:

$$\frac{T_g - T_x}{T_g - T_i} = 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\{ e^{-\delta_n^2 (\partial \alpha / L^2)} - \left[\frac{\sin \delta_n \cos (\delta_n x/L)}{\delta_1 + \sin \delta_n \cos \delta_n} \right] \right\}$$

where

$$F_0 = \Theta \alpha / L^2$$
$$S_n \tan \delta_n = \frac{hL}{k} = Ei$$

(U) Thus, the temperature ratio

$$\frac{T_g - T_z}{T_g - T_i}$$

can be expressed in terms of dimensionless terms, Fo, Bi, and x/L.

(U) Another assumption which is required in the data reduction is that the gas-side condition remain constant from $\theta = 0^+$. This is a basic requirement in the derivation of the one-dimensional heat conduction equation. Since the heat loss from natural convection on the back-side of the base plate is small in comparison to the heat input, the condition that the surface is insulated is valid.

COMOLINSSMIED

The second second second

With the

(U) Data Reduction and Test Results Local heat transfer coefficient and gas temperature are the two desired quantities. In order to solve explicitly for the aforementioned values, two degrees of freedoms must exist. By considering a time slice in the two surface temperatures vs time curves and substituting the temperatures and time into the basic conduction equation, two equations are obtained. Solving the equations, simultaneously, the local heat transfer coefficient and gas temperature can be determined. This is the theoretical approach to the data reduction. However, the direct application is almost insurmountable because of the complexity of the one-dimensional conduction equation. In order to converge the equation to an acceptable value, many terms must be solved. Thus, the temperature ratios were predetermined under expected heat transfer conditions and time. Figure 55 and 56 illustrate the temperature ratios for the gas-side surface and back-side surface, respectively. The material is 347 stainless steel with a wall thickness of 0.5 inchas.

- (U) The more desirable procedure in the data reduction is to obtain the back-side and gas-side surface temperatures for a given time slice. Employing these values in conjunction with Fig. 55 and 56, the local heat transfer coefficient and gas temperature can be obtained from a trial and error solution. However, for early time slices, the back-side temperature will be equal to the initial temperature of the base plate as seen in Fig. 57. Consequently, the above approach cannot be employed for initial time slices. However, two different time slices incorporating two ges-side temperatures can be employed for a trial-and-error solution.
- (C) As an example, Fig. 57 depicts a typical surface temperature history for a thermocouple set. Superimposed on the graph is the secondary flow temperature. From the datum slice of five seconds to eight seconds, the recirculating fluid consists of primary flow gases. At the eight-second point, secondary flow was injected. A solution was tried for two time slices, and the following results were obtained.







CONFIDENTIAL Ξ Test RD03 Thermocouples TBP-3 and TBP-Ŧ 님 11 甘 Η : T. ŧ D N C

日

1:

<u>r</u>

7

1-

: :::

> : :.

1111

i

1



1; ÷. 111 11 ł ÷ ÷ ļ 1ł 1 i : 1111 1 i 111 .†*† ÷ :::; 111 + 20 14 10 12 6 8 CONFIDENTIAL Time, Seconds 57. Base Plate Temperatures vs. Time, Tent No. RD03 Figure



CONFIDENTIAL

UNIVERSITY

. -

0. 800	TH. F	Ť, Ť	h _g , BIU/in ² -sec-F
2	435	5000	1.75 x 10 ⁻⁴
3	530	5000	1.75 x 10-4

(C) Typical nozzle base plate temperatures obtained in the altitude test program are shown in Fig. 58. A summary of nozzle base plate temperatures obtained during this test program is presented in Table 6. Maximum gas-side and ups tream-side plate temperatures measured were 440 and 180°F, respectively. A general trend of higher gas-side temperatures (TEP-3) during the high test cell pressure transient firings (firings AA03, AB11, AB12, AC15, AC16, AC17 and AC20) was noted. However, this trend was expected, since nozzle base pressure for these firings was proportional to ambient pressure (open wake regime) and the gaseous film hoat transfer coefficients are directly proportional to local pressure to the 0.8 power.

125

P



CUNGLASSIEED

•	NCZZLE	RASE PLATE	TRNSTRAT	6 1859 (11)	o an an in th			
			No.		Diete R	CITION I	V COIE	LIDENTIAL
			T pased T	Ine from	Engine Ie	nition Si	enel and	
Firing	Ladau Ante	0	7.0	2.0	4.5	7.0	8.0	0.6
102	186-3	82	8	212	192	253	254	252
	192-481	08 .	82	81	84	35	8	103
AA03	Ŷ	87	8	135	215	323	356	369
	1	88	88	92	8	101	106	21
6087	Ŷ	103	011	160	161	. 269	284	306
•	7	106	306	101	503	601	77	17
ABIO	Ŷ	125	126	156	195	573	268	283
	7	130	135	121	126	ลิ	737	136
AB11	÷	101	717	170	541	311	360	11
	7	EII	311	712	R	ក្ត	129	131
AB12	ĩ	163	162	175	259	319	36 j	4
	7	168	02T	168	165	168	173	17
AC13	ŋ	74	88	132	198	259	280	282
	7	78	80	83	78	5	100	101
ACIA	ñ	80	102	150	524	286	308	321
	7	8	8	6	92	8	102	Ħ
ACIS	÷.	108	121	184	580	345	365	394
	7	122	126	757	153	เถ	135	¥

(

1

CO**DINGLATOSI**FIED

Table 6

E DU

ころとろう ちょうちょう アンストローション アンマント

いているというないという、シーン

			Noz	zle Base	. ste Ten	perature,	¢.F	
	Thermononal		Elapsed T	ime from	Engine ig	nition Si	gnal, sec	
Heing	Number	0	1.0	2.0	4.5	2.0	8.0	0.6
ACI6	?	108	137	197	313	387	101	567
	7	131	130	128	129	161	143	153
AC17	ĩ	125	138	178	280	347	367	617
	7	Ţ	139	133	137	135	777	150
ACIB	ñ	п	127	162	228	51J	295	304
	4	128	128	129	129	5133	E ET	137
AC19	Ŷ	100	127	7/1	238	298	315	327
	7	711	115	115	711	125	130	139
AC20	ñ	133	160	217	315	391	413	077
	4	160	159	158	156	165	172	180
AC21	ĩ	123	138	182	243	. 281	538	310
	7	143	143	139	Ŧ	141	751	160
A D22	ñ	I	1	•	i	•	ł	• •
	7	78	85	. 85	85	88	88	8 .
AD23	Ŷ	í	8	ł	1	ı	•	•
	4	81	1 6	8	CIT	เส	161	757
AD24	Ŷ	1	t	•	•	•	•	8
	4	106	ส	121	138	161	. 169	176

BRICHASSIFIED

CONTRACTOR DE CO



WATER COOLED HARDWARE TEST RESULTS

朝鮮日日日

「「「「「「「「「」」」」」」」

3

- (U) Nine sea level test firings and twenty-one altitude test firings were conducted with an experimental, 12 percent length aerodynamic spike thrust chamber. The nozzle had a nominal area ratio of 25 and utilized $N_2O_4/$ UDME-N2H4(50-50) propellants for both primary and secondary propellants.
- (U) Sea level testing was conducted over a range of pressure ratios from 22 to 29 ($P_c = 300$ to 400 psia) and a secondary flowrate range from 0 to 5.3 percent of primary flowrate. Altitude testing was conducted over a pressure ratio range from approximately 40 to 350, a secondary flowrate range from 0 to 5 percent, and a G.C. mixture ratio range from 0.10 to 0.18.
- (U) Satisfactory operation of the gas generator was not obtained during firings AD22, AD23, and AD24; therefore, performance data for these firings are not presented.
- (U) Determination of the characteristic velocity of the thrust chamber and subsequent nozzle thrust efficiency from the test data required a considerable effort resulting in the development of an aerospike nozzle throat analysis method which should be useful in future testing efforts with this type nozzle. This method is described in detail.
- (U) Nozzle performance in terms of C_T, C_{Ttop} and base pressure are presented as a function of secondary flowrate and gas generator mixture ratio.

This



Determination of Nozzle Throat Area

- (C) Post Test Throat Area Method. Originally it was planned to use the nozzle post test measured throat area (Table 7) for the determination of $n_{C_n}^*$ and C_{me} . However, it became evident that this measurement alone was inadequate because (1) the throat area was obviously increasing in a scemingly repeateble manner during the first 3 or 4 seconds of a test (this conclusion was also reached during testing of the nearly identical TVC engine, Ref. 26) and (2) from 3 to 9 thrust chamber firings were accomplished between throat area measurements in the altitude test program with a likely throat area variation for each test. Characteristic velocity efficiencies (Table 6) showed considerable variation among the altitude firings. Nozzle efficiency trends with altitude did not follow the theoretical trend (Fig. 59) and tests with secondary flow showed gains substantially greater than indicated by base pressure measurements (Fig. 60). This method was therefore considered inadequate for determining nozzle performance.
- (C) <u>Constant η_{Cp}^* Assumption</u>. Since normally one would expect a close grouping of characteristic velocity efficiency values for repeated tests with the same injector, altitude performance was computed using this method and reported in Ref. 25. Post test throat area measurements were used to obtain an initial value of average η_{Cp}^* over s 2-second interval beginning 4 seconds after ignition (Table 9). An average η_{Cp}^* was then computed for each of the three test periods and these averages were in turn averaged to obtain a test program average η_{Cp}^* . This is an arbitrary weighting and hence the absolute level of performance is also arbitrary. A constant A_p was computed for each test using this η_{Cp}^* and 2-second interval average values of W_p and P_c . Using this constant A_p , 0.5-second interval average performance was computed over the duration of each test.



ENGLASSIFIED

10 A

<u>ر بر</u>

_	NOZZIE	TUROAT AREA MEASUREM	ENTS CONFIDENTIAL
Tast	Pretest Ap,m	Post Test Ap,m	Percent Change in Ap,m (Pre-Post/Pre) x 100
RD 69	14.546	15.067	+ 3.58
RD 71	14.914	15.213	+ 2.00
RD O1	15.311	15,505	+ 1.27
RD 02	15.450	-	-
RD 03	14.970	15.206	+ 1.58
RD 05	-	14.198	
RD 06	14.198	-	
RD 08	-	13.892	-
RD 09	13.892	13.989	+ 0.70
AA01-03	13.850	14.347	+ 3.59
1 AB08-12	14.071	13.828 ²	- 1.73
AC13-21	13.816	13.507	- 2.24

TABLE 7

1 Outer throat bolts reversed (torque applied at nozzle end) for tests subsequent to AA test series.

2 This value differs slightly from that reported in Ref. 25.



CONFIDENTIAL

Table 8	
TOA CHARACTERISTIC VELOCITY FORTCIEN	~v
(ALTITUDE TEST PROGRAM)	

CONSTRUCTOR

والمراجع فالتا بمناها المتناكر		ومحمد المحادث والمحمد ومحمد ومعاد والمحمد والمحم	
Trinster of	Characteristi	c Velocity Efficiency ¹	
ruring	Pre-Test Period	Post-Test Period	Average
	A _{n m}	A _{n m}	A _n m
	P, III	P, III	р,ш
AA02	0.855	0.887	0.871
AAC3	0.855	0.888	0.871
AB09	0.878	0.869	0.873
AB10	0.875	0.867	0.871
AB11	0.878	0.870	0.874
AB12	0.878	0.870	0.874
AC13	0.864	0.845	0.854
AC14	0.867	0.848	0.857
AC15	0.871	0.852	0.861
AC16	0.871 ·	0.851	0.861
AC17	0.872	0.852	0.862
AC18	0.873	0.854	0.864
AC19	0.875	0.855	0.865
AC20	0.875	0.855	0.865
AC21	· 0.880	0.860	0.870

¹Average of data for 5 to 7 sec after ignition signal. Values are uncorrected for heat loss and water content. (keproduced from Ref. 25)

CONFIDENTIAL

È.

上来にい



.



Test					
Test Fri		Characteris	tic Velocity	Efficiency ¹	
	ring		Test	Test	Nozzle Throat Area, Ap
Dollar)	Firing	Period	Program	Assuming $\gamma_{r*} = 0.8694$
		Average	Average	Average	đ
AA	~~~~	0.8372	0.8874	0.8694	14.06
	63	0.8875			14.06
AB	69	0.8694	0.8690		13.94
	10	0.8666			13.99
	11	0.8701		•	13.93
	12	0.8701			13.93
AC	13	0.8445	0.8510		13.91
	14	0.8477			13.86
	15	0.8516			13.79
	16	0.8510			13.80
	17	0.8522			13.78
	18	0.8538			13.76
	19	0.8553			13.73
	20	0.6549			13.74
	21	0.8599			13.72

DINCLASSIFIAD

¹Average of data from 4 to 6 sec after ignition, using post-test period throat area measurement. Values uncorrected for heat loss and water content. (Reproduced

from Ref. 25)

 Table 9

 NOZZLE THROAT AREA CALCULATIONS

Same and the second

.

* *

ş

. . .

> : ; ;

. -

FINAL

- (C) The time variation of $n_{C_p}^*$ (Fig. 61) indicates that $n_{C_p}^*$ initially decreases and then increases as the firing progresses. Notele thrust efficiency trends (Fig. 62) indicated substantial deviation from theoretical trends with altitude and secondary flowrate. Changing injector flow characteristics (Fig. 63) further indicated that a variation in $n_{C_p}^*$ was possible. Based on these results and considerations an alternate method of establishing performance was sought.
- (U) <u>Nozzle Primary Thrust Method</u>. Since the nozzle throat area can alternately be deduced from measurements of chamber pressure and the primary thrust of the nozzle and since small variations in $\eta_{C_p}^*$ should likely result in even smaller variations in the primary thrust coefficient C_p , the use of this quantity in determining throat area was investigated.
- (U) The thrust F_p developed by the primary nozzle (Fig. 64) can be expressed in terms of the resultant measured axial thrust F_A and other pressure forces acting over the engine by

$$F_{p} = F_{A} + F_{a,c} - F_{B} + (F_{a,cowl} - F_{N,cowl}) = P_{c} A_{p}^{*} n_{C_{p}} C_{Fvac} = P_{c} A_{p}^{*} C_{F_{p}}$$
(1)

(U) The primary nozzle efficiency $\mathcal{M}C_p$ is a function of the nozzle design and is essentially unaffected by small changes in nozzle throat area. The theoretical $C_{F_{VAG}}$ is a function of nozzle area ratio and propellant mixture ratio (Fig. 65). From Fig. 65 the sensitivity of $C_{F_{VAG}}$ to ϵ and mixture ratio variations indicates that two percent changes in ϵ and mixture ratio result in approximately 0.10 and 0.25 percent changes, respectively, in $C_{F_{VAG}}$. A potential flow analysis of the nozzle contour (fig. 66 and 67) indicates that C_p is unaffected by ambient conditions until a pressure ratio of approximately 50 is reached.



.



ONCLOSINED



.









CONFIDENTIAL

(U) The above equation expressed in terms of A_n^* is

$$A_{p}^{*} = \frac{P_{p}}{P_{c} \gamma_{c_{p}} c_{p}}$$

(U) The ratio of the throat area at any time relative to some reference throat area is then

$$\frac{A_{p}^{*}}{A_{p,ref}^{*}} = \frac{(F_{p}/P_{c})^{n} C_{F_{ref}} C_{p}}{(F_{p}/P_{c})_{ref}^{n} C_{F} C_{p}} C_{p}$$

(1) With the assumption that $\mathcal{N}_{CP} = \mathcal{N}_{C_{P}}$

$$A_{p}^{*}/A_{p,ref}^{*} = \frac{\begin{pmatrix} P_{p}/P_{c} \end{pmatrix} C_{p}}{(F_{p}/P_{c})_{ref} C_{p}}$$

where $C_{\overline{F}_{VAC}} = f(MR, \epsilon)$

in the second

- (c) This expression does not establish an absolute throat area but it does establish the throat area change during a firing and the relative throat areas among tests operating above the pressure ratio at which nozzle recompression starts. In the recompression region, \mathcal{N}_{CP} (C_P / C_P) is a strong function of F_C/P_a (Fig. 67) and hence no attempt was made to determine relative throat areas for the altitude tests operating in this region. Fortunately the altitude tests over the low pressure ratio range achieved a stabilized (constant) throat area before recompression occurred. The above expression was not used to conpare the sea level throat areas among the different tests because if small differences in P_c and hence P_c/P_a . However, it was felt adequate to determine the change in throat area with time during \bullet given test, since P_c/P_a and \mathcal{N}_{CP} are essentially constant. The steps in the calculation of throat areas among the altitude tests were as follows;
- (U) 1. A reference point in the firing (3 to 5 seconds after ignition) was callected. For the altitude firings, a point was selected which avoided the recompression region (.' $_{o}/P_{a} > 50$). 144 CONFIDENTIAL



CONFIDENTIAL



HURLASSHED

 (U) 3. The primary thrust was normalized to 300 peia. (400 peia for tests RD59, 71, and 01.)

(C) 4. An initial area ratio was selected for each test from available measurements. For the sea level tests, the posttest measurements except for kD69 (Nc. - Nc. p, ED71 vere used) and EDO6 (average of pretest RDO6 and posttest RDO8) . For the altitude tests pre- and posttest values were used for the first and last tests in the AB and AC series with a linear throat area variation assumed for intermediate tests (Fig. 69). The test period initial area is adjusted slightly lower than measured because a factor was applied which assumed that the decrease in throat area was caused by a uniform buildup of deposits on the throat. For the AA series the posttest throat area was used for AAO3 and throat areas for AAO2, and AAO1 were extrapolated using an average of the slopes of the AB and AC series. The changes in nozzle throat area indicated in Table 7 , page 131 suggested that the method of mounting the outer throat in the sea level test series and in the AA test series was not adequately accuring the nozzle assembly. During several disassemblies of the engine it was note. that considerable effort was required to remove the outer throat bolts. This fact and the indicated significant area increases suggested that applying torque to the nuts on the injector end of the engine was not securing the outer throat. Therefore, posttest throat area measurements were considered more reliable for the RD and AA test series. It should be noted that the variation of throat areas in i.ig. 69 about the mean value results in a change of only ± 0.33 percent in theoretical C_y

DASSIMED

1

がないとないとないたが、ためのための




à.



1.10.100





CONFIDENTIAL

(C) 8.

(c)

With the se

「あるのでいたいないないないないないないないないない」

Absolute values of throat areas for the altitude test program were determined by selecting the protest throat area measurement prior to the AC test series for test AC13 and following the area change curve indicated in Fig. 70 . The absolute values of all the throat areas at any time could then be determined by using the $A^{*}_{p,ref}$, AC13 equation to crtablish the hot stabilized throat area for each test and the $A^{+}_{p}/A^{+}_{p,ref}$ equation to establish the time variation of A^{+}_{p} during a test. The overall proceus was repeated for the majority of the tests using the new A_{p}^{*} to account for differences between the initially assumed A* ((ϵ^*) value and the one calculated on the first iteration. 71, and 72 are the area change curves from the Figures 70 , second iteration. The final throat area values (A^*_{p}) are tabulated in Appendix 1 as a function of time for each test. Sea level throat areas were computed using posttest throat area measurements (except for RD69 and RD06) and the throat area change curves shown in Fig. 69 . No posttest area was available for HDO5 and an average of pre HDO6 and post RDOS values was 'used. The same C* efficiency was used for test RD69 that was obtained with RD71.

Typical characteristic velocity efficiencies obtained using this method are shown in Figs. 73 and 74 for typical sea level and altitude tests. The values of N_{CH} indicate a gradual upward trend. Some of the curves (AAO2 and RDOB) appear to have the same initial shape as the throat area change curves. However, test AC13, which has the steepest area change, has the same gradual upward drift of test AC21 which has essentially no throat area change. The fact that N_{CH} is actually varying in the manner indicated is substantiated by identical trends in the vacuum specific impulse of the primary nozzle $(I_{g_n} = P_p/\tilde{w}_p)$ as shown in Figs. 75 and 76.

153

CONFIDENTIA



COUNDENDATIED



155 CONNOEATONEIED





CUMADASSICIED

It is not certain what causes the upward drift in efficiency. One possible reason is that there is a heat aink effect occurring within the chamber. A rough estimate of the difference in heating rate for the engine with cold walls and hot walls ($\ge 800^{\circ}$ F) indicated that approximately three seconds of specific impulse would be gained during the transition. Reference to the theoretical bafile beating rate curves (Fig. 48, page 109) indicates that relatively constant heating rate occurs after approximately one second of operation. The water-cooled walls should achievé a stabilized surface temperature within even less time. However, in initial sea level tests at 400 psia chamber pressure, melting on a portion of the nozzle surface occured only after five seconds of operation.

Another possible reason for the increase in efficiency is indicated by the injector flow pattern relative to the baffle surface (Fig. 77). One quarter of the unifice pattern is adjacent to the baffle surface. An appreciable portion of flow appears to impinge on the baffle walls. As the baffles heat up, vaporization and more efficient compusiton may be promoter.

Nozzle thrust efficiency results obtained with the primary thrust method are illustrated for zero secondary flow in Fig. 73. The altitude tests aboved the proper trend with pressure ratio and a very close grouping among the three tests. The results achieved with secondary flow and presented in the next section showed equally consistent agreement with theoretical trends and an exceptionally close grouping of comparable or overlapping tests (high and lew pressure ratio) with the same sucondary flowrato. The experimental efficiency data obtained with a science for theoretical friction and kinetic differences, the efficiencies would be virtually the same.

CONFIDENT DIASSIFIED

(c)

(U)

(5)



U



The theoretical performance estimate for the hot-firing model is comprised of a constant χ ($\chi = 1.25$) transonic flow analysis of the throat region, a variable χ (corresponding to shifting equilibrium properties during expansion) potential flow analysis of the nozzle, an analysis of theoretical reaction kinetics (using Bray criteria), a viscous flow analysis (drag) and measured base pressures. An erea ratio of 26.1 was used for the theoretical computations because this corresponded closely to the actual area ratio during the firings with no secondary . flow.

The theoretical efficiency curve shows a peak efficiency of .9565 at a design pressure ratio of 300 compared to an experimental maximum efficiency of 96.0. The experimental data agrees within 1 percent of the theoretical performance from a pressure ratio of 450 to a pressure ratio of 50 where nozzle compression begins. The experimental hot-firing efficiency is approximately 3 percent higher than the theoretical estimates in the pressure ratio range from 35 to 45. The fact that the cold-flow efficiency trend is the same as the hot-firing data suggests that the theoretical trend in the recompression region is in error.

The results achieved using this method were definitely more logical in indicating performance trends than any other method attempted and were adopted for the final interpretation of data presented here. The absolute level of thrust efficiency, however, probably has an uncertainty on the order of $\frac{1}{2}$ 1 percent. If the posttest throat area for AAO3 were selected as the reference, the altitude results would be based on 0.9 vercent higher throat ereas. If either the pre-or posttest A_p for the AB series were selected as the reference, the throat areas would be one percent smaller than the creas actually used. The absolute performance level presented is a mean value and is probably representative of the actual y reformance level.

161 -

(c)

(C)

(c)

「おおおいないないちょうう

•

あたまでない

いたがたが

STANDAR STAN

CUMPLASSIFIED

Nozzle Performance

(U)

Tabulated values of thrust chamber and nozzle performance in trans of $\mathcal{N}_{C^{\#}}$, $\mathcal{N}_{C^{\#}}$, \mathbf{I}_{s} , \mathcal{N}_{I} , \mathcal{N}_{I} , \mathcal{O}_{T} and $\mathbf{C}_{T, top}$ are presented vs time in Appendix 1 along with other pertinent data defining engine performance.

(c)

(c)

For this discussion nozzle performance is described by nozzle thrust efficiency, C_1 and C_1 . Specific impulse efficiency data is not a good indicator of nozzle performance for this engine because of variations in C* efficiency among the tests and during a test. This is illustrated by Fig. 79 which shows the effect of time (pressure ratio decreases with increasing time) on \mathcal{N}_1 for two long duration (7.4 seconds) altitude tests with no secondary flow. It can be seen that for the high pressure ratio test, \mathcal{N}_1 at 1/3 of design pressure ratio is equal to \mathcal{N}_1 at design pressure ratio. The same trend is shown for test AA05. Except for the first data point, which is in a peak performance region of pressure ratio the \mathcal{N}_1 curve is increasing steadily in a pressure ratio region where it should be decreasing. At approximately 14 percent of decign pressure ratio \mathcal{N}_1 has decreased only 1/2 percent. Therefore \mathcal{N}_1 is not a good indicator of nozzle performance is improving with time.

Sea level data is also shown in Fig. 79. There is a difference of 3.8 percent in I_g efficiency between the data. There is, however, a difference of approximately 2.5 percent in η_{C^*} between the three sea level tests ED69, 71, 01 and the test AA03. However, the average slope of the thrust efficiency curve shown previously (Fig. 78) could readily be extrapolated quite close to the altitude data. Actual differences in η_{C^*} between tests, therefore, can lead to erroneous conclusione about flozzle performance. It can be seen by comparing





CO**HNDEASH**FIED

CONTRACTOR OF THE D

Fig. 78 and 79 that the use of N_{I} does not give an accurate representation of nozzle thrust efficiency trends for this engine.

こうちょうないない こうちょう あまつのけいちょう

(C)

The effect of approximately 1.2 percent secondary flow on aerospike performance is shown in Figs. 80 and 81. An improvement in C_{sp} on the order of 0.3 to 0.5 percent, is indicated at design pressure ratio with this flowrate. A maximum performance increase of approximately 1.5 percent is achieved at pressure ratios from approximately 90 to 130. From the pressure ratio where nozzle recompression begins (\sim 50), to a pressure ratio of 22, the performance with 1.2 percent secondary flow is equal to the performance without secondary flow. With performance referenced to primary properties only (Cm., Fig. 81), performance with 1.2 percent secondary fl , is equal to zero secondary flow performance at design pressure ratio, and a maximum of 1 percent greater than O secondary flow performance at a pressure ratio of approximately 110. From a pressure ratio of 50 down to 22, C_T, with 1.2 percent secondary flew, is approximately 0.3 percent lower than with zero secondary flow. For the sea level tests, a line joins the efficiencies obtained with and without secondary flow for the same firing.

(C) Figures 82 through 85 show the comparison of nozzle C_T and C_T top values for 2 to 3 percent secondary flow with those for zero secondary flow. C_T gains with secondary flow on the order of .2 to .3 percent are indicated at design pressure ratio. With 2 to 3 percent secondary flow, a maximum performance improvement of about 1.2 percent is achieved at a pressure ratio of approximately 110. Again, the C_T curves with and without secondary flow converge at a pressure ratio of 50. At a pressure ratio of 22, a loss in C_T of 0.4 percent results with the use cf 2 to 3 percent secondary flow.

CONFIDENCIAL

C,







中国語の方法の







INCERSION

When performance is compared using the topping cycle definition of efficiency. $C_{T,top}$ is a proximately 0.5 percent lower with 3.0 percent secondary flow at design pressure ratio.

(c) From a pressure ratio of 150 to $50, C_{T,top}$ is higher with secondary flow by a maximum of approximately 0.5 percent. At a pressure ratio of 22, $C_{T,top}$ with 3 percent secondary flow is 0.8 percent lower than with no secondary flow.

With 5.0 percent secondary flow, C_T at design pressure ratio was lewer (Mig. 86) than the zero seconds y flow C_T by approximately 0.6 percent. Thrust efficiency with 5.0 percent flow was slightly higher than with zero secondary flow from a pressure ratio of 150 down to approximately 50. At a pressure ratio of approximately 23, C_T was about 0.6 percent lower than 5 percent secondary flow.

C, with 5 percent secondary flow was approximately 1.8 lower than top the no secondary flow C, at design pressure ratio, and generally top lower over the entire pressure ratio range (Fig. 87).

Figures 88 and 89 show the results of the tests to determine the effect of mixture ratio on nozzle efficiency. All the tests were with approximately 3 percent secondary flow. AC13 and AC15 were high and low pressure ratio range rirings, respectively, at a GG mixture ratio of .11. Test AC18 and AC17 were at a slightly lower mixture ratio of 0.10 and tests AC19 and AC20 were at a significantly higher mixture ratio of 0.18. Test AC21 was a constant altitude test at a mixture ratio of 0.11. (similar to AC13 and AC15). Table 10 lists typical secondary flow C* values for the test program. The effect of



(c)

(c)

(C)

(c)







Figure 88. Effect of Secondary Mixture Ratio on Nozzle Thrust Efficiency

があるという



CHIGASSINET



1

UNCLASSIFIED

TABLE 10

THE TWEE

.

10 C 10

		:	SECONDARY FLOW	PARAMETERS	CONFIDENTIAL
ſ	Test	W _B /W _p Percent	MR _s	Cf rt/sec	ⁿ C# Percent
F	Pm2	1.10	.260	3768	-
	PTO2	1.96	-092	3632	83.7
I	2002	3.23	.165	3885	88.5
Į	PTOO	5.30	.163	3979	90.0
	107	2 59	.085	3139	72.4
	1900	2.64	.089	3138	72.5
	AD10	1.21	.110	2996	69.5
	AD10 AD11	2.33	.114	3233	74.1
	1212	1.22	.111	2913	67.6
1	1012	3.07	.111	3661	84.6
	AC1/	5.03	.118	2775	86.4
	4014	3.05	.115	3801	87.7
	1016	5.02	.117	3801	87.0
	AC17	3.07	.096	3651	84.8
	1017	3.06	.097	3645	84.6
	4010	2.94	.177	3944	89.8
:	1020	2.96	.175	4000	91 .1
	AU2U	N 3 00	.114	3929	<i>-</i>

176 CO**JEMPENNAL**FIED

「おおい」をすれたおいたいというのかないのであります。 やれいていたないがない

STATES AND ADDRESS



energy level is not apparent by examining Fig. 88 alone. $C_{\rm T}$ for the high GG energy level firings (AC19 and AC20) appears generally lower than the other tests. When comparing $C_{\rm T,top}$ values, however, tests AC19 and AC20 appear to have shifted upward approximately 0.3 percent relative to the other tests. This shift is a consequence of the defining equations (page 93) and the lower reference energy level of the lew mixture ratio (\sim .10) secondary flow. The topping cycle definition indicates no significant differences in efficiency with energy level.

Nozzle Base Pressures

- (U) Figure 90 shows the nozzle base pressures with secondary flowrates from 0 to 5 percent. Also shown are the base pressures obtained with the scaled cold-flow model (CF_A) described in Volume I of this report.
- (C) With no secondary flow and in the closed wake region $F_B'P_C$ is constant at a value of .0066. Transition to the open wake region (\tilde{P}_B influenced by P_a) occurs at a pressure ratio of approximately 140. From a pressure ratio of 140 to 100, \tilde{P}_B is alightly below ambient pressure. At lower pressure ratios \tilde{P}_B is higher than ambient pressure. The cold-flow data base pressures appear to be almost identical to the hot-firing values.
- (C) Base pressure increases continuously with increasing secondary flowrate. It can also be seen that base pressure is influenced by embient pressure at higher pressure ratios than with no secondary flow.
- (c) Figure 91 shows the bace pressures obtained with 3 percent secondary flow and different GG mixture ratios. It is difficult to distinguish any effect of GG mixture ratio on the base pressures.









CONCEANSMED

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

(C) Kajor conclusions from the test results are

- 1. The method of determining relative nozzle threat areas developed in this study is an analytical approach which should prove useful in the interpretation of future data with this type nezzle.
- 2. A relatively high level of nozzle efficiency was achieved (~ 96.0) at design pressure ratio with a 12 percent length aerodynamic spike nozzle with zero secondary flow. Nozzle efficiency decreased by only 2.2 percent over the pressure ratio range (~ 350 to ~ 35) investigated at AEDC. Sea level tests with s to secondary flow at pressure ratios from 22 (~ 8 percent of design PR) to 29 (10.8 percent of design PR) indicates nozzle efficiency decreased in this region to a value of about 89.5 percent.
- 3. Secondary flowrates from zero to 3 percent gave nozzle performance (C_{m}) increases of approximately 0.5 percent at design pressure ratio. The maximum gains in C_{m} (1 to 1.5 percent) with zero to 3 percent secondary flow were achieved over a pressure ratio range from 150 to 50.
- 4. At very low pressure ratios (~ 22) small lesses in $C_{T}(0.1$ to .3 percent) resulted with the introduction secondary flow.
- 5. Nozzle C_m gains at all pressure ratios were approximately the same with secondary flowrates of 1 to 3 percent.
- 6. Nozzle C_{p} was noticeably lower with 5 percent secondary flow than with the other flowrates tested.

180

7. When the nozzle efficiency is referenced to primary properties, a decrease in $C_{T, top}$ of from 0 to 0.5 percent results at design pressure ratio with the introduction of from 1 to 3 percent secondary. It should be noted that this small decrease in $C_{T, top}$ still represents an efficient utilization of low energy turbine exhaust gases.



- No significant difference in thrust efficiency was noted for different energy level secondary flows.
- 9. Nozzle thrust efficiency and base pressure corresponded quite closely for the cold-flow (CP_4) model and the hot-firing thrust chamber. This suggests the use of inexpensive cold-flow tests with CP_4 will provide near quantitatively applicable design information for hot-firing engines.

Major recommendations resulting from this test program are

のないでなることにあたいためのないのがあった

- For future testing efforts, special effort should be made to determine the base thrust contribution from base pressure measurements. These measurements can provide an accurate determination of nozzle efficiency trends and serve as a valuable and independent check on efficiency trends determined from measurements of engine thrust, flows, chamber pressure and throat area.
- Base configuration and the method of introduction of secondary flow appreciably affects performance. Hot-firing tests
 should be conducted to provide performance data, heat transfer rates, and other design technology with various base configurations.
- 3. Recent analytical studies indicate that aerospike contours other than a truncated ideal may provide a significant improvement in low pressure ratio performance. Contours can be designed specifically for the low pressure ratio region and still give altitude performance close to that of an ideal spike. Analytical contour design and cold-flow testing of several different contour designs should be conducted to verify initial analytical work.

181/182



SECTION IV

EXTERNAL FLOY EFFECTS ON AEROSPIKE PERFORMANCE

INTRODUCTION

ŧ.

(C) Because of interaction which occurs between external and nozzle flows, vehicle base flow characteristics encountered in missile flight differ from those prevalent in quiescent air nozzle performance investigations. These base flow characteristics are of little consequence with conventional nozzles since the expansion process is internal in this case; that is, the exhaust games within the nozzle are shielded from the external flow by the physical expansion surface provided by the nozzle. Eswever, with an aerospike nozzle, the external expansion boundary is formed by a gas-gas interface, and is influenced by flow interference effects. Since the position of this outer boundary in the flow affects acrospike nozzle performance at low pressure ratios where the base pressure follows changes in ambient pressure ("open wake"), the presence of an external flow can affect aerospike performance under certain conditions. Previous coldflow testing conducted under contract NAS 8-2654 (Ref. 21) established that the effect of external flow is small and is confined to a narrow range of in-flight operating conditions. Experimental study of these effects was continued under contract AFO4(611)-5948. The primary objective of this program was to confirm and extend, through hot-flow testing, the results obtained in the cold-flow slipstream study. A secondary objective was to evaluate the effect of base bloed flowrate on nozzle still air performance. Results of this investigation are discussed in the following sections.

SUMMARY

(c) A hot-flow test program was conducted to determine the influence of external flow on in-flight acrospike nozzle performance. A hot-firing scrospike engine using hydrogen peroxide propellants was enclosed by an

183



aerodynamic fairing constructed in the shape of a missile body to simulate an actual flight configuration. The engine generated 400 pounds of altitude thrust at a chamber pressure of 200 peia. An aerospike nozzle with an area ratio of 25 and a length equal to 20 percent of an equivalent 15 degree conical nozzle was utilized to control the expansion of engine exhaust gases. The secondary flowrate was 0.8 percent of the primary flowrate for all tests with external flow. Testing was conducted in the 16-foot uransonic and supersonic propulsion wind tunnals at Arnold Engineering Development Center (AEDC). Installation of the model in the transonic wind tunnel is shown in Fig. 92.

- (C) Forty tests were conducted to obtain still air and slipstreem performance trends in the transonic and supersonic wind tunnels. In addition, five tests were conducted in the transonic facility to demonstrate engine performance trends with secondary flowrate. Results of these tests confirmed that hige quieccent air performance (approximately 98 percent of ideal at design pressure ratio) can be obtained throughout a representative range of pressure ratios with a properly designed aerospike nozzle. The addition of secondary flow proved beneficial at all protoure ratios. It was found that the correct experimental performance level and trend with pressure ratio could be estimated above pressure ratios at which nozzle recompression occurs using previously developed semiempirical base pressure relationships (Ref. 2) in conjunction with a potential primary flow analysis and viscous drag computations.
- (c) Nozzle performance was found to be unaffected by external flow in the "closed wake" pressure ratio region (pressure ratios at which nozzle base pressure is constant in still air). At low pressure ratios ("open wake") performance of the model tested decreased at a rate which was dependent on free stream Mach number and chamber pressure ratio. When strong flow interaction effects occurred, they were found to result in




COM**SINGUASSIFIED**

relatively high nozzle base pressure, which was also shown by previous cold-flow data (Ref. 21). When flow interaction did not influence nozzle base pressure, both hot- and cold-flow nozzle performance data correlated with the "effective" chamber pressure ratio, P_c/\bar{P}_{B_p} . On the basis of this result, it was concluded that: (1) missile base pressure approaching ambient pressure will result in nozzle efficiency in slipstream nearly identical to that obtained in still air, and (2) strong slipstream-primary flow interaction results in relatively high in-flight nozzle performance.

(C) In-flight performance estimates generated under severe assumptions demonstrated that the time-integrated external flow effects over a typical mission result in a change in average specific impulse (\overline{I}_s) of less than 0.2 percent. Boat-tailing, mass addition to the missile wake flow, and reduction in missile base area are shown to be effective methods of reducing these effects still further.

SLIPSTREAK TEST PROGRAM

いい いいちゃんしき いなかれる ちゅうしょうちょう

1

Preliminary Analysis and Design Studies

(c) The slipstream investigation was designed to confirm and extend, through hot-flow testing, the results of previous analytical and cold-flow studies into the effects of an external flow on aerospike performance. The engine selected as the test model was a modified version of a hydrogen reroxide monopropellant engine previously used to verify cold-flow aerospike performance trends with secondary flowrate (Ref. 15). This melection was based on the demonstrated high performance of the engine, the excellent decomposition characteristics of the H₂O₂ propellant using the selected catalyst pack design, and repeatability of test results. The use of H₂O₂ monopropellant allowed a very accurate measurement of combustion efficiency, cT. C* efficiency (approximately 97.5 percent) was determined directly from the measured combustion temperature (≈1350F). Testing was conducted in the Propulsion Wind Tunnel at AEDC because of the capability of this facility to simulate a wide range of potential

CONNUENS



operating conditions. Pertinent nozzle flowfield and mission operating characteristics leading to the selection of the model design and simulated test conditions and the expected nozzle performance and base pressure trends are discussed in the following paragraphs.

(c) The external flow studies described in Ref. 2) provided invaluable insight into the flow process encountered when an aerospike nozzle operates in the presence of an external flow, and established many guidelines for the test program discussed herein. In the cold-flow testing it was established that, for the conditions investigated, the presence of an external flow influences aerospike performance only in the open wake region. In still air, the open wake region occurs below pressure ratios at which the nozzle base pressure just begins to feel the influence of ambient pressure as the chamber pressure ratio decreases. The external flow influences at these pressure ratios was found to alter the compression waves, or envelope shock, in the primary flow field which induces a change in engine thrust. This phenomena was explained on the basis of the still air mozzle flow field (illustrated schematically in Fig. 93) as follows.

(C) Initially, the primary flow undergoes a controlled expansion from the mozzle throat to the shroud exit. Beyond this point the flow expands freely about the point at the shroud exit to the local ambient pressure, $P_{B_{\mathbf{v}}}$. The left running expansion waves in the vicinity of the shroud exit are reflected from the outer free jet boundary as compression waves, which, in some cases, coalesce to form an envelope shock. The altitude compensating characteristics of the aerospike under still fir conditions are directly related to the position of these compression waves in the flow.



.

and for the

- (C) At very low pressure ratios (large P_{∞}) the position of the outer free jet boundary is such that these compression waves reflect onto the mozale contour and internal free jet boundary as shown in Fig. 94a. Both the pressures along the affected portion of the contour surface and the nozzle base pressure, PR, are subjected to a relatively high recompression pressure (approximately equal to the local ambient pressure) which results in high nozzle performance at off-design conditions. As the ambient pressure is decreased the outer free jet boundary moves outward so that the compression waves move down the nozzle contour. Once the azbient pressure reaches a cortain low value these recompression waves can no longer intersect the contour surface and the thrust developed along this surface remains unchanged with further decreases in ambient pressure. The nozzle base pressure, however, remains under the influence of the local ambient pressure (Fig.94b) until the position of the outer free jet boundary is such that the recompression waves no longer intersect the internal free jet boundary (Fig. 94c). Decreases in the ambient pressure below this value, which corresponds to a pressure ratio that is usually twonty to fifty percent of the nozzle design pressure ratio depending on the nozzle configuration, have no further effect on the nozzle base pressure.
- (C) These trends with the local ambient pressure are changed slightly in the presence of an external flow. In this case there are two interrelated phenomena which influence the primary flow field. First, the local subject pressure to the nozzle, $P_{B_{v}}$, changes relative to the slipstream static pressure, and in turn changes the initial structure of the primary flow free jet boundary. Because this missile base pressure, $P_{B_{v}}$, is normally lower than ambient (the magnitude of base pressure decrease depends on afterbody geometry and external and primary nozzle flow conditions), the position of the outer free jet boundary is moved further away from the nozzle centerline than in still air. Thus, the compression

189

CONFIDENTIALSIFIED





waves emaninating from the initial portion of the outer jet boundary strike the innor jet boundary farther downstream than for still air operation as shown in Fig. 95. This effect results in reduced recompression effects in slipstream with attendant lower nozzle base pressure than obtained in still air.

THE STATE OF THE S

- (c) Secondly, the structure of the free jet boundary of the primary exhaust stream is further altered downstream of the impingement point between the external and nozzle flows (point A in Fig. 95). Because of the flow interaction at this point, the compression waves reflecting from the free jet boundary downstream of this point, and the free jet boundary itself, are turned inward, as shown in Fig. 98. Under these conditions, the compression waves may intersect the inner free jet boundary farther upstream and with a higher pressure than in still air. This causes the nozzle base pressure to be sensitive to changes in the ambient pressure for lower values of P_{co} than the corresponding still air case.
- (C) The net result of these two effects can be either an increase or decrease in base pressure from that obtained in still air operation, depending upon the relative strengths of the two compensating processes. The first effect described above is referred to as the influence of missile base pressure in all subsequent discussion. To facilitate this discussion the second effect is referred to as shock flow interaction, or simply interaction, in succeeding sections. However, it must be remembered that in reality both influences are interrelated, and are the result of interaction between external and mozale illow.
- (C) In the cold-flow test program it was found that missile base pressure was nearly equal to the free stream static pressure for subsonic external flow. Under these conditions, the position of the outer free jet boundary





CANALARDINED

is marly the same as in still air at the corresponding pressure ratio (P_C/P_{CO}) , as shown in Fig. 97a). Hence, the influence of low missile base pressure was nearly negligible, and the shock flow interaction influence was predominate. As shown by the cold-flow data presented in Fig. 98, the nozzle base pressures in this case are increased over those obtained in still air over a short interval in pressure ratio because of the influence of the relatively high interaction pressure acting along the affected recompression waves. This increase in base pressure results in a nozzle thrust increase as indicated in Fig. 98b.

- (C) Conversely, relatively low missile base pressures were encountered in the cold-flow evaluation of supersonic external flow. In this case the position of the outer free jet boundary is as shown in Fig. 97b. Thus, although the compression waves are turned inward by the shock flow interaction process, as in the subsonic case, the initial portion of the free jet boundary is such that these waves intersect the internal free jet boundary farther downstream than in the still air case. This causes the nozzle base pressure to remain insensitive to changes in the ambient pressure, P_{co} , up to higher values of P_{co} than in still air (Fig.98a) with a subsequent loss in nozzle thrust in this region (Fig. 98 b).
- (c) Since in external flow the primary flow f.e. initially expands according to the missile base pressure, P_{B_y} , nozzle performance and base pressure may correlate with P_{B_y} depending upon the relative strength of the interaction effect. Therefore, a correlating performance term has been defined to enable computation of nozzle performance under flight conditions from still air data. This parameter, ϕ , is defined by the equation (refer to Appendix 2 for nomenclature):

$$\Phi = \frac{(F) P_{c}/P_{B_{v}}}{\left(F_{idp} \sqrt{\frac{T_{c}}{T_{id}} + F_{idg}} \sqrt{\frac{T_{c}}{T_{id}}}\right) P_{c}/P_{B_{v}}}$$
(1)

194





ą

CONFIDENTIAL

and is referred to as a normalized thrust coefficient in subsequent discussion. When shock interaction effects do not influence nozzle performance, Eq. (1) reduces to the definition of nozzle efficiency (compare the above equation with Eq. (6) of Appendix 2), and the normalized thrust coefficient in external flow is identical to that obtained in still air for corresponding values of P_C/P_{B_V} . However, if shock interaction effects are strong (i.e., compression waves reflecting from the outer free jet boundary downstream of the impingement point are turned inward and intersect the inner free jet boundary farther upstream than if the expansion was governed only by the missile base pressure) the noszle base pressure is higher than would be expected from the value of P_{B_V} alons. Under these conditions, the value of $\frac{3}{2}$ obtained for nozzle operation in slipstream is higher than that obtained for still air operation at corresponding values of P_C/P_{B_V} .

- (C) The nature of the normalized thrust coefficient, \$\overline{2}\$, for the cold-flow test conditions is shown in Fig. 99. It can be seen that external flow thrust coefficient data correlate with still air nozzle efficiency at all but the transition pressure ratios with subsonic external flow. The base pressure data in Fig. 98a indicate that interaction effects were prodominate for these conditions. Interaction effects resulted in an increased normalized thrust coefficient over that obtained in still air through the transition pressure ratios as would be expected on the basis of preceding discussion. The objective of the current program was to confirm and extend these cold-flow results.
- (c) Since external flow effects on acrospike performance are dependent on the nature of both the external and nozzle flows, a trajectory study was conducted to establish representative operating conditions in terms of free stream Mach number and chamber pressure ratio combinations for pump-

197 CONFIDENTIAL



council answelled

and pressure-fad booster engines. _____s study revealed that due to differences in operating parameters a wide range of environmental conditions may arise depending on the application as shown in Fig. 100 . However, while the nature of the external flow and engine operating conditions are determined by the data in Fig. 100, the expansion characteristics of the nozzle are not reflected by these curves. In order to couple conditions in the free stream with the flow characteristics of the nozzle used in each of these applications, the ordinate in Fig. 100 was normalized in terms of the nozzle design pressure ratio, and the trajectory data were replotted versus this normalized pressure ratio as shown in Fig. 101 . The normalized trajectories allow the testing of a single nozzle at a fixed chamber pressure over a small range of ambient pressures with valid application of the data to other nozzles with different chamber pressure, expansion area ratio, and mission Mach number profile.

ないというというというというというないないないないないない

- (U) The operating limits of the test facilities at AEDC (discussed in Ref. 20) are shown in Fig. 102. These data, and the normalized trajectory data shown in Fig. 101 were used to establish the permissable operating ranges shown in Fig. 103 for test models with various area ratios and chamber pressures. It can be seen that the desired flight conditions can be simulated with a wide range of model area ratios by proper selection of the model chamber pressure (or vice versa).
- (C) The availability of comparable cold-flow data and condensation limits of the decomposition products of the hydrogen peroxide propellant led to the selection of a 25:1 nozzle area ratio and a chamber pressure of 200 psia. As shown in Fig. 103, this allows testing throughout a representative range of Mach numbers and chamber pressure ratios. A short outer shroud was utilized which was designed to yield parallel axial flow at the throat and across a linear control surface drawn from the shroud exit to the end of the full length ideal spike contour. The spike contour





CONFIDENTIAL FIED

UNOLASSA MAS





.

35 Ţ ::' REGIONS OF NATCHED TENDERATURE Ţ r i i ji Чü -1. 1 3.2 - 1. 1 . 1 ::-28 3 Π, đ 2 4 18 2 [C 2 0UT) INTERFERENCE MODELS. ADDITIONAL REGION FOR ------4. 1 WAGH NUMBER, MAN 02 REGIÓN OF MARGINAL ÷li F .1 1 heride <u>.</u>1 9 Å X ġ ΗŢ **3 3 3** 2000 12 1 9 0 HIT · · · · · · - 1 TEMPERATURE . DEGREE OF 0.4 NISNATCH 02 00 8 S a. i . ֥1. H 111 Ē ļ ц ф ф Гі 8 ų 13 BOUTUN OF

CONFIDENTIAL 202

Figure 102. The Operating Range for Pressure Altitude Simulation in the FWT 16-Ft Supersonic and Transonic Turnels

CONCENSIONED

\$





was truncated to an axiel length which is twenty percent of the axial length of an equivalent fifteen degree conical nozzle. Ninety percent concentration hydrogen peroxide which ideally decomposes at temperatures around 1400 degrees F (depending on inlet temperature) was selected as the propellant for both the primary and secondary flows.

- (C) Theoretical performance trends for this engine were determined. The primary flowfield of the nozzle was analyzed using the axially symmetric method of characteristics (programmed for automatic computation) to develop velocity and pressure profiles, and a boundary layer analysis was conducted to establish friction losses along the contour. Predicted primary nozzle wall pressure profiles are illustrated for various chamber-to-ambient pressure ratios in Fig. 104. The rise in nozzle wall pressure at low pressure ratios is caused by the recompression phenomena. This effect was found to cease at pressure ratios above approximately 63. These primary nozzle wall pressures were integrated over the nozzle surface area and combined with the pressure and momentum thrust at the throat to establish ideal primary thrust. This primary thrust value was corrected for drag losses and added to the base thrust established by estimated base pressures to obtain total nozzle thrust. Base pressure estimates were made using the empirical techniques described in Ref. 2, and are shown as a function of chamber pressure ratio for various secondary flowrates in Fig. 105. For these calculations it was assumed that $\gamma_{C^*S} = \gamma_{C^*p}$.
- (C) Predicted nozzle thrust efficiency with 0.8 percent secondary flow is shown in Fig. 106 a function of the chamber pressure ratio. Efficiency gains with secondary flowrate are evident at all pressure ratios of interest; optimum secondary flowrate at design pressure ratio (PR \approx 410) is approximately one percent of the primary flowrate as shown by the estimated performance trend with secondary flowrate in Fig. 107.

204

CONFIDENCIALED

いいいろうかんたいとうない



CONFIDENTIAL





(

TO PAGE

207 CONEIDENTIAL UNCLASSIFIED







Test Program

- (c) Hardware Description. The engine assembly is shown schematically in Fig. 108. The engine was operated with hydrogen peroxide monopropellent (90 percent concentration) in both the primary and secondary systems. The peroxide was decomposed in a concentric arrangement of silver acreen catalyst packs located within the engine. Radial outward secondary flow injection is effected through sonic orifices located in the center of a deep base cavity. The secondary flowrate was maintained at a constant value of 0.8 percent of the primary flowrate throughout the alipstream phase of the test program. Still air tests were conducted with 0 and 1.7 percent secondary flow at the conclusion of the program. The engine is fabricated of 347 stainless steel and is uncooled with a steady state operating temperature of 1350°P (combustor and throat regions). Model dimensions were set to achieve a chamber pressure of 200 pais, design thrust level of approximately 410 lbs, and an expansion area ratio of 25 when the steady-state operating temperature was reached.
- (U) The location and installation of the test article in the 16 foot transonic and supersonic wind tunnels at AEDC is shown in Figs. 109 through 112. These wind tunnels are continuous flow, closed circuit tunnels capable of operating over a range of Mach numbers from 0.55 to 1.6 and 1.7 to 3.1, respectively. Operating limits of these facilities were presented earlier in Fig.102, page 202. A detailed facility description is contained in Ref. 20.
- (U) The engine was mounted on a water cooled force balance which was supported by a strut extending from the floor of the test section. In order to simulate a typical launch vehicle, the engine and force balance assembly were enclosed in an aerodynamic fairing constructed in

UNCLASSIFIED









and the second second



the shape of a missile body. A dimensional aketch of the model is shown in Fig.113, and a cross sectional view of the assembly is shown in Fig.114. The exit plane of the model extended approximately two strut chord lengths downstream of the strut trailing edge to reduce the strut interference on the model base to a minimum. In order to obtain nozzle performance as a function of the pressure which controls the expansion of primary exhaust gases, a flat, cylindrical missile boat tail was selected to insure a separated flow over the missile base with an attendant uniformly distributed missile base pressure. This is not necessarily typical of future configurations because of the relatively low missile base pressures characteristic of this geometry. Extensive testing would be required to cover all possible future boat tail geometries, and the flat, cylindrical base was thosen to simplify the interpretation of test dats.

(U) Pressures along the missile base were equalized with the pressure within the simulated vehicle by providing an annular passage between the engine and outer skin which allows a gas flow from the model base to the interior of the missile body. This enables direct measurement of nozzle thrust referenced to the pressure that controls the nozzle expansion (i.e., the missile base pressure) exclusive of the missile base and skin drag. Concentricity between the engine and the missile skin was maintained by means of adjustable set screws located in the thrust mount. Pressure instrumentation was provided along the forward face of the engine and on the fore and aft sections of the force balance as a precautionary measure to enable thrust corrections in the event of an unbalance between the missile base and internal missile pressures.

215



and the second

a hanna da ka n



- (U) Engine propellant lines, coolant lines for the force balance, and instrumentation lines were routed to the model assembly along the strut and enclosed by aerodynamic fairings. Propellants and coolant were supplied through rigid tubing which was free floating through a right angle turn down to a fixed cantilever point well within the support strut. This cantilever point was located such that undesirable tare forces on the balance system were negligible.
- (U) As shown in Fig. 114, peroxide was supplied through four descrete feed lines to the primary annular catalyst pack from a toroidal distribution manifold located on the aft section of the force balance. A fifth feed line supplied propellant to the central secondary catalyst pack. Drilled passages in the shell separating the annular and central catalyst packs allowed communication between primary and secondary supply systems after peroxide decomposition. A facility flow schematic for these tests is shown in Fig. 115 .
- (U) Pressure orifice and thermocouple locations on the H_2O_2 engine and model are shown in Fig. 116. Steady-state pressures were measured with differential pressure transducers located in the tunnel plenum and referenced to test section wall static pressure. The rocket engine chamber pressure and injection pressures were measured with model-mounted, absolute strain-gage-type transducers. The total H_2O_2 flow rate (primary + secondary) was measured with a turbine-type flowmeter located outside the tunnel shell. A thermocouple located in the H_2O_2 supply line just upstream of the flowmeter was used to correct the measured volume flow for the H_2O_2 density. A bench calibration of the secondary flow discharge orifice was used to calculate the secondary flow rate.

218




(U) Test Procedure. The test program was designed to systematically cover the range of conditions indicated in Fig. 103. The "as tested" operating parameters are plotted along with the data of Fig. 103 in Fig. 117. As indicated, both the transonic and supersonic facilities at AEDC were used to cover the desired range of operating conditions. It can be seen that, although the testing was conducted over repeated increments in chamber pressure ratio, most of the data points were taken at conditions which closely approximate those along the trajectories in Fig. 103.

UNCLEGENTION

(U) During a typical test sequence, the engine was fired after the propellant system was pressurized and the desired test conditions of Mach number and total pressure were established in the test section. The correct propellant weight flow was maintained throughout the firing by supplying the run tank with regulated nitrogen flow. The rocket engine was operated for approximately 50 seconds at each of the tunnel test conditions to allow the combustion temperature to reach equilibrium. Transient data recorders and notion picture cameras were turned on just prior to the rocket firing; steady-state data points were obtained at 5-sec. intervals throughout the fir ng in the supersonic facility, and at 3-sec. intervals in the transonic facility.

Test Results

(U) A summary of the testing conducted in each facility is indicated in Table 11. Forty tests with $\dot{W}_{g} = 0.8$ percent were conducted to evaluate alipstream effects. The remaining five tests were conducted to establish nozale performance trends with secondary flowrate. Reduced data for each test include: nozzle thrust and specific impulse efficiency based on both ambient and missile base pressure; wall pressure ratios; P_{w}/P_{c} ; average engine and missile base pressure ratios, $\overline{P}_{B_{w}}/P_{c}$; chamber and







E



missile base to ambient pressure ratios, P_c/P_{oo} and $\overline{P}_{B_v}/P_{oo}$ and secondary flowrate ratio, W_s/W_p . Data reduction was performed at AEDC using automatic digital computation equipment. The techniques utilized to obtain these parameters from the measured data are discussed in Appendix 2. Measured parameters and reduced data for each test are listed in Table 17 of Appendix 2 and Appendix 3, respectively. Engine operating characteristics established by these data in still air and in slipstream are discussed below.

(C) <u>Culescent Air</u>. As indicated in Fig. 117, extensive testing was conducted under still air conditions to quantitatively establish performance trends with altitude and secondary flowrate for reference purposes. This testing confirmed that thrust efficiency values greater than 98 percent can be achieved at design pressure ratio with a properly designed aerospike nozzle operating with secondary flow. It was also established that off design performance with 0.8 percent secondary flow remains above 94 percent down to pressure ratios of approximately 10 percent of design pressure ratio (corresponds to sea level for most engine applications; cf Fig. 102) is demonstrated by the data presented in Fig. 118. Altitude compensation is in evidence at all pressure ratios investigated down to three percent of design pressure ratio; performance of the aerospike is seen to be considerably above that of a noncompensating nozzle at all pressure ratios below 140. The noncompensating efficiency curve was determined using the standard equations for conventional nozzle performance in conjunction with the assumption that design efficiency of the conventional and aerospike nozzles ware the same. It can also be seen in FigliB that good data repeatability was obtained between the transonic and supersonic test facilities at AEDC. Decomposition efficiency was nominally 97.5 percent for these tests. The shaded symbol in Fig. 118 represents questionable efficiency data and has been excluded from the remainder of the plots presented herein.







- (C) Aerospike "open wake" performance trends with altitude can be attributed directly to the influence of ambient pressure on nozzle base and wall pressures. Average nozzle base pressure ratio, $\overline{P_{B}}/P_{c}$, with 0.6 percent secondary flow is shown as a function of chamber pressure ratio in lig.119. For this nozzle and secondary flowrate, base pressure remains constant (closed wake conditions) with decreasing ambient pressure for all pressure ratios greater than 150, which corresponds to a low point in the efficiency curve in Fig.118. Below this pressure ratio, base pressure is greater than ambient pressure for all of the conditions investigated. Thus, a positive thrust is developed across the engine base at all pressure ratios. The base threat and nozzle recompression contribution becomes substantial at low pressure ratios and results in the high nozzle efficiency indicated for the aerospike at low altitudes (Fig.118).
- (C) The recompression phenomena which causes base pressure to adjust to ambient pressure at low pressure ratios also causes the primary nozzle wall pressures to increase at very low pressure ratios as shown by the wall pressure data presented in Fig. 120. As indicated, the wall pressure trend with ambient pressure at locations near the end of the nozzle is similar to that predicted theoretically; good agreement between experiment and theory is evident for stations near the end of the nozzle. However, experimental data deviate from the predicted trend within the shrouded portion of the nozzle.
- (C) Experimental data that show performance trends with secondary flow are presented in Fig.121. It is readily seen that the addition of subscription flow is beneficial to performance at all pressure ratios.









(c)

The experimental base pressure for secondary flowrates 0, 0.8, and 1.7 percent are shown as a function of chanter pressure ratio in Fig.122. Mossle efficiency computed using the measured base pressure differential from base pressure for 0.8 percent secondary flow (refer to eq (10) of Appendix 2) is presented in Fig.123. Efficiency gains with secondary flow are again swident throughout the range of pressure ratios investigated, but computed efficiency without secondary flow is nominally one percent above the measured values (compare Fig.121). Also, computed performance for 1.7 percent secondary flow is nearly identical to that for 0.8 percent flow as compared to the substantial loss (\approx 2 percent) indicated for 1.7 percent secondary flow in Fig.121. Although no reason could be found for this discrepancy between the measured and computed magnitude of performance gain with secondary flowrate, these hot flow data do establish the expected performance trend in both cases.

(C) A comparison between the theoretical and measured nozzle efficiency is presented in Fig.124. Measured base pressure (from Fig.122) was utilized to compute the predicted performance. As indicated, good agreement exists between experiment and theory.

The efficiency trend with ascondary flow computed from the measured change in base pressure follows the predicted trend very closely as shown in Fig.125.

(C) have pressure estimated using the empirical technique developed in Ref. 2 (Fig.105, mage 206) as found to be slightly higher than that measured for 0.8 percent secondary flow in the "closed wake" and "transition" pressure ratio regimes as shown in Fig.126. A cross-over coint between measured and estimated base pressure occurs at a pressure ratio of 100. Estimated base pressures fall slightly below the measured values at pressure ratios less than 100. The percent deviation ranges from -7 percent at low pressure





ELE.

ĺ







•

ratios to +17 percent at a pressure ratio of 150 and back to +3 percent in the closed wake regime. Similar results were obtained with zero and 1.7 percent secondary flow as shown in Fig.127.

(C) External Flow. Slipstream testing was conducted over a range of Mach numbers from 0.55 to 2.2 and a range of chamber pressure ratios from 8 to 115 percent of the model design pressure ratio (PR=410). Hozzle efficiency data (referenced to the static pressure of the free stream as in eq 6 of Appendix 2) obtained under these conditions are presented as a function of the chamber pressure ratio, P_c/P_{c00} , in Fig. 128. Performance is seen to be unaffected by free stream conditions at all pressure ratios above approximately 150, which closely approximates the pressure ratio, efficiency decreases at a rate which is dependent on the free stream Mach number; performance at low pressure ratios is lowest for high (supersonic) Mach numbers.

- (C) These efficiency data are replotted as a function of percent of design pressure ratio in Fig.129. The flight trajectory data shown in Fig.101, page 201, were used to obtain the indicated nozzle efficiency limits for the most alverse flight conditions. Typical aerospike booster performance below the closed-wake pressure ratio (in still air) will lie above the shaded region and the non-compensating performance curve. For higher pressure ratios, nozzle performance is unaffected by Mach number. It can be seen that nozzle performance is only moderately reduced under typical flight conditions. Application of the data to a typical trajectory will be discussed in more detail in a later section.
- (c) The indicated decrease in performance with increasing free steam Mach number was found to result directly from a similar trend in nozzle base pressures at low pressure ratios. Engine base pressure data measured







under the aforementioned external flow conditions are indicated in Fig. 130 As shown, a closed wake condition occurs at lower pressure ratios in slipstream than in still air, and base pressure is unaffected by the presence of external flow at high pressure ratios. Also, at low pressure ratios, base pressure does not recover to the same value in slipstream as it does. in still air. The magnitude of base pressure in the open wake is seen to be a strong function of free stream Mach number, and forms the basis for the trend in pozzle efficiency indicated in Fig. 128.

- (C) Nozzle wall pressures were found to be unaffected by external flow except at Mach number 0.9 at a pressure ratio of 32 where a slight decrease occurred. These dats are presented in Fig. 131.
- (C) These efficiency and nozzle base pressure trends in slipstream are similar to those obtained through the cold-flow testing discussed previously at pressure ratios above which base pressure is constant in still air. Trends at low pressure ratios with subsonic external flow differ from those established by the cold-flow data, and were found to be the result of lower missile base pressures than those measured in the cold-flow program. The avarage pressure acting over the missile base with the hot-flow model is shown plotted against the chamber pressure ratio of the engine in Fig. 132. It is readily seen that sub-embient missile base pressures were obtained for all tests with external flow. Missile base pressure ratio decreases with increasing pressure ratio in subsonic external flow, while the opposite trend occurs with supersonic slipstream air. A reversal in this trend is observed at very low pressure ratios with free stream Mach number of 1.2, indicating a probable "opening" of the wake flow downstream of the missile basə (Fig.133) with corresponding tendency for missile base pressure to approach the free stream static prossure.
- (C) A crossplot of the curves in Fig. 132 was made to show the effect of free stream velocity, and is presented along with cold-flow data from Ref. 21 in Fig. 134. As shown, the rate of missile base pressure decrease with increasing





a.



日本の 東京の

T (

.









- (C) Mach number is approximately the same in subsonic flow as in supersonic flow in both cases. A discontinuity occurs for sonic slipstream velocity. At this free stream velocity, a reversal in trend with chamber pressure ratio also occurs except at a chamber pressure ratio of 36 ($PR/PR_{des} = 0.083$) which is felt to be an "open waks" condition at the base of the missile with the hotflow engine. The hot-flow missile base pressures fall below those obtained with the cold-flow configuration for subsonic free stream Mach numbers. This is apparently a consequence of slightly dissimilar gas properties, nozzle contours, and afterbody configurations between the hot- and cold-flow models.
- (C) The open-wake nozzle performance trends in external flow (Fig. 128, page 238) are attributable to the combined influence of the reduced missile bace shown in Fig. 134, and shock flow interaction effects. It was discussed previously that the relative influence of these effects could be distinguished by means of the normalized thrust coefficient, Φ (cf Eq. (7), page 441). If the effect of reduced missile base pressure predominates, this parameter reduces to the definition of nozzle efficiency, and the thrust coefficient data obtained in external flow correlates with that obtained in still air when plotted versus the "effective" chamber pressure ratio, P_{A}/\bar{P}_{B} . When shock flow interaction occurs the normalized thrust coefficient is higher than that obtained in still air for corresponding values of P_c/P_{B_c} , because of higher nozzle base pressure under these conditions than would be expected on the basis of P_B alone. The shock interaction effect was defined earlier as an influence on performance caused by compression waves emanating from the outer free jet boundary downstream of the impingement point (point A in Fig. 96, page 193) which are turned inward as a result of strong flow interaction. These compression waves intersect the inner free jet boundary farther upstream than if the expansion were controlled only by the missile base pressure.
- (C) Normalized thrust coefficient trends with the chamber-to-missile base pressure ratio, P_{A}/P_{B} , are shown in Fig.135. The normalized thrust coefficient is higher than that obtained in still air for $M_{CO} = 1.2$ and 1.4 at effective pressure ratios of 350 and 410 respectively. For these two tests, the norzale



base pressure was increased through relatively strong flow interaction at these effective pressure ratios as shown in Fig.136. The correlations in Figs.135 and136 indicate that the influence of reduced missile base pressure was the predominate effect in establishing nozzle performance and base pressure trends in Figs.128 and130 for all of the remaining hot-flow test conditions. The absence of flow interaction effects with subsonic external flow in the transition pressure ratio regime explains the discrepancy between bot- and cold-flow efficiency trends in this region. The correlating parameter, $\hat{\Phi}$, in Fig.135 can be used to obtain in-flight performance estimates by means of still air performance and known missile base pressure, but these estimates will be conservative because shock effects are neglected using this procedure.

(C) The results in Figs. 134 and 136 indicate that both missile base pressure and interaction effects are dependent on the physical and dynamic properties of the primary and slipstream flows, and on the missile and nozzle geometry. However, more work is needed to establish the relative influence of these parameters on missile base pressure and interaction effects. Once the nature of these effects is fully defined, a more detailed study of nozzle performance trends in external flow can be conducted. It is felt that, for the most part, these aspects can be evaluated theoretically.

APPLICATION OF TEST RESULTS

Mission Analysis

いいぞくそうというので、たちの

(c) The nozzle efficiency data discussed in the previous section is a combined function of Mach number and pressure ratio. Therefore, a typical booster trajectory must be examined to assess the overall effect on in-flight system performance. The correlations presented in Figs. 135 and 136 demonstrate that aerospike nozzle performance and base pressure trends in slipstream are identical to those in still air (except when slipstream



interaction occurs) if represented as a function of the local ambient pressure. (P_{B_V}) to the nozzle. Therefore, nozzle performance trends such as those in Fig. 128 can be established for any engine-wehicle configuration through knowledge of still air performance and missile base pressure as a function of altitude by means of the normalized thrust coefficient, $\frac{1}{2}$.

(C) For cases without interaction, nozzle performance based on the chamber-toambient pressure ratio, P_C/P_{00} can be obtained by first determining P_c/P_{B_V} . Then, engine thrust is obtained from the still air performance curve for the nozzle in question through the normalized thrust coefficient, ϕ , and the estimated value of P_C/P_{B_V} as follows:

$$F) = (F_{id_p} + P_{id_s})_{P_c} \quad \Phi$$

(C) The thrust corresponding to the true ambient pressure, P_{00} , is then obtained from:

$$\mathbf{F}_{\frac{P_{c}}{P_{\infty}}} = \mathbf{F}_{\frac{P_{c}}{P_{B_{v}}}} - \mathbf{A}_{o} \left(\mathbf{P}_{o} - \mathbf{P}_{B_{v}}\right)$$

where A_{ϕ} is the nozzle exit area. Performance corresponding to P_{co} is given by:

$$C_{T_{\infty}} = \frac{F_{P_{c}}^{P_{c}}}{(F_{id_{p}} + F_{id_{s}})} P_{c}^{P_{\infty}}$$

250

CONFIDENTIAL

 (c) For isoenergetic primary and secondary flows with equal specific heat ratios, this procedure can be abbreviated as follows:

$$C_{T_{co}} = \frac{\left(\frac{\Phi}{C_{F_{opt}}}\right)_{P_{c}}/P_{B_{v}} - \frac{\epsilon}{P_{E_{oo}}}\left(1 - \frac{P_{b_{v}}}{P_{oo}}\right)}{\left(C_{F_{opt}}\right)_{P_{c}}/P_{oo}}$$

(2)

CONTRENTIAL

- (c) As indicated by the results of this hot-flow program, the occurrence of external flow interaction effects are difficult to predict without detailed study of flow processes involved in each case. However, conservative estimates of nozzle efficiency in external flow can be obtained simply by ignoring interaction effects (both the hot-flow and cold-flow data indicate that these effects are beneficial to performance).
- (c) In order to obtain a "worst case" estimate for the magnitude of external flow influence over a typical booster mission, it was assumed that the still air expansion pharacteristics in Fig.118 (in percent of design pressure ratio), and missile base pressure trends in Fig.134 were representative of an LO_/IH_ acrospike engine with area ratio of 80 and chamber pressure of 15:0 psia. Interaction effects were assumed to be negligible. The assumed trajectory corresponds to Case II in Fig.101, page 201 (two-stage vehicle), which is reproduced in Fig.137. In order to facilitate performance computations, the nozzle efficiency in slipstream was normalized in terms of the still air nozzle performance, and plotted versus the free stream Mach numbers for various values of the percent of the nozzle design pressure ratio as shown in Fig.138. The interpolation at subsonic Mach numbers was accomplished by using the data in Fig. 134in conjunction with eq (2). These performance estimates are somewhat conservative, because in-flight missile base pressure can probably be made higher than indicated in Fig. 134 as discussed in a later section.
- (C) Application of the generalized efficiency data in Fig.138 leads to an inflight specific impulse variation as shown in Fig.139. It can be such that slipstream effects are influential only during approximately 15 percent of the total trajectory time. The overall slipstream effect is to decrease the time-integrated specific impulse by 0.17 percent.







Methods of Reducing Slipstream Effects

and the second states of the second states of the second states and the second states an

- (C) The hot- and cold-flow data discussed herein have shown that the presence of an external flow can influence aerospike nozzle performance in two ways; both are closely coupled with the gas properties and expansion characteristics of the nozzle. The first effect of slipstream results from a decrease in vehicle base pressure with increasing free stream Mach number which causes the nozzle exhaust flow to expand through higher pressure ratios than in still air. Secondly, nozzle performance is affected when strong shock interaction between slipstream and nozzle flows is such that some of the recompression waves emanating from the outer free jet boundary strike the inner free jet boundary farther upstream than for the case where the missile base pressure is the sole factor governing the nozzle expansion process.
- (C) The increased expansion caused by low missile base pressures results in lew nozzle base pressure relative to that obtained in still air with an attendant reduction in performance at low pressure ratios. This is caused by increased turning of the outer free jet boundary of the aerospike thereby reducing the effectiveness of recompression waves in the nozzle flow as "lustrated in Fig. 95, page 192. Thus, one way of increasing in-flight nozzle performance at low altitudes is to increase the pressure acting along the outer free jet boundary which controls the expansion process. Missile base pressures approaching ambient pressure result in negligitle slipstream effects. Past study has shown that the most effective means of obtaining high missile base pressure is through proper design of the missile base geometry and/or through mass addition into the base wake flow. Afterbody configurations found to result in relatively high afterbody thrust through previous investigation (e. g. Ref. 22 and illustrated in Fig. 140. Missile base pressures obtained from the circular arc boat-tail configuration (Fig. 140b) are shown in Fig. 141 compared to that

CONFICTIONAL




obtained from a simple cylindrical boat-tail similar to that tested in this program. It can be seen that substantial increases in missile base pressure are possible through proper afterbody design. The effect of mass addition into the wake flow downstream of a rearward facing step is illustrated schematically in Fig. 142, and is discussed in Ref. 23. As shown in Fig. 142 the base pressure increases markedly through the addition of a small amount of bleed flow.

日本語を見ていたのである

なないとないてないのでないないとないのないであるとう

(C) Results obtained to date have shown that when flow interaction does change the intrinsic operation of the nozzle, the overall effect is an increase in base pressure over that obtained without flow interaction as shown in Fig. 136 . To show the nature of interaction effects, the average curve through the missile base pressure data in Fig. 132, page 243, is shown along with nozzle base pressure data from Fig. 136, page 249, in Fig. 143. The nozzle base pressure tends to follow changes in the free stream static pressure in the "open-wake regime just as in still air (also shown by the date in Fig. 130). In slipstream, communication between the nozzle flow field and free stream conditions is achieved directly through the missile bese pressure as shown by the majority of this data, and through flow interaction ($M_{00} = 1.2, 1.4$) at chamber-to-missile base pressure ratios of 300 and 410, respectively. However, only the portion of the outer free jet boundary of the nozzle downstream of the point of flow impingement (point A in Fig. 95, page 192) is influenced by P_{co} in the latter case. Therefore, the base pressure increase is not as pronounced as it is for the corresponding case in still air.

258





CONTINENTIAL

(c) Reducing the portion of the nozzle free jst boundary exposed to the relatively low missile base pressure as shown in Fig. 144 b will alleviate this situation. Altering the afterbody design in this manner will allow the free stream static pressure to act over nearly the entire free jet bourdary, and nozzle base pressure will recover to this pressure rather than the missile base pressure, just as in still air. Consequently, nozzle performance in slipstream will be similar to that in still air. Actually, if compression waves in the nozzle flow are turned inward by the interaction process as illustrated in Fig.96, performance obtained in external flow may be slightly higher than that obtained in still air at low pressure ratios. This apparently was the case in the cold-flow program where relatively high missile base pressures combined with flow interaction resulted in an increase in efficiency with subsonic external flow. Since the missile base pressure is no longer the predominate influence for small base areas, the correlation presented in Figs.135 and 136 will not represent a true indication of the expansion process. Of course, this afterbody design will also be beneficial to vehicle base drag characteristics, since the area subjected to sub-ambient pressure is minimized.

A recent paper (Ref.24) presented results of an experimental study of the performance of low angle plug nozzle performance in slipstream. The same interaction effects discussed herein were observed and the use of a slender bass lip improved performance considerably.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

(c) Analysis of the data presented herein leads to several conclusions regarding aerospike performance in still air and with external flow. These are the following:

261



1) Still air periormance of a properly designed asrospike thrust chamber is approximately 98 percent of ideal at design pressure ratio under the conditions tested in this program. Altitude compensation is obtained at all pressure ratios.

和影响出出开始。

- e) The addition of secondary flow is beneficial to performance at all pressure ratios. Optimum secondary flow is between 0.8 and 1.7 percent of the primary flow for the conditions tested.
- b) Excellent agreement between predicted and experimental performance was obtained for all pressure ratios greater than 32.
- 2) Aerospike performance is unaffected by external flow in the closed wake pressive ratio region. In the open wake region, performance and base you use of configurations similar to that tested in this program decrease at a rate which is Mach number and pressure ratio dependent. Similar results are obtained through cold-flow testing except when flow interaction influences performance.
 - a) For cases without flow interaction, both not- and coldflow nozzle performance and base pressure data tend to correlate with the chamber-to-missile base pressure ratio. This indicates that the missile base pressure, in most cases, controls the nozzle expansion and can be used to form the basis for concervative in-flight performance estimates.
 - b) Hot- and cold-flow guassile base pressure and interaction effects differ indicating an influence of nozzle gas properties on slipstream effects.

263 CONFIDENTIAL

ş

- External flow effects integrated over a typical mission are small and can be further reduced by proper afterbody design.
 - a) Conservative performance estimates based on the missile base pressure data presented herein indicate that time integrated specific impulse (T) is reduced by 0.17 percent because of the influence of external flow.
 - b) Missile base pressure can be increased substantially through boat-tailing (Fig. 141) and/or mass addition to the base wake (Fig. 142) thereby increasing performance in external flow.
 - c) Communication with free stream static pressure can be induced at all altitudes by causing flow interaction for all conditions through minimization of vehicle base area. Nozzle performance under these conditions will be similar to that obtained in still air at low pressure ratios.
- (c) Based on these results, it can be seen that external flow effects are small even under sovere conditions, and can be reduced still further by proper afterbody design. Further analytical studies can be conducted to theoretically determine missile base pressure trends with the following: primary nozzle geometry, gas properties and flow conditions of the primary flowfield, missile afterbody geometry, and external flow conditions. These studies should also attempt to establish the nature of external and nozzle flow interaction effects, and the conditions under which these effects influence performance. The results of these studies should be used to devise methods of reducing adverse slipstream effects incurred because of sub-ambient missile base pressure, and to quantitati .mine various meens of using flow interaction effects to advantage. Env ental testing should be conducted to verify the results of the analytical study.

SECTION V

AEROSPIKE LIQUID INJECTION THRUST VECTOR CONTROL INVESTIGATION

INTRODUCTION

いたいではないので、「ないないないないない」で、ないないで、

(U) Recent advances in rocket engine technology have resulted in a need for increased study of means for providing directional thrust control for future generation rocket vehicles. Secondary injection of fluids into the engine exhaust streams has proven to be an effective and efficient method of thrust vector control (TVC) in several present applications; and cold-flow testing, complemented by analytical engine system studies, has shown that this is also a competitive TVC technique for advanced aerospike engines. One of the objective of the Advanced Aerodynamic Spike Configurations Program (AFO4(611)-9948) was to supplement current aerospike TVC technology by providing sufficient hot-flow liquid injection thrust vector control (LITVC) test data to establish design criteria and enable quantitative performance evaluations for future high-thrust aerospike engines.

(C) A test program was formulated so that this TVC technique could be studied using a modified version of the storable propellant ($N_0O_A/UDNH-N_2H_4$, 50-50) aerospike thrust chamber tested previously in this program. Chamber pressure selected for the TVC testing was 200 psia with an attendant thrust level of approximately 5600 pounds at vacuum. Area ratio of the aerospike nozzle was 25:1, and the axial length was 25 percent of the axial length of a 15-degree conical nozzle with equivalent area ratio. Injection of the TVC flow was effected through orifices located in uncooled contoured flow rings which comprised the aft section of the nozzle. Testing was conducted in an altitude facility at Arnold Engineering Development Center (AEDC), J2 cell. A typical test configuration is illustrated along with the flow field accompanying liquid N₂O₄ injection into aerospike mainstream gases in Fig.145 . The previous SITVC analytical and test results leading to the selection of test configurations are described in the following sections, along with the TVC performance trends that were established through this testing.

265



•

SUMMARY

- (U) Thirty-three firings of 6 second's duration were conducted at altitude to establish engine performance without TVC, and to determine LITVC performance trends with variations in the injection parameters. Five sea level checkout tests of from 1/2 to 5 second's durations were conducted at Rocketdyne prior to the altitude testing. Measured thrust efficiency of the engine was 95.1 percent for $\hat{\mathbf{W}}/\hat{\mathbf{W}}_{p} = 0$ and 95.2 percent for $\hat{\mathbf{W}}/\hat{\mathbf{W}}_{p} = 0.017$. Combustion efficiency (γ_{C*}) was nominally 89 percent throughout the program. The measured nozzle thrust efficiency without secondary flow was 0.8 percent greater than that estimated theoretically. Escause of its magnitude, this discrepancy was attributed to effects such as downstream burning which may result from the relatively low combustion efficiency, and which cannot be accounted for theoretically.
- (C) The semi-empirical blast-wave theory of kef. 1 was utilized in conjunction with experimental data from various sources to provide a basis for selection of SITVC test configurations. Testing of these configurations established that measured LITVC side-force efficiency trends with an aerospike are similar to those expected on the basis of preliminary analysis: injection near the throat provides higher side-force efficiency than injection near the nozzle exit, multiple-port injectors are superior to single-port designs, port spacing and axial port inclination have no influence on LITVC performance in the range tested near the nozzle exit, and parallel stream injection affords higher performance than radial stream injection at both locations studied. Control moment and nozzle specific impulse efficiency trends were found to be dependent upon the engine-vehicle geometric relationship. These efficiencies followed trends established by the side-force efficiency for boost vehicles ($r_e/h = 0.25$), but in some cases optimized differently for upper-stage configurations ($r_e/h = 1.0$).

- (C) Comparison of the side-thrust efficiency TVC data obtained in this program with that obtained from other nozzles revealed that LITVC performance with an aerospike is equal to or less than with other nozzles, because of the relatively short length of the aerospike. The level of side thrust efficiency for N₂O₄ injection established through this testing was also found to be lower than that estimated using the blast wave analysis in conjunction with an empirical coefficient obtained for gas injection into flow over a flat plate. It was necessary to revise this coefficient to obtain quantitative agreement between theory and experiment for the configuration tested. Application of the test data to full-scale engine systems showed that liquid injection may be competitive with gas injection under certain conditions. In general, fuel injection provides higher in-flight engine specific impulse efficiency but lower density impulse than oxidizer injection if vaporization and reaction do not occur within the nozzle.
- (C) On the basis of these results, it is recommended that the relative merits of liquid injection TVC be investigated through comparative systems analysis using the conservative performance estimates presented herein for full-scale engines. It is also recommended that improved LITVC designs such as a bipropellant injection technique be studied, and that the performance and operating characteristics of attractive systems be evaluated through largescale environmental hot-flow testing.

THRUST VECTOR CONTROL STUDY PROGRAM

Stores and

Preliminary Analysis and Design Studies

(C) The design of the engine utilized for the TVC testing was basically identical to that of the 12-percent length engine tested previously in this program. Modification to the previous test hardware consisted of: an increase in

length from 12 to 25 percent of the length of an equivalent area ratio ($\epsilon = 25$) 15-degree conical nozzl: to accommodate the liquid injection orifices in uncooled nozzle extensions, and use of a porous base plate flush with the base exit plane for injection of secondary bleed flow. The engine was operated with N₂O₄/UDMH-N₂H₄,(50-50) propellants at a mixture ratio of 2.0 and with a chamber pressure of 200 psia. Under these conditions vacuum thrust of the engine was approximately 5600 pounds. The nozzle contour 's shown in Fig. 146.

(C) This modified engine was analyzed for constant Y expansion using the axially symmetric method of characteristics to describe the inviscid portion of the primary flow field from which the intrinsic primary thrust is determined, a boundary layer analysis to establish thrust corrections for viscosity effects, and a Bray analysis to determine thrust corrections for reaction kinetics. The total primary thrust coefficient, C_F, is derived from the summation of these contributions by the expression (Refer to Nomenclature):

$$C_{p} = \frac{F_{p}}{P_{o}A_{p}^{*}} = C_{p} - \Delta C_{p} - (1 - \gamma_{K}) C_{p}$$

where C_F is the full shifting one-dimensional ideal thrust coefficient id

at vacuum for $\epsilon = 25$. The performance contributions from these analyses for a thrust chamber mixture ratio of 2.0 are as follows:

 $c_{F_{int}} = 1.7364$ $\Delta c_{r_{D}} = 0.0245$ $\mathcal{N}_{K} = 0.9749$ $c_{F_{id_{x}}} = 1.387$

Stein Keity

¥

269 Confidentia





(U) The mostle base pressure, \tilde{P}_{B} , was obtained by means of the semicapirical techniques outlined in Ref. 2 and utilized to obtain a base thrust coefficient through the relation:

$$C_{FB} = \frac{F_B}{P_G A_p^*} = \frac{P_B}{P_G} \frac{A_B}{A_p^*} = \frac{P_B}{P_G} e_B$$

そしていまたたの

(U) Thus, the nozzle thrust coefficient at any pressure ratio is given by: $C_F = C_{F_D} + C_{F_B} - \epsilon/PR$

and the mozzle specific impulse and thrust efficiency are obtained from Eq. (1) and (2) below.

ηr _s	<u> </u>		<u>ט'</u>	р р				
	0	Foptp	(). +	Isopts Isoptp		P		(1)

$$C_{T} = \frac{C_{p}}{C_{P_{opt_{p}}} \left(1 + \frac{\eta_{C_{a}^{*}} I_{sopt_{a}} \frac{\eta_{s}}{\eta_{c_{p}^{*}} I_{sopt_{p}} \frac{\eta_{s}}{\eta_{p}}}\right)}$$
(2)

(C) The variation in kinetic efficiency with engine mixture ratio is shown in Fig.147 for 12- and 25-precent length nozzles with chamber pressure of 200 psia. A theoretical wall pressure profile for vacuum expansion is shown in Fig.148. The base pressure trend with secondary flowrate was estimated using the empirical design procedure discussed in Ref. 2 , and is shown in Fig.149. These data were used in conjunction with the theoretical primary nozzle thrust contribution to develop semiempirical nozzle performance estimates as a function of secondary flowrate. These estimates are shown in Fig. 150. Values used for η_{Cp}^{*} and η_{C}^{*} were 0.89 and 0.60, respectively, on the basis of previous testing. Reference performance data were obtained both with and without secondary flowrate which was 1.6 percent of the primary flowrate. As shown in Fig.150, this corresponds to the peak value of nozzle thrust efficiency, C_T.

> . 271 CONFIDENTIA



12.20

- 110 Hr - 11 - 12

•







CONFIDE

- (U) To establish guidelines for the TVC testing, a literature review was conducted to determine high-performing TVC injector designs and performance trends with the system variables. This preliminary study revealed that the efficiency of this TVC technique is a function of parameters such as the physical and chemical properties of the injectant, orientation and location of the injector, injection velocity and flow characteristics, etc. The secondary injectant may be an inert or reactive gas or liquid, giving rise t. complex fluid dynamics and chemical kinetic interference with the supersonic mainstream flow.
- (c) Theoretical interpretation of this flow process is desirable since it enables comparisons on a common basis, facilitates isolated study of influential parameters, and provides a basis for design selections. Because of the complex interference phenomena induced by secondary fluid injection, a rigorous solution is intractable. Nevertheless, flow visualization such as that reported in Ref. 3 and 4 have provided a basis for formulating a simplified model of fluid injection which is amenable to practical analysis. The data presented in these references indicate that the TVC flow remains essentially intact after injection, and forms an effective body downstream of the injection port which provides an obstruction to the mainstream flow (i.e., very little mixing occurs between the two streams for some distance downstream of the injection port). Based upon this result, an idealized flow model can be constructed as illustrated in Fig. 151.
- (C) A variety of approaches used in the enalysis of this flow model are reported in the general literature. Several of these have been evaluated and it has been found that, of the techniques investigated, the semi-empirical blast wave theory developed in Ref. 1 provided the most accurate representation of the flow process illustrated in Fig. 151. This theory was used to establish



qualitative liquid injection TVC performance trends with the injection parameters to select meaningful test conditions. Experimental data and results of similar analytical studies obtained from various sources were used to support the theoretical trends where necessary, and to provide the basis for design selections for parameters whose influence is not predictable by the theory (e.g., interaction losses between ports in multiport configurations).

(C) The blast wave theory is based upon the similarity that exists between the effective body formed by the injectant in the mainstream flow and a linear explosion in the plane of the wall and parallel to the mainstream, which, on detonation, supplies a uniform energy per unit length of charge to the surroundings. The energy supplied to the mainstream is derived through consideration of the work that is done on portions of the primary fluid by the secondary injectant through various thermodynamic processes, and through consideration of certain modifications required to satisfy the boundary conditions specified in the original blast wave theory of Ref. 6 and 7 (used to compute the flow field surrounding the charge). The treatment in Ref. 1 results in the following approximate expression for the interaction force induced by secondary injection through single circular ports. (Refer to Nomenclature):

$$F_{si} = G \left(\frac{4}{\pi J_{o}}\right)^{3/4} \left(k_{1}^{2} M_{\infty} s \sqrt{p_{\infty} m_{j}^{3} u_{\infty}^{3} w_{2}^{3}}\right)^{1/2} \cos \infty \qquad (3)$$

(C) A format for prediction of either liquid or gaseous SITVO data is provided by Eq. (3). Correlations presented for gas injection in Ref. 8 indicated that to obtain agreement with the experimental data, Eq. (3) must be prefixed by a spreading correction denoted by G in Eq. (3) which empirically was found to depend upon the distance between the TVC port and the nozzle exit. The form of this correction for gas injection into conical nozzles is illustrated in Fig. 152. The quantity W_2 in Eq. (3) is related to the charge energy per unit mass of



charge which is in turn related to the energy of the secondary injectant. It is pointed out in Ref. 9 that this quantity can be represented in the following manner for both gaseous and liquid injection:

こともないたである

$$u_{2} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{v_{1}}{u_{\infty}} \cos \lambda + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{v_{1}}{u_{\infty}} \right)^{2} + \frac{m_{p}/m_{1}}{(\gamma-1) H_{\infty}^{2}} \left(1 + \frac{m_{1}C_{p_{1}}}{m_{p}C_{p_{\infty}}} \right)$$
(4)

where $\mathcal{M}_{j} C_{pj}$ is the effective molar specific heat of all processes occurring (evaporation, reaction, etc.), and is defined as $\sum \Delta H/T_{\infty}$. This quantity is dependent upon factors such as: mixing efficiency of injectant and mainstream gases, injectant stay time within the nozzle, droplet formation and vaporisation. Since mixing efficiency is normally low, and injectant stay times are very short for small-scale nozzles this term has been assumed negligible in subsequent discussion relating to the short length aerospike tested in this program. Inserting Eq. (4) into Eq. (3) and rearranging results in the following expression for F_{si} ;

$$\mathbf{F}_{s1} = G\left(\frac{4k_{1}}{\pi J_{0}}\right)^{3/4} \left(\mathbf{M}_{\infty} s \sqrt{\mathbf{p}_{\infty} \ \dot{\mathbf{m}}_{j}^{3} u_{\infty}^{3}}\right)^{1/2} \left\{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\mathbf{v}_{1}}{u_{\infty}} \cos \lambda + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\mathbf{v}_{1}}{u_{\infty}}\right)^{2} + \frac{m_{p}/m_{1}}{(\mathbf{v}-1) \ \mathbf{M}_{\infty}^{2}}\right\}^{3/4} \cos \kappa$$
(5)

(C) The geometric parameters appearing in the above equation and in subsequent equations are illustrated in Fig. 153. For the aerospike engine used in this test program, the dimensionless induced force becomes:

$$\frac{F_{s1}}{F_{v}} = (0.233) e_{H}^{1/4} \cos \left(\frac{\frac{M}{2} \frac{5}{4}}{\sqrt{\omega}^{1.625}}\right) \left(\frac{s}{d_{0}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left\{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{v_{1}}{u_{\infty}} \cos x + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{v_{1}}{u_{\infty}}\right)^{2} + \frac{\frac{m_{1}}{2}}{(v_{-1}) \frac{m_{2}}{M_{\infty}}}\right\}^{3/4} \left(\frac{v_{1}}{u_{0}}\right)^{3/4} \left(\frac{v_{1}}{u_{0}}\right)^{3/4}$$



.

1.12

•

aince

$$\begin{aligned} &\mathfrak{M}_{p} = 23.7 \\ &\overline{v}_{p} = 1.25 \\ &\mathbf{e}_{n}^{\frac{1}{4}} = 2.24 \\ &\mathbf{C}_{p}^{\frac{1}{4}} = 5029 \, \mathrm{ft/sec} \, (\mathrm{MR} = 2.0, \, \mathrm{n_{C^{*}}} = 0.89) \\ &\mathbf{p} \end{aligned}$$

(C) Since liquid injection test data were not available for the aerospike nozzle prior to this program, a constant value of 0.7 (flat plate from Ref. 8 used for the empirical spreading coefficient, G . Thus, the form of the expression for the side thrust amplification factor, which is a measure of LITVC efficiency relative to main engine performance as discussed in Appendix 4, is as follows:

282

CONFIDENTIAL

$$K_{s} = I_{s_{s}}/I_{s_{e}} = \frac{(F_{g_{1}} + F_{g_{T}})/P_{v}}{\dot{W}_{TVC} / \dot{W}_{e}}$$

= (0.521) cose $(\frac{M^{1.25}}{V_{\infty}^{-1.625}})(\frac{s}{d_{e}})^{\frac{1}{2}} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} + \frac{v_{1}}{u_{\infty}} \cos \lambda + (\frac{v_{1}}{u_{\infty}})^{2} + \frac{m_{e}/m_{e}}{W_{e}} \right\}$

$$\frac{m_p/m_j}{(\gamma-1) \ \mu_{\infty}^2} \begin{cases} \sqrt{w_j} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{w_j}} \\ w_p \end{cases} + (1.105)(10^{-4}) \ v_j \sin(\infty+\lambda) \qquad (6) \end{cases}$$

where

$$P_{ar} \approx \dot{n}_i v_i \sin(\alpha + \lambda)$$

(C) For multiport injection, it was assumed that flow interaction losses between ports are small if the proper port spacing is maintained. Under this assumption, the amplification factor, K_{μ} , can be expressed as:

$$K_{g} = K_{g} = K_{g} \left[1 + 2 \sum_{k=1,3,5...}^{n} \cos\left(\frac{k-1}{2}\right) \Delta \Psi \right] \left(\frac{1}{n}\right)$$
 (7)

for odd port groupings and:

$$\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{g}} = \mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{g}} \Big|_{\mathbf{n}=1} \left[\frac{2}{\mathbf{n}} \sum_{k=2,4,6...}^{\mathbf{n}} \cos\left(\frac{k-1}{2}\right) \Delta \Psi \right]$$
(8)

for even port groupings.

(C) It is demonstrated by Eq. (6, 7, and 8) that the performance of liquid injection TVC systems is sensitive to a wide range of operating variables. These variables include: injection flowrate and velocity, injector location, where of ports and port spacing, axial and radial port inclination, and injectant properties. The influence of injection flowrate and velocity is illustrated graphically in Fig. 154 for upstream injection through a single port located near the nozzle throat. The TVC flowrate is seen to have a strong influence upon the efficiency of this secondary injection system;



performance decreases sharply with increasing flowrate for all injection velocities. Performance is a weaker function of the injection velocity, and, since $(v_j/u_{\infty})^2 \ll 1$, K_s increases almost linearly with increasing velocity. However, a large expenditure in system pressure drop is required to achieve a relatively small gain in efficiency as shown by the data in Fig. 155.

(C) At first glance it would appear that the best simulation of a full-scale, high-chamber-pressure engine would be to test with an injection velocity and pressure drop compatible with the large engine operating conditions; e.g., $v_j = 300$ ft/sec and $\Delta p = 1800$ psia. However, this requires abnormally small TVC orifices for the weight flowrates of the small-scale test configuration. From previous testing with this type of configuration (Ref. 11) it has been shown that very low performance may be encountered because of breakup and atomization of the injectant stream at the injection port (experience to date indicates that the best performance is obtained with a well-collinated fluid stream at the injection orifice as discussed in Ref. 12). Thus, an injection velocity of 100 ft/sec was selected for the majority of the testing conducted in this program. This value results in an orifice Δp compatible with the engine chamber pressure as shown in Fig. 155; that is, similitude between small- en. 'arge-scale engines is maintained through the parameter P_j/P_d rather than through the absolute magnitude of the injection velocity. Since this study and various experimental data (e.g., Ref. 12 and 13) indicate that the injection velocity is an influential parameter, the test program was designed to evaluate several injection velocities over a range of TVC flowrates at two injector locations.

(C) The theoretical performance trend with flowrate at various injector locations, and with injector location for various TVC flowrates is shown in Fig. 156. Both parameters are seen to have a strong influence on performance, and the performance trend with flowrates noted earlier for constant velocity injection near the nozzle throat persists for injection near the end of the

ŝ.







nozzle. It should be pointed out that to develop these curves, it was assured that the location of the effective side force vector is at the injection port so the angle of in Eq. (6) is the wall angle at the point of injection. In reality, the effective side-force vector is located some distance downstream of the TVC port so the wall angle at the point of application of this vector is less than that at the injection port. Also, the spreading coefficient, G, was assumed to be independent from the injector location. In view of the trend established for conical nozzles (Fig. 152), some variation in the spreading coefficient with axial location can be expected for the aerospike. Thus, while the approximation that vaporization, decomposition, and reactivity influences are negligible become less valid for injector locations for upstream of the nozzle exit and offsets these latter approximations, both of these assumptions tend to exaggerate the influence of the parameter X/2. Nevertheless, the results of this and related study (e.g., the experimental and theoretical data for the Lance thrust chamber discussed in Ref. 12) do indicate that the injector location is an important performance parameter. Therefore the test configuration was designed to incorporate TVC injectors at three locations: X/L = 0.25, X/L = 0.40, and X/L = 0.7. Separate contoured TVC flow rings were used for each location.

(C) The pronounced decrease in performance with increasing flowrate indicated for single-port injection in Fig. 156 demonstrates the desirability of operating continuously in the low flowrate range. This can be accomplished by injecting the TVC flow through a number of ports, each operating over a range of relatively low flowrates. Because the pressure acting over the downstream area affected by overlapping induced shock fields is not increased significantly by overlap, care must be taken to space the TVC ports around the nozzle circumference such that these flow interaction losses are held to a minimum. Cosine losses coupled with interference effects lead to the

the type of optimization indicated in Fig.157 and discussed in detail in Ref. 12. Data for conical nozzles compiled in Ref.10 indicate that nearoptimum performance is obtained for ports radially spaced approximately 15 degrees apart around the nozzle circumference as shown in Fig.158. Assuming that interaction effects are negligible for this port spacing, theoretical LITVC performance varies with the number of ports as shown in Fig. 159, odd port groupings and as shown in Fig.100 for even port groupings. Substantial performance increases are realized by increasing the number of ports from one to five (or six), which is near optimum for ports spaced 15 degrees apart.

いた。このではない

Conference and the second second second second

- (C) Identical results are obtained for both odd and even port groupings, so odd groupings were arbitrarily chosen for evaluation in this program. Because spreading and interaction losses are dependent upon the injector location, provision was made to test three- and five-port configurations at each of the three selected injector locations. The ports were spaced 15 degrees apart in all cases. A single port configuration was incorporated into a flow ring at $\times/2 = 0.25$ to provide reference data. A three-port configuration with 30 degrees between ports was included in the flow ring at $\times/2 = 0.7$ to allow evaluation of flow interference effects at this location. The nominal flowrate selected for this testing was 8 percent for n = 1 and 3, and 13 percent for n = 5. Provisions were also made to confirm the theoretical performance trend with flowrate at constant velocity by testing various port sizes at $\times/2 = 0.25$ with the flowrates indicated in Fig. 159 and with flowrates of 4 and 8 percent (n = 3) and 7 and 13 percent (n = 5) at $\times/2 = 0.4$.
- (C) For the nominal injection velocity of 100 ft/sec selected for the majority of this testing, it was found theoretically (Eq. 6) that the effect of the injector axial inclination is nearly negligible as shown in Fig. 161. Similar results have been obtained experimentally for moderate variations in

CONFIDENTIAL

289










المتحديقين لأورا ويكف محاد

 λ as shown by the data from Ref. 10 presented in Fig. 162. Thus, this parameter was not emphasized in this program. An exial inclination of 45 degrees measured with respect to the contour as shown in Fig.153 was chosen as the nominal value to prolong the injectant stay time within the nozzle. To verify the indicated trend for the aerospike, three and five port configurations with an axial inclination of 60 degrees were provided at $\times /2 = 0.4$ and $\times /2 = 0.7$.

(C) Because of the variable influence of flow interference effects with multiport injection and asymmetric flow field surrounding radially inclined ports, the effect of the radial inclination of ports is not predictable theoretically. However, experimental data such as those presented in Fig. 163 (from Ref. 13) indicate that this may be an influential parameter for certain configurations. As indicated in the figure, injecting the flow through parallel ports resulted in a performance loss as compared with radial injection. This can be attributed to an unfavorable spread of the pressure field surrounding the parallel injectors in a conical nozzle which increases cosine losses to a point where they more than offset the gain in side thrust produced by the increased injection momentum in the lateral direction. Because of a reversal in nozzle geometry, including the ports in an aerospike such that all of the TVC flow streams are parallel or convergent may tend to concentrate the pressure field in a more favorable manner if the ports are spaced far enough apart to avoid severe interaction losses. Therefore, capability was incorporated into the LITVC system design to test parallel stream injectors at each of the three selected injector locations with 8 and 13 percent flow for n = 3 and n = 5 respectively. Additionally, capability for testing a parallel stream injector with 4 percent (n = 3) and 6 (n = 3)5) percent flow and a converging stream injector with 8 (n = 3) and 13 (n = 5) percent flow was included at $\times 12 = 0.25$. All of the remaining parameters were investigated with radial injection orifices.

> 295 COMFINENTIAL

ないいわれたいとうたいたいのかの





- (C) Fast testing with various nozzles has shown that, in addition to the injector and flow characteristics discussed above, injectant properties event a strong influence on the performance of the TVC systems. Parametric studies conducted in conjunction with the Lance engine optimization study (Ref. 16) indicate that side force tends to correlate with the volume flowrate of injectant for systems with equal pressure drop as shown in Fig. 164. This correlation, if valid for the aerospike, results in the LITVC performance comparison between N_2O_4 and UDMH-N_H₄ (50-50) shown in Fig. 165a. The accompanying data in Fig. 165b represent the trend estimated theoretically by using Eq. (6) and neglecting the energy release caused by vaporization, decomposition, and reaction. The estimated influence of injectant properties is weaker using the latter method, but the trend is the same in both cases. In view of the apparent performance advantage of UDMH-N₂H₄ (50-50) as an injectant with the injector designs selected at $\pi/L = 0.25$ and $\pi/L = 0.4$.
- (C) Nozzle recompression at low altitudes strongly affects the undisturbed nozzle pressure profile indicating that the ambient pressure may have a strong influence on LITVC performance at low pressure ratios. Therefore, provisions were incorporated into the test program to study this influence by testing at low altitudes with the flow ring at $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} = 0.4$.
- (U) To summarize, the engine was designed to enable experimental study of: (1) constart-velocity flowrate variation, and radial, parellel and convergent stream injection with three-and five-port configurations at $\alpha/L = 0.25$, and single port injection at $\alpha/L = 0.25$; (2) constant-velocity flowrate variation, radial and parallel stream injection and variable axial inclination with three-and five-port configurations at $\alpha/L = 0.4$; (3) radial and parallel stream injection and variable axial inclination for three- and

298 CONFIDENTIAL



- こう、うくたいとうないないないというというないないない

¢



five-port configurations along with variable port spacing for a three-port configuration at $\chi/R=$ 0.7. TWC flow rings designed to incorporate these features are illustrated schematically in Figs. 166 and 167. It is readily seen from the selected designs that the intent of the program was to determine the varameters which exert the strongest influence on LITVC performance with an aerospike and to establish the relative magnitude of this influence, rather than to optimize each of the many variables for one particular test configuration.

Test Program

- (U) <u>Hardware Description</u>. The aerospike thrust chamber tested in the TVC phase of the Advanced Aerodynamic Spike Configuration Program is shown in Fig. 168. The TVC hardware assembly is identical to the 12-percent length nozzle tested previously in the program with the exception that a new inner throat and nozzle section with liquid injection thrust vector control capability was utilized. The inner contour is 25 percent of the axial length of an equivalent 15-degree conical nozzle with an area ratio of 25. Secondary gas is supplied from a gas generator mounted directly within the center of the inner nozzle. The secondary gas is diffused through a porous base plate mounted at the nozzle exit. Fluid systems consist of the primary propellant $(H_2O_4/UDNH-N_2H_4, 50-50)$, secondary propellant $(N_2O_4/UDNH-N_2H_4, 50-50)$, TVC fluid $(H_2O_4$ and UDNH-N_2H_4, 50-50),
- (U) The thrust chamber contains the following basic components: the injector, a removable water cooled combustion chamber, a water cooled throat and inner nozzle section, and removable uncooled nozzle extensions which contain the TVC injection orifices. Each of these components, except for the nozzle extensions, was discussed in detail previously, but is reviewed below to show the relationship between the hardware assemblies.

301 CONFIDENTIAL This page is Unclassified



Pigure 166. Test Configurations at x/2 = 0.25 302 CONFIDENTIAL









- (U) The stainless ateel injector face (Fig.169) contains three propellant injectant rings, the center ring (stainless steel) has the oxidizer orifices and is bounded on each side by fuel rings (copper). A like-on-like doublet orifice pattern is used. Distribution manifolds behind the injector rings and machined into the body and are fed through a series of drilled holes from the primary canifolds. The injector is divided into thirteen equal compartments by uncooled copper baffles brazed to the injector face.
- (U) The water cooled casings and throat assemblies are constructed entirely of oxygen-free, high-conductivity copper. Coolan⁺ water enters the thrust chamber assembly through p⁻ is in the injector body. Four water inlets and four water outlets are provided for both the inner and outer sections of the chamber; each section having independent cooling circuits. The straight inner and outer chamber pieces have eight water manifolds at either end between 5/16inch axially drilled coolant holes. The cooling circuit in each throat piece consists of eight drilled manifolds (four inlets and four outlets) from which a series of smaller holes lead into circuiferential passaps. Water enters these small holes from the four manifolds, passes circuiferentially along a 45-degree arc, and is discharged through adjacent outlet holes.
- (U) A gas generator, designed to operate on the same propellants as the main chamber, supplies the secondary flow to the base region of the nozzle. It is designed to operate uncooled at a maximum steady-state temperature of apploximately 1800 F, based upon hardware (347 CHES) limitations. The lowflow injector, which supplies secondary flow in the range from 1 to 2 percent of the primary flow, was used for the TVC testing. The injector flow pattern consists of four fuel streams impinging on one oxidizer stream. The porous plate base configuration is shown in Fig. 170.





- (U) The uncooled portion of the nozzle is made up of three in-line removable stainless steel flow rings, two of which (Fig.168) contain TVC injection orifices in all four quandrants. The TVC flow is supplied to short circumferential manifolds in each quadrant though discrete feed lines (eight in all) so that the operation of one quadrant is independent from the other three. The manifolds serve as a common plenum for the drilled injection crifices in each quadrant.
- (U) A total of six flow rings, two for each injection location, was fabricated. The second flow ring at each location was used to serve as a backup in the event of hardware damage, and to provide a means of extending the range of parametric variation if necessary. Both rings at $\times/l = 0.25$ contain injection orifices in each quadrant. At each of the other locations, $\times/l = 0.4$ and 0.7, one blank ring and one ring with TVC injection orifices was employed. The injection orifice pattern in each operational flow ring is illustrated in Fig. 166 and 167.
- (U) As shown in these figures, most of the configurations contain five injection orifices in each quadrant and make up the five-port geometries discussed previously. During the testing, the ports indicated by the darkened symbols in these figures, were plugged with steel pins to provide three-port configurations. The assemblies that were used in the TVC testing at AEDC are shown in Fig. 171, and 172. Note that by providing the passages in the blank ring at $x/\ell = 0.4$ through to the flow ring at $x/\ell = 0.7$, this piece becomes an integral part of the system design. This procedure is advantageous since it simplifies the propellant feed system to the flow rings at $x/\ell = 0.4$ and 0.7 (both rings are supplied with TVC flow through the same feed lines); however, it also required that the operational rings at these locations be tested separately. A typical set of flow rings used in this testing (BE series) is shown in Fig. 173.



.





à.

(U) The thrust chamber was instrumented to provide information regarding primary and secondary chamber pressure, primary wall pressure, secondary cavity pressure, primary and secondary injection pressures, and secondary chamber temperature. The approximate location of this instrumentation is shown in Fig. 174 through 177. Facility instrumentation provided: force, weight flow, tank pressure, propollant line temperature, water temperature and cell pressure data. Approximate ranges for these parameters are indicated in Table 19 of Appendix 4.

いたいないというというないないないないたちのである

- (U) Test Procedure. TWC testing was conducted at design pressure ratio for this nozzle (PR*290) in an altitude chamber (J-2 cell) at the Rocket Test Facility, AEDC. The operational characteristics of this facility are discussed in Ref. 20. A six-component load cell arrangement was used to monitor the forces and moments induced by secondary injection during each test. The engine mounting assembly is illustrated schematically in Fig. 178, and a photo of the test installation is shown in Fig. 179. Only the flow-ring quadrants situated in the yaw plane were tested in any given "air-on" (test) period. The fices were hen plugged (during the "air-on" period whenever possible) and these quadrants in the yaw plane were retested to evaluate the three port geometries. After the quadrants initially in the yaw plane were tested, both flow rings were rotated through an angle of 90 degrees and retested to evaluate the parameters contained in the remaining two quadrants.
- (U) During each test, the engine was initially operated for 3-1/2 seconds without TVC flow to establish reference data for each parameter. Nitrogen tetroxide was injected for thrust vector control during the last 2-1/2 seconds of each firing. Nitrogen purges were used to clear all propellant lines. Primary oxidizer and fuel purges were operative continuously prior to ignition and ceme on immediately at engine shutdown. Secondary purges were on







Contraction of the







prior to each run sequence, and were performed manually at the conclusion of the firing. A typical run sequence is illustrated in Fig. 180, and the facility flow system used for this testing is shown in Figs. 181 and 182.

(U) The planned altitude test schedule is shown in Table 12. Provisions to supply TVC flow to two quadrants during each test were incorporated into the plumbing system, and it was originally planned to test both TVC quadrants during 10-second firings as indicated in the table. However, after the program was initiated, it was found more desirable to shorten the test duration to 6 seconds, and test only one TVC quadrant in each firing. Hardware difficulties encountered during the checkout testing at Rocketdyne caused a denay in the program, so several of the originally planned tests were not conducted. Only the data in Table 12 denoted by an asterisk were obtained in the resulting abbreviated program.

Test Results

(U) Thirty-three firings were conducted over a series of five test periods. Performance and thrust vector control data from these firings are presented in Tables 13 and 14 respectively. A sea level data point (5-second duration test) obtained in the checkout testing conducted at Rocketdyne is included in Table 13. Four additional short-duration (two at 0.5 seconds and two at 1.5 seconds) checkout tests were conducted at Rocketdyne; however, performance data were not obtained and these tests are not tabulated. The measurements indicated in Table 19, Appendix 4 were used to compute reference nozzle performance without TVC, side forces and total control moments generated during TVC operation, and nozzle wall and base pressure profiles for each test. The meth. Is by which these parameters were determined from the measured data obtained in this test program are discussed in Appendix 4.

NOTE: Propellant Flow Times Refer to Full Injection Pressure and not to Valve Openizgs.

λ.

.....

i.

** ****







								INTIAL	1		
Vacuum Perilod	Firing	Ring	Quadra	nt	T Flow perce	VC rate, ent W _p	TVC Flowrats 1b/asc	TVC Velocity f'i/sec	TVC Cop Process 1b/in		
La.	1 2 3 4 5	D1 A1	- CHECKOUT TEST D1 2 13.33* 4 8.00* A1 2 20.00* 4 6.67*				2.67 1.60 4.00 1.33	106 105 105 110	239 233 234 263		
7P	6 7 8 9 10 11	D2 A2	2 4 2 4 4 2,	4	8 8 12 4 5 11.68*,	.00# .00# .00# .00* .65* 4.13	1.60 1.60 2.40 0.60 1.13 2.34, 0.83	106 105 105 110 156 107, 108	239 233 234 263 559 249		
2 a	12 13		1, 3,	3 1	12.63* 13.30*	14.20 * 16:10*	2.53, 2.84 2.66, 3.22	100, 113 106, 109	252 233		
2b	14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21	D2 A2 D2 -	1, 3, 3, 3, 1	3 1 1 1 -	7.58* 7.98* 3.99* 5.65* 11.27* 11.31*	8.51* 16.10* 8.10* 11.40*	1.52, 1.71 1.60, 3.22 0.80, 1.62 1.13, 2.28 2.26, - 2.27	100, 113 106, 109 53, 55 75, 77 150, - 170	252 233 52 114 495 1000		
2c	22		REMOVE B	ASE	PLATE	-	-	~			
3a	23 24 25	- B1 C1	4	2	7.05,	- 13.29 14.20		108, 101	207		
36	26 27 28 29 30 31 32	B2 C2	1 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	2222222	4.23, 3.79, 3.79, 3.79, 3.79, 2.68, 5.35	7.98 8.52 8.52 8.52 8.52 8.52 6.04 12.03	0.85, 1.56 0.76, 1.71 0.76, 1.71 0.76, 1.71 0.76, 1.71 0.76, 1.71 0.54, 1.21 1.08, 2.42	108, 101 98, 101 98, 101 98, 101 98, 101 69, 72 139, 143	207 215 215 215 215 215 215 105 439		
4a	33 34 35 36 37	B1 C1	3 1 1 1 1	1	13.93* 3.85, 5.45, 10.90, 13.22*	7.70*	2.79, 1.54 0.77, - 1.09, - 2.18, - 2.65, 270	$ \begin{array}{c} 111, 103 \\ 57, - \\ 73, - \\ 146, - \\ 108, 107 \end{array} $	243 61 115 503 227		
45	38 39	B2 C2	33	1 1	8.35, 7.94,	7.70 8.06	1.68, 1.54 1.59, 1.62	111, 103 108, 107	243 227		
5	40 41 42 43 44 45	A2 C2	4 4 4 4 4 4	2 1 2 2 2 2 2	2.58, 3.65, 2.58, 2.37, 1.68, 3.34,	7.30 7.30 5.34 3.78 7.55	0.52, 1.46 0.74, - 0.52, 1.46 0.48, 1.07 0.34, 0.76 0.68, 1.51	$\begin{array}{c} 107, \ 108\\ 156, \ -\\ 107, \ 108\\ 98, \ 101\\ 69, \ 72\\ 139, \ 143\end{array}$	149 549 149 134 66 274		
6	46 47 48 49	A2 C2	3 3 3 3 3	1 1 1	4.99, 3.53, 7.04, 4.96,	10.07 7.12 5.05	1.00, 2.01 0.71, 1.43 1.41, - 0.99 1.01	106, 109 75, 77 150, - 108, 107	146 71 310 142		

.

·

.

.

. .

• ...

.

•

1					1	
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	······································	Autofant	
ity eu	Pressure 1b/in ²	Mixture Ratio	W _S /W _p percent	Number of Ports	Pressure, psia	Duration, seconds
;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;	239 233 234 263	1,8	* 1.5	5	0.65	6
106	239 233 234 263 559 249	1.6		3		10
113 109	252 233	1.8	1.5	5 5,3	0.65	10
113 109 55 77	252 233 52 114 495 1000 -		1.5 0# 1.5*	3		6
•	-		1.5 0	-		
101 101	207 215	1.8	1,5	5	0.65	10
101 101 101 101 101 72 143	207 215 215 215 215 215 105 439			3	7.27 4.85 3.64 .65	
103	243 61 115 503 227	1.8	1.5	5, 1 1 5	0,65	10
103 107	243 227			3, 1 3		
108 108 101 72 143	149 349 149 134 66 274	1.8 2.0 1.8	1.5	3	0,65	10
109 77 107	146 71 310 142	1.8	1.5	3	0.65	10
			•			

TABLE 12

PLANNED TVQ TEST SCREDULE

Note: Orly those tests marked with an asterisk were accompliahed.

325/326

<u>____</u>

TABLE 13 REFERENCE PERFORMANCE DATA AT Pa = 0.7 paid

Teat	4	.*	5 °	ŧ۴.	7 _{1C*}	η_{c^*}	$\eta_{r_{s}}$	$\eta_{\mathrm{I}_{\mathfrak{s}_{\mathrm{top}}}}$	c ¹	c _r top
\$ <u>1</u>	15.750	23.6	· 1	5104	l	0.897	0.835	0.636	0.532	225*0
1072	15.407	24.1	1	4999	1	0.891	0.846	0.846	6*5°0	0.549
DO: A			2790	5003	0.650	0.892	0.544	0.840	0.546	0.942
2103			2776	5004	0.633	0.690	0.841	0.538	0.948	0.512
PC: R			2630	4978	0.625	0.885	0.840	0.837	0.553	0.955
Sona			2750	4983	0.641	0.885	0.844	0.841	0.555	0.949
30815	15.407	24.1	2712	4948	0.633	0.878	0.845	0.842	0.957	0.959
LO SI A			2822	4944	0.658	0.877	0.843	0.840	0.565	0.533
803A			2728	4963	0.636	0.83 0	0.644	0.841	0.963	0.576
60aa			2655	4943	0.619	0.876	01840	0.836	0.963	0.554
CIER			2763	4938	0.644	0.875	0.845	0.841	656.0	0.551
EBU			2120	4940	0.634	0.875	0.647	0.544	0.972	0.965
BCI2	15.825	23.4	2396	4992	0.559	0.683	0.840	0.635	0.955	0.947
BCI3			2472	5011	0.577	0.865	0.843	0.839	0.953	14.0
BCI			2499	5023	0.583	0.838	0.844	0.840	C.554	0.946
BCI5			2539	5023	0.592	0.558	0.843	0.839	0.953	0.545
BC16			2562	500	0.597	0.586	0.641	0.637	0.953	0.545
BC17			1	5027	1	0.839	0.847	0.847	0.953	0.953
BC18	÷		2569	5028	0.599	0.289	0.843	0.639	0.952	
6102	15.999	23.2	2741	5014	0.637	0.885	0.839	0.636	0.951	0.945
2 日			3178	5053	0.738	0.893	0.846	0.843	0.549	0.944
			3113	5059	0.723	0.892	0.844	0.842	0.949	0.944

327 Confidential *Performance corrected for heat loss **Rocketdyne sea level test (Performance Data Computed for Pa = 13.7 psis)

CONCERNAL

							_	-			-	-		-										1			
	I B	200.8	267,8	266.0	265.2	265.0	266.3	266.6	265.9	266.1	264.7	266.2	267.0	264.4	265.6	265.7	265.5	264.9	267.9	265.4	264.2	266.4	266.1				
	RR.	1	0	0.100	0,099	0.038	660.0	0°0	0.095	0.097	0.099	0.097	0.097	0.103	0,033	660 °O	0,130	0.101	;	0,100	0.115	0.113	0,113			i.7 pata)	
	м ^р	1.54	2.10	2.08	2.07	2.07	2.07	2.04	5. 5	2.03	2.02	2.02	2°0	1.99	1.99	1.99	1.99	1.99	1.99	1.99	1.97	1.95	1.95			r P. = 1	ł
	• ;9	19.58	19.70	20.05	20.11	20.15	20.16	20,31	20.30	20.25	20.34	20.34	20.34	20.45	20.40	20.40	20.42	20.45	80.08	20.39	20.60	20-43	20.44		•	mputed fo	
	d s	0	0	0.0162	0.0164	0.0163	0.0162	0.0165	0,0162	0,0166	0.0168	0.0165	0.0166	0.0168	0.0170	0.0170	0.0168	0.0167	0	0.0167	0.0153	0.0143	0.0145	heat loss		cce Data Co	
	L L L L	3932	5275	5335	5334	5339	5368	5414	5398	5389	5384	5415	5431	5406	5419	5420	5422	5420	5368	5412	5442	5442	5440		peat loss	Perforan	
	ູບ ຊຸ	1	1	106.9	106.2	104.5	106.3	107.6	110.1	108.5	107.3	109.7	109.1	97.3	101.7	102.5	103.4	103.8	1	103.8	102.5	110.0	109.3		ted for h ml test (vel test (
	P _c /P	14.4	281	282	28%	582 593	282	282	282	282	2 <u>7</u> 2	282	282	279	280	290 290	280 780	<u>م</u> ر	800	5 80	579	ଛୁ	83		nce corre	ne sea le	
	٩	197.2	196.9	197.5	197.7	1.701	197.4	197.4	157.4	197.6	9.701 §	197.4	197.5	195.4	196.3	196.3	196.4	196.2	1 196.1	136.1	195.6	196.2	196.0		Ferforma	*Rocketd_n	
	Test	. 1**	BAOL	BACZ	BROJ	BAO4	BAOS	BBOS	BEOT	BBOB	6021B	BAIO	BB11	12012	BC13	BC14	BC15	BCIS	BC17	BCIB	6T03	200	ED21		-	¥.	
						-	-	-				-	-		-	-	deside the second	-	-	-	-						

1 2.4

TABLE 13 (Continued)

j

;

ł.

.. .. . 328 CONFIDENTIAL

CONFIDENTIAL
TABLE 14 SITVC FERFORMANCE DATA

.

		_																		_	
TILLIAN	ж.	355.3	144.6	6-614	-181-1	459.6	113.3	357.6	- 17.1	- 31.2	437.2	645.5	344.0	- 57.2	165.3	277.3	218.3	160.5	-263.7	0.111	4 •2
ບັ	а ^р	10	6	141	8 8	60	6	82	20	55	88	ផ	128	122	116	59	7	74	117	48	011
	* > Fi	5483	5475	5460	5509	5556	5546	5533	5532	5565	5579	5561	5562	5563	5562	5570	5575	5565	5703	5670	5774
	ど	106	102	102	ß	112	102	115	109	. 157	113	8	136	118	132	8	5 <u>6</u>	108	95	35	131
	Φ	0	0	0	.0	0	٥	0	0	0	0	0	n	0	0	0	ส	0	11	0	0
	K	45	45	45	45	45	45	45	45	45	45	60	45	45	45	8	45	45	45	45	8
	¢۵	15	ጽ	15	15	15	R	15	15	1 5	15	15	15	15	72	15	15	15	15	1	15
	R	5	m	5		5	m	m	m	m	m 	5	ŝ	ŝ	ñ	n	3	m	5		5
	x/2	0.70	0.70	0.25	0.25	0.10	0.10	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.10	0.70	0.25	0•25	0.00	00	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.40
	Test	Bro2	LOVE	BAOM	EKO5	9063	LCan	BBCB		BBIO	IIBE	PC13	BC14	BCI5	BC16	E 019	周 20	ED21	BE 30	T£31	BE33

329 CONFIDENTIAL *Measured vacuum thrust (not corrected for heat loss)

・ イント したた つ た

たいまたいがないないないないないないないないであったがあるからないかいかいがく いったいない しゅうしょう たいがえ さいていた さいかいた まいかいかい そうそうな

.

.

~

				TABLE (Conti	14 Tued)			CO	FIDENTIAL
Test	∆ 7 A	N. TVC	a",⊃Vײַ	F8/F	Foc/Fv	∆F _A /F.	ΔI ₈ /I ₈	K	Å
BA02	44	2.712	0.135	0610-0	0.0055	0.0080	0.112	0-140	0.048
BAO3	22	1.651	0.082	0.0115	0.0024	0.0040	0.072	0.140	0.029
BAOA	82	4.136	0.205	0.0257	0.0084	0.0150	0.153	0.125	0.041
BACS	36	1.280	0.064	ic210.0	0.0030	0.0065	0.054	0 . 194	0.047
B 305	26	.1*693	0.033	0.0108	0.0076	0.0047	0.073	0.129	1 C.092
LOGE	- 25	1.637	0.061	0110.0	0.0019	0.0045	0.070	C.137	0.023
BB08	54	2.771	0.137	0.0148	0.0060	0.0098	0.112	601.0	C.044
BB09	52	0.838	0.041	0.0000	0.0003	0.0245	0.035	0.218	10,007
BBIO	សូរ	1.213	0.050	6600°0	0.00CG	0.0045	0.052	0.166	0000
BBII	- 43	2.745	0.135	0.0158	0.0072	1.1cv.o	0,112	111.0	0.053
BC13	44	2.608	0.128	0.0146	7010.0	0.079	0,106	\$TT.0	0.084
BC14	43	3.483	171.0	0.0230	0.0057	0.0068	0.130	0.135	0.033
BC15	39	2.965	0.145	0.0219	0.0010	0.0070	0.121	C.151	-0.01
BCI6	ଝ	3.944	0.193	6020°0	0.0031	0.0050	0.157	0.108	0.016
6T01	15	1.392	0.063	0.0106	0.0046	0.0027	C.061	0.157	C.069
ED 20	13	1.689	0.083	0.0138	0.0036	0,0023	0.074	0.167	0.043
	54	1.629	0.060	0.0133	0.0027	0.0043	0.070	0.167	0.034
EE30	29	2.40	0.116	0.0205	0.0043	0.0051	0.100	0.176	-0.037
BEJI	6	1.40	0.068	0.0085	0.0018	0.0011	: 0.063	0.125	0.026
BE33	53	3.36	0.161	0.0190	1000.0	0.0050	N. O	0.118	0,001

330 CONFIDENTIAL

١,٠

(U) Posttest inspection of the engine after the BB test series revealed that a substantial water leakage along the contour occurred during this tert series, and, to a lesser degree, during the BA test series. Therefore, the reference performance data listed in Table 13 for these tests is somewhat questionable. However, the TVC performance data for these tests are consistent with the trends established by the data obtained in subsequent testing after the water leakage along the contour was eliminated. Thus, the TVC performance data for the BA and BB test series in Table 14 are felt to be of good quality. A failure in the aft yow plane load cell which occurred during test BD22 resulted in inaccurate side and axial thrust data for firings HD22 through HD29, and therefore, data from these firings have been excluded from Tables 13 and 14. A low frequency (\approx 130 cpc) instability with peak-to-peak amplitude of enproximately 60 psia occurred during test BE32 which resulted in roderete hardware damage. Post test inspection of the hardware indicated that portions of the chamber baffles and throat region had been eroded (Fig.183). Hence, the TVC data for test BE33 (in Table 14) is also considered questionable. Reference and LITVC performance trends established by the romaining data presented in Tables 13and 14 are discussed in the following paragraphs.

にはためのかられたいないのです。

あるべき かいてい たいたいかい かっかみ かいたい 合わせる

ę

1. P. B.

(D)<u>Reference Performance</u>. Except for the sea-level firing, all of the data listed in Table 13 were obtained from a 0.5-second time slice approximately 3 seconds after the beginning of the run. Because of the shorter duration of the sea-level firing (five seconds), TVC flow was injected during the final 2 seconds of the test, and performance data were averaged over a 0.5second time interval just prior to actuation of the thrust vector control system. Time variations of critical parameters for a typical eltitude test without TVC are shown in Fig. 184. It can be seen that all performance parameters reach essentially stable values after approximately 2.5 seconds of test operation.

331





a martina da companya da co

1.1.1

.

ő

.

(C) Average thrust efficiency of the nozzle is 95.1 percent without secondary flow from Table 13. This value is 0.8 percent above the predicted nozzle efficiency without secondary flow as seen by comparison with Fig. 150 page 275. The difference could arise from any of the following factors:

- 1 Experimental inaccuracies
- 2) Primary inviscid flow field analysis
- 3) Boundary layer analysis
- 4) Rinetics analysis

いたいないのないとなって

Here which have

1

- 5) Base pressure estimate
- 6) Downstream combustion phenomena
- 7) Differences in geometry between analytical model and actual hardware
- 8) Differences in overall gas properties between the analytical model and the actual hardware
- (c) Consideration of each of these factors indicated items (7) and (8) to be the most probable causes for the difference noted.

334 CONFIDENTIAL

3

(3) A comparison of the nozzle and specific impulse efficiencies between the Rocketdyne sea level test and the AEDC altitude tests is represented in the table below. A decrease of only 2 percent in nozzle efficiency and 1 percent

TABLE 15

COMPARISON OF SEA LEVEL AND ALTITUDE PERFORMANCE, W_ = 0

Test	P_/P_a	\mathcal{N}_{c*}	$\mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{s}}}$	c _T	MR _P	P _c , psia
1	14.4	0.897	0.836	0,932	1.54	197.2
BAOL	281	0.891	0.846	0.949	2.10	196.1
.9C17	280	0.889	0.847	0.953	1.99	196.9

in specific impulse efficiency was experienced with operation between 100 percent and 5 percent of design pressure ratio. It should be noted that the mixture ratio was significantly different for the sea level test, and chemical reaction effects could be a factor causing a relatively higher nozzle efficiency for the lower mixture ratio. The results clearly show a high degree of altitude compensation was obtained.

(C) <u>LITVC Performance</u>. Liquid $N_2^{0}_4$ performance data were obtained from a 0.5second average time slice near the end of the firing after all critical parameters were essentially stabilized. Time variations of these parameters during a typical test with TVC are shown in Fig.185. As seen, these data stabilized approximately 0.5-second after signaling for the injection of TVC flow. Basic test results are presented as curves of F_s/F_v , $F_{oc}/F_{v'}$ and $\Delta F_A/F_v$ vs \dot{W}_{TVC}/\dot{W}_e in Fig.186 through 191. Each of these parameters is defined and discussed in Appendix 4. The off-center force ratio represents the dimensionless moment about the reference set of axis used to define the nozzle contour design (Fig.146 page 270).













`





(C) Side force increases with the addition of TVC flow throughout the range of flowrates tested at x/t = 0.25 as shown by the data in Fig. 186. For a given flowrate, injecting liquid N₂O₄ through multiple orifices results in higher side force than single-port injection at this location. Parallel stream injection ($\Theta = ||$.) also yields higher side force than radial stream injection ($\Theta = 0$) with five injection ports at x/t = 0.25. Similar results were obtained at x/t = 0.7 with both three- and five-port configurations as shown in Fig. 187. However, port spacing and axial inclination did not appear to influence the induced side force significantly at the latter location.

たちでは日本の日間にあるの

(C) Both positive and negative off-center forces were generated during this testing as shown by the data in Fig. 188 and 189. The trends at x/A = 0.25 imply that at low flows, the side force vector effectively acts near the injection ports, thereby producing a subtractive moment about the throat plane. As the TVC flowrate is increased this vector moves down the contour causing the throat moment to become positive. The relationship between side-force location and throat moment derived and discussed in Appendix 4 is illustrated in Fig. 192. It can be seen that to obtain additive moments, the effective side-force vector must be located along the aft portion of the nozzle. Five port injection results in lower throat plane moments than three-port injection because of a higher concentration of side force (Fig. 186) near the nozzle throat. Off-center forces are understandably slightly higher for injection near the nozzle exit (Fig. 189) simply because of the more favorable port location as shown by the curve in Fig. 192.

The exial thrust data in Fig. 190 and 191 reflect trends that are similar to those established by the side force data in Fig. 186 and 187 as would be expected if the effective TVC forces are normal to the contour. However,



because of the small magnitude of the axial thrust differences it is not possible to distinguish trends in the change in axial thrust with variations in the injection parameters.

(c) The change in nozzle wall pressure during TVC is illustrated by the data in Fig. 193. It can be seen that precsure is increased both upstream and down-stream of the TVC port, and remains above the undisturbed wall pressure for some distance downstream of the injector. The test-to-test base pressure variation noted earlier during the reference performance testing persisted throughout the TVC testing. In general, it appeared that nozzle base pressure sure remained constant or decreased slightly during liquid injection, but definite trends with the injection parameters could not be determined from the measured data.

(c) The basic data presented in Fig. 186 and 187 were used to develop side thrust amplification factors to provide LITVC efficiency comparisons for N₂O₄ injection with this aerospike nozzle. The constant velocity SITVC performance trend with flowrate established for three- and five-port injection at x/2 = 0.25 is similar to the expected trend (Fig. 159 as shown by the data in Fig. 194. Performance decreases with increasing flowrate, and five-port injection provides the highest performance in the range tested. Parallel-stream injection affords slightly higher performance than radial-stream injection for the five-port configuration, indicating that a more concentrated injection pattern such as that provided by radial streams in a conical nozzle (Fig. 163) is superior to a divergent flow pattern. The ragnitude of performance benefit is expected to be a function of factors such as: port spacing, exposed used downstream of the port, axial inclination, and injectant properties.

(C) Parallel-stream injection also affords higher side thrust efficiency than radial injection with both three- and five-port configurations at x/l=0.7





as shown in Fig. 195. However, the absolute performance level at this location is lower than at $\mathcal{A}/l=0.25$ as can be seen by comparison with the nominal performance trend for three- and five-post injection at $\mathcal{A}/l=0.25$ (from Fig. 194). The indicated performance insensitivity to the port spacing may not hold true for injection nearer the throat because interference losses are a direct function of the influenced area downstream of the injection port. That is, the parameter, $\Delta \Psi$, may optimize differently for different stations along the nozzle.

- (C) As expected, the axial inclination of the TVC ports did not significantly influence performance with the variation investigated at A/L = 0.7. Although the data for injection at A/L = 0.4 is somewhat questionable (Test BE33), the performance level established with the five-port configuration at this location is consistent with the data obtained at the other locations tested.
- (C) A parameter similar to the side thrust amplification factor was used to represent off-center thrust efficiency for the verious injection techniques. This parameter, which is termed the off-center thrust amplification factor, K_{ij} (defined and discussed in Appendix 4) is shown for W_2O_4 injection at $\partial A = 0.25$ in Fig. 196. At low flows, negative off-center thrust amplification factors were obtained because the effective side force vector is apparently located near the injection port as discussed previously. The off-center thrust amplification factor increases with flowrate throughout the range of flowrates. Except for the data points that denote variations in injection velocity, those conditions that yield high side force amplification at this location.





新設施設で

のないでは、「「「「「」」」のないでは、「「」」」というないできましたが、「」」」というないできた。そうでいていたが、「」」」」というないできた。

こうちょう などのおぼうしたいが、「いいである」のないないのであるののないので、「いいいない」

ţ

(C) Off-center thrust performance data for injection at x/L = 0.4 and x/L = 0.7are shown along with the nominal trends at x/L = 0.25 (from Fig. 196) in Fig.197. It can be seen that for locations near the end of the nozzle, the off-center thrust efficiency is higher than for injection near the nozzle throat, and tends to follow side thrust efficiency trends more closely than in the latter case. No reason could be found for the relatively low offcenter thrust efficiency displayed for the configuration with $\Delta \Psi = 30$ degrees ut x/L = 0.7 and with $\lambda = 60$ degrees at x/L = 0.4; these data points are conridered questionable in view of the performance level established by the cther data and the relationship required between side and off-center thrust indicated by the curve in Fig. 192.

- (C) To provide a basis for more meaningful comparison of injection techniques, the side and off-center thrust amplification factors in Fig.194 through 197 were combined to form a control moment performance factor, \bar{K} , which reflects the influence of both quantities. Since \bar{K} is indicative of the total control moment about the vehicle center of gravity, a geometric relationship between the engine and vehicle must be assumed to completely determine this quantity. As discussed in Appendix 4, this is accomplished by means of the parameter r_e/h where r_e is the engine radius and h is the distance from the reference gimbal plane to the vehicle center of gravity.
- (C) Results are presented for N_2O_4 injection at x/L = 0.25 and for r_e/h values of 0.25 (typical boost vehicle) and 1.0 (typical upper stage vehicle) in Fig. 198a and 198b, respectively. Overall TVC performance trends with flowrate are nearly identical to side-force efficiency trends for $r_e/h =$ 0.25, because of the relatively weak influence of the quantity, K_{y} . However, performance trends with flowrate and configuration are changed for r_e/h . 1.0 indicating that the vehicle geometry may have an influence on the selection of an LITVC injector design under certain conditions. Similar results were obtained for injection at x/L = 0.7 as shown

351

i,







CO. FIGENTIAL

by the data in Fig. 199. The nominal trends established for three- and fiveport injection at x/2 = 0.25 are included in Fig.199 for comparison. Control moment efficiency is seen to be higher when the TVC flow is injected near the nozzle throat ifr /h = 0.25, while the opposite is true ifr /h = 1.0.

(C) The moment efficiency data in Fig.193 and 199 were used in conjunction with the axial thrust data in Fig.190 and 191 to establish the change in engine specific impulse as a function of the equivalent gimbal angle, ϕ , developed during liquid injection thrust vector control. The relative change in engine specific impulse was obtained from the relation:

$$\frac{\Delta I_{a}}{I_{s}} = \frac{1 + \Delta I_{A}/F_{v}}{1 + \psi_{TVC}/\dot{u}_{s}}$$

and the equivalent gimbal angle is defined as (from Appendix 4):

$$\varphi = \arcsin \left(\frac{\tilde{W}_{TV^{n}}}{\tilde{W}_{T}}\right)$$

(C) These results are presented for N_2O_4 injection at x/L = 0.25 and x/L = 0.4, 0.7 in Fig. 200 and 201, respectively. Reference to Fig. 200 shows that engine specific impulse decreases sharply with increases in the control requirements. The rate of decrease is dependent upon the number of injection ports and the engine-vehicle similarity parameter, r/h. Five-port injection provides the highest engine performance for r/h = 0.25, while three-port injection appears to be optimum for $r_c/h = 1.0$ (at least for the port spacing utilized in this program). Engine performance during TVC for injection at x/R = 0.7is nearly identical to that obtained at x/R = 0.25 for $r_c/h = 0.25$ as shown in Fig. 201 a. However, if r/h = 1.0 the data in Fig. 201 b indicate that engine performance is higher for injection of TVC flow near the end of the nozzle than for injection near the throat.









(C) In general, these trends in engine performance during TVC are identical to those exhibited by the control moment coefficient, K, with variations in TVC flowrate ratio (or with variations in the equivalent gimbal angle since these quantities are proportional). This indicates that the TVC injector designs that result in high side force and moment efficiency will also result in high engine performance during liquid injection TVC, which is a result that is not necessarily true of gaseous injection TVC systems as shown by the data presented in Ref. 15.

Application of IJTVC Test Results

(0)

(c)

とうなきなどのためのためのための

になった。「「「「「「「」」」」」

- <u>Comparison with LITVC Performance Data for Other Nozzles</u>. Previous test programs conducted by Rocketdyne have established performance trends for liquid oxidizer injection into high area ratio bell and H-F nozzles (Ref. 14) and a low area ratio annular bell nozzle (Ref. 16). The LITVC design utilized for the high-area-ratio testing incorporated multiple, closely spaced ports that were inclined 30 degrees upstream with respect to the engine centerline. Testing was conducted over a range of axial locations and TVC flowrates with both engines. Vacuum thrust and chamber pressure of these engines were 10,000 pounds and 225 psia respectively. Propellants were $N_2O_4/DMH-N_2H_4$, 50-50 for the bell nozzle, and N_2O_4/DMH for the F-H nozzle.
- The Lince annular bell nozzle ($\epsilon = 5.6$) utilizes single-port injection at a location near the throat. The TVC flow is injected into the nozzle at an angle of ninety degrees with respect to the engine centerline. Flow modulation is accomplished by means of a variable-area pintle valve. Experimental evaluation of this LITVC design was conducted with a 90-degree segment of the full-scale Lance engine, which operates with IRFNA/UDMH propellants at a chamber pressure of approximately 900 psia. Thrust level of the segment is approximately 10,000 pounds under these conditions.

(v) Typical SITVC performance results from these programs are shown in Fig. 202 along with aerospike LITVC side-force efficiency data from Fig. 194. Since the injection ports were closely spaced in the high-area-ratic nozzles, the trends displayed for these configurations are more representative of single- than multiple-port injection as shown by the data in Ref. 10. It can be seen that the performance level of liquid injection with an aerospike nozzle is somewhat lower than with high-area-ratio bell and H-F nozzles. This can be attributed to the much chorter length of the lower area ratio aerospike nozzle (even at the same area ratio, axial length of the aerospike nozzle is only 30 percent of the bell and 60 percent of the H-F nozzles). Similar results can be expected at higher thrust levels, but if scale effects exist, they are expected to be slightly more influential with an aprospike because of its shorter length. Thrust vector control demands for the Lance engine are relatively small so testing was conducted over a limited range of low flowrates. Comparison with aerospike side force efficiency under these conditions is difficult because of the rapidly changing slope of the side force efficiency curve at low flows. However, the level of acrospike side force efficiency does appear to be consistent with that obtained with the annular bell configuration at low flows.

「日本のないです」

(C) <u>Comparison with Semi Eupirical LITVC Performance Estimates</u>. The side force efficiency data presented in Fig.194 and 195 have established performance trends with injection variables. that are in qualitative agreement with the estimated performance trends presented earlier. However, the measured performance level is lower than that estimated theoretically as shown in Fig. 203.





į.

\$

(C) To obtain agreement with the test data the spreading coefficient, G. was revised to match the single port data at x/L = 0.25 and the three port data with $\Delta \Psi = 30$ degress at x/L = 0.7 (interference effects are minimal with the latter configuration). Because it was derived from experimental data, this revised spreading coefficient, G, which is presented in Fig. 204, includes: (1) corrections for nonunifora nozzle flow similar to the coefficient for gas injection into flow over a flat plate used in previous analysis, (2) corrections for variable wall angle and spreading (cosine) losses with length, and (3) corrections for the effects of injectant vaporization and reaction. While the data in Fig. 204 applies quantitatively only to the aerospike nozzle geometry tested in this program, its use to estimate LITVU performance trends for larger engines than that tested should yield conservative results. The correlation shown in Fig. 205 indicates that once the performance level is established, correct trends with the injection parameters are predicted by the blast wave theory. The deviation in Fig 25a can be attributed to flow interference effects (which are apparently small) and/or to slight inaccuracy in the blast wave representation of the influence of the injectant flowrate (the blast wave theery indicates that $K_{g} \ll \left(\frac{W_{TVC}}{W_{s}}\right)^{-1}$ which may not be exactly true for the aerospike).

(C) <u>Comparison Between Aerospike Liquid and Gas Injection Performance</u>. Coldflow testing conducted during the Aerodynamic Nozzle Study (Ref. 15) established the like-into-like gaseous injection performance characteristics to be expected from an aerospike nozzle. Injection parameters studied include: TVC i_jection location and axial inclination, TVC flowrate and injection velocity, and the nozzle chamber to ambient pressure ratio. Area ratio of the aerospike nozzle tested was 25:1 and its length was 16 percent of a conical nozzle with equivalent area ratio and throat area. Typical results of this investigation are shown in Fig. 206. comparable LITVC data obtained for five-port 7204 injection at X/2 = 0.25.

362




La serie

11-1-

ころうちち



and an and the state of the second

* * またいたい いいとと

ş

学会に行き

فالأفكة تدمى كالأ

(c) Reference to Fig. 206n .eveals that much lower flows are required to produce the same side force if liquid NOA is replaced by a highenergy gaseous fluid. As indicated, performance trends with the injection variables are more pronounced with gaseous injection than with liquid injection; it was found in the cold-flow testing that those injector designs which provide high control moment efficiency for gas injection also result in relatively low nozzle performance at the corresponding TVC flowrate. This characteristic resulted in nearly identical nozzle performance during TVC from all of the configurations tested in the coldflow program as indicated in Fig. 206b. The nozzle performance level established by this cold-flow data (Fig. 206b) is significantly higher than that obtained with liquid $N_2^0_4$ injection, because of the lower flows needed to produce equivalent control moments. The high-area-ratio tell and H-F nozzle TVC data presented in Ref. 14 indicate that similar comparisons can be expected from hot-flow gaseous injection TVC systems.

(C) Estimated SITVC Performance For Full Scale Engines. To make a more meaningful comparison between injectants and to provide a basis for future systems analysis, the data obtained in this program were used to generate performance estimates subject to the operating requirements expected of future aerospike engine applications. Two methods were used to estimate LITVC performance to ensure that realistic efficiencies were obtained.

The first method involved direct scaling of the LITVC control moment and nozzle efficiency data obtained for five-port injection at x/f = 0.25(Fig. 198 and 200) by means of the volumetric flowrate correlation discussed earlier. With the other method, performance was estimated theoretically using the blast wave analysis and corrected for spreading losses by means of the revised spreading coefficient obtained for the aerospike nozzle tested in this program (Fig. 204). Both methods of estimating liquid injection performance should tend towards conservation since the influence of injectant vaporization and reaction is assumed

constant and is believed to be negligible for the nozzle size tested. In reality, these effects become more pronounced as the engine thrust level and size increase. Like-into-like gas injection performance was obtained through direct scaling of the cold-flow data in Fig. 204. Performance of low-energy gas injection was estimated by means of the characteristic velocity correlation discussed in Ref. 15.

(C) High- and low-energy gas injection performance was compared with that of liquid fuel and oxidizer injection for two potential aerospike booster engine applications, and an upper-stage engine system. The first of these boost applications utilizes a 1.8-million-pound thrust engine (sea level)with N₂O₄/50-50 propellants. Chamber pressure of the engine is 2000 psia, and the area ratio of the aerospike nozzle is 55. The other booster engine also operates with a chamber pressure of 2000 psia. Propellants in the latter case are IO₂/LH₂, sea-level thrust is 24 million pounds, while the area ratio of the nozzle is 78. Vacuum thrust of the upper stage engine is 250%; area ratio of the aerospike nozzle is 78. This engine operates with IO₂/LH₂ propellants at a chamber pressure of 1500 psia. Thrust vector control requirements expected of these engines are shown in Fig. 207.

(C) Results of this analysis are presented in Fig. 208 through 210. Reference to Fig.208 reveals that in-flight engine performance with liquid injection TVC is considerably lower than when gas injection is used for TVC in typical storable propellant booster engine applications. Comparison between Fig. 208a and Fig. 208b shows that similar results are obtained for both methods of LITVC performance prediction, but the influence of liquid injectant properties is more pronounced for performance data generated using the volumetric flow-rate correlation. Liquid hydrogen injection can be expected to provide in-flight performance comparable to low-energy gas injection TVC in a typical LOX/H₂ booster engine system as shown in Fig. 209. The data in Fig.210 indicate that similar results are obtained from upper-stage LOX/H₂ engines.

CONFIDENTIAL

367





Ÿ



0

. ?



(C) It can be seen that in all cases liquid fuel injection affords higher engine specific impulse efficiency than liquid oxidizer injection. However, liquid fuel injection also results in much lower density impulse than obtained with liquid oxidizer injectants. For example, the tank mixture ratio for the LOX/H, booster engine (engine MR without TVC is 6.0) with liquid fuel injection (Fig. 209) is approximately 5.6 for the mission shown in Fig207 as opposed to the more favorable mixture ratio of 6.7 if liquid oxygen is utilized for thrust vector control. A detailed systems study is required to determine the overall merits including total system weight, of each injectant. The data in Fig. 209 indicate that liquid injection with N_2O_4 or UDMH- N_2H_4 (50-50) is not competitive with practical (low energy) gaseous injection TVC systems. However, LOX/H, engine. utilizing either liquid fuel or oxidizer as the TVC injectant may be competitive since both fluids are expected to exhibit much more favorable vaporization and reaction characteristics than the N_2^0 date which was used as the basis for the above analysis.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

- (C) The performance data obtained in the hot-flow test program discussed above lead to several conclusions regarding engine efficiency and liquid injection thrust vector control with an acrospike nozzle. These conclusions are as follows:
 - 1. Measured thrust efficiency (without TWC flow) at design pressure ratio of the aerospike engine tested in this program was 95.1 percent without secondary flow and 95.2 percent with secondary flow. The measured thrust efficiency without secondary flow was 0.8 percent above the theoretical estimate. The difference is probably attributable to variations between the theoretical and actual geometries and gas properties.

Part and the second second

- 2. Test data indicate that a large degree of altitude compensation was obtained with this acrospike engine in the range from 100 to 5 rescent of design pressure ratio.
- 3. SITVC side-force efficiency trends were as expected for the most part, indicating that the effects of the injection variables can be qualitiatively determined through analysis.
 - a. Multiport injection is superior to single-port injection; five-port injection provided the highest side-force efficiency of the configurations tested.
 - b. Farallel-stream injection affords higher performance than radialstream injection. The axial port inclination did not influence performance in the range tested.
 - c. Port spacing did not influence performance at $x/\mathcal{L} = 0.7$, but the influence of this parameter is expected to be variable with axial location.
 - d. Side-force efficiency is higher if the TVC flow is injected near the throat than if injection is affected near the nozzle exit.
- 4. Control moment and nozzle performance trends with the injection variables are dependent upon the vehicle application.

373

- a. For $r_{e}/h = 0.25$, (typical boost vehicle) control moment and nozzle performance trends duplicate side force efficiency trends with variations in the injection parameters.
- b. If $r_{e}/h = 1.0$ (typical upper stage) three port injection appears to be optimum at x/L = 0.25; also, multiport injection near the nozzle exit provides higher performance than injection near the thruat.

- 5. LITVC performance with an asrospike nozzle is generally less than that obtained with other nozzles because of the relatively short length of the aerospike.
- 6. Empirical coefficients utilized in the blast wave enalysis of secondary injection flow phonomena must be revised to obtain quantitative agreement between experimental and theoretical performance for the configuration tested.
- 7. Application of the test results to typical advanced enginevehicle configurations shows that N₂O₄ liquid injection TVC systems are not competitive with

gas injection $_$ stems from the standpoint of in-flight engine performance with TVC. However, this TVC technique may be attractive for application to LC_2/LH_2 engine systems.

If the relatively low TVC performance obtained in this program is the result of negligible vaporization and reaction within the nozzle, then performance may be improved through bipropellant injection. However, since maximum injectant collimation and penetration is desirable at the injection port (Ref. 12), the second fluid (fuel or oxidizer) should be injected downstream of main port as shown in Fig. 211 to ensure that the initial structure of the injectant stream is not impaired. Injectant stay time should be increased, and mixing and atomization efficiencies should also be improved downstream of the injection port. An attractive source for the secondary TVC flow is the high-temperature, fuel-rich flow available in the form of excess turbine exhaust gases.

(C)





f.

ないとうないないないで、「ない」

(c)

The test results presented horein have established the level of SITVC performance to be expected for $\mathbb{H}_{2}O_{4}$ injection with an assospike nozzle, and have verified expectations regarding the influence of the injection parameters. While the performance of liquid N204 injection was relatively low with the engine tested, several techniques not investigated may prove attractive pending further study. Liquid UDMH/N₂H₄ (50-50) should provide higher performance in storable propellant engines, particularly if exothermic decomposition occurs within the nozzle. Both LO, and LE, are expected to yield higher performance than that obtained in this program because of their more favorable reactivity and vaporization characteristics. Bipropellant injection techniques such as that suggested above are attractive because of their potential for chemical reaction without having to rely on mixing with mainstream gases. Tertiary LITVC propellants such as perclorate solutions or hydrogen peroxide may be advantageous as indicated by the high performance shown for these fluids in Refs. 10 and 17. Gaseous injection TVC also yields relatively high performance as shown by the cold-flow data in Fig. 206 , but further work is needed to quantitatively establish the performance of low energy gas injection systems. It is therefore recommended that studies be initiated to more fully investigate these possibilities. Complete evaluation of the SITVC concepts described above would entail the following: (1) comparative systems analysis of operational engine systems that utilize all of the forms of SITVO mentioned above, (2) development and/or refinement of theoretical SITVC performance and design analysis for both liquid and geseous injection with emphasis on serospike nozzle geometry, and (3) further hot- and cold-flow experimental study or verious liquid and gaseous injectants.

JICOLA SUPPLIA

したいないいないもとろない

「日本語のないのない」

「たいたい」にない

のいたがいたのかのたけになたのです

のというののできなか

- (C) The system design studies should include evaluation of engine weights, cost, controls, and reliability as well as performance. Stress and heat transfer analysis should be performed to establish application restrictions, if any.
- (c) The theoretical studies should be conducted to establish a basis for accurately determining induced pressure profiles and side forces for fluid injection TVC. This theory should incorporate provisions to establish the influence of injectant reaction (and vaporization if the injectant is a liquid) and to determine if injectant stay time and mixing is such that reaction will occur. For liquid injection, the theoretical models used in this program could be refined as proposed in Ref. 18 and 19. The primary objective of the theoretical study should be to determine attractive injectants, both inert and reacti e, and establish performance and design criteria for their use in advanced aereepike SITVC systems.
- (U) Experimental studies should be conducted to support the theoretical analysis where necessary, and to provide required information in areas not covered by analysis.

377/378

379

APPENDIX 1

TWELVE PERCENT LENGTH AFROSPIKE BATA SUMMARY

APPENDIX 1

TWELVE PERCENT LENGTH AEROSPIKE DATA SUMMARY

(U) A compilation of hot-firing data obtained with the twelve percent length water cooled acrospike is presented. Performance parameters *[thrust, I_s,* $C^{*}_{p}, \mathcal{N}_{C^{*}_{p}}, \mathcal{N}_{I_{s}}, \mathcal{N}_{I_{s}}, c_{T}, C_{T}, (\overset{\bullet}{w}_{g}/\overset{\bullet}{w}_{p})_{eff}$ have heat loss and water content factors applied to them. The values of the factors applied are presented in Table .

(U) Performance parameters are presented vs. time for each test. For the sea level tests (RD designation), TIME = 0.00 corresponds to ignition. For the AA test series, TIME = 4.70 is thrust chamber ignition. For the AB and AC series, TIME = 3.95 is ignition. Peak thrust occurs within approximately 90 milliseconds for all tests.

(U) An explanation of the meadings in the data summary is given below.

TIME - Arbitrary reference time during firing, seconds LAMEDAP - P_c/P_a , primary nozzle stagnation pressure to ambient pressure ratio PA - P_a , ambient pressure, psia PC - P_c , primary nozzle stagnation pressure, psia PCS - P_c , G.G. stagnation pressure, psia (PCS = 0.0 designates GG is not firing.) ($P_{c,s}$ is actually approximately equal to \overline{P}_B at this time.) PB - \overline{P}_B , Average nozzle base pressure, psia F - Measured thrust adjusted for heat loss, pounds $\frac{1}{2}$ / $\frac{1}{2}$, secondary to primary flowrate ratio WS/WP - $\frac{1}{2}$, $\frac{1}$

380

MRS - MR, G.G. propellant mixture ratio IS - I_s = F/k_T , Engine specific impulse, sec. $A^* - A^*_p = .9893 A_p$, Primary nozzle aerodynamic throat area, sq.in. EPSILON* - $C^*(= A^*_p/A_p)$, Primary nozzle aerodynamic area ratio $PB/PC - \overline{P}_B/P_c$ PB/PA - PB/Pa C*S - C*, G.G. characteristic velocity, ft./sec. C*P - C*, Primary thrust chamber characteristic velocity (adjusted for heat loss) ft./sec. NC*P - \mathcal{N}_{C^*} (= C^*_p/C^*_p , th), Primary thrust chamber characteristic velocity efficiency (U^*_p , th adjusted for water coolant), ft./sec. NC*S - N (= C* (C* s, th), G.G. characteristic velocity efficiency, ft./sec. NIS - $\mathcal{N}_{Is} = F/(F_{p,th} + F_{s,th})$, Engine specific impulse efficiency referenced to theoretical primary and theoretical secondary propellant properties. NIS, TOP - $\mathcal{N}_{I_{s,top}} = F/F_{p,th}(1 + \frac{1}{2}/\frac{1}{2})^{7}$, Engine specific impulse efficiency referenced to theoretical primary propellant properties. $CT - C_T \sum F/(N_{C^*} F_{p,th} + N_{C^*} F_{s,th}) J$, Nozzle thrust efficiency referenced to theoretical primary and secondary propellant peroperties. $CT, TOP - C_{T, top} \int_{z}^{z} F/N_{C*} F_{p, th}(1 + \frac{1}{s}/\frac{1}{w_p}) \int_{z}^{z}$, Nozzle thrust efficiency referenced to theoretical primary propellant properties. Tabulated values of $P_{\rm B}/P_{\rm c}$ were computed from measured base pressures and the everaging equation (p.117). Analysis of the last two seconds of each test during which the GG was shut off indicated that base thrust was higher than that computed by the average base pressure method for the AC test series. It is therefore recommended that P_{B}/P_{C} values for this series be increased by the following amounts:

Test	$\Delta \overline{P}_{\rm g} / P_{\rm c}$
AC 14, 16	.00062
AC 19,20	.00044
AC 13,15,17,18,21	.00048

(č)

³⁸¹ CONFIDENTIAL



BIC: UN

APPENDIX 1 (Cont'd)

TABLE 16

HEAT LOSS AND JATER CONTENT FACTORS APPLIED TO MEASURED AND THEORETICAL

******		(PRIMARY ONLY) DATA	CONFIDENTIAL
Test	ΔI _s .Sec.	N _{c*} _{H.L.}	ΔI sec.	η _{c*} ,
RD69	+6.27	.9902	-0.30	•9987
71	+6.05	.9906	-0.30	.9987
01	+6.16	.9904	-0.30	.9987
02	+7.65	.9878	-0.30	.9987
03	+8.25	.9872	-0.30	.9987
05	+9.23	.9856	-0.20	.9994
06	+9.00	.9860	-0.20	.9994
1 08	+9.12	.9858	-0.20	.9994
09	+9.33	.9853	-0.20	•9994
AAO1	+6.90	.9891	-0.26	.99915
22	+6.70	•9896	-0.26	.99915
03	+716	. 9888	-0.26	.99915
ABO8	+7.37	.9884	-0.21	.99937
09	+7.37	.9884	-0.21	•99937
10	+7.56	•988t	-0.21	•99937
11	+7.79	.9876	-0.21	.99937
12	+7.94	•9875	-0.21	•99937
AC13	+7.88	•9874	-0.19	•99943
14	+7.54	.9883	-0.19	•99943
15	+8.29	. 9869	-0.19	•99943
16	+8.26	.9867	-0.19	•99943
17	+8.13	•9871	-0.19	•99943
18	+8.05	.9874	-0.19	•99943
19	+7.91	.9876	-0.19	•99943
20	+8.20	•9872	-0,19	•99943
21	+7•91	.9876	0,19	•99943

JUNICHAR SHALL

		•	TVI	F (PJU4)5) 6961. 6763. 6633. 66550.		IS 274-05 270-18 270-18 261-82 259-92 258-45
			NO 221 E Confitida	PB (PSIA) 1.8621 1.8621 1.86556 1.86576 1.85380 1.85380		0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0
) Ngth Aerospike Ge 1	2000000 2000000 2000000 2000000		KR? L 7218 L 7218 L 7129 L 6929 L 6935 L 6935
	ىلىنىيەت بىلىغانىيەت بىلىغانىيە بىلىغانىيە بىلىغانىيە يەتلەرىيە بىلىغانىيە بىلىغانىيە بىلىغانىيە بىلىغانىيە بىل مەلىرىكى بىلىغانىيەت بىلىغانىيەت بىلىغانىيەت بىلىغانىيەت بىلىغانىيەت بىلىغانىيەت بىلىغانىيەت بىلىغانىيەت بىلىغان	•	APPENTIX 1 (Cont'd 12 PERCENT LE NUMBER AD1, PA	PC (PSIA) 282.91 281.59 281.59 289.09 279.37 279.16	• •	MT 25-4017 25-4558 25-2814 25-3527 25-1406 25-1406
		,	IRING TEST MATA	PA (PSIA) 0.6535 0.8815 1.4903 1.4903 1.6918 1.9047		WS/WP, EFF 0 MARLESS 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
	のは、日本ので、たち、日本の	•	HOT - F	LAMBDAP (DMNLESS) 432.92 319.45 232.95 137.56 187.56 165.13 146.56		4874P 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
e.		•		T INE (SECUNOS) 5.25 5.25 5.75 6.25 6.25 7.25	383	T 1 1 4 6 95 5 - 25 5 - 25 5 - 25 5 - 25 6 -

		• • • • •		CONFIDENTIAL	Cts SECJ C. SECJ C. S1246: 51246: 51246: 51246: 513		CT CT CT CT T MNLESS 0.951 0.9550 0.951 0.9568 0.9598 0.95 0.9547 0.9547 0.9547 0.9547 0.9547 0.95 0.9547 0.95
1	· · ·	•		STH AERDSPIKE NOZZLE 5 2	PB/PA (DMNLESS) (FT/ 2.763 2.113 2.113 1.552 1.552 1.552 1.249 1.086 0.979		NIS. TOP (DMNLESS) 0.8559 0.8563 0.8563 0.8549 0.8549 0.8560
	•		APPENDIX . (Cont'd)	12 PERJENT LENG NUMBER AAJ1, PAGE	PB/PC (OMNLESS) 0.00638 0.00666 0.00666 0.00668	-	NIS (DMNLESS) 0.8559 0.8626 0.8546 0.8546 0.8560
		•		IRING TEST DATA	EP SI LON* (DMNLESS) 26.089 25.985 25.985 25.906 25.855		NC #S 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
	•	t • •		HOT - F	A* (SQ. IN.) 14.205 14.241 14.241 14.298 14.370		NC#P (DMNLESS) 0.8962 0.8967 0.8967 0.9047 0.9047
				,	T IME SECONDS) 4.95 5.25 5.75 6.25 6.75	384 CONTENTINI	TURE 5.05 5.25 6.25 6.25 6.25

;

																	ĺ	е. С.,	а к. ж.	مر پورسه به مدینه با به نا از سه به ا		_	•												
•			NTIAL	u L :	(SCHOOd)	7435.	7326.	7208.	7134.	7062.	6976.	9544*	6913.	6E86.	6862.	6252.	6841.	6825.	6601.		15	(SECONDS	268.76	265.95	252.34	263.07	258438	255.38			251.00	251.12	251.39	250.65	249.72
		NOZZLE	CONFIDE	P B	(PS [A)	2.0267	2.0220	2.C229	2.0208	2.0462	2.1647	2.2494	2.3755	2.5688	2.7964	3.0290	3.3135	3.4223	3 5 4 9 8		MRS	(DAVLESS)	0.0	() 0	0.0	ن 0	0°C	د د د				200	رت ا رع ا	0.0	C · C
	d)	NGTH AEROSPIKE		PCS	(PSIA)	0.0	0°Ú	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	C•0		HRP	(DRNLESS)	1.7744	1.7704	1.7739	1.7665	1.7715	.1.7627	711197	1 7123 1 7123	1.7782	1.7685	1.7693	1.7782	1.7781
• • •	Appriciply 1 (Cont.	- 12 PERCENT LE NIMBER AA77- PA		PC	(PSIA)	335.63	305.81	335.33	304.52	334.55	334.45	334.11	304.00	303.76	303.70	303.70	303.87	303.78	333.69		нТ	ILBS/SEC)	27.6638	27.5478	27.4761	27.4311	27.4084	27.3148	24 3044	102012	1150.75	27.2843	27.2134	27.2308	27.2328
		RING TEST DATA -		PΔ	(PSIA)	0.9568	1.2986	1.6095	1.8036	2.0115	2.3008	2.4558	2-5714	2.7158	2.8545	3.0172	3.1978	3.2648	3.3807		HS/AP. EFF	I DHNLESSI	0.0	0.0	0°0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	5 C			0.0	Ç. Û	0.0
		HOT - FI		LANBDAP	(DANLESS)	320.47	235.48	189.51	168.84	151.41	132.32	123.83	118.23	111.85	106.39	100-66	95.03	63×05	8.9.83		dH/S/	(DANLESS)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2 •0				0.0	0.0	0.0
•				THE	(SECONDS)	5.25	5.15	6.25	6.75	7.25	1.75	8.25	8.75	9.25	9.75	10.25	21. ú.	- 1 - 22	1172 A	385 7	TIME	(SECONDS)	5.25	5.75	6.25	6.75	1.25	7.75	8.25	8. (2	9•25 75	10.25	0.75	11.25	11.75
																																			-

.

ŧ

.

i

1

. . .

APPENDIX 1 (Control)

.

1

	ND 22L E	
	AERUSPIKE	
•	LENGTH	PAGE 1
	DT - FIRING TEST DATA 12 PERCENT	TEST NUMBER AA32.
	I	

															ļ	E	р: н 	A State of the sta	1		٠													
	TIAL	uL.	(SCNDD4)	7435.	7326.	7208.	7234.	7062.	6976e	6944.	6913.	6886.	6862.	6852.	6841.	6625.	6801.		s I	(SCNCIES)	263.76	265.95	262.34	260-07	259,38	255.38	254.34	253.58	252,13	251.99	251.12	251.39	250.65	249.72
	CONFTUEN	P 8	(PSIX)	2.0267	2.0220	2.0229	2.0238	2.0462	2.1647	2.2494	2.3755	2.5688	2.7984	3.0290	3.3135	3.4223	3.5498		MRS	(DAVL ESS)	0.0	0 •0	0.0	0+0	2.0	0.0	· 2• 2	J.0	3.0	0.0	0.0	0°0	0.0	ں ۔ ت
AGE 1		PCS	(PSIA)	0.0	0-0	0.0	Ú.J	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	C•0	0.0	0.0	0.0	C • D	0.0		MRP	(DHALESS)	1.7744	L-7704	1.7799	1.7665	1.7715	.1.7527	1.7772	1.7729	L.7632	1.7783	1.7685	1.7693	1.7782	1.7781
NUMBER AAJ2. PA		PC	(PSIA)	326.63	305.81	305.03	334.52	334.55	334.45	334.11	334.03	303.76	303.70	303.70	303.87	303.78	333.69		мТ	(LBS/SEC)	27.6638	27-5478	27.4761	27.4311	27.4084	27,3148	27.3044	27.2601	27.3128	27.2311	27.2843	27.2134	27.2308	27,2328
TEST		ΡA	(PSIA)	0.9568	1.2 986	1.6095	1.8036	2.0115	2.3008	2.4558	2.5714	2°7158	2•8545	3.0172	3.1978	3.2648	3,3807	• .	WS/KP, EFF	(DMNLESS)	6.0	0.0	0-0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	Ú• Ú	0.0	0°0	C. O	0.0
		LAMBDAP	(DANLESS)	320.47	235.48	189.51	168.84	151.41	132,32	123.83	118.23	11.1.85	106.39	100.66	95.03	93.05	89.83		MS/MP	(DANLESS)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
		T IME	(SECONDS)	5.25	5.75	6+25	6.75	7.25	1.75	8.25	8.75	. 9.25	9.75	10.25	510.02 J	E 1.25	E. 11.75	385	TINE	(SECONDS)	5.25	5.75	6.25	6.75	7.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	9•25	9.75	10.25	10.75	11.25	11.75

1

-

4 9 9 1		DUTIAL	5 5	(F7/552)	5060.	5206.	5124.	5134.	5147.	5163.	5159.	5165.	5151.	5166.	5156.	5172.	5167.	5165.			 	CT. TJ	CHARLE SSI	0.5587	0.9589	0.9545				0.0494	0.9440	0.9431	0.9460	0.9479	0.9469	0.9463	
		CONFLDE CONFLDE	رج 4	(FT/SEC)	0 •	•0	ں		••	•	•0	. D	•0	ບໍ່	•0	•0	•	•0				CT	(DAVLESS)	0.9587	0.9589	0.9546		004400	2620.0	0.9426	0-9440	0.9431	0.9460	0,9479	0.9469	3.9463	
	d) 	NULT ALKUSTINE	POIPA	[DMNI ESS]	2.118	1.557	1.257	1.120	1.017	0.941	0.515	0+924	0.946	0.980	1.034	1.036	1.048	1.050			·	NIS, TUP	(DHNLESS)	0.8493	0.8537	0.85 25		1 - 8 - 8 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	0.490 0.8486	0.8498	4748 C	J • 8495	D.8501	J. 8546	D •8531	3. 8522	
	APPENDIX 1 (Cont.	NUMBER AD2, PA	P3/PC	(DMNLESS)	3.33661	0.33661	J.J 663	0.33664	0.00672	11700.0	0,00743	0.00781	0.33845	0.33921	19930-0	0,31393	0.01127	0.01169				S IN	(DANLESS)	0.8493	C. 8537	0.8525	1120-7	0.8488	0.8486 0.8486	0.8483 0.8483	0.8474	D.2495	0.8531	0.8546	Ú.8531	D. 8522	
- - -		TEST TEST DATA	EPSILON#	(DMNLE SS)	26.358	26.252	25.172	26.119	26.08J	26.580	26,080	2 5.0 80	20.000	26.080	26.080	26.080	26.080	26.080				NC * S	(DMNLESS)	0.0	2 .2	0.0					0,0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	C. • C	
· · ·			4.4	(() · IN ·)	14.U 96	14.153	14.196	14.225	24.240	14.246	14.246	14.240	14.246	14.246	14.246	14.245	14.246	14.246				NC*P	(DANLESS)	0.4856	0.8904	0.8932	01604 C	0,4996	1008 U	0 9624	C. 8977	1.000 n	U.8986	u.9ü15	0000 • D	v +9006	·
ŧ			T INE	(SECUNUS)	5+25	5.75	j.25	é.75	7.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	9.25	9.75	10.25	10.75	11.25	11.75	STCS	1 84		INE -	(SECONDS)	5,25	5.75	6+25	0.10	7.75	- C	8.75	9.25	9.75	10.25	10.75	11.25	11.75	

No.

.

APPENDIX (Cont'd)

I

and the second sec

-

Number of Street

しままたいの

スイ ひろいたいたい ちんぎょう たいたいたい ステルシューザビング

President

1111
AFPRSP 1K F
L ENGTH PAGE 1
PERCENT P AA"3.
- 12 NUMPE
DATA - TEST
1F \$ 1
FIRINC
1
- 2H

.

CONFIDENTIAL	
LENGTH AFPASPIKE MAJJLE Dage 1	
FIRINC TEST NATA 12 PERCENT TEST NUMMEP AAM3.	

																		-	دوه يا ندوها د	i kusu	J			<u>الم</u>			·																
L	IS CNIED			£777.	K675.	6573	14.00		6444	6443.	6395°	AARA.		• · · · · •	67 H4.	6277.	6253.	1663	• 7						S	(シロフィレムジー	247.63	242.74	245.36				2 4 4 4 C	534.47	732.15	232°ü8	121.60	327.13			220.07	22R, 35	
a 0	105141		6432°2	C4.0.3	5,5710			C	7.2552	7.7078	RJSR3			0°1174	0 .53KK	1424.0	10 1 210								N. 97	CONVERSE)						L	L. C	د ۲	د•د	۲ ۰ ۲		 	. (۲. ۲	ر • د	ر • د	
		(b 2 1 4)	د •	۲. ۲	, <u>(</u>	. (L.ª L				. (L.• (.)	د. ۵	د. د.			- (• (L. • L						d a M	I UNVI ECCI					I. TTAR	1.7762	1.7621	1.762	1.7625	1-7626			1.7774	1.7872	1.7733	1.7778	•
;		(V15d)	307.57			01. ° C 12	305.42	205,05	39496			までもまいの	314.29	304.24	304.04			14.90.6	303.65						13		1 L T S J S G G G		2686.12	27.5615	27.4467	27°4462	27.4546	27.4543	C	37.3054		L1.2.12	27.314R	27.2512	27-1914	0140.70	
	PA	(PS1A)	2 7446			4.8572	5.3405	5.7429	6 1450		1666.0	6.92R5	7.2982	7.6140	7 0047		8+C1 •H	8.3935	R. 6595								[DWNLESS]	0.0	ů°ů	ن •ن		0.0	C					0. U	د • ن				
	LAWRDAP	I NAVI F AN		51•2×	70.57	F2.74	57.19	52.12			いいもいす	43°03	41.65	20.05			37.27	36.20	35.07			•					(DMNLESS)	ر•0	0 • 1	C ^a C			, . , .	- 1 • -	یں اور		L •C	ر•ر ن					1•1
	THE				5. 75	6.25			i i V 1 - 1	25.4	. 52.6	8.75	0 3 E			10.25	10.75	11.25				38	7			But Line	(SECONDS)	5.25	5-15	20.4				s	8.25	8.75	9.25	9.75			10.12	11.25	11.75

-

a subult

APPENDIX 1 (Cont.d)

State Barrison of

. .

		н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н
		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
51 51 51 51 51 51 51 51 51 51		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
144 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15		یو ت
1.122 1.122 1.122 1.122 1.225 1.225 1.225 1.225 1.225 1.225 1.225 1.225 1.225 1.225 1.225 1.225 1.225 1.225 1.2555 1.2555 1.2555 1.2555 1.2555 1.2555 1.2555 1.2555 1.2555 1.2555 1.		۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲
1,102 1,102 1,102 1,102 1,275		۱۳۰۶۰۱۳, ۲۵۵۰ ۲۹ ۲۹ ۲۹ ۲۹ ۲۹۵۰ ۲۹۹۹ ۲۹۹۹ ۲۹۹۰ ۲۹۹۹ ۲۹۹۹ ۲۹۹۹
1.107 1.195 1.197 1.275 1.275 1.275 1.275 1.275		۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲
1.192 1.197 1.276 1.276 1.276		1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 199
1.195 1.276 1.276 1.276 1.275		2 0 0 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
1.197 1.276 1.276 1.276	ĊĊĊĊĊ	1990 1997 1997 1997 1997 1997 1997 1997
1.275 1.275 1.275 1.275		
1.275		
1.276	•••• • • •	
1.275	ć	
	•	ا نىرە يە
		، بنا کا لائل
NIS. TRP	CT CT	CT. TRP
(DHML FSS)	I DMNI ESSI	ことには「記事し」
n RSra	P.952R	0° C 53 P
5478 Ū	2444 2	2884 C
80.40° C	0.941 P	A 145 V
5442 i	5 40° J	C C 1 3
5.4423	750°0	A. 0357
r.8446	C .9392	59 ED J
, 8 463	5146°J	Q. 9415
C	r.0394	10.929A
r.R457	134°C	7. 940F
7 . R475	r.93R4	A. 52 R.
2.8451	C.976C	5 0 ° C
D . F4F5	0450°J	P. CIRO
i B404	P.93R9	n. 93.89
C.8466	0.9376	n. 0376
		0 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

				Cases and and	: :		
		TATTAL	F (PJU435) 7426. 7261.		[S (SEC34)5 267.86 262.34		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		NDZZLE CONFID	PB (PSIA) 2.7672 2.7837	·	4RS (D4VLESS) 0.0840 0.0850		:
• • •	Re Marine Relative Contraction on the Annual Ann	id) Ength Airospike Age 1	PCS (PS LA) 278.54 268.97		MRP (DMNLESS) 1.7261 1.7267		
		APTELDIX 1 (Sont 12 PERCENT L NUMBER ABD8, P	PC [PSIA] 3 J 5.36 3 J 3.48		HT (LBS/SEC) 27.6777 27.6777	·	
{	en d'antipage de la construction de	IRING TEST DATA TEST	PA {PSIA} 1.5126 1.5126	· .	MS/WP, EFF (DMNLESS) 0.0163 0.0158	'n	an a
· ·	n en ander son official and a son official and a son of the son of	HOT - F	LANBUAP (DNNLESS) 257.62 200.53		WS/#P (DMNLESS) 0.0254 0.0259		•
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			T LNE (SECONDS) 4.45 4.75	389 CONTRENTIAL .	T [ME (SECANDS) 4.75 4.75		

والمركبين أتعريد فالأسران

		TAIT	548. 5148.	A CHARTY MALT OF SAME A	CT. TDP (JWYLESS) 0.9502 0.9502
		VD 2 2 L E CONFIDEN	C*S (FT/SEC) 3311. 3139.	· · ·	CT (D4MLESSI 0.9596 0.9596
	d)	NGTH AEROSPIKE * Ge 2	PB/PA (OMNLESS) 2.335 1.843		NIS. TOP (DMNLESS) 0.8574 0.8513
	APPENDIX 1 (Cont'	12 PERCENT LE Number Abd8, PA	PB/ PC (DMALESS) 0.00906 0.00917		NIS (DANLESS) 0.8626 0.8566
		RING TEST DATA	EPSILO.# (DMNLE_S) 26.467 26.427		NC *S (DHNLE SS) 0. 7636 0. 7242
		H01 - F1	4 * [52• IN•] 14•059 14•059		NC*P (DMNLESS) 0.8982 0.8960
			T IME (SECONDS) 4.45 4.75	390 CENTERTIAL	TIME (SECONDS) 4.45 4.75

TEST DATA
HUT - FIL LAMBUAP LAMBUAP LAMBUAP LI25-49 LI25-55 O-02555 O-02555

,

APPENDIX 1 (Cent'd)

:

• •

•••

ł

ALL STATE

i

ことの言葉 日本 二割の気子 モスチ ゆうしゅうさ

クロート・ション・パンチン・ファー・ション・ション・ション・ション・ションはないないないのないとなっていたのである。

Ļ

HOT - FIRING TEST DATA -- 12 PERCENT LENGTH AEROSPIKE NOZZLE Test Number Abj9, page 2

													ł		98,9 7 9 261-13	ور مواناً		NĽ	1	•	_												
TTAL	đ 4 1 3	(FT/SEC)	5143.	5150.	5130.	5137.	5145.	5142.	5157.	5177.	5170.	5181.	5152.	5193.						CT. T3P	CONVLESS!	0.9531	0.9476	0.9439	0.9461	C* 9450	0.9461	94 46 0	0.9463	0.9423	0.9425	0.9410	0.9420
CONFIDEN	C + S	(FT/SEC)	3377.	3150.	3119.	3123.	3124.	3133.	3140.	3133.	3178.	314 "	3153.	3156.						СT	(SS37%HO)	0.9613	0.9570	0.9534	0.9556	0.9546	0.9557	9.957C	0.9565	0.9519	0.9521	0.9504	0.9516
) 	PB/PA	(DMNLESS)	2.044	1.642	1.398	1.373	1.360	1.353	1.360	1.356	1.348	1.316	1.331	1.321						NIS, 10P	(DANLESS)	0.8533	3.8496	3.8427	J • 8 4 6 1	- 0.8 462	3.8469	3.8536	3.8535	3.8484	D. 85P2	3 • 8 4 4 2	0.8513
	P8/PC	(DMNLESS)	11600.0	· 0.J3924	6010-0	0-31094	J. J1212	0.31341	0.01478	0.01592	0-01702	0.01759	D.J1844	0.31966						S I N	(DMNLESS)	0.8585	0.8549	0.8483	0.8514	D.8515	U.8522	ù.856)	0.8589	0.8537	0.8555	0.8495	U • 8567
	EPSILON*	IDANLESS	26.617	26.577	26.521	26.482	26.450	26.423	26.403	26.377	26.348	26.328	26.315	26.291						NC + S	(DMNLESS)	0.7777	0.7257	u.7186	6,7196	u. 7198	U. 7218	0.7234	0.7218	0.7229	ù . 7250	0.7264	0.7272
	A#	[SU. [N.)	13.959	13.980	14.009	14.030	14.647	14.061	14.072	14.086	14.101	14.112	14.119	14.132						NC *P	(DMNLESS)	0. 6953	0.8966	C. 8928	0.8944	Q. 8954	U.8952	0.6979	0.9015	0.9003	0.9021	U.8972	0.9037
	T INE	(SECUNDS)	4.45	4.75	5.25	5.75	6.25	6.75	7.25	1.75	8.25	8.75	9.25	5 9.75			392			T INE	(SECONDS)	4.45	4.75	5.25	5.75	6.25	6.75	1.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	9.25	9.75

1

..... .

AND A REPORT OF A REPORT OF A

5

and the second second

•

.

	·				S)	•	•			•	•	•	•			ا المراجع ومدم معطوم معروم مردوم محمد ما المروف مسط المدر - الم	ı	. 150		Ņ -	- 0	<u>م</u>	. 100	~	6	៨ -	t D
			••••	LIAL F	CNDCA)	1901 1901	0.00	6743	6666	6630	6598	6532	6503	1010	6375		51	(SECON	261.9	220.0	6 7 2 6 4 7 5 7 5 6 4	269.9	268.6	247.3	245.6	244.3	240° 0
			NO 22LE	PB	(PSIA)	2.4444	2.8810	3.2699	3.5929	3.9686	4.3250	4 • 6952	5.1054	5 + 40 5 C	5.9316		MR S	(SSI TAND)	0.1075	0.1049	V.1000 D.1000	0.1092	0.1093	2.1094	0.1095	0.1095	0.1096
		(84)	ENGTH AERDSPIKE	PCS	(PSIA)	69.16	10.05	116.17	116.66	116.57	116.75	126.67	116.89	117.11	116.83		MRP	(DKNLESS)	1.7337	1 7/20	1 - 7 299	1.7453	2.7464	1.7618	L.7526	1.7489 1.7470	1.7535
:		APPENDIT 1 (Cont	12 PERCENT L	PC	(PSIA)	313.75	297.66	296.50	296.01	295.40	295.11	294.54	294.50	204.17	293.57		#T	(LBS/SEC)	26.9082	8714.07 8714.07	25.5267	20.6822	26.6633	26.6738	26.5863	26.6278 26.5922	26.5926
,		•	IRING TEST DATA TESI	PA	(PSIA)	L. 55/5	2.2083	2.6151	2.9216	3.1901	3.4627	3.7745	4.0005 4.3177	4. 5302	4. 7169		NS/NP, EFF	(DANLESS)	0.005	1000.0	0,0070	0+0071	0.0171	Ú. 0071	0.0071	0.0071	1200-0
			H01 - F	LANBUAP	(DHNLESS)	159.10	129.63	113.38	101.32	92.60	85.23	73,75	C+•71	47°00	62.24		4K/WP	(DRNLESS)	0.0146	0.0125	5.0122	0.0122	0.0122	0.0121	0.0122	0.0121	U.U121
	•			3HI 1	(SECONDS)	4.4	5-25	5.75	0.25	6.75	7.25	7.15 8.75		50.05	51.9	393	34 1 4 ,	(SECONDS)	4.4V		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	6.25	6.75	7.25	7.75	8,25 8,75	9.25

7

•

1 :

.

والمراجع والمعالية والمعارين والمراجع والمراجع

APPENDIX 1 (Cont'd)

:

i

0.1110 1 J J 1 DEDEEN

															_		-	_														
swirt et.	549	(FT/SEC)	5119.	5099°	5102.	5113.	5111.	5110.	5107.	5121.	5117.	5127.	5123.	5163.					C1 .12	I DAVLESS	0.9550	0.94.0	0.9510	0.9542	0+ 5505	0.9522	0.9526	0.9505	0.9516	0.9484	0.9454	D.9456
IU 2 2 L E CANETRI	C + S	(FT/SEC)	1932.	2277.	2780.	2945.	2975.	2973.	2986.	2984.	2996.	3002.	3010.	2995.					CT CT	(D4VLESS)	0.9636	D.9561	0.9563	0.9591	0.9553	0.9570	0.9573	0.9553	0.9563	0.9531	0.9501	0*9504
AGE 2	PR/PA	(DMNLESS)	1.593	1.345	1.254	1.250	1.230	1.244	1.249	1.244	1.255	1.252	1.231	1.258					NIS, TOP	(OMALESS!	3.8513	0.8424	D.8449	0.8494	0.6462	3 8 4 7 5	0.8478	3. 6479	J • 8 4 8 2	0.8475	D。8437	0.8503
NUMBER AB13, P	PB/PC	(DMNLESS)	0.30815	0.33653	0.00959	0.31133	0.01214	0.01343	3.31466	0.01594	0.01733	0.01835	0.31896	0.32021					NIS .	(DMNLESS)	0.8540	0.8452	0.8475	D.8519	0.3487	0.8533	U.85J3	u.8534	U.8537	C.8533	0.8462	C •8529
TRING TEST DATA	EPSILON*	(DANLE SS)	26.743	26.743	26.649	26.609	26.577	26.550	26,527	26.501	26.474	26.454	26.440	26.416					NC # S	(DMNLE SS)	0.4499	6.5300	U. 6458	C. 6839	. 0. 6906	0. 6903	v. 6932	0.6927	0.6954	u. 6967	U. 6986	U. 6952
OH	4*	(SU. IN.)	13.893	13.914	13.942	13.963	13.980	13.994	14.006	14.020	14.034	14.045	14.052	14.065		• ·			NC #P	(DANLESS)	0.8911	0.8876	0.8885	0.8902	C. 8902	0.68-0	UU96.J	0.8921	Q.8913	0.8936	0.8925	6. 8993
	TINE	(SECONDS)	4.45	4.75	5.25	5.75	6.25	6.75	7.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	539.25	52.69	39	4		•	TIME	(SECONDS)	4.45	. 1.75	. 5.25	5.75	6.25	6,75	7.25	7.75	. 8.25	8.75	9.25	. 51 • 6

1

• • •	14 AV																E	x xax yara wa kuwani i		-			·.							
					ENTIAL		• 7059	6783.	6581.	6601°	6538.		6420°	00120 2238	0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	623	6190.		15	(SECONDE	250°30	246.58	25.532	239.17	236.50	234.84	233.15	231.26	230.08	227.76
		ar da anti-anti-anti-anti-anti-anti-anti-anti-		NDZZLE	CONFID D.D.	IPS121	5280.4	4.7766	5.5418	6.0069	6.5102	7 5201	1 * 3 4 4 4	0.4743	8.9534	9.4243	9.8149		KR S	(DANE ESS)	0.1140	0.1133	U.11.50	0.1140	0.1141	0.114G	0.1140	0+1139	0-1139	0.1138
			d)	ENGTH AEROSPICE Age 1	PCC	(PSIA)	262.31	244.55	246.49	246.63	245.16	374 10 364 10	266.25 766.25	246.71	246.75	246.48	246.39		KRP	(DANLESS)	1.7613	1 7427	1.7546	1.7615	1.7572	1.7588	1.7662	1. (563	1.7623	1.7577
		•	APPENDIX 1 (Cont'	12 PERCENT LI NUMBER ABIL, PI	PC	(PSIA)	334.13	332.87	331.68	370°55	341.65	30.56	30.39	3 JD .21	00.006	299.52	299.11		14	(LBS/SEC)	1972275	27.4571	27.3309	27.3412	27.3731	27.3362	27.3356	2020-12	27.2221	27.1796
				IRING TEST DATA TEST	ΡÅ	(PSIA)	2.9305	3.44.82	4.1383 4 6003	4. 021 £	5.3744	5.7582	6.1217	6.4761	6.8316	7.1969	7.5402		KS/NP, EFF	(DANLESS)	0.0157	0.0147	0.0148	0.0147	0.0147	1410*0	0.0147	0-0147	7410-0	0.0147
	A SAMA			H01 - F	LAREDAP	(DANLESS)	103.77	81.83 72 00	67.02	60°96	55.47	52.20	49.07	46. 35	43.93	41.63	39.67		STAR	104%LESSI	0-0525 0-0235	0.0233	0.0234	0.0234	0.0233	0.0233	0,0233	0.0234	0+0235	0.0235
		•			T IME	(SECONDS)			5.75	6.25	6.73	7.25	7.75	8.25	8.75		C	395	TIME	(SELUNUS) 4.45	4.75	5.25	5.75	6.25	0• 73 1 - 1	1.62	8.25	8.75	9.25	9.75

.

;				•	•									_		موجع مان ا		٩C	E S S I	33	57	01	73	48	26	16	68	34	5 8	38
		IAL	0 # 11	(FT/SEC	5092.	5104.	5095.	5112.	5113.	5112.	5122.	5124.	5129.	5150.	2144	5148.		CT , T	LY HCI	0 45	0.94	C • 95	0.94	0.94	0 • 9¢	0.93	0°00	0.93	0°63	C° • 03
	NDZZLE	CONFIDENT	C * S	(FT/SEC)	3568.	3173.	3219.	3228.	3203.	3226.	3224.	3228.	3233.	3234.	3228.	3225.		СT	(DAYLESS)	0.5595	0.9560	D.9588	C.9553	0.9530	0.9506	0.547L	0.9448	0.9416	0.9408	0.9419
t'd)	LENGTH AEROSPICE	PAUE 2	PB/PA	(DMNLESS)	1.395	1.385	1.339	1.338	1.323	1.335	1.339	1.322	1.339	1.313	1.310	1.302		NIS. TOP	(DMNLESS)	3.8456	J . 8445	0.8440	3.8436	0.8417	0. 8395	3.6379	2.8365	0.8342	0.8370	0.6370
APPENDIX 1 (Con	- 12 PERCENT I	NUMBEK ADIT -	PB/PC	(DMNLESS)	0.01344	0.41577	0.01837	76910.0	0.02165	0.J2365	0.02538	U.J2693	0.02823	0.32982	0.03145	J. J 3281		NIS	(DMNLESS)	0.8533	0.8491	U. 8496	0.8482	U.8463	0.8441	0.8425	C.8411	Ū.8358	0.8416	U.8416
	IRING TEST DATA -	IESI	FP cT I DN#	(SS J WATE SS)	20-503	26.762	5 6 - 7ú6	24.666	26-636	26-607	26.586	26.559	26.533	26.512	26-499	26.474			COMNIF SC	0.8173	0.7275	0.7379	u. 7399	0-7342	0.7394	u. 739J	0.7398	C. 7411	L. 7412	0.7398
	HOT - F		**				1 4 012	210 21	070 21	13.966	13.975	13,989	14-003	14.014	14.021	14.034			COMNECCI	LUNINE JA	0.8992	0.8877	0.8905	0.8909	C. 8906	Ú.8923	0.8929	0.8935	0.8973	U. 8963
			TINE					20 C 3	0. 50 A 75	0 • C 3 6 - 75	100	2 · 7 5	A. 75	8, 75	0.07	0.75	39 <u>6</u>			1SELUNUSI 4 45	4.75	1 0 F	2 4 C		6.75 6.75	7.25		8.25 8	8.75	0.25

-

••••

.

-

.

4

ļ

.

an an an an anna an an

1

۰. ۱.

	3		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
	2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 200	0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0	CS 2324 2324 2324 2324 2324 2324 2324 232
ND 2 2 L E	6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	6L14*6	MRS 0.1100 0.1100 0.1100 0.1110 0.1112 0.1112 0.1112 0.1112 0.1112
id) Ength Afruspice Age 1	PCS PCS PSIA PCS PSIA PSIA PSIA PSIA PSIA PSIA PSIA PSI	116.01	MRP (DMNLESS) 1.7038 1.7082 1.7082 1.7134 1.7151 1.7152 1.7152 1.7152 1.7152
APPENDIX 1 (Cont ¹ 12 Percent LI RUMBER AB12, PJ	PC PS1A) 301.64 300.19 299.20 298.20 208		WT 27.0407 27.0304 26.9535 26.9535 26.9535 26.9432 26.8140 26.7497 26.7497 26.7497 26.7497 26.7497
IRING TEST DATA	PA PSIA) 2.9839 2.9839 4.2753 4.2753 4.2753 5.81455 5.81455 5.81455555555555555555555555555555555555	7-5102	MS/WP, EFF 0.00064 0.0066 0.00066 0.00066 0.0071 0.0068 0.0068 0.0069 0.0069
HOT - FI	LAXBDAF LONKLESS 101.02 84.60 70.02 53.53 53.53 53.52 54.52 54.52 55.55 55.555	9 • • • • • •	MS/WP 60MNLESS) 6.0129 0.0125 0.0118 0.0118 0.0118 0.0123 0.0123
	t IXE (S ECUNDS) 4.45 4.45 5.75 5.75 5.75 6.25 6.25 8.25 8.25 8.25 8.25 8.25 8.25 8.25 8	397 CATTATIAL	KINE 4.45 4.75 5.25 5.25 5.25 5.25 5.75 6.25 8.25 8.25 8.25 8.25 8.25 8.25 8.25

1																	عد و المعنو الماني المد و الماني ال	اریم مانیک		•	3													
		IVILLE	0. # 1)	[FT/SEC]	5126.	5111.	5140.	5118.	5139.	5148.	5155.	5165.	5160.	5106.	5160.	21(3.				CT. TOP	(Salvac)	1555 °0	6.9517	0.9500	0-9467	0.5423	0586 0	1959.0	0.539	0.9362	0.43	0459-0		
		022LE Cospide	<i>.,</i>	(FT/SEC)	2534	2767.	.858.	2965.	3052.	3666.	3081.	2671.	2913.	2526.	2956.	2989.				CT	(D44LESS)	0.9613	C.9572	0.9551	0.9514	0 = 9468	1 m + 0 = 0	0.9425	3+4+2	1146-0	0.4420	4140.0	0.6390	•
-	(J)	ENGTH AERDSPIKE N NGE 2	A/PA	(DMNLESS)	1.241	1.261	1.273	1.259	1.258	1.245	1.263	1.268	1.248	1.267	1.259	1.254				NIS, TOP	(DHNLESS)	0.8516	3 8463	0 • 8 4 9 3	0.8429	3.8424	0.8438	0.8413	0.8443	0.8457	0 - 8 4 2 4	0.8408	0.8416	•
	act is a state of the state	12 PERCENT LE NUMBER AB12, PI	DRIDE	(DMNLESS)	0.21228	0.01490	0.01818	0.02013	0.32183	0.J2328	0.32455	0.02598	D.02733	U. 02893	0.13036	0.33163				NIS	(DMNLESS)	0.8542	0.8488	0.8518	0.8454	0.8449	0.8433	0.8437	0.8469	0.8432	0.8449	0.8433	0.8441	
		IRING TEST DATA		LUMNLE SSI	26-670	2 . 632	26.578	26.537	26.499	26.465	26.433	26.433	26.433	26.433	26.433	26.433				NC * S	(DMNLE SS)	0.5891	0.6289	0.6636	U• 6881	U.7C82	U. 7113	0.7247	Ü• 6665	U. 6760	0.6791	(;• 6 8 6 0	· U. 6936	
		HOT - FI	**		160.6	13.951	13.979	14-061	14-021	14.039	14.056	14.056	14.056	14.056	14.056	14.056				NC *P	I DWN FSS	0.8916	0.8392	0.894U	L. 8904	0+58-0	U. &955	L , 8958	Ú. 3988	0.8980	L. 4989	L.8977	u•90v2	
				I SECIMUSY	44640001 4.45	4.75	5.55	5-75	6.25	é.75	7.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	9.25	C. 9.:5	5. 	39	8	T INE	I SECOND SI	4-40 4-45	4,75	5,25	5.75	6.25	6.75	7.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	9.25	9.75	

•

-

or of eacherthouse in many large at . Setting a first of a staticky

n Anna 1821 - Magdiachasha weng

าประวัตรีให้สีของระสารีสร้างสีของสีของสาวและสำนักเรื่อง

 V_{ij}

· · · ·

.

•

4

医子管 法法国的过去式和过去分词 化离开分析法 化乙酰乙酰乙酰乙酰甲酰酮基 化油酸酸化酶医酸盐酸盐 雙導性導致	• • •	

1

,

APPENDIX 1 (Contid)

•

HOT - FINING TEST DATA -- 12 PERCENT LENGTH AERUSPIKE NUZZLE Test Number Ac13, PAGE 1

																		•											
NTIAL	u.	(SCARED)	7541.	7470.	7385.	7293.	7226.	7164.	7104.	1081.	7026.	7002.	6379.	6955.		15	(SCHODES)	267.57	265.61	263.07	260°30	257.05	255.64	253, 82	252.60	251.83	250.44	250.05	250.63
CONFIDE	P B	(PSIA)	2.8567	2.8787	2.8902	2.9054	2,9347	2.5832	3.0681	3.1934	3.4254	3.60.25	3.7552	3.9451		MRS	(DAVLESS)	0.1094	C.1056	0011-0	r.1103	0.1105	C.1107	C.1109	0.1110	6.1112	0.1113	0.1114	6.1115
•	PCS	(PSIA)	148.D7	147.57	147.31	147.45	147.23	147.63	147.26	147.5L	147°41	147.45	147.54	147.68		MRP	(DANLESS)	1.6740	1.6750	1.6625	1.6627	1.6634	1.6697	1.6647	1.6693	1.6782	1.6586	1.6637	1.6543
	PC	(PSIA)	312.57	311.33	309.78	338.45	327.85	307.30	336.99	336.74	326.15	3,5,95	335.71	325.37		нт	(LBS/SEC)	28.1832	28.1236	28.0729	28.3179	28.1134	28.0249	27.9884	28.0319	27.9056	27.9570	27.9099	27.7495
1531	РА	(V IS d)	0.8980	1.0738	1.3080	1.5229	1.7218	1.9181	2.1157	2.2506	2. 4554	2.6085	2.7206	2.8405		NS/NP. EFF	(DANLE SS)	0.0219	0.0219	0.0218	0.0219	u• U219	9.0219	U. 6219	Ŭ.0219	u.u219	0-0219	0.0219	0.0220
	LANEDAP	(DANLESS)	348.07	289.94	236.84	202.56	178.80	164.22	145.11	136.29	124.18	117.29	112.37	147.50		MS/No	(DMNLESS)	0.0307	0.0308	0.0309	U.0 308	U. Ü307	0.0306	0.0307	u.0306	0.0307	0.0306	0.0306	v.u307
	T INE	(SECONDS)	4.45	4.75	5.25	5.15	6.25	6.75	7.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	9.25	5.9.15	399 2011 - 2011 - 2014		(SECONDS)	. 4.45	4.75	5.25	5,15	6.25	6.75	7.25	1.75	8.25	8.75	9.25	9.75
AFPENDIX 1 (Cont'd)

この時になるから、「なってい」、

HOT - FIRING TEST DATA -- 12 PERCENT LENGTH AEROSPICE NO22LE

TAL	6 * .)	(FT/SEC)	5101.	5107.	5111.	5115.	5038.	5113.	5121.	5113.	5130.	5120.	5124.	5149. 53	ny a may rear mays graft		CT. TOP	(DRALESS)	0.9543	0.5547	0.9555	0.9528	0. 9508	0.9585	0.9461	F. 9465	0.9455	0.9464	0.9473	0.9481
CONFIDENT	C+ S	(FT/SEC)	3638.	3619.	3618.	3634.	3629.	3656.	3645.	3661.	3661.	3666.	3675.	3683.			C1	(SSANCESS)	0.9622	0.9627	0.9636	0.9608	0.9587	0.9563	0.9540	Q+9543	0.9534	0,9542	0.9548	Ú.956J
66 2 C	PBIPA	(DANLESS)	3.181	2.681	2.213	1.935	1.734	1.555	1.463	1.419	1.389	1.381	1.380	1.389			NIS, TOP	(DNNLESS)	3.8463	0.8473	0 .8485	3.8469	0 • 8 4 2 3	0 .8428	0. 842)	0.8411	J •8432	J. 8421	0 8434	0.8482
NUMBER AC13, PA	PB/PC	(DMNLESS)	J.J0914	0.33925	0	0+070+0	0.13953	17900.0	0.01006	14010.0	0.01119	0401177	0.01228	0.31292			NI S	(DMNLESS)	0.8523	u.8533	č.8546	D .8529	C.0483	C.8488	D. 8481	0.8471	U.8493	G.8481	Ú.8434	0.8543
TEST TEST TEST	EPSILON*	(DMNLE SS)	27.132	27.055	26.947	26.861	26.805	26.760	26.726	26.703	26.685	26-670	26.670	26.670			NC + S	(DMNLE SS)	U.8412	J. 8369	U. 836 ⁷	0.8401	0.8390	U • 8452	U. 8425	. v.8463	Ú• 8461	C.8473	C+8493	ů. 8512
	A &	(S. IN.)	13.694	13.733	13.788	13.832	13.861	13.384	13.902	13.914	13.923	13.931	13.931	13.931	· · ·		- NC+P	(DANLESS)	0.8865	0.8875	0.8881	U.8889	G.8859	U • 8886	U. 890U	Ú. 8886	u. 8918	0.8898	0.8906	G.8947
	TINE	(SECONUS)	4.45	4.75	5.25	5.75	6.25	6.75	7.25	1.75	8,25	8.75	9.25	57.9	400 []]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]	TIAL	1 (ME	(SECONDS)	4.45	4.75	5.25	5.15	6.25	6.75	1.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	9.25	9.75

.

ŝ

المراجعة وتقرير المراجع

	UAL.	u	(PDUY)SI	7494.	7452.	7292.	7213.	7174-	The	7050	70.2 A.	6232	6562.	6935.	6914.		يري (1997 - 1994 - 1 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 -	رې کليد	ا رومی اولی ر		I S I	(SECORDS)	204.54	261.71	256 . 02	255+64	254.42			25 74 75	247.79	246,50	246.18
	NG Z Z L E CONFTIDEN	9.9	I VI S d	3.0998	3.1043	3.0962	3 . 1 4 3 3	3-1602	3,2043			3,7205	3.9434	4.1354	4.3155	1 F 8					MRS	(DHALESS)	4211.0	0.1176	D.181	0.1182	J.1181				0.1178	0.1177	0.1177
	d) Ngth Aerospike n Ge 1	5.4	IPS I AL	248-24	249.13	252.20	251.28	351.26	252.26	250 - 64	247.5R	267.03	247.06	247.47	247.95						KRP	(DANTESS)	L.7867	L•7822	1.729	1.7736	1.7752	2003 ª T.		1.7710	1.7823	1.7863	1.7812
a stationard for the state of t	APTERDIX 1 (Cont ¹ 12 Percent Le Number Ac14, Pa	ġ	I Del Al	308.22	307.00	10.21	304.68	21.405	11.100	212622	31.000 10.000		332.52	302.45	322.38						HT	(LBS/SEC)	28.3275	28.2844	28.2603	28.2154	28.1967	28.2110	Cof (00	2417-02	78-3947	28.1344	28.0864
and a second	RING TEST DATA -	ΡV	(DS1A)	0.9839	1-1376	7405.1	1.6931	1.7597		2 1 2 MC	CU21.2	646133 2.4626	2.6114	2.7636	2.9011						WS/HP . EFF	(DANLESS)	0.0375	0.0377	0° 0382	0.0361	0.0381	0.9382	U. U.3 8U	0° U3 76	0.0375	0.0376	0.0377
n an Calify, gaar in 12 22 20 20 20 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19	19 - 10k	I ANGUAD		313.28	269-86	219.61	100.05	172.85	151.72	1214 (6	192. 30	13451	115.85	109.44	104.23	-					NS/NP	(DANLESS)	0.0501	0.0500	0.0494	0.0496	0*0497	0490	0+049	0.0503		0.0505	0202 v
	·	7 140	I SECONDE	4-45	4.75	5.25	51.5		0.67			[[.] 	0+63 8-75	9-25	9.75				101		TIME	(SECONDS)	. 4.45	4.75	5.25	5.75	6.25	6.75	1.25	<1.7 20.0	67*9	0.25	61-9

• •																ſ															
		TIAL	4	15257231	5072.	5069.	5064.	5668.	5073.	5059°	5071.	5070.	5060.	5078.	5069.	507%		CT, TOP	SS BINNC I	0.5434	0.9434	0.9420	0•9431	0.9398	0.9377	0.9367	0.9359	0.9372	0.9377	0.9378	0.9387
	NDZZL E	CONFIDENCE	C × S	(FT/SEC)	3791.	3820.	3910.	3891.	3888.	3901,	3859.	3788.	3775.	3770.	3777.	3788.		CT	(DAVLESS)	0.9568	0.9544	0.9520	0.9504	0.9501	0.9479	4246*0	0.9473	C.9487	0.9495	0.9494	0.9502
(F.	ENGTH AEROSPIKE Age 2	1	PB/PA	(DWNLESS)	3.151	2.729	2.225	1,951	1.796	1.646	1.593	1.563	1.527	1.513	1.496	1.488		NIS, TOP	(DHNLESS)	0.8359	0.8335	D.8312	0.8304	0.6309	D.6282	0.6279	0.6275	G-8265	0.8301	0 •829 0	0.6308
APPENDIX 1 (Cont	- 12 PERCENT L NUMBER AC14. P		PB/PC	(DMINLESS)	0.01006	0.01011	0.01013	0.01032	0.01039	2.21,085	0.31112	0.01172	0.01231	0.01334	0.01367	0.31427		NIS	(DANLESS)	0.8454	D.8432	5C98*0 .	C•8397	0.8403	0.8375	0.8373	0.8370	L.8359	D.8397	U.8385	0.8434
	RING TEST DATA - Test		EPSILON*	(DMNLE SS)	27.251	27.197	27.118	27.049	26,998	26.962	26.947	20.947	26.947	26.947	26.947	26,947		NC + S	(DANLE SS)	0.8681	0.8747	Ŭ . 8949	U. 89C6	0.6899	0.8930	U •8835	0.8674	0.8644	0. 8632	U. 8649	U. 8674
	HOT - FI		A#	(SQ. [N.]	13.634	13.661	13.701	14.736	13.762	13.780	13.788	23. 788	13.788	13.788	13.788	13.788		NC*P	(DMNLESS)	0.8842	0.8836	0.8825	U. 8833	U.8842	0.6832	U.8838	U.8841	Ú.8818	U .8352	U. & 839	U •8851
			3 NI 1	(SECUNDS)	4.45	4.75	5.25	5.15	6.25	6.75	7.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	9.25	9.75	402	TIME	(SECONDS)	4.45	4.75	5.25	5.75	6.25	6.75	7.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	9.25	9.75

ł

Ì

)

) }

} į ł

} 5)

? 2

١

\$

. .

1.1.1.1

Ż

.

•		•												Į				-									•	
• • •				ential F	(SCNREA)	6998.	6695.	6747	6691.	6651.	6581.	6557.	0484. 4443	0402. 6625.	6399.		15	(SECONS)	250.50	248.09	244.83	243,24	241.3Z	237.95	237.01	234.39	233.96	232.32 232.16
			N022LE	CONFIDI	(PSIA)	4 • 0 9 7 C	4.7658 5 4.77	5.8186	6.2781	6.6638	7.1055	7.5479	1 • 6500 8 - 3672	8.6271	8.0506		MRS	(DAVLESS)	0.1130	0.1132	0.1135	0.1138	0.115V	5.1142 5.1142	0.1144	0.1145	0.1146	0-1147
:	a na shekara a shekara na shina	(P	ENGTH AEROSPIKE Vge 1	PCS	(PSIA)	149.98	152.21	152.77	152.26	151.97	151.58	12.121	151.36	151.43	151.42		MKP	(DHNLESS)	1.6878	1.6883	1.6838	1.4685 1.4683	4,0076 4,68,6	1.6869	1.6873	1.6964	1.6827	1.0774
		APPENDIX 1 (Cont	12 PERCENT LI NUMBER ACIS, P/	Ŋ	(PSIA)	310.45		306.99	306.68	336.46	336.14	336.04	305.48	305.50	305.42		MT	(LBS/SEC)	27.9357	21.1945	27.8079	21 - 1340 27 - 7245	27.7415	27.6579	27.6663	27.6852	27.6183 77 6663	27.5648
:			IKING TEST DATA TEST	۶d	(PSIA)	2,8859	3.9157	4.2645	4.6010	4. 5086	5.2654	2•0531 5. 9494	6.2515	6.5171	6° 7482		WS/HP, EFF	(DANLE SS)	0.0223	6220-0	0.0229	Uc V620 N. 6228	· 0.0227	0.0226	U.0225	U. 0225	0.022	0.0226
			HOT - F	' AMBDAP	(DANLESS)	10.20	78.72	71.99	~ 65	4 1	<u>.</u>	09-14	48.85	40.88°	45•26		NS/NP	(ONNLESS)	0.0309	0.000 C	0.0302	0.0364	0.0304	0.0305	U. 0306	0.0305	0.0305	U. Ù305
				TANE	(SECONDS)		5.25	5.15	6+25		(7°)	8.25	8-75	5.5 11	9.75	403	TINE	- (SECONDS)			5.20	0	6.15	7.25	7.75	8-25	0 ° 1 0	9.75

The second second second

ł,

;;;

:

APPENDIX 1 (Cont'A) HOT - FIRING TEST DATA -- 12 PERCENT LENGTH AEROSPIKE NOZZLE Tect Niingeo af's, dage 2

ITIAL	4 ≠ ()	(FT/SEC)	5119.	5134.	5121.	5128.	5130.			•1010	5162.	5162.	5170-				9.5 5 1 1	E C			L	5T, T3P	I DRVLESS)	0.9511	0.9500	0.9506	0.9495	0.9473	C. 9453	0300	5070 U			10-2-20 S	0+9343	0.9342	
CONFIDEN	C#S	(FT/SEC)	3692.	3734.	3885.	3864.	3847.		•000	3517.	3862.	3801.	2010		3824.	3826.						СT	(DHVLESS)	0.9589	C.5576	0.9572	C.9563	0.9542	0.9523	0440				0.9435	0.9414	717600	
0L C	PB/ PA	(DHNLESS)	1.423	1.408	1.392				1.358	1.349	1.345	1,325		1.338	1.324	1.319						NIS. TOP	(DMALESS)	0.8465	0.8479	B B C C		0778.6	2 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -			0++2+0	0.6387	3.8415	J. 6386	C1 + 8 • C	1 k i i k þ
NUMBER AC'D. PA	DR/PC	(DMNLESS)	0.01320	0.01541	0.01768			0.32047	0.02174	0.02321	0.02466	0 30677		D. 32739	0.02824	0.0 2914						N N		0 8526								0.8531	0.8448	C.8476	0.8447	1.8471	• • • • • •
TEST	E D C T I CNI		27,110	27.064		07.0.0.2	664.07	26.911	26.R4L	26. 795	74.740		20.100	26.7Ŭ6	26.706	26-706						いましる		(UMNLESS)		0.000	0,8908	0.8419	0.88.0	C. 884 /	C.8311	C. 8776	0.8774	0.8812	U. 8827	0 0 0 3 0	~~~~~
	4		1 3 4 1 N 1		071 °C1	13. [05	13. 794	13.806	13 847			13.030	13,912	13.912	13.912	12.012	17.712		•	•			NC *P	(DMNLESS)	0.8900	C.8926	U.8902	0.8915	0.8920	U. 893u	U.8966	C.8 975	0.8977	ACR.	8075		cuuv.J
		TINE TERESTORY	[SECUNUS]			5.25	5.15	4.25	4 75		c7 • 1	CI-1	8.25	9.75	25.0				د ست	101			3HI1	I SECONDS)	4 .45	4.75	5.25	5•75	6.25	6.15	7.25	7.75		0.50		67 ° 6	9.75

>

1

:

1

ļ

i

•

CUREDINA I SFF RKD S 247.15 244.58 244.58 244.58 234.75 234.75 231.25 235.75 2 (Pr(JN) S) 6008 6760 6760 6760 6776 6776 6778 6491. 6467. 6435. 6470. u CONFIDENTIAL MD 5 (DWNL F551 0.11167 0.1177 0.1176 0.1176 0.1176 0.1176 0.1176 0.1176 0.1176 0.1176 **4** 4 HOT - FIRING TEST DATA -- 12 PFRCENT LENGTH AFRMSPTKF NA77LF TEST NUMBER ACIE, PAGF 1 PCS (PS14) 2555.73 2555.73 2555.73 2555.73 2554.57 2554.57 2554.57 2554.57 2554.57 2554.57 2554.57 2554.57 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2557.73 2555.73 2557.73 2555.73 2557.73 257 MRP APPENDIX 1 (Cont'd) (LBS/SEC) 28.3137 28.1131 28.1731 28.2352 28.1355 28.1365 28.1365 28.1365 28.7508 PC 1951 A1 3078 51 3078 51 3078 25 3078 25 3046 55 3046 55 3046 55 3046 55 3046 55 3046 55 3046 55 3046 55 28.0570 28.0570 28.0592 28.0593 27.9999 313.83 313.83 313.85 H WNLE SS (DWNLE SS) (C.0394 C.0394 C.0383 C.0383 C.0383 C.0383 C.0383 C.0374 C.0371 C.0371 C.0371 C.0371 C.0371 C.0371 PA (TWN ESS) 175-27 175-27 265-27 55-35 55-35 55-35 55-35 55-35 43-33 43-33 43-33 0.0487 0.5487 0.5487 0.5487 0.5488 0.5494 0.5494 0.557 0.557 0.5572 0.5573 0.5573 0.5573 LAWRDAP NS / NP T IME (SECONDS) 9.25 405 NE TRA E. i

9.75

A - THE SEMICIAL HOL MADE

·			•	3		7. •	•	3.	а. •	9.	5.	•	•	•	.	.	E .	an anna an ann an an an an an an an an a	TAD -	LESS	125	14.2.7	8 7 F	22.61 1	1457						274	5
	1		ENTIAL		5/13)	5,70	5115		512	<pre>%11</pre>	5 I S.	515	513				5		۲ ۲ ۰	Nac)	c c	Ċ	č	c	c (ς, ι						£
		1422LF	CONFID	C#S	(FT / SFC)	4r12.	402B.	300 0	3000°	3040°	3412°	3R77.	3819 .	3871.	3 K C C .	3 R I C.	3806.		CT.	(SSJ NMU)	0.9513	r.o519	1 3 4 4 K 1	r.9455	4 9 9 9 V	C/40°C	1420.0		7.0305			1,0202
	d)	GE 2 Ge 2	4	40/80	(DMNL FSS)	1.521	1.460	1.436	1.405	1.396	1.410	1.41	1.410	1.457	1.471	1.453	00E • I		NIS. TAP	(SS INMU)	n . p 353	r.83r4	P.215	2728° Û	1424°U	1.00 A. L	r.9254	1 B 31 C	1159.0	1 "F 3"	7 . R 3] 4	llea"u
	APPENDIX 1 (Cont'	- 12 PEPCENT LE		Ja/ba	(DUNLESS)	C	05910-3	16017	r. n2086	r.02270	r_524 ar	r.r2651	12787 r	r.n2874	r.n2966	1012000	C.n322A		. T.	(DINNESS)	C.8446	F. P4.7P	2028.3	f.844]	r.R434	126.	r.9440	C628.J	F. 94 NF	F. 4447	[*B4] •	しになる。」
		RING TEST DATA -		FPS1EGN+	(DMNLESS)	57.173	27.104	27.001	26.913	26.847	26.801	26-780	26-780	26-790	26.780	26.780	26.780	•		I D WNIF CCI	C. QIRS	C. 922C	C. 9154	C. 9154	r. 3666	508°0	ሮ• ፀዳዽጛ	C.R745	r.87r.6	f.8702	C. R726	(. 8717
		H(T - F)H		A.*	I SO INT	573 CI		12.760		528 21	12.052	12,874	13.874	279_61	12.874	13.874	13.874			I DAMI E CCI	0.8867	C. 8955	C. PP76	r. PCIR	C. 8 CC 4	E: 54 J	C. 8973	0.8030	C. RCFR	C.851	70.8964	1958°J
				T INF	ISCANDO	A A R					200						51.0	406			L SECUNUST					6-75	7.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	9-25	9.75

-	• • •			5 Inc	
	•		(PDUNDS) 69673 6960 6716 6517 6517 6517 6512 6462 6412 6330 6330	С.	237.24 235.33 231.94 231.16 231.16 230.28 229.86 229.35
		NO ZZL E	F F S I S I S I S I S I S I S I S I S I	MRS (DHNLESS) 0.0959 0.0954 0.0954	0.0957 0.0956 0.0956 0.0959 0.0959 0.0959 0.0960
		d) Ength Aerospike Ge 1	(PSIS 146.77 146.077 146.077 146.077 145.037 145.037 145.08 146.08 146.08 146.08	MRP (DMNLESS) 1.7285 1.7293 1.7243	1.7251 1.7259 1.7259 1.7357 1.7366 1.7266 1.7266
	•	APPENDIX 1 (Cont ¹ 12 PERCENT LE NULMAER ACI 7. P4	(PSIA) 308-51 308-51 308-20 305-72 305-72 305-65 305-65 80 80 80 80 80 80	MT (LBS/SEC) 27.9238 27.8365 27.7509	27.7556 27.6917 27.6917 27.6616 27.6616 27.5378 27.5378 27.5184
		IRING TEST DATA	(PSIA) 2.9152 3.4223 4.6979 4.6879 5.86411 5.86411 5.86411 5.9388 6.4575 6.9388 6.9388	WS/WP. EFF (DHNLESS) 0.0211 0.0217 0.0217	0.0219 0.0219 0.0220 0.0220 0.0220 0.0221 0.0221
		H0T - FI	(0485 - 76 106.17 90.05 74.96 68.23 61.87 61.87 55.76 47.30 45.76 45.76 45.76 45.76 45.76 45.76	WS/WP WS/WP 0.0319 0.0312 0.0312	0.0310 0.0308 0.0308 0.0308 0.0307 0.0307 0.0307 0.0307
			(Seconds) 4.45 5.25 5.25 6.25 6.25 8.25 8.25 8.25 9.55 9.55 9.55 9.55 9.55 9.55 9	407 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12	9.25 9.25 9.25 9.25 9.25 9.25

APPENDIX 1 (Cont'd)

HOT - FIRING TEST DATA -- 12 PERCENT LENGTH AEROSPIKE NOZZLE Test number acit, page 2

.

TIAL	C# 1	(FT/Sec)			0000 0000	5063.	5088.	5100			•6656	5098.	5097.				ŋ.→ ! ∦u`\ '		ا ب			6 <i>F</i>	1	CT, T3P	(DKALESS)	0.9571	0.9517					5565+C	0.5380	0.9381	0.9382	C.9382	0.9359	0.9374		
CONFIDEN	C+S	(FT/SEC)	3372.	3528.	3555.	3594.	3594.	36.73		3654.	3666.	3651.	3464		50100	3677.								CT CT	1 2 2 1 2 2 1	3 06.00				0+55+0	2165.0	0.9431	0.9460	0.9459	0.9462	0.9460	0.9438		CC+4.0	
je 2	PB/PA	(DMNLESS)	1.425	1.348	1.374	1.371			1 < 5 . 1	1.35D	1.343	1 326		1.364	1.318	1.316								NIC. TOP			キリナロ・コ	51 + 2 + 1	1. 8386	0.8354	0.8347	0 .8341	0.8350	0.8324	0.8326				0.463.0	
NUMBER ACI7. PA	PB/PC	(DMNLESS)	0.01343	2.31497	0.01833			CAT20.	0.32379	0.32579	TETCP. A		0.92820	0.02935	0.03000	Ú. J311J	ł							110		DANLESS	L.8488	U.8482	C.8449	0.8427	0.8410	0.8434	U-8412	1014				0.8348	0.8412	
TEST		I DENI F SS	27.243	27.201	27 120	CT+17	21.032	27.060	27.033	110.75		110.12	27.011	27.011	27.011	27.011									5 * UZ	(DMNLESS)	U. 7830	6.8192	0. 8253	G. 8344	0.8343	11. 8 c 1 s	0 84 87			C. 84 (3	U. 8534	G 8532	U. 8535	
	•		1 - 1 - 2 - 2 - 1			13.691	13.714	13.733	14.764			(c) • FI	13, 755	13. 755	13.755										NC+P	(DMNLESS)	U.3848	0.8846	L RF	2000 2000 2000				0.0302	U. 4813	U.8874	0.8871	1060.0	L.8908	-
		TINE .	(SECURUS)		6) • 4	5.25	5.75	6.25			(2.)	7.75	8-25	75				2 1 1 2 2 3 2 2 3		Ц 1921	08	T			TIME	I SECONDS)	445	4.75		0.0	0	67+9	6. l2	CZ-1 .	7.75	8.25	ä.75	9-25	0.75	

;

:

·

		STIAL	(POUNDS)	7386.	1322.	7145.	7055.	7021.	·613	6940.	6297	100/34 1027	6875-						10 100000	10000000	265.54	262,31	255* 93	257.42	254.55	02.462	250, 94	250.32	249.51	248.46		
	022LE	CONFIDI	PB IPS [A]	2.7843	2.8139	21010	2.6540	2.9480	3.0696	3.2319	3.5517	3. (044	6207.6		•			• • • • •		0 0076	D.0965	0.0463	U.C963	G . C 9 6 5	0.0969	1150.0	2793.0	5100 0	C.0976	0.0977		
	NGTH AEROSPIKE N	GE 1	PCS [PS1A]	134.48	142.30	143.44	26.441	144.26	144.23	143.95	16.641	143.77	143.(U	142012					HRP COL	(URKLESS)	1.7758	1.7262	1.7124	L.7287	1.7206	1.7130	1. 7322	1 7751	1.7378	1.7329		•
•	ZUDIX 1 (Con't) 12 PERCENT LEI	NUMBER ACI8. PA	PC	303.22	306.99	335.83	302.83	304.66	304.72	304.50	304.10	304.02	303.85	60.505					5	(LBS/SEC)	21.1218 37 E011	27.5786	27.4865	27.5224	27.5806	27.4483	27.4950	21.4838	27.4019	27.4284		
	APRILIC TEST DATA -	TEST	PA	61 79 .0	1.1359	1.3407	1.7544	1.9652	2,1404	2.3461	2. 3808	2.4581	2.8865	3.0642		·			HS/H/ EFF	(DANLE SS)	0.0204	0120-0	0.021	i. 0220	0.0219	6 0218	ů. 0 218	6.0218	8120-0	0.0218		
	NON - F1		LANGUAP	1 DRAC 5331	270.25	228.11	195.98	155.02	CD+CC7	129-79	117.83	114.37	105.27	11-66		•			ditys	LOWNLESSL	0.6.329	0.0312	0.0304	10000 SALS	u.0305	0.6300	0306	ù .0 306	0.0306	0.0000		
			I INE	4SECUNUSA 4.45	4.75	5,25	5.75	6259 4 75	6, 6	1.75	8.25	8.75	9+25	9.15	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	Li mary mate b	59		1246	LS BCONDS I	4.45	4.75	5.25	2412	0+42	7.25	7.75	8+25	8.75	9+25	n F	

	AERUSPIKE	
on't)	LENGTH	5 406 3
PENDIX 1 (C	2 PERCENT	ACIA.
	ATA 1	TCCT ANIM
	IFST U	
	FLRING	

ŧ

:

A STANDARD

															ł															
	NTIAL	947	(FT/SEC)	5091.	5097.	5088.	5102.	5095.	5087.	5117.	5105.	5100-	5164.	5111.	5103.		CT, TDP	(DANCE SS)	C. 5532	C.9563	0.5544	C.9524	0.9498	0.9477	P.9465	C.+9462	C•9482	n. 9408	C:9471	0.9489
022LE	CONTENDE	C+S	(FT/SEC)	3159.	3518.	3611.	3696.	3679.	3648.	3651.	3643.	3645.	3643.	3642.	3648.		ct	(DMNLESS)	C • 9647	U.•9649	r.9625	0.9600	0.9575	0.9555	0.9545	C+3542	U.9562	0.9548	0.9551	い。9569
NGTH AERUSPIKE N Ge 2		PB/PA	(DMNLESS)	2.849	2.477	2.135	1.835	1.625	1.500	1.434	1.378	1.376	1.394	1.383	1.375	• •	NIS, TOP	(DMNLESS)	ܕ8444	J •8479	0.8450	0.8452	U . 8422	0.6333	U.8 426	J.84D7	D.841 5	3 • 8429	C.8427	0.8429
12 PERCENT LE NUMBER AC18. FA		PB/PC	(DMNLESS)	0. J0923	0.30917	U 11923	0.0021	U. Ju 936	Ú. UČ968	0.01007	U. Ulú61	U.J.168	u.71218	Ú.1311	0. J1387		NI S	(DMNLESS)	U.8510	L.8542	u.8512	C.8513	U.8483	L. 8449	L:• 8487	L. d468	v.8470	L.8471	L • 8489	1.8491
RING TEST DATA		EPSILCN+	(DMNLESS)	27.3.13	27.261	27.199	27.151	27.120	27.092	27.670	27.070	27.070	27.070	27.070	27. 070		NC # S	(DMNLESS)	U. 7337	v. 8107	· v. d3 82	L. 8578	U+ 8539	C. 3457	· v. 8474	v • 8453	L. 8458	u. 8453	L. 845U	1. 8404
HÚT - F1		*4	(Su. IN. L	13.6UB	13.629	13.000	13.084	13.700	417 .cl	13.725	13.725	13.725	13.725	13.125	13.725		NC*P	(DANLESS)	U. 8558	6 a 8 a 2	U.8854	U.4875	V.8867	6,4351	2 160.0	v. b 685	U.0374	6.3352	0.4440	U.¢88.
!		TINE	(SECUNDS)	5+++	61.4	5.25	67.6	6.45	• •	č2. ľ	<2°1	8.25	8.75	67°6.	c1.6	L10	T 146	(SECUNUS)	C 4 • 4	4.75	5.25	5.75	6.25	5.75	7.25	c7.1	č z a d	6.75	4°24	9.75

60 PETRA

a da gale gale gale gale gale gale gale gal														, .	··• ,			_											
· ·	•		TATAT.	L.	(SCNUDA)	7407.	7263	7133.	7080.	7030.	6970.	6968.	• • 259	6905.	0013.	0 8 9 9 9 9 9	15	(SECON)21	266.22	264.34	261.37	257.35	256.63	252.74	252.47	251.01	250.86	249.24	200-062
		•	4022LE CONFTREN	98	(PSIA)	2.7751	2.7024	2.8071	2.8579	2.9386	3.1404	3.2262	3.3953	3.6829	3.1160	9.9836.	NRS	(DAALESS)	0.1742	0.1749	0.1757	0.176U A 176E	0-1-07	0-1770	0.1770	0.1774	0.1776	0.1783	0•1(8)
ł	·	(P.	ENGTH AEROSPICE AGE 1	PCS	(PSIA)	150.67	151.36	151-14	151.06	150.77	150.63	150.36	150.55	150.52	CC•1C1	151•08	MRP	(DRNLESS)	1.7453	1.74.9	1.7415	1.7374	1 . 7 4 1 4	1-7426	1.7524	1.7431	1.7524	1.7514	4-14-24
		APPENDIX 1 (Cont	12 PERCENT L NUMBER AC19. P	ΡC	(PSIA)	339.32	318.31	306.70	306.65	306.34	306.24	305.95	305.72	305.82	10°005	902 • 20 • 20	MT	(LOS/SEC)	27.8235	27.7539	27.7113	27.1158 37.4738	27.6306	27.5765	27.6006	27.5843	27.5241	27.5846	0124 • 12
:			IRING TEST GATA TEST	ρq	(PSIA)	0.9655	1.3722	1-6222	1.8145	2.0025	2.2401	2.2999	2.4686	2.6780	2000 2 8000	2. 8990	NS/WP, EFF	(DHNLESS)	0°0228	0.0229	0.0229	0.0229	0.0228	0.0228	U. 0228	U. 0228	U. 0228	0.0229	0• 0224
			HOT - F	LANBDAP	(DHNLESS)	320.35	274-11	189-06	169.00	152.98	136.71	133.02	123.84	114.20	C2+011	105,38	WS/WP	(DMNLESS)	0.0296	0.0295	0.0294	0.0294	0.0294	0.0295	0.0295	0.0294	0.0295	0.0292	0. 0244
	•		•	TIME	(SECONDS)	••••5 ••••5	4• / 3 5 - 35	5,75	6• 25	6.75	7.25	5	8•25	8.75	4.22 25		TINE	ESECONDSI	4.45	4.75	5•25	5.75	0+23 6-75	7.25	7.75	8.25	8.15	9.25	9.75

.

.

NA N

•

÷

and the second second

APPENDIX 1 (Cont'd)

HUT - FIRING TEST DATA -- 12 PERCENT LENGTH AERDSPIKE ND22LE Test Number ac19, page 2

	INI	₫. ₩	(FT/SEJ)	505e.	5063.	5068.	5062 .	5075.	5083.	5096.	5086.	5095.	5098.	5031.	5112.				1		CT. T3P	(38:1528)	0.9560	0.9565	0.9546	C. 9504	0.9473	0.9473	C. 9453	1446-0	0.9458	0.9484	0.9479	0.9486
	CONFIDENT	C * S	(FT/SEC)	3889.	3922.	3944.	3941.	3947.	3938.	3940.	3928.	3944.	3946.	3980.	3984.						CT.	(OKALESS)	0.9621	0.9624	3.9604	0.9562	0.9537	0.9532	0.9513	0.9531	0.9527	0.9544	0.9536	C.9544
GE 2		PB/PA	(DHNLESS)	2.874	2.447	2.035	1.730	1.575	1.457	1.432	1.433	1.375	1.375	1.363	1.374						NIS. TCO	(DHNLESS)	0.8419	J. 8431	0.8422	0.8375	J. 8376	0.6383	0. 8387	0.8389	J • 8383	0.6420	0.8387	3.8441
NUMBER AC19. PA		PB/PC	(DMNLESS)	0.30897	0.00902	0.0008	0.00115	0.•00932	0.00959	0.31325	0.01054	0.031111	0.01204	0.31236	- 0.01304						NIS	(DMNLESS)	0.8474	0.8485	D。8477	2,8429	0.8431	U.8438	D.8442	D.8444	D•8438	C.8476	ù •8442	U.8497
TEST		EPSILUN*	(DANLE SS)	27.390	27.349	27,285	27.239	27.207	27.179	27.157	27.157	27.157	27.157	27.157	27.157						· NC # S	(DMNLESS)	0.8859	C. 8932	6. 8981	u. 8973	U. 3985	0. 8966	U. 8969	0• 8944	0.8978	U. 8982	u. 9058	0.9067
		**	(SQ. IN.)	13.565	23+435	13.617	13.640	13.656	13.67U	13.681	13.681	13.681	13.681	13.681	13.681						NC*P	(ONITESS)	6.8807	Ú. &814	U.8823	6.6811	C.8637	U •8349	0.8871	Ú, 4858	u.8854	U.8879	U. 8848	0.8 699
		TINE	(SOUCCES)	54-40	4.75	5.25	5.75	6.25	6.75	7.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	9.25	37.5		11:	2	IA	L	T INE	(SECUNDS)	4.45	4.15	5.25	5.75	6.25	6•75	7.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	9.25	9.75

ł

٠

•

•

 -

and the second second

															,			C			-									• •			
- -				INTIAL	¥L.	(SCADDA)	6946.	6854.	6748.	6676.	6612.	6605.	6541.	6518.	6425+	6395.	6341.	•3059		5	(SECONS)	249.38	246.42	243.47	240.89	238.77	239.32	236.86	235.34	232.56	231.89	10.000	CQ • Q 7 7
			022LE	CONFIDI	P B	(PS [A)	3.9972	4.7145	5.5303	6,0049	6.3537	6.7670	7.0271	7.4960	8.0303	8.4052	8.9372	9.2592		MRS	(DAVLESS)	0.1725	0.1731	0+11+0	0.1742	0.1745	0.1746	0.1744	0.1/45	0-1747	0.1748		
	•		NGTH AEROSPIKE N Ge i	4	PCS	(PSI:A)	154.73	155.08	155.42	155.33	155.15	154.85	154.25	154.00	153.97	153.90	153.55	153.43		MRP	(DHNLESS)	1.7453	1.7409	1.7455	1.7419	1.7341	1.7453	2.7459	L. 1458	L. 7464	1.7418		1.100
4		APPENDIX 1 (Cont'd)	12 PERCENT LE Numafr Ac2D. PA		βC	(PSIA)	339.37	338.03	3 37 .63	C1-70E	306.50	306+53	336.63	306.21	336.03	305.92	305 . 81	305.67		МТ	(LBS/SEC)	27.8531	27.8129	27.7175	27.7129	27.6903	27.6005	27.6171	27.6965	27.6274	27.5831	21.0045	0166-17
			IRING TEST DATA		PA	(PSIA)	2+9050	3.4002	3.9882	4.3697	4.6538	4.9663	5.1973	5.5420	5.9439	6.3370	6,7023	6.9850		WS/NP, EFF	(DRNLE SS)	0.0233	0.0234	0.0234	0.0234	0.0234	D. 0234	0.0233	0.0233	0.0233	0.0233	0.0232	70776
			H01 - F1		LAMBDAP	(OMMLESS)	106.24	90.59	77.13	70.28	65.36	61.72	58.99	55+25	51.49	48.2 8	45.63	43.76		NS/WP	(DANLESS)	0.0296	0.0 295	0.0 295	0.0294	0.0294	0.0296	0.0296	0*0246	0.0296	0.0297		0.0471
•					3 HI 1	(SECONDS)	5**4	4-75	· 5.25	5.15	6.25	6.75	7.25	7.15	8.25	8.75	9.25	51.9 515	413 94-71-45171-94	I INC	(SECONDSL	4.45	4.75	5.25	5.15	6.25	6•75 	1.25	1.75	8.25	8.75 ê.75	224	7.13

Ę

ş

・ こうまたち デイチャー ついたい ふんかせんがく ビート・レイ

			4		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	ļ	<u>ון</u>			¢0.	ESSI	38	640	503	.75	47	-75	-13	- -	173	161	362	848
		TVILNEG	*	(FT/SE	5068	5065	5083	5362	5082	5103	5103	5081	2031	5038	5113	5100		CT. T	こうよつし	0.95	0.95	C. 95	F. 94	96 0	0° 0	35°C	0.94	0.93	0 0		C•0
	NOZZLE	CON	C # S	(FT/SECI	3988 .	4014.	4045.	4647.	4045.	4035.	4004	3997.	4000.	3959.	3984.	3981.		CT	(DHYLESS)	. 0.9595	0,9596	0.9557	0.9530	C.9501	0.5531	0.9471	0.9503	0.9431	6++6	D.9421	0*9437
(D)	ENGTH AEROSPIKE	4GE 2	PB/PA	(DMNLESS)	1.374	1.387	1.387	1.374	1.305	1.363	1.352	1.353	1.351	1.326	1.333	1.326		AUT , SIN	(OMNLESS)	3.8415	D.8411	0.8410	J. 8384	0 .8356	9.8418	9.8363	3 .8356	0.8309	0.6335	D.8329	0.8301
ALTERATION LOUD	12 PERCENT LI	NUMBER ACZD . FI	P8/PC	(DMNLESS)	C.01293	0.01531	36710.0	0.01955	0.02073	Ú.J2208	0.32292	0.02448	0.02624	3. 32747	0.02922	0.33029		NIS	(DHNLESS)	D.8471	<u>0.8467</u>	D •8466	0.8439	0.8411	Ù-8474	0.8419	Ú.8413	0.8366	0.8391	0.8386	0.8357
	IRING TEST DATA	IESI	EPSILON*	(DMNLESS)	27.001	27.261	27.215	27.179	27.153	27.136	27.126	27.126	27.126	27.126	27.126	27.126		NC & S	(DMNLESS)	0.9384	0.9142	0.9210	6.9215	0.9209	U. 9187	C.9121	0.9102	6.9107	0,9105	0.9072	0.9064
	H0T - F		A*	(SQ. IN.)	13.509	13.629	13.652	13.670	13.683	13.692	10.697	13.697	L3.697	13.697	13.697	13.697	· · ·	NC *P	(DMNLESS)	U • <u>3</u> 823	U.8817	u.6851	U+3648	0.8645	0.8854	0.8885	U.8847	0.8865	0.8875	L. 8897	0.8880
	•		TINE	(SECONDS)	4.40	4.75	5.25	5.75	6.25	. 6.75	7.25	7.75	8.25	- 8.75	9.25 0	S1.6 N	LAL SLASSIFIED	TINE TIME	(SECONDS)	4.45	4.75	5.25	5.75	6.25	6.75	7.25	7.75	8,25	8.75	9.25	9.75

•

i

ļ

APPERITY 1 (Conted)

2

?; } }

1

. **.**

.

Augentingen Statistichten auf der Gesternen der Gesternen der Gesternen der Gesternen der Gesternen der Gestern

INCLASSICITY

•

																		anayrra wai ƙasa			•											•	
	•	· ·			NTIAL F	(SCNDGe)	T367.	7401.	7425	7419.	7418.	7432.	7423.	7200.	7388.	7399.			·	4	(SECUNDS)	264.96	257.03	268.98	268.48	268.89	269.21	269.41	268.72	20902	30.007		•
				1022LE	CONFIDE	(PSIA)	2.8938	2.8015	2. TART	2.7911	2.8017	2.8920	2.8057	2.8011	2.7938	2.7841	, ,				COULCESSI	1111.0	0.1119	0-1125	0.1128	0.1130	D.1133	0.1134	0.1135	0.1136	001100		
() 			~	UGTH AEROSPICE N De 1	βſ¢	(PSIA)	153.72	153.04	153.11	153.20	152.98	153.05	·152 • 85	152.58	152.32	151.65	•				MRP (DMNLESS)	1.7164	1.7218	1.7136	1.7150	1.7211	1.7378 1.7378	1.7231	1.7279	1.7331	201212		
•			APPENDIX 1 (Cont'd	- 12 PERCENT LEN NUNBER AC21, PAG		PC LPSEAL	308.63	307.85	336•74	540047	20.505	306.36	305.94	306.20	395.47	335.57					HT LI RS/SECI	27.8053	27.7175	27 . 7049 27 £053	27.6319	27.5893	27.5733	27.5595	27.5364	27.4405	5245722		
L	rover allowers an environmentation e east of announce			RING TEST DATA - TEST		PA (DCIA)	1.0981	7719.0	0.9011	0.846T A erec	. U. 6107	0.8445	0.8413	U. 8560	0.8624	- 0.8/94					NS/NP, EFF	0.0231	0.0231	U.0231	0.0232 0.0232	0.0232	0.0231	0.0231	0.0231	0.0230	ŭ. 0230		
				Hat - FI	•	LAMBDAP	281-04	314.85	340,39	361.94	300.02	367.77	363.65	357.71	354.20	347.54		,			HS/ND	0.0299	0.0301	0.0300	0°0300	0.0299	0.0299	0,0200	0.0300	2,0302	0.0301		
	•			•	\$	TINE	1354UNU31 4-45	4.75	5.25	5+75	6.25	0 • 0 2 • 0	7.75	8.25	8.75	9.25		1	415 201		TIME	ESELUNUSE 4.45	4.75	5.25	5.15	0•23 6•75	7.25	7•75	8. 25 8. 75	9.25	9.75		

•

......

AFFANDIA 1 (cont+d) AFFANDIA 1 (cont+d) HOT - FLACKA ESS DATA 12 PEACENT LENGTH AFROSPICE QUZLE CONTROL TA* FEST NUMBER ACZI, PAGE 2 CONTROL A* FEST NUMBER ACZI, PAGE 2 CONTROL 13.650 ZT.207 D.130999 Z*553 13.651 ZT.207 D.130991 Z*553 13.661 ZT.157 D.130911 Z*233 13.661 ZT.157 D.130911 Z	6866 L.9112 U.9551 0.9099 8864 0.9099 U.8527 0.9662 8875 0.9099 U.8524 0.9662 0.9049 U.8524 0.84485 0.9661 0.9049 U.8554 0.84485 0.9662 0.9049 U.9049 U.8554 0.9661 0.9049 U.8554 0.84485 0.9661 0.9017 U.85545 0.84485 0.9613 0.9017 U.85545 0.84465 0.9663 0.9017 U.8552 0.84461 0.9663 0.9017 U.8552 0.96495 0.9663 0.9017 U.8552 0.96465 0.9663
HOT - FARING TEST DATA	
AFPENTIX 1 (Continues) AFPENTIX 1 (Continues) HOT - FLRING TEST DATA 12 PERCENT LE TEST NUMBER A21, PB/PC 13.656 13.656 13.656 13.656 13.656 13.658 13.6599 13.658 13.658 13.658 13.659 14.657 15.699 15.7157	
HOT - FIRING TEST DATA HOT - FIRING TEST DATA TEST A* EPSILON* (SQ. IN.) CPNULESS) 13.645 27.157 13.681 27.157 14.177 14.177 15.	8866 8875 8875 0.9099 8875 0.9017 8979 8979
H01 - FI H01 - FI S2. IN.) I3.645 I3.645 I3.645 I3.668 I3.688 I3.688 I3.688 I3.688 I3.688 I3.688 I3.688 I3.688 I3.688 I3.688 I I3.888 I I I3.888 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	88966 88764 88764 88764 88761 88761
	(၁ ၀ ၃ ၁ ၆ ၆ ရ
HE HE SESSESSESSESSESSESSESSESSESSESSESSESSE	7 - 22 4 - 25 4 - 25 - 25

																1	C	مع به مع ا ا ا	pa aya Kinani d	و میں بالاعل			151		-		<u>ام</u>							
		1 A T 41	IEN LLAL			1000	0000	-5105	- 202	5065	2393.	5356.	5093.	5100.	5093.	5114.	5094.					CT - 132	C DRNLES	0.9555	0. 9555	0.9554	0.9554	0.\$556	0.9355	0.9567	1000 C	1027 • 2 020 • 0	10.05.00 10.05.00	0.9545
		1012LE CONETT					•>??	-2110	• > 6 5 6		3936.	3947.	3941.	3929.	. 3919.	3905.	3869 .					CT.	(DANLESS)	0,9616	0.9618	0.9615	3.9615	0.9618	0.9615	0.9627	0.9614	2208°U	0.9598	0.9608
8 - 14 - 14 - 14 - 14 - 14 - 14 - 14 - 1	. (1	NGTH AEROSPICE V Ge 2	0000		NUTILESS P			3.038	3 4 2 9 3	J. 288	3.338	3.318	3.335	3.272	3.238	3.177	3.236					NIS. TDP	(DHNLESS)	2.8447	0.8462	3.8441	3. 8471	3.8456	0.8462	3.8482	0.8469 • • • • • • •	0-8403 D-8465	0.8485	0.8461
електирници и от с≖т, и у ат	APPENDIX 1 (Cont'd	10 PERCENT LE NUMBER AC21, PA	00100						01500.0	21600.0	0.00916	0.20915	7100.0	Ú.J0915	0.0014	0.0314	11600.0					SIN	(DANLESS)	0.8535	D.8521	U.85JJ	C • 853D	U.8515	0.8521	U-8341	1-00/1	- 4+07+4 A - 8524	u.8546	U.8523
		IRING TEST DATA	Enclions			22 22 Z				21.121	27.157	27.157	27.157	27.157	27.157	27.157	27.157					NC + S	(DMNLESS)	0, 9037	0.9012	ũ . 9046	0.9390	0.9039	U. 9088	0.04112 0.0400	U. 4U44	0700-0	0.9017	Ú. 8979
		HDT = F1	**					110.01	100-07	13-081	13.681	13.681	14.681	13.681	13.681	13-681	13.681.					NC+P	(DHNLESS)	U. 8839	G •8856	0.8836	U.8866	U-8847	0.6856	U - 8850	U.0004	U-0012	0.6301	U •8865
			7146	E E CUNUCI	19CCUIU31		1	67+C -		C7•0	6.75	1.25	7.75	8.25	8.75	. 9.25	9.75			ц Л	.6	TIME	(SECONDS)	4.45	4.75	5•25	5.15	6•25	6• 13 7 25	1.40	[+17 25 25	2 2 2	5.25	9.75

ļ

,

•

•



Ţ

PRENIX 1 (CONFIE) PRENIX 1 (CONFIE) LE PERCENT LENCTH AERGSPIKE HOLZLE DER ROOS, PAGE 2 CONFIENDENTIAL DER PERCENT LENCTH AERGSPIKE HOLZLE DER ROOS, PAGE 2 C. CONFIENDENTIAL DER PERCENT LENCTH AERGSPIKE HOLZEN D. CONFIENDENTIAL DER PERCENT LENCTH AERGSPIKE HOLZEN D. CONFIENDENTIAL D. CONFIENDENTIA	-		A G • •			
PERXIIX 1 (Cont'd) L2 PERCENT LENGTH AERGSPIKE HOZZLE 44ER R069, PAGE 2 CONFTOF 44ER R069, PAGE 2 CONFTOF 10.04325 LOWNLESS 1 (FT/SEC) 0.04325 L.256 0.0 0.04325 L.256 0.0 0.04325 0.04325 CONVLESS 0.0 0.04325 0.04325 0.0 0.04325 0.0008 0.0 0.04325 0.0 0.04225 0.0 0.0425 0.0 0.042		E 0 0	MTLAL C+((FT/SE(5053,			
PTEXDIX 1 (Cont ¹ d) 12 PERCENT LENGTH AEROSPIKE I 12 PERCENT LENGTH AEROSPIKE I 12 PERCENT LENGTH AEROSPIKE I 1.256 0.04325 0.0606 0.08074 0.08074 0.08076		CT CT DHNLESS) 0.9198	NOZZLE CONFINE C*S (FT/SEC) 0. 0.	N022LE	ALL AND A A	
PFENDIX 1 (Cont' L2 PERCENT LE 48ER RD69, PA PB/PC 0.04289 0.04325 0.04325 0.04325 0.04325 0.08074 0.8086	·	N IS+ TOP 10000 6074 0.8086	d) NGTH AEROSPIKE IGE 2 PB/PA 104NLESS 1.256 1.256 1.256	d) NGTH AEROSPIKE I GE 2	gga beger al mound a brack to branch	, , ,
	-	NIS DHNLESS) 0.8086	APPENDIX 1 (Cont ¹ , 	APPENDIX 1 (Cont' - 12 PERCENT LE NUMBER RD69, PA	والمعارية والمعاولة المعارية والمعاول	
IRING TEST DATA TEST EPSILUN* (DMNLESS) 25.263 24.989 24.989 0.0		NC *S 0.0 0.0	IRING TEST DATA TEST EPSILUN* EDMNLESS) 25.263 24.989	IRING TEST DATA		ì, ',
HUT - F HUT - F (SQ. IN.) 14.707 14.868 14.868 0.8790 0.8790		NC*P NC*P 0.8770 0.8770	HUT - FI A* [50. IN.] [4.707 [4.868	I- 10H		
WICLASSIFIED		UNCLASSIFIED	TIME L.OO L.OO			

Free and the second of the			TATAL	F (POU:40 \$1 8033 • 8044 • 6044 • 6064 •	UNCLASSIFIED	ts 209. 62 210. 19 210. 19 210. 29 210. 65 210. 65
APENDIX 1 (Cont'd) ADDI - FIRING TEST DATA 12 PFRCENT LENGTH AFROSPIKE NOTLIN PAGE 1 ADDID - FIRING TEST DATA 12 PFRCENT LENGTH AFROSPIKE NOTLIN PAGE 1 ADDID - FIRING TEST DATA 12 PFRCENT LENGTH AFROSPIKE NOTLIN PAGE 1 ADDID - FIRING TEST DATA 12 PFRCENT LENGTH AFROSPIKE NOTLIN PAGE 1 ADDID - FIRING TEST DATA 12 PFRCENT LENGTH AFROSPIKE NOTLIN PAGE 1 ADDID - FIRING TEST DATA 12 PFRCENT LENGTH AFROSPIKE NOTLIN PAGE 1 ADDID - FIRING TEST DATA 12 PFRCENT LENGTH AFROSPIKE NOTLIN PAGE 1 ADDID - FIRING TEST NAME ADDID			DZZLE CONFIDE	P8 17.1689 17.1689 17.1200 17.1282 17.1282 17.1282		NRS (DHNLESS) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Intersont Inter) 4gth Aerospiks N 6e 1	PCS PSIA 0.0 0.0 0.0		MRP (DHNL ESS) 1.8202 1.8233 1.8223 1.8223 1.8222
HOT - FLAING TEST DATA- HOT - FLAING TEST DATA- HOT - FLAING TEST DATA- TEST TEST 1000 28.51 13.7200 28.51 13.7200 28.52 13.7200 28.51 13.7200 28.23 13.7200 28.23 13.7200 28.23 13.7200 28.23 13.7200 28.24 13.7200 28.24 13.7200 28.25 13.7200 28.20 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00		• • •	APPENDIX 1 (Cont'd - 12 PFRCENT LEA NUMBER RD71, PAG	PC (PSIA) 391-09 387-72 387-44		WT (L85/SEC) 38.2840 38.2540 38.2540 38.3140
HdT - FI HdT - FI 28.33 28.37 28.33 28.37 28.35 28.37 28.35 28.37 28.35 28.37 29.00 20.000 20.000 20.000 20.00000000	states and a state of the states and a state of the states		RING TEST DATA -	PA (PSIA) 13.7200 13.7200 13.7200 13.7200 13.7200 13.7200	· .	#5/#P. EFF (DHMLESS) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
			H01 - FL	LAKEDAP (DMNLESS) 28.51 28.37 28.24 28.24 28.24		#S/#P 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
UNULASSIFIEU 73				Tire (SECONDS) 0.50 1.00 2.50 2.50 2.50	UNCLASSIFIED	TIXE I SECONDS) 0.50 1.00 1.50 2.50 2.50

LIAL	C#P (FT/SEC) 5024. 5038. 5043. 5043.	UNGLASSIBILI	CT. TOP (DRWLESS) 0.9071 0.9074 0.9074 0.9091	:	-
IOZZLE CONFIDER	C#S C#S 0 0 0 0 0 0		CT (CVMLESS) 1,9071 0,9068 0,9091 0,9091		
IGTH AERUSPIKE N	PB/FA (DMNL ESS) 1.251 1.248 1.248 1.248 1.249 1.251		NIS, TOP (UMNL ESS) 0.7948 0.7966 0.7969 0.7969 0.7969		
APPENTIN 1 (Cont'd) - 12 PERCENT LEA NUMGER KÜTL, PAC	PB/PC (DMNL ESS) 0.04390 0.04498 0.04422 0.04432		NIS DRNLESS) 0.7948 0.7974 0.7986 0.7986 0.7996		-
LING TEST DATA -	EPSILON# (DMNLESS) 24.535 24.280 24.280 24.194 24.194	·	MC *5 (DMRLES 5) 0.0 0.0 0.0		
H0 H0H	A* (Su. IN.) 15.143 15.337 15.302 15.341 15.357		NC*F (D/NLE3Si 0.8762 0.8785 0.8796 0.5796		
•	rthe tsecunds) 0.50 1.50 2.00 2.50 2.50	UNCLASSIFIED	TIME 1.56CUNS) 1.50 1.50 2.00 2.50	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•

and the second second

•.

		·		-									UNULADDICIE:				_	_	.			•	مىڭىيە قەللەرىنى ئۇ مەڭىلىدىغ
		,	DENTIAL	F FUUNDS	8427.	6437.	8634	6431. 8437.	84340	8443	8362.	6346.			こうじょう しつ ひょう しょう しょう しょう しょう しょう しょう しょう しょう しょう し	. 210-50	210.30	210.48	210-75	211.02	212.84	212-69	
	and the second second	M0771 E	CONFI	PB (PSIA)	17.7936	17-8173	17.7963	17,8025	17.7383	17.8608	17.4643	17.3815		MAS	0.0533	0.0485	0°0474	0-0467	0.00554	0.0457	0.0	0.0	
	西山市にないます。 ひんてい ひんかん ゆうち ゆうざ	1d) 1d) 2400.5014.5	AGE 1 AGE 1	PCS (2514)	74.35	70.98	57.96	50.44 54 .40	57.55	58.16	0.0	0.0		HRP FERMI FEED	(UTALESS)	1.7202	1.7204	1.7244	L. (110	1.7303	1.7303	1.7280	inneriers, boggenerier
and the state of the	n og sædgær fægtær en skriveter. -	APPENDIX 1 (Cont 2 December 1	is persent f NUMBER ROOL, P	PC 1PCIAE	398.11	396.66	395.92	395 • 94	14•CFC	395.59	395.61	395.58		14	1185/35C) 20 1288	40.04.00	40°1042	40.0851	40°0585	40°0120	39.2898	11+2-66	·
المرابقة المراجعة المراجع	- 希望さいと、予知 予定		IRING IEST UAIA TEST	84 19116)	13.8000	13.6000	13.8000	13-8000	13 BCCU	13-8000 13-800ù	13.8000	13-8000	. *	WS/WP, EFF	(UNALESS)	0.0020	0.0024	0.0024	0*0024	4700°0	0.0	0	
and the second strategy where	and a start of the		HUI - F	LANBDAP LANDAP	28-85	28.74	23.69	29.69	28.65	28.65	28.67	28.66	:	WS/RP	(DHNLESS)	0,0157	0-0162	0.0162	0-0163	0.0143	0-00 0-0		
a way a college				TIME LEEFORDED	1 261 - 1424	1.00	1.50	2.00	2.50	3.00		01.10	422 INC EASSIFED	7876	(SECONDS)	G. 50	1.50	2.00.	2.50	3-00	5.42 00	002	

.

and the second secon

											IJ	Ñ	CLASSIFIED		-	• .									
	ENTLAL	C+P		5047.	5060.	5058.	5065.	5066.	5073.	5071.	5081.	·•/806		CT, TUP	ED MALE SS	U. 9061	J. 9070.	0-9066	0-9060	0.5068	0.9058	ù_9071	0.9131	0.9115	
NUZZLE	CONFIL	C * S	(FT/SEC)	.199	941.	757.	738.	738.	748.	157.	•	•		ст ¹	(DNNLESS)		1	I	I	. 1	1	1	0.9131	0.9115	rogram.
LENGTH AEROSPIKE	PAGE 2	PB/PA	(DMNLESS)	1.289	1.291	L. 290	1.287	1.290	1.285	1.296	1.266	1.260		NIS. TOP	I DMNI PSSI	0.7948	0.7975	7040	00100	0.7984	0 - 7087	1001 00 1000 00	0 8045	0.8059	ge of Data Reduction
12 PERCENT	NUMBER RUDI.	PB/PC	(DANLESS)	0.04470	0.04492	0.04495	0.04485	0.04502	0.04482	0.04520	0.04415	0.04394		NIS 1	I DAN ECC		1	ł	ې •	1			0.0046	0.8059	es Outside the Ran
IRING YEST DATA	TEST	EPSILON*	LUMNLE SS	24.087	23 . 984	23,939	23.919	23.919	23.919	23.919	23.919	516.62					 		: ;	i 1	i	1	<u>،</u> ا	0.0	l Secondary Properti
H01 - F		*4	[SU. IN.)	15.425	15.491	15-520	15.533	15.533	15.533	15.533	15-533	15.533		0 + 5 4		UNNLESS!		0.8199	0.8.91	0.8803	0.8805	U•8847	0.8810	0. 8852 0. 8842	¹ Tneoretica
		TINE	(SECUNDS)	0.50	1.00	1.50	2.00	2.50	3.00	345	06.4	4.70	L22 UNCLASSIFIED			(SECUNDS)		1.00	1.50	2.00	2.50	3.00	3.45	4•30 4 70	

APPENDIX 1 (Cont'd)

• • • • • •

.

:

Ą

Contraction of the local distribution of the

•

.

•

•				F.		5936. 5255	5936.		5951.	5961.	- 1986	6012.	•1655	•000•	6001.	6004.	5982. 1	5998.	E009	TROUT				19440		200-05	206.20	200.09	200-04	200.35	199.89	200-21	200.99	200.44	200.79	110103
•)22LÊ	CONFIDENTIAL	P.B.		15-6112	15.6677	15.7029	15.6743	15.6781	15.7152	16.0193	L5.9942	15.9916	15.9815	15.9542	15-9000	15-9267	15.9731			KRS					0.0	0.0	0.3029	0.2654	0.2599	0.2604	0.2617	0.2628	0.2628	~~~~~
	d)	ENGTH AEROSPIKE NI NGE 1	1	PCS	(PSIA)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	164-03	149.86	147.82	148.00	147.88	148-10	147.89	147.86		,	N S P	(DANLESS)		1 - 6600	1.6727	1.6762	1.6752	1-6740	1:6722	1.6710	1.6793	1.5744	1.6788	1.6745	7 4 0 0 4 7
•	APPENDIX 1 (Cont'	- 12 PERCENT LE NUMBER RDC2. PI		PC	(PSIA)	300.12	298.77	298.58	298.01	298.23	298.28	298.79	298.43	298.82	299.20	299.70	299.22	299.99	300.38		,	5	(LBS/SEC)	20 7006	53.1034 30.7473	20.7506	29.7742	29.7900	30.0543	29.9328	30.0190	29.9731	29.8696	29.8438	29.8717 20.8453	C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C
		RING TEST DATA		PA	(PSIA)	. 13.8400	13.8400	13.8400	13.8400	13.8400	13.8400	13.8400	13.6400	13.8400	13-8400	13.8400	13.8400	13.8400	13.8400	•		NS/ND. EFF	(DKHLESS)				0-0	0.0	0.0091	0.0083	0.0082	0.0082	0.0085	0.0082	0.0082	2072.0
		HOT - F1		LANBUAP	LONNLESS	21.68	21.59	21.58	21.53	21.55	21.55	21.59	21.56	21.59	21.62	21.65	21.62	21.68	21.70	•		AR/SR	(DANTESS)	0.0			0.0	0.0	0.0102	0.0109	0.0110	0.0116	0.0110	0.0110	0.0110 ĉ 0100	10100
•				TIME	(SECONDS)	0.50	1.00	4.50	2.00	2.50	3.00	3.50	4.00	4.50	5.00	5.50		50	00		IE		I SECONDS)	0.50			2,50	3-02	3.50	4.00	4.50	5.00	5.50	. 6.00	6.50 1.50	· f.uc

\$

4-3-

1 1 1

.

.

Í

ŭ,

ţ.

		ENTIAL	C¢P	(FT/SEC)	5033.	5035.	5043.	5049.	5650.	5044.	5050.	5057.	5056.	5065.	5067.	5084.	5 086				DRNLESS)		0.8956	0.6947	0.3950	G. 8956	0.6941	0.8926	J. 6925	6138 0	U. 6915	0.8897	C. 8907	0.8911		
	NDZZLE	CONFID	C*S	(FT/SEC)	••	••	••	G.	•0	•0	4518.	3869.	3766.	3785.	3906.	3820.	3809.	9810°		ب. ب ر	(DANLESS)	0.8023	0.8954	0.8947	0.8950	U. 8956	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0 £11813 •	
d)	NGTH AERUSPIKE I Ge 2		P B / P A	DRN: ESS)	1.128	1.132	1.135	1.133	1.133	1.135	1-157	1.156	1.155	1.155	1.153	k.149	1.151	461°1		N16. TOD	(DANLESS)	0.7826	0.7855	0.7858	0.7863	0.7859	0.7855	0.7869	0.7849	0.7859	0.7889	0.7869	0.7880	0.7891	of Data Reduction Pr	
APPENDIX 1 (Cont'	- 12 PERCENT LE MUMAFR R002. PA		PB/PC	(DHNLESS)	U.05202	0.05244	u.05257	0-65260	0.05257	0.05269	0. 05361	0.65359	0.05352	0-05341	0.05323	0.05314	0.05309	81550°D		- - - -	(DHNLESS)	0.7826	0.7855	C. 7858	0.7863	ú.7859	1	1	!	1	ł	I	ł	1	Outside the Range o	- -
	RING TEST DATA -		EPSILON*	(DRNLESS)	24.194	24.106	24.062	24.011	24.00%	24.025	24.067	24.068	24.038	24.113	24.132	24.129	24.159	1.67•42		, t u t	(DANLESS)		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	I	1		1	1	: 1	-	1	Secondary Properties	
	HÜT - F1		A*	(SQ. [N.]	15.357	15.413	15.441	15.474	15.478	15.465	15.436	15.437	15.424	15.408	15.396	15.398	15.379	266.61			(ORNLESS) C etet	0.8762	6.8773	0.8783	0.8785	0.8774	0.8785	0.8815	G. 8795	0.8812	0.885 Ū	0.8845	Ū. 8847	0.8855	1 Theoretical	
			TINE	(SECOVOS)	0.50	1.00	1. 50	2.00	2.50	3.00	3.50	. 4.00	4.50	5.00	5.50	3 ; []	0.50		424 SIFI		(SECONDS)		1.50	2.00	2.50	006	3.50	4.00	4.50	5.00	5.50	6•CG	ó.50	7.00		-

è

in pr

1 T

	IDENTIAL	4	(SOUND S)	5952.	597L.	5948.	5964.	5946.	5935.	6025.	6066.	÷050*	6004.	6006.	6006.	5966.	5959.		IS I	(SECONDS)	198.10	198.97	198.67	198.78	198.69	198.51	291-13	197.45	197.46	197.47	197.59	197.65	200.45	200.45
NDZZLE	CONF	68	[PSIA]	15.4917	15.5392	15.4745	15.5402	15.4911	15.4337	15.8606	15.7770	15.8190	15.8578	15.7548	15+7606	15.4667	15.4974		MRS	(DRALESS)	0.0	0.0	0.0		0.0		0640-0	0.0912	2260.0	0.0928	0.0915	1160.0	0.0	0.0
ENGTH AEROSPIKE VGČ 1		PCS	(PSIA)	0.0	0-0	0-0	0.0	0-0	0-0	274.60	257.47	254.76	254.02	255.49	254.47	0"0	0-0		MRP	(DANLESS)	1.7244	L.7253	1.7224	1.7309	2.1243	1.174	1.1210	1.7220	1 - 7269	1.7264	1.7279	1.7222	1.7230	1-7215
12 PERCENT LI NUMBER ROU3, PI		5	(PSIA)	. 304.81	303 . 84	302.11	302.42	301.32	301.01	302.11	301.76	302.62	302.05	302.56	302.90	303.66	303 . 79		кТ	(LBS/SEC)	30.0442	30.0065	29.9394	30.001.2	1/26-62	4488.67	50.44(13	30.4166	30.4868	30 • 4053	30.4130	30.3854	29.7629	29.7301
RING TEST DATA - TEST		PA	(PSIA)	13.6000	13.8000	13.6000	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000	13.8300	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000		HS/NP. EFF	(DHNLESS)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0152	0.0143	0.0141	0.0141	0.0142	0.014L	0.0	0.0
HOT - FL		LAMBDAP	(DMNLESS)	22.09	22.62	21.89	21.89	21.83	21.81	21.89	21.87	21.93	21.89	21.92	21.95	22-00	22.01		4S/ 4P	(DHNLESS)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0190	0.0196	Q. 0196	0.0196	0.0156	6.0197	0.0	Ú• 0
		TINE	(SECONDS)	0.50	1.00	1.50	2.00	2.50	3•00	3.50	4-00	4.50	5.00	5.50	6.00	7.00	1.50	425	TIME	[Seconds]	0.50	1.00	1.50	2.00	2.50	3.00	3.50	4.00	4.50	5.00	5.50	6.00	7.00	7.50

£40

.

. . .

;

•

.

	• • • • • • • • • • •	يارس وتقعمه	و برونه وله وي ا			سم وريد		منتح		- 1.		I	N	C	Et	<u>55</u>	łF	ED		8 	 ·	r												 	• • • •
South States and States		IAL	C*P [f1/SEC] 4000	5010.	5015.	-2004	5014.	2026 5036	5037.	5030.	5030 °	5040.	5042.	5056.	5055. r.	1999 1997 1997 1997 1997 1997 1997 1997	نامد الم		CT TOS	(DHRLESS)	0.6905	U. 8926	U. 6911	0. 892 f	0.8942	0. 584 0	0.8818	0.8828	C. 3829	0.8810	ü •8815	Ù.8912	0.8915		
	122LE	TNATINOC	C+S (FT/SEC)	•••	3	0	ð r		36762	3632	3019.	3639.	3623.	•0	و.				F ((DAXLESS)	0.8906	0.8926	0.6911	0.892 f	C750°0	0-0303 0-8882	Ú.8865	U-8875	0.6877	Ú.8857	U •8863	C.8912	0.8915		
	L) NGTH AEKUSPIKE NO	GE 2	PB/PA (DMNLESS)	1.126	1.121	1.126	1,123		141-1	1.145	1.149	1.142	1.144	1.121	1.123					(DMNLESS)	0.7751	0.7788	0.7782	0.1186	0.7723	201100 7745	ŭ.7735	0.7733	0.7735	0.7134	U.7739	0.7847	0 - 7846		
	12 PERCENT LÉ	NUMBER RUD3. PA	PB/PC	0.05114	0.05122	0.05144	0.05141	9.05127	U.05228	0.05227	0.05250	0.05207	0- 45210	0.05093	0.05101				517	(DHNLESS)	0.7751	0.7768	0.7752	0.7186 5 7725	(8))•0	00100 0 1100	U-7772	6-7763	1717.0	02220	ū.1176	0.7847	0.7846		
	KING TEST DATA	TEST	EPSILON*	24.472	24.350	24.354	24.315	24•295	24.341	24-24-2	24.384	24.370	24.411	24.435	24.479					(DANLESS)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		0 • C	U•9200 û.8456	0.8368	0.8337	0.8384	0.8350	0.0	0.0		
	H01 - F1	•	A* [50. [N.]	15.115 15.182	2.248	15.255	15.280	15.233	15.264	15-240	15,237	15.246	15.220	15.205	15.178					IDANI ESSI	0. 8703	0.8725	0.8733	0.8722	0.8/32	U.8/4/	0.6122 0.6772	0.876G	ŭ. 876C	0.8779	0.8780	G • 880%	C. 8842		
			TIME (SECUNDS)	0.50 1.00	1.50	2.00	2.50	3.00	3.50			5.50	99.9	3 ~ ~	1.50	1S	715 715	6 FIE		I LHE I CECONDEI	0.50	1.00	I.50	2.00	2.50	3.00	2, 3C 4 60		5.00	5.50	6.00	7.00	7.50		



		LIAL	C#9 15T/SEC1 5023. 5039. 5041.	INDIASSINED States
の時間に見ていた。		022LE Confituent	C 45 (FT/SEC) 0. 0.	CT CMNLE SS 0.8946 0.8965 0.8965
		IGTH AEROSPIKE N Sé 2	PB/PA (DHNLESS) 1.077 1.078 1.078 1.078	NIS, TOP NIS, TOP 0.7822 0.7857 0.7865
	 APPENDIX 1 (Cont'd)	- 12 PERCENT LEN NUMBER RDOS. PAC	PB/PC (DMNLESS) 0.064699 0.04699	NIS (DMNLESS) 0.7857 0.7865 0.7865
	;	RING TEST DATA -	EPSILON* (DMNLESS) 26.287 26.108 26.108	NC #5 0.0 0.0 0.0
		HUT - F1	A* (SQ. IN.) 14.134 14.209 14.231	NC #P 0. 8774 0. 8772 0. 8773
			TIME (SECONDS) 0.50 1.38 1.38	UNCLASSIFIED

and the second sec	•				-							1		UN										. ~	
	•			DATIAL	E COUNDSI	5964.	5959.	5973.	5977.	2970.	5977.	-156S	5982.	5982.		SI	1 SECURIO 2 0 2 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	203-52	205,56	204.58	204.51		204-20	204-79	204.72
			·	NO 2 2 L E Confitde	PB PCTA1	14-9164	14.3039	14.9209	14-9292	14 RASA	14.8535	14. 10	14.8488	14.8234		HR S			0.0	0.0	0.0	0•0			0.0
	and the second second second			NGTH AEROSPIKE	PCS		00	0.0	0.0			0.0	0.0	0.0		MRP	(DANLESS)	1.8511 1 0245	1.8457	1.8394	1.8345	1.8345	1.8363	1.05385 1.0410	1.8445
	and the second secon		APPENDIX 1 (Cont ¹ d	12 PERCENT LE NUMBER R006, PA	PC	(PSIA)	322.09	321.78	321.91	321-15	320.65	321.71	321.45	321.40		ыТ	(LBS/SEC)	29.5002	20.2721	29.2599	29.2265	29.2140	29.2161	29.2770	29.2190
, #	renter en la les de general de la formeter de	• •		RING TEST DATA -	PA	(PSIA)	13-7000	13, 7000	13.7000	13.7000	13.7000	13.7000	13.700.	13.7000		ES/SP. EFF	(DMALESS)	ວ•0				0.0	0.0	0.0	0°0
	an seraraha serara a funga kar			HGT - FL	LAMBDAP	(DHNLESS)	23.65	23.49	23.50	23.44	23-42	23e 4's	23.40	23.46	· · · · · ·	NS/NP	(DMNLESS)	0.0	0°0	50		0.0	0.0	0.0	0°0 0
					TIME	I SECUNDSI	0.50	1.50	2.00	2.50	3.00	3.50	4.00	29 •	429 RELEASSIFIED		I SECONDS)	0.50	1.00	1.50	2.00		05.0	00.4	4.45

.

...

		[DENTIAL	C+P	(11/3CL) 5066.		5056.	5064	5071.	5068.	5071.	5071.	5078.	5076.	NOTASSHIP	CT, TOP	(DRALESS)	0.5553	0.8952	0.8962.	0.6972	U. 8961	0.6961	0.8963	0.8962	0.8956	U. 8956
:	N0ZZLE	COMP	S+C		3 d	. -		.0		•0	••	•	•		CT	(DANLESS)	0.8953	0.8552	0.8962	0.8972	0.8961	0.8961	0. 8963	0.8562	G•8956	0.8956
	d) NGTH AERUSPIKE	16E 2	PB/PA	(DANLESS)	1 288	1 .089	1.690	1.6.30	1.085	1.085	1.086	1.084	1.082		NIS, TOP	(DHNL ESS)	0.7891	0.7912	0.7918	Q.7933	1691.0	0.7932	0*62*0	0*240	0.7948	0.7945
	APPENDIX 1 (Cont.	NUMBER ROOS. PA	PB/PC	(DANLESS)	0+14004	0-04637	0.04638	0.04631	0.04634	U.04628	0.04624	0+04619	0-04612		SIN .	(DMNLESS)	0.7891	0.7912	0.7918	G.7938	0.7937	0.7932	0*62*0	ü •794ü	U. 7948	G•1945
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	RING TEST DATA -	TEST	EPSILUN*	· (DMMLESS)	26.20	26.360	26,330	20.272	- 25.272	26.272	26.272	26+272	26.272		NC +S	(DANLESS)	0-0	0.0	0-0	Ú.Ú	0.0	0.0	0.0	0-0	0.0	0•0
• • •	11 - 10H		A# 	[50. [N.]	14.562	1 4. 005	14.111	14.142	14.142	14.142	14.142	14.142	14.142		A+DN	(DMNLESS)	6-8315	0.8839	0.8836	0. 5848	0, 6357	0. 8852	0.8859	U. 8859	0.8374	0.8871
			TIME	(SECUNUS)	0	1.50	2-00	2.50	3.00	3.50	4=00	4.45	4.80	430	TINE	(SECONDS)	0.50	1.00	1.50	2.00	2.50	3.00	3.50	4.60		4.E

.

		NTIAL	F (PAUKOS)	562.	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	5851.	5862.	5775.	5769. 5789.	UNCLASSIFIED.	L SECUNDS L SECUNDS L 99. 18 1 99. 18 1 99. 18 1 99. 18 200. 31 203. 75 203. 75 204. 30
		NDZZLE Confidm	68 695121	14.9661	14.9259	15-0278	14.9908	14.5701	14.5236 14.5585		MR S CONNLESSP 0.1656 0.1644 0.1649 0.1660 0.0 0.0 0.0
	·d)	ength Aerospike 16e 1	PCS (PSIA)	170-52	21°121	171.18	170.93	0.0	000		MRP (DMNLESS) 1.3916 1.9655 1.8999 1.8985 1.8985 1.8985
•	APPENDIX 1 (Cont	IZ PERCENT LE Number Roos, Pi	PL (PSIA)	314.05	311-27	310.49	316,62	310.42	311.27		HT (LBS/SEC) 29°3466 29°2848 29°28485 29°2485 29°2485 28°3326 28°3326 28°3344
		.RING TEST DATA - TEST	PA (PSIA)	13.6000	12.8000	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000 13.8000		MS/HP, EFF (DMNLESS) 0.0249 0.0250 0.0250 0.0250 0.0 0.0 0.0
			LANDOAP (Damless)	22.76	22.55	22.50	22.51	22°49	22.56		WS/WP 494NLESS 0.0323 0.0323 0.0323 0.0323 0.0323 0.00 0.0
			T IME (SECONDS)	6.50	1.50	1+95	2.35	3.12	4 • 5 6 4 • 8 2	431 UNCLASSIFIED	TTRE (SECONDS) 1.00 1.50 2.35 2.35 5.72 5.25 5.25 5.25 5.25 5.25 5.25 5.2

ł

i t

\ . .

.....

1.2.1

	TIAL	C+P C+T/SEC) 5009. 5028. 5022. 5022. 5025. 5036.	UNCLASSIFIED	CT. TOP (DRNLESS) 0.8843 0.8850 0.8877 0.8877 0.8883 0.9034 0.9035
NOZZL E	CONFIDE	C*S (FT/SEC) 3872. 3872. 3885. 3897. 0. 0.		CT (DKNLESS) C.8507 C.8507 C.8507 C.8915 C.8939 C.8946 O.9034 O.9034
A) NGTH AEROSPIKE I	6t 2	PB/PA LUMNL 555 L.084 L.089 L.089 L.069 L.056 L.055 L.055 L.055		NIS. TOP (UMNLESS) 0.7736 0.7775 0.7811 0.7823 0.7956 0.7956
Apprible 1 (Cont ¹ 12 PERCENT LE	NUMBER ROOS. PA	PB/PC (DMNLESS) J.04766 J.04800 0.04840 0.04840 0.04879 0.04679 U.04677		NIS (UMNLESS) (UMNLESS) 0.7793 0.7793 0.7869 0.7956 0.7976
RING TEST DATA -	TEST	E PS I LUN* (UHNLE SS) 26.828 26.603 26.529 26.454 26.454 26.454 26.454 26.454 26.454 26.454		NC #5 NC #5 0.8812 0.8830 0.8830 0.8873 0.0 0.0 0.0
14 - 10H	-	A* (Su. IN.) 13.849 13.966 14.005 14.045 14.045 14.045 14.045 14.045		NC *P (DMNLESS) 0. 8748 0. 8795 0. 8807 0. 8805 0. 8826 0. 8826 0. 8826
		FIME (SECONDS) 0.50 1.950 1.95 2.35 3.72 4.82 4.82	L32 CINCLACSIFIED	TIME (SECONUS) 6.50 1.00 1.95 2.35 3.72 4.82 4.82

																U	N	Ģ	ASS	fied	L	-												
-	•		4 7 1.6913		(PDUMDS)	5975.	5968.	-1655	6000.	6006. 2000	• 800 8 •	0010°	0178°	01770 97770	0000	(つつ) (つつ) (つつ) (つつ) (つつ) (つつ) (つつ) (つつ)	- 2000	5872.	5876.		15	(SECONDS	196.19	1 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	199-89	200.21	200-26	200.45	200.81	200.83	2001.05	206.93	206.92	
	·		NOZZLE	PB CUNTER	(PSIA)	15-5375	15.5487	15.5526	L5.5718	15.5637	10-2-01	15.0646	176001	CD/C•CT		42+24/9	14.5723	16.5531	14-5591		NRS	(DRALESS)	0.1737	0.1450	0.1628	0.1641	0.1627	0.1629	0.1622	0.1626	0-1623	0.0	0.0	
		(P.	ENGTH AEROSPIKE Age 1	PCS	(PSIA)	288.63	288.23	2d8•21	287.95	288.61	288.97	289.17	00.682 .	289.00	200 40	289.62		0.0	0.0		HRP	(DMNLESS)	1.8620	L.603U	1.8673	1.8594	L.8680	1.8642	L.8690	1.8678 1.0470	1.8714	1.8683	1.8619	
		APPENDIX 1 (Cont	12 PERCENT L NUNBER RD09. P	СЦ Д	(PSIA:	316-44	314.57	314.51	313.75	313.80	343471	314=04	314+46	314.19	12++10	314416	10 71 C	314.73	315-01		ľ A	(LBS/SEC)	30.1480	50.0258	30,0165	30,0005	59°9999	30.0132	30°0166	29.9811	1110-05	28 4425	28.4207	
			LRINJ TEST DATA TEST	¢ đ	(PSIA)	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000	13-8000	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000	13.8000	13 0000	13.8000	13.8000		MS/NP. EFF	(ORNLESS)	0*0416	0-0410	0-0414	0.0415	0.0416	0.3415	0.0.16	0.6415	0-0410 0-0415	0.0	0.0	
			4 - 10H	1 AKRAS	(DNALESS)	22.93	22,60	22.78	22.74	22.74	22, 73	22°76	22.79	22.17	11-77	22~81	22.650	22-82	22+63		di /Sm	COMMESSI	Q. 0530	0.0532	0.6590	0.0532	0.0530	0.0530	0.0530	0.0530	U. U23U	0.0	0.0	,
				TIME	SECCADSI	0.50	1.00	1.50	2.00	2.50	3.00	3.50	00 * +	4.50		3.9.9				-33 1997 -	TIME	(SONDS)	0.50	1.00		2.50	3.00	3.50	4 ,00	+ 20 +	4°60		6-74	~ ~ ~ > >
(p.tuc) (XIdualey

.

HUT - FIRING TEST DATA -- 12 PERCENT LENGTH AERUSPIKE NOZZLE

													U	K	4	Ì.	b	N	H			2															
INITAL	C¢P	LFT/SEC)	5025.	5042.	5054.	505G.	5067.	5065.	5047.	5074.	÷5105	5075.	5078.	5088.	5096.	5103.	5092.				CT. TOP	I DENE 55	G. E778	0. 6780	0.8752	0.8501	0. 6303	0.6306	0.8810	0.8812	0.8812	0.8807	0.8309	0-9055	0.9041	0. 903+	U.9028
CONFID	C # S	(FT/SEC)	2950.	3944.	3946.	3955.	3954.	3968.	3973.	3 979 .	3979.	3987.	3989.	•	••	•	•				CT CT	(DXNLESS)	0.8874	0.8679	0.8392	0.8900	0.8903	0.6905	0.8908	0.8910	0.6910	0.8905	0.8907	0.9055	0.9041	0.9034	G. 9028
15E 2	PB/PA	(DNNE ESS)	. 1.126	1.127	1.127	1.128	1.128	1.127	1.128	1.130	1.128	1.127	1.127	1.062	1.056	1.055	1.055				NIS, TOP	(DHINE ESS)	0-7716	0~7744	+111+0	0.7791	0.7802	0.7805	0.7412	0.7825	Ŭ.7 526	0.7823	Û.7830	U •8063	0.8061	0.8064	0.8045
NUNBER ROO9. PA	PB/PC	(DANLESS)	0.04910	0.04943	0.04947	0.04963	0.04950	0.0 4956	0.04958	0.04958	0.04956	6+5+0*0	0*6*0	0.04657	U.04629	0=04624	0.04622				NIS	(DNNLESS)	0.78C5	0.7834	G.7365	C.7882	0.7894	0.7097	0.7903	0.7916	0.7918	0.7914	0.7921	0.8063	0.8061	G.8J64	0.8045
I EST	EPSILON	I DANLESS I	26.635	26.556	26.470	26.397	26.378	26.378	26.378	26.378	26.378	26.378	26.378	26.378	26.378	26.378	26.378				NC+S	(DANLESS)	0.8911	0.8898	U. 8916	Ú.8941	0.8937	0.8971	0.6983	0. 8995	0.8995	Ů . 901 ∔	U. 9018	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	**	(SQ. IN.)	13.923	13.991	14.030	14-075	14-085	14-035	14-085	14.085	14.085	14-035	14. 085	14.085	14-085	14.085	14.085	9 1 8			NC #P	(DNNLESS)	0-8790	0.8821	Ú.8242	0.8453	U. 8863	0.3663	U. 8 b 6 7	0.8880	0. 8882	0.8882	C. 8858	0.8904	0.8916	0. 8927	0.8911
	TINE	(SECONDS)	U.50	1.00	1.50	2.00	2.50	3,00	3.50	4.00	4.50		56.6			C		9	e S	54 F	1 INE	(SECONDS)	0.50	1.90	1.50	2.00	2.50	3,00	3.50	4.00	4.50	5.5.4	5.35	. 6.24	6.74	7.24	7.74

i

APPENDIX 2

DATA REDUCTION PROCEDURES USED IN THE EXTERNAL FLOW INVESTIGATIONS

APPENDIX 2

DATA REDUCTION PROCEDURE USED IN THE EXTERNAL FLOW INVESTIGATION

- (U) The basic data measured during each test are listed in Table 17 . The relations utilized to convert these data to parameters representative of still air and slipstream performance are discussed below.
- (U) Average pressures acting across the forward face of the engine, the base of the missile body, and the engine base were obtained from the measured pressure and area data (see Figs. 116 and 212) by means of the following relation:

$$\overline{P} = \frac{P_p}{A} = \frac{\sum P_i A_i}{A} \qquad (1)$$

(U) These average pressures were used in conjunction with chamber pressure (corrected for gas velocity in the chamber) and cell pressure to form the ratics: \overline{P}_{B}/P_{c} , P_{c}/P_{∞} , $P_{c}/\overline{P}_{B_{v}}$, and $\overline{P}_{B_{v}}/P_{\infty}$. Measured thrust was corrected for initial readings before each test. A thrust correction was also made for cases in which a pressure unbalance occurred between average engine and missile base pressure using the relation:

$$F_{H} = F_{A} + A_{T} (\vec{P}_{EF} - \vec{P}_{B_{y}})$$
 (2)

(U) Specific impulse efficiency based on free stream conditions is defined as:

$$\gamma_{I_{g}} = \frac{P_{H} + (\overline{P}_{B_{y}} - P_{\omega}) A_{e}}{(P_{id_{p}} + P_{id_{g}}) P_{\omega} / P_{\omega}}$$
(3)

Parameter	Location (Refer to Fig. 116)	Amplitude
Thrust, Axial	Facility	410
Primary Cha. Press.	P9	200
Primary Cha. Press.	P8	200
Primary Cha. Press.	P10	200 ·
Secondary Cha. Press.	P3	200
Primary Inj. Press.	P2	225
Secondary Inj. Press.	P1	225
Nozzle Base Pressure	F4	Variable
Nozzle Base Pressure	P5	Variable
Nozzle Base Pressure	P6	Variable
Nozzle Base Pressure	27	Variable
Nozzle Wall Pressure	P16	50 [.]
Nozzle Wall Pressure	P19	•5 ·
Missile Base Pressure	P13	Varieb) e
Missile Base Pressure	P14	Variable
Missile Base Pressure	P15	Variable
Missile Base Pressure	P26	Variable
Missile Skin Pressure	P27	Variable
Engine Face Pressure	P22	Variable
Engine Face Pressure	P12	Variable
Engine Face Pressure	P23	Variable
Engine Face Pressure	P24	Variable

.

.

÷.,

Ser. 1 . .

ř

.

TABLE 17 DATA MEASUREMENTS

437

36.3

- Designed

Parameter	Location (Refer to Fig. 116)	Amplitude
Engine Face Pressure	P11	Variable
Engine Face Pressure	P25	Variable
Balance Pressure	P17	Variable
Balance Prossure	P18	Variable
Balance Pressure	P21	Variable
Balance Pressure	P28	Variable
Primary Cha. Temp.	T2	1400
Primary Cha. Temp.	13	1400
Secondary Cha. Temp.	21	1400
Base Temperature	T4	1400
Primary Flowmeter	Facility	2.460
Secondary Flowmeter	Facility	0.025
Peroxide Tank Pressure	Facility	300
Cell Press. (Static)	Pacility	Variable
Cell Temperature	Facility	Variable
Cell Press. (Total)	Facility	Variable
Slot Pressure	P20 ·	Variable

TABLE 17 (Continued) DATA MEASUREMENTS

1.1 1. 1. 1. 1. 1.

1



.

and the second se

(U) When referenced to the missile base pressure this relation becomes:

$$\overline{\Phi} = \frac{P_{H}}{(P_{id_{p}} + F_{id_{s}})}$$
(4)

(U) The quantities F_{id_p} and F_{id_n} are obtained from the following relation:

$$F_{id}_{P_c/P} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{i}{V} C_{i} \\ \frac{i}{E} \end{bmatrix} C_{r_{id}}_{P_c/P}$$
(5)

where flowrate corresponds to the measured value for each test and the ideal thrust coefficient $C_{F_{id}}$ and characteristic velocity C* are obtained from computed ideal performance of the decomposition products of hydrogen peroride at the correct concentration and inlet temperature. Thrust efficiency C_{T} is obtained from eqs (3) and (5) by correcting the ideal thrusts in these relations for the measured decomposition temperature of the primary and secondary gas flows which is essentially a characteristic velocity efficiency correction. This results in the following relations for thrust efficiency:

$$C_{T})_{\infty} = \frac{F_{H} + (\tilde{P}_{B_{v}} - P_{\infty}) A_{e}}{\left[\frac{W_{p}C_{p}^{*}C_{p}}{g} \sqrt{\frac{T_{c}}{T_{id}}} + \frac{W_{B}C_{s}^{*}C_{f}}{g} \sqrt{\frac{T_{g}}{T_{id}}}\right] P_{c}/P_{\infty}}$$

(6)



(U) Note that since $T_c \approx T_s$, this is essentially a topping cycle efficiency for the results in this program. Aerodynamic threat area was computed from measured chamber pressure, primary flowrate, and chamber tomperature in conjunction with ideal properties as follows:

$$A^{*} = \frac{\Psi_{p}^{C^{*}} id_{p}}{\frac{P}{c}} \sqrt{\frac{T_{c}}{T_{id_{p}}}}$$
(8)

and used to form the expansion area ratio, where:

(U). The change in nozzle efficiency with the addition of secondary flow was computed from the measured change in base pressure as follows:

$$\Delta C_{T} = \begin{bmatrix} C_{T} \end{pmatrix}_{W_{g}=0}^{*} + \frac{\Delta P_{a}}{P_{c}} & \frac{\epsilon_{B}}{C_{p}} \\ \frac{id_{T}}{1 + \frac{W_{g}C^{*}gC^{*}gC^{*}gC^{*}gC^{*}}{W_{p}C^{*}pC^{*}gC^{*}}} \end{bmatrix} - C_{T_{W_{g}}^{*} = 0}$$
(10)

441

and

Resigners and a new

 (U) Mission parameters applicable to the trajectories in Figs. 100 and 101 are listed in Table 18. Pertinent performance and pressure data obtained using the above procedure are listed for each test in Appendix 3.

の言語をなって

AVERSIAND

TABLE 18. MISSION PARAMETERS FOR TRAJECTORY ANALYSIS

.

できたとうない、いたもうちょうたちと

いいでものできた

1

Ę

	Vehicle Pa	rameters		Booster	i Brug	ne Paramete	8	
uesigna tion	No. of Stages	F/W	Feed System	Pro- pellants	Ś	۲	٩	PR) _{dee}
H	г	1.29	Punp	L02/1H2	8	1.25	1500	1063
Ħ	~	1.29	Pump	2 ^{61/2} 01	8	1,25	1500	1067
Ħ	N	1.29	ding	L02/IH2	8	1.25	1500	1063
P.	2	1.93	Pressure	Storable [*]	10	1.25	3.J	91.4
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	ı	1.25	Pump	Storeble *	55	1.25	2000	88
R_N_HIMUN, O. N	. (50-50)							

443/444

ني (ت^ي

UNIVERSITE

ĹA

•

•

.

APPENDIX 3

SLIPSTREAM TEST DATA



CONTRANSMED

			-		_	-	_	_		_	_	-	_	-			-	-	-	-		-	_	-	-	_	-	-
TUENTIAL	اه، او،	14.72	1.53	1.71	2.05	3.79	1.42	3.48	1.45	1.33	0.97	1.76	1.59	1.14	1.57	6.36	3.14	1.43	1.40	2.70	1.32	4.24	1.35	1.35	1.33	1.30	2°20	1.36
TIOD	PB V	14.12	1.24	1.42	1.62	2.86	0.55	2.86	1,62	1.43	0.93	0.92	1.27	U.65	1.41	5.29	2.45	1.15	1.07	0.53	0.30	3.26	0.41	0.39	0.23	0.26	0.48	0.37
	e E F	14.19	1.24	1.43.	1.62	2.87	0.55	2.87	1.63	1.44	0.94	0.93	1.29	0.66	1.44	5.40	2.52	1.17	60 • 1	0.60	0.34	3.47	0.45	0.42	0.26	0.28	0.52	0.40
10001	**	1.205	1.244	1.256	1.249	1.230	1.243	1.231	1.247	1.251	1.245	1.223	1.244	1.242	1.246	1.235	1.234	1.240	1.250	1.244	1.251	1.249	1.236	1.250	1.249	1.251	1.244	1.247
	P.K	272.4	368.5	360.0	365.3	345.9	387.7	340.2	354.4	357.1	370.7	· 381.9	362.8	369.6	350.3	326.3	351.1	371.4	380.3	405.6	395.9	347.6	389.6	394.3	405.4	399.4	405.3	397.6
	•24	2+570	2.531	2.521	2.556	2.528	2.518	2.537	2.540	2.554	2.541	2.576	2.531	2.122	2.441	2.518	2.527	2.533	2.591	2.509	2.506	2.544	2.505	2.525	2.553	2.535	2.543	2.526
	e Et	7277	1287	1276	1290	1281	1285	1295	1295	1296	1297	1305	12.89	1299	1296	1304	1284	1292	1285	1301	1303	1298	1286	1292	1302	1303	1288	1295
	Д	193.8	189.2	185.9	190.1	190.9	187.6	192.1	189.4	190.1	190.3	196.2	189.4	182.1	182.8	190.8	190.6	190:1	192.9	188.3	187.2	192.0	186.6	188.2	191.0	189.1	190.3	188.6
	×8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.55	0°-00	0.90	06.0	0.90	06.0	0°-0	1.20	1.20	1.20	1.20	1.20	1.40	07-1	1.40	1.40
	Test	ĸ	37	36	33	4:	43	46	47	48	49	52	36	18	S	5	58	29	8	22	23	5	2	33	<u>त</u>	35	34	35

APPENDIX 3 SUIPSTREAM TEST DATA DATA SUMMARY, 'TRANSONIC WIND TUNNEL

}

446 CONCLASSIBLED

			av	PERDIX 3 SI (Con	LIPSTREAM TES tinued)	T DATA			
			DATA	SUWKARY, T	RANSONIC WI	TENNOL CN		55	INITICUTI
iest	× ⁸	P _c /P _w	ůs/ůp	7°*p	7°5*	7, 8	ોભ	8 ت	ŝ
- m	0	13.7	0.0073	0.972	0.945	0.852	0.852	0.892	0,592
37	0	153	0.0076	0.974	0.945	0.935	0.935	0.959	0.959
38		131	0.0075	0.971	0.945	1 0°625	0.925	0.952	0.952
23	0	118	0.0075	0.975	0.945	116.0	0.931	095*0	0.960
42	0	66	0.0075	0.975	0.945	126.0	0.927	0.949	0*670
43	0	361	0.0075	0.976	0.945	0.959	0.959	0.962	0.582
46	0	67	0	0.979	1	0.912	0.912	0.932	0.932
47	0	117	0	0.979	,	0.918	0.918	0.939	0.939
48	0	133	0	0.979	1	0.913	0.913	0.935	0.935
64	0	21)2	0	0.980	1	0.931	0.931	0.951	0.951
52	0	211	0.0170	0,982	0.945	0.930	0.930	0.950	0.950
36	0.55	132	0.0076	0.975	0.945	0.926	0.935	0.543	C.957
18	0.0	602	0.0076	C.978	C.945	0.947	0.953	0.968	0.974
202	0.00	106	0.0076	176.0	0.945	0.915	0.931	0.935	0.951
	06.0	31.0	0.0077	0.979	0.945	0.859	0.917	0.676	0.936
28	06-0	67	0.0076	0.97¢	0.945	0.903	0° c28	0.528	0.952
29	0.90	131	0.0076	0.976	0.945	0*925	0.939	0.947	0.968
200	0.0	142	0.0075	0.974	0.945	0.925	0.935	0.947	0.958
22	02.1	62	0.0076	0.978	0.945	0.865	1.001	0.903	1.022
3	1.20	216	0.0076	0*979	0.945	0.954	0.971	0.961	0.973
	1.20	35.8	0,0076	779.0	0.945	0.783	0.931	0.800	0.952
\$ }	1.20	114	0.0075	0.974	0.945	0.915	0.955	776.0	0.979
33	1.20	138	0.0075	0.976	0.945	026°0	0.956	619.0	0.952
24	1.40	311	0.0076	616.0	0.945	0.958	0.955	0.577	0.974
25	1.40	215	0.0076	6L0°0	0.945	0.948	0,952	0.968	0.972
34	1.40	66	0.0075	0.975	0.945	0.676	0.976	C. R97	1.001
35	1.40	114	0.0075	0.977	0.945	0.924	0.961	0.945	0.934
		1	A THE OWNER AND A THE OWNER AN	a second s					

UNGUASSIFIED

:

Note: Ideal Decomposition Temperature was 1840 OR and 1831 OR for dests 3 through 39 and Teats 42 through 52, respectively. Ideal Characteristic Velocity was 3068 ft/sec and 3061 ft/sec for Tests 3 through 39 and dests 42 through 52, respectively.

.....

.

.

.

-

• •

E.

•

447 CONFRENTIALED APPENDIX 5 SLIPSTREAM TEST DATA (Continued) DATA SURMARY, SUPERSONIC WIND TUNHEL

1

ł

þ

CONFIDENTIAL 4444 64444 64446
64446 64446 64446
64446 64446 64446
64446 64446
64446 6 10,00 4.00 144 ة الم مز 1.222 1.229 1.229 1.229 1.228 1.228 1.228 1.228 1.236 1.236 1.238 *~ 364.5 387.0 394.7 325.5 355.4 355.4 355.4 355.4 355.4 355.4 355.4 355.4 355.4 355.4 355.4 407.5 407.5 407.5 407.5 407.5 407.5 409.0 64³⁶¹ •∋≞ 1323 1550 1326 1326 1328 1328 1328 1328 1328 1328 1339 1341 1341 1358 1358 1358 E4U 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 197.0 പ് ×8 Test 495922228222222224444

CONNOLICOLISIED

CINCLASSIFIED

AFFENDIX 3 SLIPSTREAM TEST DATA (Continued)

ê

日本ですというというないのであったいというというというできたが、そのかいいとう

A A GRAPH AND A A BURNEL

「おうなうちをなるののないないない、これのいろいたのであるので

.

DATA SUMMARY, SUPERSONIC WIND TUNNEL

Í						WINT OVER A	-	CO	FIDENTIAL
Test	* ⁸	Pc/Po	₿∕ ^{\$} P	7 _{6* p}	7 _{0*8}	≈ [∎] ∞	Ð,	ст С	Ю
 14	0	154	0.0083	0.972	0.872	0.942	0.944	0.971	0.973
16	0	220	0.0082	0.974	0.374	0.949	0.950	0.976	0.977
 17	0	284	0.0082	0.974	0.875	0.549	0.949	0.576	0.975
19	0	32.5	0.0083	0.973	0.873	0.907	0.908	0.934	0.935
 20	0	64.0	0.0082	0.974	0.873	0.919	0.920	C.946	0.946
 5	0	68.6	0.0085	0.973	0.873	0.932	0,932	0,960	0,960
 52	0	112	0.0085	0.972	0.872	0.931	0.931	0.960	0.950
 2	0	127	0.0084	0.973	0.870	0.929	0.929	0.956	0.957
 ŝ	c	757	0.0084	0.974	0.864	0.952	0.952	0.979	0. 26 26
27	0° ° 0	223	0.0083	0.970	0.865	0.946	0.944	612.0	0.976
 53	. 2•2	313	0.0082	0.971	0.864	0.954	0.945	0.985	0.575
3	2•2	397	0.0082	0.972	0.862	0.950	0.938	0.980	0.958
 33	2.2	467	0.0083	0.970	0.861	0.949	0.937	0.981	0.968
 35	8.	10	0.0083	0.974	0.866	0.919	0.959	0.945	0.986
 37	8.	158	0.0083	0.975	0.865	0.943	0.956	0.969	0.982
 41	1.8	224	0.0084	0.975	0.865	0.948	0.948	C.974	0.974
42	8.	322	0.0083	0.977	0.866	0.957	0.950	0.981	0.974
 43		469	0.0083	776.0	0.864	0.955	0.944	0.990	0.968
		~	_						•

449/450

Note: For these tests Ideal Decomposition Temperature was 1830 ^OR, and Ideal Characteristic Velocity was 3110 ft/scc.

-

UNCLEASSIFIED

APPENLIX 4

DATA REDUCTION AND ANALYSIS PROCEDURE FOR TVC PROGRAM

APPENDIX 4

DATA REDUCTION AND ANALYSIS PROCEDURE FOR TVC FROGRAM

(U) The basic parameters measured during each test are listed in Table 19. The measurements were used to compute nozzle performance with and without TVC, and side forces and total control moments generated during TVC operation. The methods by which these parameters were determined in this test program are discussed in the follo ing paragraphs.

BASIC ENGINE PERFORMANCE

(U) Nozzle performance was computed as it was for the 12-percent length nozzle. Heat loss and propellant impurity corrections were obtained from the theoretical data presented previously after computing the heat loss and propellant water content as follows:

and

Percent $H_2^0 = \frac{(Percent H_0 in oridizer)(MR_p) + (Percent H_0 in fuel)}{1 + (ME_p)}$

(U) The constants in the heat loss relation were adjusted from those obtained for the 12-percent length nozzle to account for the revised hardware geometry and operating conditions. Specific impulse corrections, $\triangle I$ H.L. and $\Delta I_{\rm H_O}$, and the characteristic velocity corrections, $\mathcal{N}_{\rm C^{*}_{\rm H_oL}}$.

PARAMETER	SYMBOL	LOCATION	NOMINAL VALUE	INSTRUMENT RANGE
Force, pounds Axial Fore Yaw Fore Pitch Aft Yaw Aft Pitch Roll	PA PYP PYP PYA PYA PA PA R	Facility Facility Facility Facility Facility Facility	5600 0-10 0-10 0-100 0-100 0-20	0-10,000 0-1000 0-1000 0-1000 0-1000 0-1000
Primary Chamber Pressure, Psia	PC1 PC2 PC3	P3 T4 P5	200 200 200	0-300 0-300 0-300
Primary Injection Pressure, Paia Oxidizer Fuel	Poj Pfj	P1 . P2	330 360	0500 0500
Secondary Chamber Pressure, Psia	PCG-1 PCG-2 PCG-3	P8 P9 F10	100 100 100	0-100 0-100 0-100
Secondary Injection Pressure, Psia Oxidizer Fuel Oxidizer Fuel Base Pressure, Psia	Pojg Prjc Poj(-1 Prjc-1 Prjc-1 Pb1 Pb2	P6 P7 Facility Facility P22 P23	145 150 200 175 1	0-500 0-500 0-500 0-500 0-25 0-25
	рв3 рв4	P24 P29	1	0-25 0-25

TABLE 19 TVC ENCINE MEASURED PARAMETERS

ひきかちば おたちかえ おうやく しゅうせい しゅうかん うえいかっかく みかす ひょうし しゃなんが メンチのの かっかいがい せがみ いんないのかん したかしける かけをかんな

.

۰.

453

Х 3.

.

PARAMETER	SYMBOL	LOCATION	NOMINAL VALUE	INSTRUMENT RANCE
Force, younds Axial Fore Yaw Fore Pitch Aft Yaw Aft Pitch Roll	PA FYP FYP PYA FPA FPA R	Facility Facility Facility Facility Facility Facility	5600 0-10 0-10 0-100 0-10 0-20	0-10-500 0-1000 0-1000 0-1000 0-1000 0-1000
Primary Chamber Pressura, Psia	PC-1 PC-2 PC-3	РЗ Р4 Р5	200 200 200	n-300 0-300 0-300
Primary Injection Pressure, Psia Oxidizer Fuel	POJ PFJ	P1 P2	330 360	0500 0500
Secondary Chamber Pressure, Paia	PCG1 7CG2 PCG3	P8 P9 P10	100 100 100	0-100 0-100 0-100
Secondary Injection Pressure, Psia Oxidizer Fuel Oxidizer Fuel Base Pressure, Paia	Pojg Prig Pojc-1 2rig-1 PB1 PB2 PB3 PB4	P6 P7 Facility Facility P22 Y23 F24 P29	145 150 200 175 1 1 1 1	0500 0500 0500 025 025 025 025 025

TABLE 19 . TVC EVOINE MEASURED PARAMETERS

TABLE 19

	• -	(continuea)		
PARAMETER	SYFBOL	LOCATION	NOMINAL VALUE	INSTRUMENT RANCE
Nozzle Skirt Pressure, Psia	PNS-1 PNS-2 PTS-3 PNS-4	P25 P26 P27 P28	3 3 3 3	0-25 0-25 0-25 0-25
Outer Nozzla Pressure, Psia	PN-1 PN-2 PN-3 PN-4 PN-5	P15 P16 P17 P18 P19	Ambient Ambient Ambient Abmient Ambient	025 025 025 025 025 025
Secondary Chamber Temperature, F	TCG1 TCG2	T3 T4	1600 1600	02000 02000
Water Temperature, F Inlet Outlet	twi Two	Facility Facility	Ambient 160	0150 0250
Primary Flow, 1b/sec Oxidizer Fuel	WOP WFF	Facility Facility	12.5 7.5	023 08
Secondary Flow, 1b/sec Oxidizer Fuel	Wos WFS	Facility Facility	0.03 0.30	Systen ∆P Systen ∆P
TVC Flow, 1b/sec Coolant Water Flow,	WIVC	Facility	0-6	0-6
lb/sec Primary Tank Pressure	WCW	Facility	60	0–120
Oxidizer Fuel	PTOP PTFP	Facility Facility	*	-

TABLE	19
(Contin	mæd)

PARAMETER	SYMBOL	LOCATION	NOMINAL VALUE	INSTRUMENT RANGE
Secondary Tunk Pressing				
Oridinar	PTOS	Facility	-	_
Bial	PTES	Feeility	_	-
245 4	1110	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	_	_
TVC Tank Pressure				
TVC Purge Pressure				
(Line), Paia	PPLT	Facility	Variable	0500
Primary Line Temp., F				
Oxidizer	TLOP	Facility	Ambient	0-60
Fuel	TLFP	. Facility	Ambient	0-50
Secondary Line Temp, F		l j		
Oridizer	tios	Facility	Ambient	0-60
Fuel	TLFS	Facility	Ambient	060
TVC Line Temp., F		Facility	Ambient	060
We down in the set				
water pressure (Inner),	•			
rela Tulla	THAT	Talat Mag	720	0.4500
Intet	PWLI	Inter lee	150	0-1900
Outlet	PWOI	Outlet lee	100	6 -1000
Water Programs (Outer)	•			
Date Thist	PUTO	Thiat The	520	0-1500
	2000	Cutlot Tee	220	0-1000
ARCTE!	4 1100	OUTER TEA	220	
Coll Progatine. Paie	P	Pacility	0.7	0-15
	4			
		L		

 $^{n_{C^{u}}}H_{2}O_{p}$ are given as functions of \overline{Q} and percent $H_{2}O$ in a previous section. Values of these factors applied to each test are given in Table 20. Specific impulse efficiency was obtained from

$$\mathcal{N}_{\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{s}}} = \frac{\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{c}}}{\mathbf{F}_{\mathrm{opt}_{\mathbf{p}}} + \mathbf{F}_{\mathrm{opt}_{\mathbf{s}}}}$$

where

 $\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{C}}}$ = measured axial thrust corrected for impurities and heat loss

$$= \mathbf{F}_{A} + (\Delta \mathbf{I}_{s_{H},L}) \overset{\bullet}{\mathbf{y}}_{p}$$
$$\mathbf{F}_{opt_{p}} = (\mathbf{I}_{s_{opt_{p}}} - \Delta \mathbf{I}_{s_{H_{2}}}) \overset{\bullet}{\mathbf{y}}_{p}$$

Popt I opt (Or I w for topping cycle specific impulse efficiency)

where I = theoretical shifting equilibrium specific impulse at

$$P_{c}/P_{a}$$
 (Fig. 213 and 214).

(U) The thrust and efficiency data in Tables 13 and 14 are measured values corrected to $P_a \pm 0.7$ psis. Characteristic velocity (C*) efficiency is defined as:

$$\mathcal{N}_{C^*} = \frac{\frac{P_{c}A^*_{p}S_{c}}{C^*_{th}}}{\frac{W_{p}}{P_{c}}\mathcal{N}_{C^*}} = \frac{\frac{P_{c}A^*_{p}S_{c}}{W_{p}}\mathcal{N}_{C^*}}{\frac{P_{c}A^*_{p}S_{c}}{C^*_{th}}}$$

加利利斯州

1.1

Ē

TABLE 20

HEAT LOSS FACTORS APPLIED TO MEASURED TVC DATA*

		CONFIDENTIAL
Test	Nc _{"H.L.}	∆I _s (Sec)
1**	0.990	6.0
BAO1	0.991	5.7
BAO2	0.991	5.6
BAO3	0.990	6.0
BAO4	0.990	6.0
BAO5	0.990	0.3
BB06	0.990	5.9
BBO7	0.991	5.6
BEOS	0.991	5.8
BBO9	0.991	5.6
BB10	0.991	5.5
BB11	0.991	5.6
BC12	0.991	5.6
BC13	0.991	5.9
BC14	0.991	5.9
BC15	0.991	5.9
BC16	0.991	5.9
BC17	0.991	5.9
BC1R	0.990	6.0
BD19	0.990	6.5
BD20	C.990	6.3
BD21	0.990	6.7
		1

* $\gamma_{C^{*}H_{2}0} = 1.000; \Delta_{I_{B_{H_{2}0}}} = 0.0 \text{ Sec.}$

** Rocketdyne Sea-Level Checkout Test. Factora were assumed.

457

EUENJIAED





where

ALL AL

ż

C^{*} = Theoretical shifting equilibrium characteristic velocity (Fig. 215 and 216) P_c = PC-3/0.998) A^{*} p = 1.0135 C_D A p meas.

where $C_{\rm p}$ is the theoretical throat discharge coefficient (= .9893).

A*_=(0.85) A Meas.

(T) As indicated, the primary throat area was increased by a factor of 1.35 percent to account for the change in throat area during this test up to the time at which all reference data were computed. This correction was obtained in the same manner as for the 12-percent length engine but was constant throughout the TVC testing. The nozzle thrust efficiency exclusive of combustion chamber effects and combustion efficiency was obtained from:

$$C_{\underline{T}} = \frac{F_{\underline{A}_{o}}}{F_{opt_{p}}\mathcal{T}_{c^{*}_{p}} + F_{opt_{s}}\mathcal{T}_{c^{*}_{s}}}$$

Topping cycle thrust efficiency was obtained from: F_{A}

$$C_{T_{top}} = \frac{-c}{F_{th_{p}} \gamma c_{p}^{*} + I_{s_{opt_{p}}} \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{c_{p}^{*}}}$$

LITVC PERFORMANCE

(U) The unbalanced forces generated during liquid injection TVC were corrected for initial thrust misalignment (determined from average force data obtained during the 0.5-second period prior to signalling for TVC flow), and used to compute induced forces and control moments about a reference axis in the throat plane as follows:

$$P_{YF} = P_{YF})_{TVC} - P_{YF})_{ref}$$

$$P_{YA} = F_{YA})_{TVC} - P_{YA})_{ref}$$

$$P_{a} = P_{Y} = P_{YA} + P_{YF}$$

$$P_{a} = M_{Y} = (F_{YA}) d_{1} + (F_{YF}) d_{2}$$





(U) The dimensionless moment about an arbitrary axis a distance h from the reference plane (nondimensionalized in terms of the reference thrust without TVC and the distance, h) was found from:

$$\frac{\mathbf{H}}{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{v}}\mathbf{h}} = \frac{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{S}}}{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{v}}} + \frac{\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{T}}}{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{v}}\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{0}}} - \frac{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{0}}}{\mathbf{h}}$$
$$= \frac{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{0}}}{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{v}}} + \frac{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{0}\mathbf{C}}}{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{v}}} - \frac{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{0}}}{\mathbf{h}}$$

の時間になったというないとなった。ためでもないできたないというというとくできた

where the dimensionless axial thrust and axial thrust displacement were combined to form a new quantity designated as the dimensionless off-center force. This quantity may be interpreted as a fictitious force aligned in the axial direction (i.e., parallel to the engine centerline) which produces a moment about the reference axis that is equivalent to the moments produce. by the secondary injection system as shown schematically in Fig. 217. Thus,

$$\frac{\mathbf{F}_{oc}}{\mathbf{F}_{v}} = \frac{\mathbf{H}_{T}}{\mathbf{F}_{v}\mathbf{r}_{e}}$$

(U) The off-center force is a fictitious quantity in that it contributes nothing to the axial thrust of the nozzle even though it has been defined above as a force vector acting in the axial direction. However, representing the TVC effectiveness in this fashion enables a more convenient comparison of injection methods since only two quantities, F_s and F_{oc} , are needed to establish a control moment for a given geometry; also, nozzle performance and TVC effectiveness comparisons can be examined separately.



(J) Engine performance during TVC was represented in terms of the change in engine specific impulse with a change in TVC flowrate. This quantity was computed from:

$$\Delta I_{g} = 1 - \left(\frac{1 + (\Delta P_{A}/P_{V})}{1 + W_{TVC}/W_{p}} \right)$$

where:

$$\Delta \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{A}} = \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{m}} \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{T} \vee \mathbf{C}} - \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{m}} \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{R} \in \mathbf{F}}$$

and represents the change in engine thrust (vacuum) during TVC.

(U) A commonly used representation of the moment produced under various injection SITVC conditions is the equivalent gimbal angle which is defined as the angle to which the engine would have to be gimbaled about the reference plane to produce a moment about the vehicle center of gravity which is equivalent to the moment generated by fluid injection. This equivalence is illustrated in the sketch below.

Mgimbal MSITVC





(U) For the gimbaled engine:

or

 $\sin \varphi = \frac{\mathbf{P}_{s}}{\mathbf{P}_{v}} = \frac{\mathbf{P}_{s}}{\mathbf{P}_{v}h} = \frac{\mathbf{H}_{cg.}}{\mathbf{P}_{v}h}$ $\varphi = \operatorname{Arcsin} \left[\frac{\mathbf{H}_{cg.}}{\mathbf{P}_{v}h}\right]$

(U) Thus, for the fluid injection system:

$$Q = \operatorname{arcsin} \left[\frac{\frac{H}{cg}}{\frac{F}{p}} \right] = \operatorname{arcsin} \left[\frac{\frac{F}{b}}{\frac{F}{p}} + \frac{F_{oc}}{\frac{F}{p}} \right]$$

(U) The quantities: $F_{\mathbf{Y}}$, $M_{\mathbf{Y}}$, $\hat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}$, $F_{\mathbf{g}}$, $F_{\mathbf{cc}}$, $F_{\mathbf{A}}$, $\hat{W}_{\mathbf{TVC}}$, were computed from the data obtained during the last 0.5-second time interval during each test, and were used to form the basis for presenting and comparing nozzle performance during TVC, and the TVC effectiveness of the various injection techniques. Comparisons were made in terms of quantities designed to characterize various specific aspects of fluid injection operation. The effectiveness with which the SITVC system generates wide thrust if often represented in terms of a side thrust amplification factor defined as:

$$K_{g} = \frac{I_{g}}{I_{g}} = \frac{F_{g}/F_{y}}{N_{TVC}/N_{e}}$$

(U) A similar quantity can be used to represent the off-center thrust

efficiency and is defined as:

$$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{N}} = \frac{\mathbf{P}_{oc}/\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{V}}}{\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathrm{TVC}}/\mathbf{R}_{e}}$$

(U) For the scrospike, the total efficiency of the system must reflect the . influence of both forces so that the control moment efficiency becomes:

$$\overline{\mathbf{K}} = \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{e}}^{+} \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{H}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{e}} \\ \overline{\mathbf{h}} \end{bmatrix}$$

(U) Of interest in the design of engine systems utilizing LITVC is the location of the resultant induced force vector along the contour. If it is assumed that flow interference effects are negligible and that injectant momentum is small compared to the induced pressure force so that discrete forces normal to the nozzle wall are produced downstream of each port, the effective location of the induced force vector can be ascertained from the test data and the nozzle geometry (Fig. 218) by considering the following:

1)
$$P_{g} = f_{g} \left[1 \cdot 2 \sum_{k=1}^{2} \cos k \Psi \right]$$

(2) $f_{k} = f_{g} \tan \omega$

ところしてい、このの時間の目

3) f_x is constrained to lie on the curve x = f(x) where x and f(x) are the coordinates of the nozzle contour.





المور الاين الإيلامين (14) بارا الايار الم

ant and a

(U) Thus

or

۰.

語に

$$H_{T} = f_{s} \begin{bmatrix} 1+2\sum_{k=1}^{n-1}\cos k\psi \end{bmatrix} x - (\Delta f_{s}) f(x) \begin{bmatrix} 1+2\sum_{k=1}^{n-1}\cos k\psi \end{bmatrix}$$
$$x = \frac{H_{T}}{k} + f(x) \tan \psi$$

(U) Since f(x) tan \propto is known, the quantity x can be obtained through an iterative solution of the above equation using the measured values of F_g and M_q . Unless flow interference effects are severe, the above relation remains qualitatively correct even if these phenomena do occur.

469/470

REFERENCES¹

シングの生まったが、シャーション

- Dahm, T. J., The Development of an Analogy to Blast Wave Theory for the <u>Prediction of Interaction Forces Associated with Gaseous Secondary In-</u> <u>jection into a Supersonic Stream</u>, Vidya Corp., Vidya Technical Note 9166, TN-3, May 1964.
- * 2. Final Report, Aerodynamic Nozzle Study, Vol. 1, Rechatayne, A Division of North American Aviation, Inc., E-6582, July 1966. Confidential
 - 3. Hsia, H. S. and Karamcheti, K., <u>Shocks Induced by Secondary Fluid In-</u> jection, Journal of Spacecraft and Rockets, Vol. 2, Number 1, Jan-Feb. 1965.
 - 4. Zukoski, E. E., and Spaid, F. W., <u>Secondary Injection of Gases Into a</u> <u>Supersonic Flow</u>, AIAA Journal, Vol. 2. Number 10, Cctober 1964.
 - Newton, J. F., Jr., and Spaid, F. W., <u>Experiments on the Interaction of</u> <u>Secondary Injectants and Rocket Exhaust for Thrust, Vector Control</u>, Technical Report No. 32-303, Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Feb. 1962.
 - Sukari, A., On the Propagation and Structure of the Blast Wave-I, Journal of the Physical Sciences of Japan, Vol. 8, Number 5, Sept. -Oct. 1953.
 - Lees, L. and Kubota, T., <u>Inviscid Hypersonic Flow Over Blunt Nosed Slender</u> <u>Bodies</u>, Journal of the Aeronautical Sciences, Vol. 24, No. 3, 1957.
- 8. Design Criteria for Hot Gas Secondary Injection Thrust Vector Control of Solid Propellant Rocket Motors, Thiocol Chemical Corporation, Wasatch Division, TW93-2-65, Vol. I, Book I, Feb. 1965. Confidential
 - 1. Classified material (all Confidential, Group 4) from asterisked documents has been reproduced in this report.
- 9. Zimmerman, C. A., et al., <u>Secondary Injection Thrust Vector Control</u>, Lockheud Missiles and Space Co., AD 617 689, April 1965.
- * 10. Hair, L. M., and Baumgartner, A. T., <u>An Empirical Model of Secondary</u> <u>Injection Thrust Vector Control</u>, Lockheed Missiles and Spice Co., <u>LNSS/IREC A710184</u>, Oct. 1964. Confidential.
- * 11. Fox, J. J., et al., <u>Thrust Vector Control by Reactive Liquid Secondary</u> <u>Injuction</u>, Bulletin of the 18th Meeting, JANAF-ARPA-NASA, Solid Propellant Group, Vol. III, June 1962, pp. 61-177. Confidential.
 - 12. LeCount, R. L., et al, <u>An Analysis of the Effects of Injection Parameters</u> on the Thrust Vector Control Performance of the Lonce Missile, Lockheed Missiles and Space Company, LMSC-664523, May 1965. Confidential
 - Green, C. J. and McCullough, F., <u>Liquid Injection Thrust Vector Control</u>, <u>AIAA</u> Journal, Vol. I, No. 3, pp. 573-578, Karch 1363.
- * 14. Pauckert, R., <u>High Area Ratio N-zle Study</u>, Rocketdyne, A Division of North American Aviation, Inc., T. N. Confidential.
- * 15. Interim Report, Aerodynamic Nozzle Study, Vol. II, Rocketdyne, A Division of North American Aviation, Inc., R-6273, 1965. Confidential.
- * 16. <u>Paraletric Study of the Lance Booster Engine Liquid Injection TVC System</u>, Rocketdyne, A Division of North American Aviation, Inc., RR-66-21. Confidential.
 - 17. Erickson, L. H. and Bell, K. S., Optimum Design Investigation of Secondary Injection Thrust Vector Control Systems, Thiocol Chemical Corporation, AFSC-TR-61-1, TM-965-12-61, March 1962. Confidential.

- 18. Sengel, R., and Wu, J. M., <u>Thrust Vector Control by Liquid Injection into</u> <u>Rocket Nozzles</u>, Journal of Spacecraft and Rockets, Vol. I, Number 5, September-October, 1964.
- 19. LeCount, R. L., et al., <u>Analysis of the Physical and Chemical Aspects of</u> Fluid Injection Thrust Vector Control, Lockheed Missiles and Space Corporation, LMSC A-24-65-1, TM-55-12-6, May 1965.
- 20. Test Facilities Handbook, Arnold Engineering Development Center, Arnold Air Force Station, Tennessee, November 1966.
- * 21. Interim Report, Aerodynamic Nozzle Study, Vol. III Slipstream Studies, Hockstdyne, A Division of North American Aviation, Inc., R-6273, 1965. Confid.
 - 22. Salmi, R. J., Preliminary Investigation of Methods to Increase Base Pressure of Plug Nozales at Mach C.9, NACA RM E56 J05, 1956.
 - 23. Korst, H. H., et al., <u>A Theory for Base Pressures in Transonic and Super-</u> sonic Flow, University of Illinois, METN392-2, OSE-TN-55-89, May 1962.
 - 24. Rabone, G.R., <u>Low Angle Plug Nozzle Performance Characteristics</u>, presented to the AIAA, Second Propulsion Joint Specialist Conference, Colorado Springs, Colorado, June 13-17, 1966, ATAA Paper No. 66-664.

* 25. Davidson, D. L., <u>Performance Evaluation of a Rocketdyne Aerodynamic</u> <u>Spike Nozzle Configuration</u>, Rocket Test Facility, Arnold Engineering Development Center, Arnold Air Force Station, Tennessee, AEDC-TR-67-8, March 1967. Confidential.

26. Smith, R. E., and Runyan, R. B., <u>Performance Evaluation of an Aerodynamic Spike Nozzle Engine with Liquid (N₂O₄) Injection TVC, Rocket Test Facility, Arnold Engineering Development Center, Arnold Air Force Station, Tennessee, AEDC-TR-67-17 1967. Confidential.</u>

. 473